
Property / Regeneration Briefing  
 

Dear Member, 
 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Property / Regeneration Briefing to be held 
as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Monday, 23 May 2022 

 
TIME:  3.00 pm 

 
VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 

this meeting.  
 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies for absence  

 

 

2   Declarations of interest  

 

 

3   Items for Decision - Part 1 (Open to the Public)  

 

 

3a Chapel Wharf Development Framework  
 

(Pages 1 - 286) 

4   Public Briefing Items  

 

The following items are for the primary purpose of providing members 

of the public with all relevant information on the respective matters, 
other than those elements, which in accordance with the relevant 
sections of the Local Government Act 1972, remain confidential and 

require that any arising decision is taken in Part 2 of the agenda. 
 

 

4a Land at Ontario Basin  
 

(Pages 287 - 292) 

4b 2 New Bailey Letting of 8th Floor  

 

(Pages 293 - 296) 

5   Exclusion of the Public  

 

 

6   Items for Decision - Part 2 (Closed to the Public)  

 

 

6a Land at Ontario Basin  
 

(Pages 297 - 300) 

6b 2 New Bailey Letting of 8th Floor  
 

(Pages 301 - 304) 

7   Any other business   

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3013 
Mike Relph, Senior Democratic Services Advisor E-Mail: mike.relph@salford.gov.uk 



 

 For Decision (open to the public) ITEM NO. 

 

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR, PLACE

 

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR HOUSING, PROPERTY & REGENERATION  

FOR DECISIONON 23RD May 2022  

 

TITLE: Approval of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework 2022

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Lead Member for Housing, Property & Regeneration approves: 
 

1. That the Chapel Wharf Development Framework be endorsed as a material planning 

consideration for future planning decisions. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

On the 9th August 2021 a report was brought to Lead Member for Housing, Property and 

Regeneration explaining that Chapel Wharf was one of the few remaining areas in City Centre 

Salford not covered by a formal framework and consequently no cohesive vision for the 

regeneration of the area existed. 

Furthermore, the report explained that in recognition of this, that consultants were appointed 

in late summer of 2020 to commence preparation of a development framework for the Chapel 

Wharf area. 

A draft of the development framework was presented, which was endorsed by Lead Member 
and approval was given to undertake public consultation on the draft framework. 
 
Public consultation subsequently took place between 13th September to 24th October 2021.  
The framework has been updated (where appropriate) in recognition of responses received, 
and a final version is now presented for approval. 
 
Prior to bringing this report forward for decision the following briefings took place: - 
Lead Member for Planning & Sustainable Development – 19th April 2022. 
Lead Member for Housing, Property & Regeneration – 9th May 2022. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



- Report of the Strategic Director, Place, to Property and Regeneration Briefing for 

Decision on 9th August 2021.  

- Annex A: Chapel Wharf Development Framework 

- Annex B: Chapel Wharf Development Framework Planning Policy Baseline Review 

- Annex C: Chapel Wharf Development Framework Consultation Statement 

- Annex D: Chapel Wharf Development Framework Community Impact Assessment 

- Annex E: Chapel Wharf Development Framework SEA/SA Screening Statement 

- Annex F: Chapel Wharf Development Framework Built Heritage Significance Chapter 

 

 

KEY DECISION: No  

The Development Framework is located in a single Ward, Blackfriars and Trinity 

DETAILS: 

1.  Background and Context 
 

To date there has been limited strategic understanding of the Chapel Wharf area with 

regeneration activities and interventions focused within the adjoining regeneration 

areas, such as Greengate and New Bailey.  

 

Development and investment is taking place across the Chapel Wharf area, however, 

it is currently being brought forward in an un-coordinated manner by various 

landowners and developers on a site by site basis. 

 

Also, as the Greengate, New Bailey and wider City Centre areas continue to grow and 

thrive, developer interest in the Chapel Wharf area is increasing.  New opportunities  

are emerging and the Council has been engaged in pre-planning enquiries across 

several sites in the area. 

 

Unlike adjacent areas, there is a clear lack of a cohesive vision for the Chapel Wharf 

area. This is in a large part due to the area not being covered by a formal framework. 

The potential of the Chapel Wharf area is significant, but without a clear vision and 

strategy to guide future development and investment, the full potential of the area and 

individual opportunities will not be exploited. This ultimately will result in the loss of 

development momentum, investment and strategic growth opportunities. 

 

Therefore, early in 2020, Chapel Wharf was identified as a Regeneration priority and 

the need for a Development Framework to define the vision and strategy for Chapel 

Wharf over the next 15-20 years was recognised.  The aim of the Development 

Framework being to guide development and infrastructure interventions, ensuring that 

the area becomes a successful and vibrant community, playing its role in the ongoing 

transformation of City Centre Salford.    
   

 
 Following a competitive tender process, through the Bloom Procurement Framework, 

authority to appoint a suitably qualified consultant, OP-EN (Optimised Environments) 
to prepare a Development Framework for the Chapel Wharf area was delegated to 
Strategic Director, Place, in August 2020. 
 

Page 2



The red line boundary for the Chapel Wharf Development Framework can be found in 
Annex A. It covers the area between the Central Salford Framework and Greengate 
Masterplan areas and is bound by Trinity Way to the north and the River Irwell to the 
south. This geography was chosen to bridge this strategic gap in the council’s vision 
for this part of the City, but not disrupt the established and successful communities 
that now preside in Trinity and Blackfriars. 
 
The consultants commenced work in September 2020. A baseline survey (Annex B) 
and visioning exercise with relevant City Council officers was undertaken.  Regular 
meetings also took place with council officers and a formal scoping consultation 
undertaken with statutory consultees.  This culminated in the preparation of the draft 
Development Framework, on which, public consultation was undertaken between 13th 
September to 24th October 2021.   
 
Following public consultation, the framework has been updated (where appropriate) in 
recognition of responses received, and a final version is now presented for approval. 
 

   
 
 

 
 

2.  Overview of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework  

   

2.1  Once adopted by the City Council, the new Development Framework will provide a 
planning framework for the Chapel Wharf area that is up-to-date, robust and provides 
clear direction regarding what can be delivered in the area to ensure it becomes a 
successful and vibrant new city district.  
 
The draft document currently sets out a vision and spatial strategy that aims to create 
a new “15-minute neighbourhood” at the heart of city centre Salford, which will be an 
area open to all as a place to call home, make a living or visit and relax in.  
 
This will be achieved through improving connectivity in to and through the area for both 
walking, cycling and active travel and through creation of high-quality public spaces 
and sites for new commercial, community and residential developments.  
 
Furthermore, the cultural, architectural, transport, heritage and ecological assets of will 
be protected, enhanced and celebrated and key infrastructure barriers overcome. 
The Development Framework supplements several saved policies in Salford’s adopted 
Unitary Development Plan (primarily Policy MX1 which sets a vision for the Regional 
Centre as a vibrant mixed-use area) and is also framed by policies in the emerging 
Salford Local Plan. 

   
2.2  Vision 

 
The Development Framework sets the following new vision for Chapel Wharf:  
 
‘A central neighbourhood offering an alternative urban experience. An authentic 
place that feeds the mind, body and soul’ 
 
Furthermore, it establishes Chapel Wharf as a place that invites you to… 
 

- Live sustainably, within easy reach of all the city has to offer in terms of jobs, 
culture, leisure and shopping; 

- Enjoy exploring characterful buildings and re-invented railway arches full of 
distinctive uses and local life; 

Page 3



- Move comfortably through people friendly routes or just spend time in attractive 
community spaces & family play streets. 

- Discover a natural edge through secret gardens, growing spaces, green 
streets, and riverside walks.” 

   
2.3  Objectives 

 
The key objectives for the Development Framework have been developed to align with 
the Council’s ‘Great 8’ priorities, local and national planning policy and the UN 
sustainability goals.  In summary these aim to:  
 

1. Provide railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse and more accessible 
places. 

2. Create accessible open spaces, of a scale, that provide balance and relief from 
the urban intensity of the area and support community life. 

3. Develop a neighbourhood that manages its environmental impact. 
4. Create an accessible, high quality riverside environment along the Irwell. 
5. Provide comfortable and balanced streets that create an accessible and 

connected urban environment. 
6. Create active street frontages with a variety of occupiers to serve the needs of 

the local community and visitors alike. 
7. Supply a more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes, including provision 

for families. 
8. Provide development that reflects human scale and attention to details. 
9. Introduce opportunities for technology that improve the quality of life for those 

who live and work in Chapel Wharf. 

10. A stronger sense of arrival. 

11. Protect heritage assets. 
12. Create a neighbourhood that provides a variety of employment opportunities. 
13. Meet the needs of a thriving community. 
14. Protect and enhance public transport provision. 

 

 
   
2.4  Key Responses and Spatial Framework 

 
The Development Framework goes on to set out in more detail the proposed 
development principles for the area, focussed around key responses to the defining 
infrastructure elements of Trinity Way, the River Irwell, Chapel Street and the Railway 
Viaducts.  
 
The framework acknowledges that while these four things presently create barriers 
and are detrimental to the area, they have potential to be Chapel Wharf’s greatest 
assets and unique, defining features.  
 
Following on from this, a spatial framework is set out for the area that: 
 

 Defines a coherent approach to potential future land use 
 Recommends scale of future development sites. 
 Illustrates how future development can be connected together through high 

quality walking and cycling routes that incorporate the historical fabric of this 
part of City Centre Salford. 

 Establishes key gateways to the area, which will in turn increase connectivity 
to the Trinity and Blackfriars neighbourhoods and Manchester City Centre 

Page 4



 Sets out a public realm strategy identifying potential for improvements to 
existing streets and spaces and the creation of new high-quality public realm.  
 

The development framework concludes with four “catalyst projects” that might 
potentially be brought forward as infrastructure interventions at the earliest opportunity.  
These have been identified as:  
 

 Chapel Vaults  
 Re-imagined Riverside  
 Flat Iron Square 
 Trinity Gateway 

 
All of which are explained in further detail in the framework document (Annex A).  

   
3.  Consultation  

   
  Comprehensive consultation has been undertaken by the Council to inform the 

preparation of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework.  This included the following 
which is detailed fully, together with the outcomes and changes made in the 
Consultation Statement (Annex C): - 
 

 Pre-production scoping consultation 
 Focussed engagement with key landowners 
 On–line public consultation event 

   
   

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 – 2016: Saved Policies 

 Salford Publication Local Plan: Development management Policies and Designations 

(January 2020), and Addendum (February 2021). 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

A Community Impact Assessment of the Development Framework has been prepared and is 

attached to this report at Annex D.  

 

SOCIAL VALUE:  

The vision set out in the Draft Development Framework area puts the needs of the local 

community at its centre and seeks to maximise accessibility to adjacent education and 

employment opportunities. Furthermore, although documents such as this do not have much 

say in how social value is delivered through future development, the values and principles set 

out in the spatial strategy will help create a neighbourhood that provides homes, jobs and a 

sense of belonging for those that live in, work at and visit the area.   

 

Page 5



ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low 

The Development Framework will act as key additional guidance for the delivery of new 

development across the area.  

The council only has a small amount of land ownership in the area and is not under any 

obligation through this framework to make commercial commitments towards any of the 

interventions identified. 

However, opportunities may arise throughout the life of the framework for land assembly, 

working in conjunction with developers to bring forward new zones of development.  Any such 

proposals will be brought forward for approval at the appropriate time. 

The Council will also seek to identify funding to bring forward infrastructure interventions  

established in the framework such as those identified as ‘Catalyst Projects’. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Robert Irvine 

The Framework, once endorsed by Lead Member for Housing, Property & Regeneration will 

become a material consideration for the City Council as Local Planning Authority. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by David Mills 

The report details the need for a Development Framework for the Chapel Wharf area and at 

this stage there are no financial implications.  

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS: N/A  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Mike Hemingway 

The Development Framework objectives have been written with the need to create an 

environmentally sustainable neighbourhood in mind, specifically in terms of how people arrive 

and move around the area, the energy efficiency of new developments and also measures to 

improve climate resilience through SUDs and flood mitigation measures along the River Irwell. 

A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)/Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Screening 

Statement was produced for the emerging Development Framework in September 

2021(Annex E).  This Screening Statement concluded that an SEA/SA was not required in 

connection with the Chapel Wharf Development Framework. 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: A range of Council teams have been engaged as 

the Development Framework has progressed. 

 

Page 6



CONTACT OFFICER:  Perry Twigg TEL NO: 07966 316309 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  

Blackfriars and Trinity 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 For Decision (open to the public) ITEM NO. 

 

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR, PLACE

 

TO PROPERTY AND REGENERATION BRIEFING  

FOR DECISION ON 9TH AUGUST 2021 

 

TITLE: Public consultation on Draft Chapel Wharf Development Framework 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Lead Member for Housing, Property and Regeneration: 
 

1. Notes the content of this report; and 

2. Endorses the Draft Chapel Wharf Development Framework for the purposes of public 

consultation and notes that the final version will be brought back to a future meeting 

for endorsement.  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

Chapel Wharf is now one of the few remaining areas in City Centre Salford that is not covered 

by a formal framework and consequently no cohesive vision for the regeneration of the area 

exists. 

In recognition of this, consultants were appointed in late summer of 2020 to commence 

preparation of a development framework for the Chapel Wharf area. 

A draft of the framework has now been completed and an initial scoping consultation on the 

draft vision and objectives for the Development Framework was undertaken between April and 

June 2021. Emails and letters were sent to 420 relevant individuals and organisations on the 

City Council’s statutory consultation database. 

The key messages and guiding principles arising from the draft development framework are:  

• The Council owns little land in the area 

• Development opportunities are mainly on smaller, infill sites. 

• Some larger opportunities may potentially arise in the long term. 

• It is therefore unlikely the Council would be looking for a development partner in this 

area. 

• Although, there is scope for developing some taller buildings, this is not the area for 

the development of towers. 

Page 9



• The main thrust of the framework is therefore around placemaking and building on the 

historic character of the area. 

• One of the main development opportunities is making better use of the railway arches 

that snake through the area. 

• The framework also identifies the opportunities to building on the Council’s existing 

plan and develop a more extensive active travel network linked to improved public 

realm and green space. 

Approval is now sought to commence public consultation on the Draft Development 

Framework. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

- Chapel Wharf Draft Development Framework (June 2021). 

 

KEY DECISION: NO  

This stage of public consultation on the Draft Development Framework is to seek views on the 

proposed vision, objectives and future approach to development across the Chapel Wharf 

area. As no decisions are being made in relation to the city council’s policy approach at this 

stage, the decision to approve the Draft Development Framework for the purposes of public 

consultation is not considered to be a key decision.  

 

DETAILS: 

1.  Background and Context 
 
To date there has been limited strategic understanding of the Chapel Wharf area with 

regeneration activities and interventions focused within the adjoining regeneration 

areas, such as Greengate and New Bailey.  

 

Development and investment is taking place across the Chapel Wharf area, however, 

it is currently being brought forward in an un-coordinated manner by various 

landowners and developers on a site by site basis. 

 

Also, as the Greengate, New Bailey and wider City Centre areas continue to grow and 

thrive, developer interest in the Chapel Wharf area is increasing.  New opportunities 

are emerging and the Council has been engaged in pre-planning enquiries across 

several sites in the area. 

 

Unlike adjacent areas, there is a clear lack of a cohesive vision for the Chapel Wharf 

area. This is in a large part due to the area not being covered by a formal framework. 

The potential of the Chapel Wharf area is significant, but without a clear vision and 

strategy to guide future development and investment, the full potential of the area and 

individual opportunities will not be exploited. This ultimately will result in the loss of 

development momentum, investment and strategic growth opportunities. 

 

Page 10



Therefore, early in 2020, Chapel Wharf was identified as a Regeneration priority and 

the need for a Development Framework to define the vision and strategy for Chapel 

Wharf over the next 15-20 years was recognised.  The aim of the Development 

Framework being to guide development and infrastructure interventions, ensuring that 

the area becomes a successful and vibrant community, playing its role in the ongoing 

transformation of City Centre Salford.    

   
 

 Following a competitive tender process, through the Bloom Procurement Framework, 
authority to appoint a suitably qualified consultant, OP-EN (Optimised Environments) 
to prepare a Development Framework for the Chapel Wharf area was delegated to 
Strategic Director, Place, in August 2020. 
 
The red line boundary for the Chapel Wharf Development Framework is shown in the 
background document.  It covers the area between the Central Salford Framework and 
Greengate Masterplan areas and is bound by Trinity Way to the north and the River 
Irwell to the south. This geography was chosen to bridge this strategic gap in the 
council’s vision for this part of the City, but not disrupt the established and successful 
communities that now preside in Trinity and Blackfriars. 
 
The consultants commenced work in September 2020. A baseline survey and 
visioning exercise with relevant City Council officers has been undertaken.  Regular 
meetings have also taken place with council officers and a formal scoping consultation 
undertaken with statutory consultees.  This has culminated in the preparation of the 
draft Development Framework which can be viewed as a background document. 
Approval is now being sought from Lead Member for Housing, Property and 
Regeneration to commence public consultation on this document.  

   
   

 

2.  Overview of the Draft Chapel Wharf Development Framework  
   
2.1  Once concluded, the new Development Framework will provide a planning framework 

for the Chapel Wharf area that is up-to-date, robust and provides clear direction 
regarding what can be delivered in the area to ensure it becomes a successful and 
vibrant new city district.  
 
The draft document currently sets out a vision and spatial strategy that aims to create 
a new “15-minute neighbourhood” at the heart of city centre Salford, which will be an 
area open to all as a place to call home, make a living or visit and relax in.  
 
This will be achieved through improving connectivity in to and through the area for both 
walking, cycling and active travel and through creation of high-quality public spaces 
and sites for new commercial, community and residential developments.  
 
Furthermore, the cultural, architectural, transport, heritage and ecological assets of will 
be protected, enhanced and celebrated and key infrastructure barriers overcome. 
The Draft Development Framework supplements several saved policies in Salford’s 
adopted Unitary Development Plan (primarily Policy MX1 which sets a vision for the 
Regional Centre as a vibrant mixed-use area) and is also framed by policies in the 
emerging Salford Local Plan. 

   
2.2  Vision 

 
The Draft Development Framework sets the following new vision for Chapel Wharf:  
 

Page 11



‘A central neighbourhood offering an alternative urban experience. An authentic 
place that feeds the mind, body and soul’ 
 
Furthermore, it establishes Chapel Wharf as a place that invites you to… 
 

- Live sustainably, within easy reach of all the city has to offer in terms of jobs, 
culture, leisure and shopping; 

- Enjoy exploring characterful buildings and re-invented railway arches full of 
distinctive uses and local life; 

- Move comfortably through people friendly routes or just spend time in attractive 
community spaces & family play streets. 

- Discover a natural edge through secret gardens, growing spaces, green 
streets, and riverside walks.” 

   
2.3  Objectives 

 
The key objectives for the draft Development Framework have been developed to align 
with the Council’s ‘Great 8’ priorities, local and national planning policy and the UN 
sustainability goals.  In summary these aim to:  
 

1. Provide railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse and more accessible 
places. 

2. Create accessible open spaces, of a scale, that provide balance and relief from 
the urban intensity of the area and support community life. 

3. Develop a neighbourhood that manages its environmental impact. 
4. Create an accessible, high quality riverside environment along the Irwell. 
5. Provide comfortable and balanced streets that create an accessible and 

connected urban environment. 
6. Create active street frontages with a variety of occupiers to serve the needs of 

the local community and visitors alike. 
7. Supply a more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes, including provision 

for families. 
8. Provide development that reflects human scale and attention to details. 
9. Introduce opportunities for technology that improve the quality of life for those 

who live and work in Chapel Wharf. 

10. A stronger sense of arrival. 

11. Protect heritage assets. 
12. Create a neighbourhood that provides a variety of employment opportunities. 
13. Meet the needs of a thriving community. 

 
 

   
2.4  Key Responses and Spatial Framework 

 
The draft Development Framework goes on to set out in more detail the proposed 
development principles for the area, focussed around key responses to the defining 
infrastructure elements of Trinity Way, the River Irwell, Chapel Street and the Railway 
Viaducts.  
 
The draft framework acknowledges that while these four things presently create 
barriers and are detrimental to the area, they have potential to be Chapel Wharf’s 
greatest assets and unique, defining features.  
 
Following on from this, a spatial framework is set out for the area that: 
 

Page 12



− Defines a coherent approach to potential future land use 
− Recommends scale of future development sites. 
− Illustrates how future development can be connected together through high 

quality walking and cycling routes that incorporate the historical fabric of this 
part of City Centre Salford. 

− Establishes key gateways to the area, which will in turn increase connectivity 
to the Trinity and Blackfriars neighbourhoods and Manchester City Centre 

− Sets out a public realm strategy identifying potential for improvements to 
existing streets and spaces and the creation of new high-quality public realm.  
 

The development framework concludes with four “catalyst projects” that might 
potentially be brought forward as infrastructure interventions at the earliest opportunity.  
These have been identified as:  
 

− Chapel Vaults  
− Re-imagined Riverside  
− Flat Iron Square 
− Trinity Gateway 

 
All of which are explained in further detail in the draft framework document.  

   
3.  Next Steps 
   
3.1  Subject to the recommendations in this report being agreed, the draft Development 

Framework will be subject to a 6 week period of public consultation commencing in 
September 2021.  Due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the fee agreed with the 
consultants was to conduct the consultation virtually. 

   
3.2 
 
 
 

 Comments received during the public consultation process will be incorporated into 
the final Development Framework (where appropriate) and approval to endorse the 
final Development Framework will be sought in due course. 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

• City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 – 2016: Saved Policies 

• Salford Publication Local Plan: Development management Policies and Designations 

(January 2020), and Addendum (February 2021). 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

A draft Community Impact Assessment will be prepared, which will be reviewed following the 

end of the formal consultation period and will inform the final version of the Development 

Framework. Approval to endorse the final Development Framework will be sought in due 

course and the final CIA will be submitted alongside the final Development Framework to 

inform the decision. 

 

SOCIAL VALUE:  

Page 13



The vision set out in the Draft Development Framework area puts the needs of the local 

community at its centre and seeks to maximise accessibility to adjacent education and 

employment opportunities. Furthermore, although documents such as this do not have much 

say in how social value is delivered through future development, the values and principles set 

out in the spatial strategy will help create a neighbourhood that provides homes, jobs and a 

sense of belonging for those that live in, work at and visit the area.   

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low 

Once finalised, the Development Framework will act as key additional guidance for the delivery 

of new development across the area.  

The council only has a small amount of land ownership in the area and is not under any 

obligation through this framework to make commercial commitments towards any of the 

interventions identified. 

However, opportunities may arise throughout the life of the framework for land assembly, 

working in conjunction with developers to bring forward new zones of development.  Any such 

proposals will be brought forward for approval at the appropriate time. 

The Council will also seek to identify funding to bring forward infrastructure interventions 

established in the framework such as those identified as ‘Catalyst Projects’. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Robert Irvine 

A final version of the Framework which will include the results of the public consultation 

exercise proposed above will be brought back for endorsement. Once the Framework has 

been endorsed it will become a material consideration for the City Council as Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Natalie Birchall 

The report details the need to prepare a Development Framework for the Chapel Wharf area 

and at this stage there are no financial implications.  

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS: N/A  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Mike Hemingway 

The Draft Development Framework objectives have been written with the need to create an 

environmentally sustainable neighbourhood in mind, specifically in terms of how people arrive 

and move around the area, the energy efficiency of new developments and also measures to 

Page 14



improve climate resilience through SUDs and flood mitigation measures along the River Irwell. 

In addition to the Draft Development Framework, the project officers will prepare a specific 

Sustainability Strategy for the Chapel Wharf area, which will set out more detailed objectives 

and KPI’s to guide future development across the area.  

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: A range of Council teams have been engaged as 

the Draft Development Framework has progressed and will continue to be involved moving 

forwards.

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Perry Twigg TEL NO: 07966 316309 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  

Blackfriars and Trinity 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

S a l f o r d  C i t y  C o u n c i l 
C h a p e l  W h a r fC h a p e l  W h a r f 

D e v e l o p m e n t  F r a m e w o r k 

March 2022

P
age 17



Chapel Wharf: Chapel Wharf: 
the other side the other side 
of City Centre of City Centre 

SalfordSalford

P
age 18



List of Figures
Figure 1 -  Study Area Boundary 
Figure 2 -  Study Area Boundary And Urban Context
Figure 3 -  Wider Areas Of Change And Growth
Figure 4 -  Study Area’s Historic Structure Circa 1900’S
Figure 5 -  Figure Ground And Listed Buildings
Figure 6 -  Existing Neighbourhood Character Areas
Figure 7 -  Urban Design Characteristics
Figure 8 -  Active Travel And Proposed Routes
Figure 9 -  Wider Active Travel Network
Figure 10 -  Cycle & Pedestrian Accessibil ity
Figure 11 -  Public Transport
Figure 12 -  Vehicle Network
Figure 13 -  Place Function Of Existing Streets
Figure 14 -  Land Ownership
Figure 15 -  Development Pipeline
Figure 16 -  Public Realm Audit
Figure 17 -  Key Development Opportunity Sites
Figure 18 -  Emerging Opportunities
Figure 19 -  15 Minute Neighbourhood Concept Diagram
Figure 20 -  Strategic Development Framework
Figure 21 -  Chapel Wharf ’s 15 Minute  
         Neighbourhood Opportunities
Figure 22 -  I l lustrative Masterplan
Figure 23 -  Proposed Landuse
Figure 24 -  Development height principles indicative x- section
Figure 25 -  Building Heights Principle Plan
Figure 26 -  Scale & Massing Strategy
Figure 27 -  Movement Framework
Figure 28 -  Proposed Movement Strategy
Figure 29 -  Public Realm Strategy
Figure 30 -  The Chapel Vaults Activation Strategy
Figure 31 -  Proposed Riverside Urban Gardens -  Concept Sketch
Figure 32 -  Proposed Blackfriars Junction -  Concept Sketch
Figure 33 -  Proposed Trinity Way Crossing -  Concept Sketch

Contents

Introduction

The Study Area

Study Context

Place & Features

An Industrious Community 

Character Areas

Sense Of Place

Movement Baseline

Land Ownership And  
Planning Pipeline

Public Realm Audit

Potential  Opportunity Sites

Emerging Opportunities

Vision and Objectives

The 15 Minute Neighbourhood

Our Vision

Objectives

Development Framework

Key Responses

Development Framework

‘Targeted Intensif ication’ 

I l lustrative Masterplan

Landuse

Scale And Massing 

Movement And Active Travel

Public Realm Strategy

Cataylst Project  -  ‘Chapel Vaults’

Cataylst Project  -  ‘Re-Imagined Riverside’

Cataylst Project -  ‘F lat I ron Square’

Cataylst Project -   ‘Tr inity Gate Way’

Chapel Wharf | March 2022

Final

Prepared on behalf of:

Project Team: 

Optimised Environments 

86 Princess Street |  Manchester  |  M1 6NG

 t  0161 696 7550

Optimised Environments Ltd.  Registered in Scotland SC359690.
Registered address: Quartermile Two  |  2 Lister Square  |  Edinburgh  |  EH3 9GL

Ordnance Survey data used under licence 

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

This is a report prepared for the client team Salford City Council. Some images contained in this document are 
used for information / illustrative purposes only and are not for commercial use. OPEN takes no responsibility 
for copyright in the event that the client team or third parties use this report or images and this should be raised 
with Salford City Council.  

Any additional precedent imagery may be subject to copyright but are not believed to be commercially 
available. They are published here solely for purposes of instruction or critique.  

8 50

14

22

10 54

56

58

59

62

66

72

74

78

80

84

18

24

28

30

34

36

40

42

44

PagePage

P
age 19



76

Introduction

Role of the Chapel Wharf 
Framework

The overarching purpose of 
this Development Framework 
is to establish a clear vision, 
supporting objectives and set 
of development principles that 
will  catalyse the delivery of 
transformational  change over 
the course of the next 20 years, 
securing a range of economic, 
social and environmental 
benefits.  The Framework will 
ensure that Chapel Wharf 
becomes a successful and 
vibrant community that 
plays its role in the ongoing 
transformation of City Centre 
Salford.

There is a positive story of 
investment taking place across 
Chapel Wharf,  with signif icant 
levels of new development 
happening at pace and scale . 
However,  much of the realised 
development has come forward 
by landowners and developers 
on mostly a site by site basis , 
without a co-ordinated strategy 
to connect and co-ordinate 
development and place making. 
The Council  is also engaged 
with a number of pre-planning 
enquiries across a number of 
sites in the area and as the 
Greengate,  New Bailey and 
wider City Centre areas continue 
to grow and thrive,  developer 
interest in the Chapel Wharf area 
is continuing to increase,  with 
new opportunities emerging. 
The Council  recognises the 
signif icance of Chapel Wharf ’s 

potential  but a ‘do nothing’ 
approach to the area would 
lead to further uncoordinated 
neighbourhood and community 
development,  which would 
result in a loss of momentum 
that would not only stop the 
development of a place for people 
of lasting sustainable quality, 
but would slow the momentum of 
investment in to strategic growth 
opportunities in the Chapel Wharf 
Area.

The Chapel Wharf Development 
Framework sets out a clear vision 
and deliverable strategy for the 
future of this area.

The framework wil l  act as a tool 
to promote the fol lowing aspects;
• consider the appropriate 

policy,  cultural and physical f it 
for change

• engaging with the needs and 
ambitions of local residents 
and businesses

• establishing the true 
development potential  for 
areas of change

• mediating between a range 
of landowner and other 
stakeholder interests to 
realise coherent development

• promoting a vision for change 
that can stimulate market 
action 

• celebrating and respecting the 
area’s industrial  and cultural 
heritage;and

• engendering a sense of 
cooperation and coordination 
between different agents 
of change to deliver on the 
Framework’s spatial  vision.

 

Status of the document

Following a period of 
consultation,  both statutory 
consultee and public feedback 
has been reviewed and considered 
as part of this Development 
Framework. 

As an adopted Salford City 
Council  Regeneration Framework, 
consistent with adopted and 
emerging development plan 
polices,  this document is a 
material  planning consideration 
in the assessment of future 
development proposals coming 
forward across the area. 

Structure of the document

1. Study Area And Study Context 
This section sets the geography 
and wider spatial  context for 
the Chapel Wharf Development 
Framework.

2. Place and Features
A review of the existing physical 
features across the study area 
as well  as brief summary of the 
land-use and planning context .

Potential  development sites 
and placemaking opportunity 
areas are also identif ied in this 
chapter.

3. Vision and objectives
This section sets out the 
vision for the Chapel Wharf 
Development Framework,  the 
al ignment of the vision with 
the 15 Minute neighbourhood 
principles and a series of key 
Framework objectives.

4. Development Framework 
Building on the vision,  the 
Development Framework sets out 
key considerations including;

• key responses to signif icant 
infrastructure and 
neighbourhood development 
barriers ;

• the spatial  development 
framework plan;

• approach to land-use;
• approach to scale & massing;
• approach to movement; 
• public realm strategy;  and
• Catalyst projects :  Viaducts, 

Chapel Street & Riverside.

The Framework seeks to define 
the broad parameters (constraints 
and opportunities) that future 
development wil l  be set 
within,  supported by high-level 
development parameters that 
should act as a guide for the 
more detailed design of specif ic 
proposals .  I t  is not a masterplan 
that specif ies the detailed 
design of individual development 
projects .  This is something 
that wil l  be dealt with through 
consideration of individual 
planning application proposal(s) . 
This Framework is therefore 
intended to provide a broad 
framework to guide and influence 
the comprehensive delivery 
of development within Chapel 
Wharf area rather than one 
which is prescriptive or could 
stif le imagination,  creativity 
and quality.  Future planning 
applications within the Chapel 

Wharf area wil l  nevertheless be 
expected  to demonstrate how 
the design of such proposals are 
in al ignment with the overarching 
principles articulated in the 
framework. 

Al l  applications wil l  also need 
to be underpinned by compliance 
with other national and local 
policies and other material 
considerations,  whilst specif ic 
supporting assessments wil l 
be required (as set out in the 
national and local val idation l ists 
including for example Heritage 
Impact Assessments) .

P
age 20



98

NThe Chapel Wharf Development 
Framework study area covers 
approximately 19ha and is 
bordered by the River I rwell , 
Tr inity Way, New Bailey Street 
and Blackfr iars ,  i l lustrated on the 
adjacent plan (f igure 1) .

The study area is located 
within one of the most densely 
developed parts of  Salford and 
is an area undergoing signif icant 
development and regeneration 
(f igure 2) .  The area is currently 
home to a mix of established 
commercial  and residential 
uses including the Lowry Hotel , 
off ices,  medium & high density 
residential  developments,  places 
of worship and some local 
convenience retai l  /  cafe uses.

As well  as an established number 
of uses located across Chapel 
Wharf,  the area also has a 
number of historic assets and 
infrastructure networks.  The four 
most signif icant infrastructure 
assets are Trinity Way, the 

The Study Area

Figure 1 - Study Area Boundary 

Victorian rai lway arches,  Chapel 
Street as a key route through the 
study area and the River I rwell .
There are a number of recently 
completed developments 
delivered within the study 
area,  which are predominantly 
residential  with some mixed 
use elements,  including LOCAL 
Blackfr iars and Chapel Wharf. 

A number of new local 
infrastructure improvements 
are also planned for the area 
including the recently approved 
£28m Mayors Challenge Fund for 
‘active centres,  corr idors and 
neighbourhoods’  which identif ies 
Phase 1 improvements to Chapel 
Street East .

LOCAL 

Blackfriars

Chapel 

Wharf

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

 Figure 2 - Study Area Bounday And Urban Context© 2021 Infoterra Ltd & Bluesky, Maxar Technologies, The Geoinformation Group

P
age 21



1110

Study Context

Salford Growth Context

The City of Salford has 
experienced tremendous 
economic growth in the past 
10 years .  This trend is set to 
continue over the next two 
decades with Salford forecast to 
experience the fastest percentage 
growth in GM – increasing 46% 
with £3bn of additional GDV. 
Salford City Council’s  research 
shows at least an additional 
40,000 new jobs and 40,000 
new homes being added to the 
local economy by 2040 – with a 
signif icant proportion of these 
being located in the strategic 
growth location of City Centre 
Salford.

The city ’s approach of using 
strategic master planning 
to deliver new homes and 
commercial  f loorspace has 
proven incredibly successful 
in fulf i l l ing demand for new 
residents and businesses coming 
to Salford.  This method ensures 
the creation of high quality 
places for existing communities 
and newcomers al ike.  The Salford 

Central  partnership with ECF 
demonstrates this clearly along 
Chapel Street ,  and in the New 
Bailey off ice distr ict as does 
the large scale of residential 
development delivered,  on 
site and in the pipeline at 
Greengate and Middlewood 
Locks with Renaker and 
Scarborough, respectively.  The 
formal adoption of the Crescent 
Development Framework around 
Salford University in Apri l  2021 
now leaves the Chapel Wharf 
neighbourhood the only part of 
Salford’s City Centre not covered 
by a strategic framework.  Whilst 
the potential  of growth in the 
area is clear,  without a clear 
vision for the area’s future there 
is a r isk that new development 
wil l  proceed in a site-by-site 
uncoordinated manner that is a 
detriment to this vital  part of the 
city.   Therefore,  this framework 
wil l  ensure future change in 
Chapel Wharf progresses in a 
coherent way that is a benefit  to 
the local neighbourhood and the 
wider city region. 

Regeneration in Salford’s growth 
strategy has not only been 
about delivering new homes, 
iconic buildings and employment 
spaces,  but it  has also looked 
to secure and deliver new 
sustainable investments focused 
on strategic infrastructure, 
improved local infrastructure for 
pedestrians and cycl ists ,  new and 
enhanced areas of public realm, 
community infrastructure and 
cultural destinations.  This begins 
to deliver on important cl imate 
change commitments set out 
within Salford’s Cl imate Action 
Plan and its Cl imate Emergency 
Declaration. 

The scale and type of 
regeneration across the City 
varies but builds upon its assets; 
from the ongoing transformation 
in technological services at 
Media City to diversifying 
Salford Crescent into a globally 
recognised destination.  Across 
the borough, there is a r ich built 
heritage,  with historic buildings 
being preserved,  re-purposed 

and reinvented.   Combined with 
the investment into city parks, 
waterways and green spaces 
creating more sustainable 
places,  more and more people are 
choosing Salford as a place to 
l ive,  work,  invest and visit .
 
Key recent achievements include;

• The £550 mill ion MediaCityUK 
development at Salford Quays 

• The £26 mill ion Salford City 
Stadium and future associated 
development 

• The completion of Greengate 
Square which borders the 
study area which is set to be 
the catalyst for £400 mill ion 
in private sector investment 

• New innovative projects 
l ike the Soapworks and The 
Landing 

• The revitalisation of key areas 
along Chapel Street and the 
riverside corridors of the 
Bridgewater Canal and the 
River Irwell ,  both of which 
travel through Chapel Wharf

• The £650 mill ion scheme to 
transform Pendleton wil l 

provide 1,500 new homes, 
1 ,300 homes modernised and 
500 new jobs. 

• The brand-new riverside 
development at New Bailey 
which includes hotels, 
offices and restaurants and 
residential  accommodation 
in close proximity to 
Manchester’s city centre.

Building on Chapel Wharf ’s 
assets and intrinsic strengths 
wil l  be the context which 
drives the regeneration forward 
sustainably.  The regeneration of 
this important neighbourhood 
must be contextual ,  responding 
to the positive characteristics 
of the area and working hard to 
add value to them. Unlocking the 
r iverside,  making the most of our 
historic assets,  re-purposing and 
reinventing buildings,  delivering 
functional public realm as well 
as improving local accessibi l ity 
wil l  al l  be important for Chapel 
Wharf ’s transformation,  ensuring 
it  wil l  benefit  from holistic , 
enduring regeneration. 

N

 Figure 3 - Wider Areas Of Change And Growth

The importance of holistic & sustainable regeneration

P
age 22



P l a c e 

&

F e a t u r e s 

P
age 23



1514

An Industrious Community 

1938 19381950

1950

1938

1950 1930’S

Around the late 19th century,  Chapel Wharf was a heavily 
industrial ised area,  characterised by large manufacturing plants 
located predominantly along the Riverside.  Almost al l  turned their 
back to the r iver and built  up its r iverbank.  Access to the r iver 
between the saw mil ls ,  printworks and finishing works was l imited, 
with only Brown Street and Clowes Street providing direct l inks.  The 
River I rwell  has never been a place embraced here,  l ikely due to the 
contaminated water conditions,  but as the area diversif ies there is 
an opportunity to embrace the Irwell .   

Salford Central  Station opened in 1838 and was the terminus for 
the Manchester and Bolton Railway unti l  it  expanded in 1843 
to Manchester Victoria Railway Station.  It  was reported in the 
Manchester Guardian 1843 that no less than 57 arches (comprising 
al l  the viaduct arches and the rai lway bridges) lay between New 
Bailey Street and Ducie (Victoria Station) .  Many small  building plots 
sat against the southern edge of the viaduct ,  most l ikely using the 
space under the arches for storage.

North of the viaducts,  the most signif icant industrial  I ronworks and 
Gasworks were located during the early 1900’s .  The Gasworks,  Cook 
Street Brewery and Salford Iron Works occupied the current  
location between Bloom Street and Bury Street .  The Cook Street 
Brewery (and Kentworthy Chambers) 
today are the only existing remnants 
of the area’s industrial  past which 
reference its role as a working class 
area for employment.

Blackfr iars Road was home to the 
majority of community faci l it ies 

and included a school ,  theatre,  Tennis Club,  police station and 
swimming baths.  Sacred Trinity Church was also located along 
Blackfr iars and hosted a local market (Tr inity Market)  to the 
north of the Church.

Blackfr iar ’s Street /  Road had tramlines running between 
Victoria Station and north towards Bury.  Blooms Street and 
Bury Street provided direct l inks to the Northwest,  l inking the 
densely packed terraced streets with larger employment sites 
within Chapel Wharf. 

1912
Some community 
uses nestled 
amongst the 
gridiron.  Baths, 
Schools, Tennis 
Clubs, Pubs and 
Sacred Trinity Church 

1912
A industrial blend of 
Iron Works, a Brewery,   
Engineering Works, 
Printing & Finishing 
works surrounded by 
terraced streets. 

1912
Many domestic 
and smaller scaled 
buildings also 
abutted the railway 
viaduct, making use 
of the arch spaces 
underneath.  Figure 4 - Study Area’s Historic Structure Circa 1900’S

P
age 24



1716

Historic remnants remain across the study area,  albeit in isolated 
pockets .  Development phases implemented over t ime, including 
the introduction of Tr inity Way have seen large areas of densely 
arranged terraced streets and larger industrial  sites cleared for 
redevelopment. 

The framework area contains a number of l isted buildings and the 
Flat I ron conservation area.  The Flat I ron conservation area derives 
its name from the tr iangular shaped plot of land which contained 
both Trinity Church and market,  resembling the shape of f lat ,  hot 
coal heated iron once used for i roning clothes.  The area contains 
5 grade I I  l isted buildings and the Grade I I*  Church of the Sacred 
Trinity.

The Church of the Sacred Trinity and Manchester Tennis And Racquet 
Club are two Grade I I*  l isted buildings along Blackfr iars Road. 
Along New Bailey Street and south of Salford Central ,  the Southern 
Railway Viaduct and Colonnade is also a Grade I I*  Listed structure, 
an attractive engineering feature of the viaduct infrastructure. 
Blackfr iars Road and Bloom Street have a number of Grade I I  l isted 
buildings which create an attractive character.  The Blackfr iars and 
Chapel Street junction has the greatest cluster of l isted and locally 
l isted buildings,  creating a distinctive nodal point within the study 
area.  

Savi l ls have prepared a Heritage Assessment to inform the 
Development Framework and wil l  be used to help inform future 
heritage impact assessments produced at the planning application 
stage for proposals within the framework area.  The Heritage 
Assessment is a separate document to the Development Framework 
and can be found on the “Chapel Wharf Development Framework” 
page on Salford City Council  Website . 

A Working Heritage 

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737  Figure 5 - Figure Ground And Listed Buildings

The heritage chapter is l imited to setting out the signif icance of 
each of the heritage assets identif ied within the Chapel Wharf Study 
Area.  This chapter is designed to embell ish and provide a robust 
heritage baseline context for the Development Framework.
The chapter assesses the ‘signif icance’  of the heritage assets within 
the study area in accordance with the principle of their  signif icance 
comprising the sum of their  ‘heritage interest(s) ’ .  These heritage 
interests are categorised as archaeological ,  historic ,  architectural 
/  aesthetic .  This fol lows the accepted best practice approach to 
assessing the signif icance of heritage assets -  as set out in both 
the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) and Historic 
England Advice Note 12 (HEA12) ‘Statements of Heritage Signif icance’ 
(October 2019) .
 
The assessment of signif icance also includes an assessment of 
the setting(s)  of the identif ied heritage assets,  and /  or their 
character and appearance ( in the case of conservation areas) .  This 
is completed in accordance with Historic Environment Good Practice 
Advice Note 3 (GPA3) ‘The Setting of Heritage Assets’  (December 
2017) and /  or considers this within the context of Historic England 
Advice Note 1 (HEA1) ‘Conservation Area Appraisal Designation 
and Management’  (February 2019) ,  where relevant .  Together these 
comprise further adopted best practice Historic England guidance for 
completing the assessment within this heritage chapter.
 
The heritage assets included for assessment comprise designated 
and non-designated built  heritage assets within the study area or 
located directly adjacent to it .  This includes 29 built  heritage assets : 
1  conservation area,  22 statutory l isted buildings (formed of 22 l ist 
entries,  of which 3 are grade I I*  and 19 are grade I I )  and 6 locally 
l isted buildings.

The area of greatest urban 
density is located along the River 
I rwell  with l imited access to 
the r iver front and a scale and 
massing which imposes upon the 
local street network.  This area 
consists of monolithic blocks, 
usually with a ground level car 
park or inactive frontage.

The urban grain begins to 
become less intensive as you 
move towards Trinity Way.  There 
are areas within the core of the 
study area where surface car 
parking dominates.  The Grade 
I I  l isted Cook Street Brewery, 
an impressive circa 8 storey 
building with chimney stack is 
an important local focal point 
in terms of views.  The chimney 
stack can be seen from various 
points across the study area and 
future development should look 
to preserve approach views to aid 
with legibi l ity.

The areas of intact historic 
buildings contribute to the 
sense of place.  Narrow streets, 
consistent material ity and facade 
detail ing create a coherent and 
attractive townscape.  There is an 
opportunity to introduce some 
of the f iner details and scale 
expressed on the areas historic 
buildings,  through material ity, 
elevation composition and with 
openings and façades punctuated 
in a human scale.

P
age 25



1918

Chapel Wharf can be broadly characterised into six character areas 
based on their  location and type and uses found across the area 
(f igure 6) .  A visual selection of images over the fol lowing i l lustrates 
the features described below. The character areas are identif ied as;

• High intensity development -  these areas are defined by monolith 

blocks,  comprised of tal l  buildings which sit  within close proximity 

to adjacent buildings /  blocks.  The street environment feels 

particularly enclosed and overshadowed. 

• Medium intensity development -  comprised of  predominantly more 

recent residential  development,  with blocks arranged in a l inear or 

perimeter block form, al lowing more l ight and views to the street . 

The scale and massing in these areas is less intensive and responds 

to their  immediate context more sensitively. 

• Low intensity development -  these areas sit  at the core of 

the study area and sit  north and south of the viaduct .  They are 

characterised by lager format,  low rise box retai l  /  business space 

units or surface car parking.

• Intact historic fabric -  discreet areas of historic fabric which 

survived various phases of development clearance.  Attractive 

Victorian development,  characterised by human scaled height, 

ornate facade detail ing and a largely consistent material  palette.

• Viaduct infrastructure -  the Victorian viaduct which traverses the 

study area is in itself  a character area,  as the open arches and 

views of the structure create void spaces below through the various 

arches as well  as opportunities to pass under the bridge along 

Chapel Street . 

• Irwell  Riverside - the areas where there is currently opportunities 

to access the r iverside through publicly accessible spaces. 

Character Areas                

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

 Figure 6 - Existing neighbourhood character areas

P
age 26



2120

Viaduct Infrastructure             Medium Intensity Development             High Intensity Development             

Character Areas (continued)

Irwell Riverside     Low Intensity Development             Intact Historic Fabric        

P
age 27



Soulless 
links

Cars 
come 
first

Welcome?
Yes
Yes
Yes

Splendour

Happened upon 

Under passes! 

People 
potential

Evolution

Left behind?

car corridors

Front 
door?

Space 
to?

Too 
sterile?

City 
Centre?

Scale

Do 
more!

2322

N

Sense Of Place

The urban design structure of Chapel Wharf is set out in the 
plan adjacent (f igure 7) .  There are a number of features and 
characteristics of the area which provide design cues and influences 
which should be considered when future development is brought 
forward.  Some of these features help to drive a sense of place and 
character.

The r iver crossings provide gateway points into the area from 
Manchester and offer views along the r iver corr idor as well  as some 
views into the centre of the study area. 

The Chapel Street junction with Blackfr iars Street and Sacred Trinity 
Church creates a sense of signif icance /  arr ival .  New Bailey Street 
and Salford Station are also important arr ival  points .  The low rai l 
bridge and the decorate iron castings create an interesting and 
distinctive environment.

Building frontages across the area sit  close to the back of kerb 
providing enclosure and definit ion to the street section and which 
encourages you to continue to move along.

Clusterings of tal ler buildings or point buildings at visually 
prominent locations help to establish a sense of arr ival  or passing 
through a gateway.  Future development could look to working with 
these gateways to draw people and activity into the heart of Chapel 
Wharf.

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

 Figure 7 - Urban Design Characteristics

P
age 28



Funded Projects

MCF Requiring Funding

I rwell River Park

Manchester City Centre Connections

Study Area

Legend

2524

Movement Baseline

Walking and cycling Infrastructure Improvements

Chapel Wharf sits at the heart of Salford Council’s ambitious active 
travel plans with projects already underway to improve accessibility 
across the study area, focusing on promoting and improving the 
experience for walking and cycling journeys. 

The most prominent is its “City Centre Salford – Active Centres, 
Corridors & Neighbourhood Projects” contribution to the Greater 
Manchester Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund. This set of 
8 projects, which include the Salford City Centre Bee Network, seeks 
to better connect neighbourhoods, and reduce reliance on car usage. 
This will be achieved through the creation of an integrated network 
of walking and cycling connections on both quiet streets, off road 
routes (like the Irwell River Park) and major traffic corridors. There is 
a strategic need for such a network in this area to fully connect in to 
Salford Central Station, which is going to 3 platforms added by 2024. 

The Chapel Street East walking and cycling corridor scheme passes 
directly through the centre of Chapel Wharf and will greatly enhance 
the areas accessibility for those pedestrians and cyclists (figure 
8) .  In addition to this there are three other routes that border the 
study area: the Bee Network routes passing down Bloom St, New 
Bailey St and through New Bailey, the Broughton / Blackfriars Road 
cycleway and Irwell River Park (figure 9) .  Also, of direct relevance to 
Chapel Wharf are the projects to reduce the severance created by 
the inner ring road which is being addressed by walking and cycling 
improvements from the Chapel Street – Trinity Way junction down to 
Irwell Street. These infrastructure improvements will greatly enhance 
the quality of pedestrian and cycle connections to and across the 
study area. 

Cycle lane measures have recently been 
implemented on Blackfriar’s Street. These 

and other planned measures begin to reduce 
car dominance in the area and provide a 

starting point for the framework build upon. 
Improved walking routes which are spacious 

and safe to use should ultimately sit 
alongside cycle infrastructure to create an 
inclusive and balanced network of walking 

and cycling infrastructure.

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

N

 Figure 9 - Wider Active Travel Network

 Figure 8 - Active Travel And Proposed Routes

P
age 29



2726

Walking network

Cycle & walking network

Irwell River Park

Manchester City Centre Connections

Study Area

Legend

Walking network

Cycle & walking network

Irwell River Park

Manchester City Centre Connections

Study Area

Legend

Movement Baseline

Figure 10 shows the existing public walking and cycl ing networks in Chapel Wharf. 
The cycle network is a combination of segregated routes on busier roads or as 
quieter streets and in most cases there are pedestrian faci l it ies on either side of the 
street .  The plan highlights the lack of cycle infrastructure at the key junctions on 
Chapel Street .  The levels of pedestrian connectivity to the south of Chapel Street are 
reasonable but with l imited direct access to the r iverside.  The DEVA Business Park 
to the north of Chapel Street is an area which restricts north -  south pedestrian and 
cycle movement,  forcing cycl ists along Bloom Street and Blackfr iars Street . 

Chapel Street ,  New Bailey Street ,  and Blackfr iars are streets which service the local 
bus routes in the area.  These are important for access and connections to Salford 
Central  Station which acts as a travel hub for the area.  Blackfr iars Street is one way 
in the northbound direction from Parsonage to Chapel Street and there are proposed 
bus gates on New Bailey Street and Chapel Street (east of Victoria Bridge) that aim 
to improve the rel iabil ity of bus services.  Figure 11 shows the bus routes and where 
stops are located with 640m of the study area,  640m is the maximum walk distance 
to a bus stop that TfGM use for calculating public transport accessibi l ity.

Public TransportCycle and pedestrian accessibil ity 

© Crown Copyright and 
database rights 2020. Ordnance 
Survey 100019737

© Crown Copyright and 
database rights 2020. Ordnance 
Survey 100019737

 Figure 10 - Cycle & Pedestrian Accessibility  Figure 11 - Public Transport

Movement
m3 - regional significance

m2

m1 - local significance

Study Area

Legend

Movement
m3 - regional significance

m2

m1 - local significance

Study Area

Legend

Place
p3 - regional significance

p2

p1 - local significance

Study Area

Legend

Place
p3 - regional significance

p2

p1 - local significance

Study Area

Legend

Streets have a wide range of functions,  varying from those with very high volumes 
and mixes of vehicular and pedestrian traff ic ,  to those that are for local access 
only.  Regardless of mode there is a shared objective by users :  quick,  safe journeys 
that experience minimal disruption.  Figure 12 highlights the signif icance of streets 
within the study area,  with streets scored from 1- 3 .  Streets scoring 1 (m1) are those 
that have local signif icance and low traff ic volumes while streets scoring 3 (m3) are 
those with high traff ic volumes and a regional signif icance.  Some streets with a high 
score (m3) support the movement of various modes of travel and at greater volumes, 
including pedestrians,  cycl ists ,  bus and vehicles .  Higher scoring streets also have 
a greater impact on the wider network and key movement corridors .  Lower scoring 
streets have a lesser impact upon the network and carry low numbers of vehicles and 
traff ic . 

As with the movement function there is a range of importance regarding the 
signif icance of streets and how they contribute to ‘place’ .  This is related to the 
level of activity in an area and the signif icance of the place on a local or regional 
level .  Streets with cultural or historical assets score highly in terms of place,  as 
do transport hubs,  because these destinations attract large numbers of people on 
a more frequent basis .  Local retai l ,  as places,  take their  score from the type of 
shops,  varying from local convenience shops or retai l  offers that people would travel 
greater distances to reach.  Figure 13 classif ies streets within the study area based 
on this rationale,  scoring from 1- 3 in terms of place.  Streets scoring 1 (P1)  are those 
that have local signif icance,  l ike residential  streets with fewer people making tr ips 
along, to those scoring 3 (P3) that have signif icance on a study wide /  city wide level 
and experience more outside visits and patronage due to uses found along them.

Vehicle movement function Place function

© Crown Copyright and 
database rights 2020. Ordnance 
Survey 100019737

© Crown Copyright and 
database rights 2020. Ordnance 
Survey 100019737

 Figure 12 - Vehicle Network  Figure 13 - Place Function Of Existing Streets

NNNN

P
age 30



2928

Land Ownership

The majority of land is held within private ownership across the 
study area.  Salford City Council  (SCC) have modest ownership within 
the study area,  focused along Chapel Street along with ownership 
along the western extents of Tr inity Way.  The network of strategic 
and local streets fal l  under SCC assets adoption and are under main-
tenance by the Council .  Delivery of future proposals within Chapel 
Wharf wil l  be dependent on collaboration and contributions from 
development proposals and funding sources.

Market Summary

The fol lowing is a summary review of the market within Chapel 
Wharf.  This summary is based on the f indings of a property market 
report conducted by Savi l ls to inform this framework.
• Chapel Wharf is a predominantly mixed use area with successful 

schemes in al l  sectors 
• The local residential  demographic is predominately rental hub, 

with educated young people privately renting in urban, high 
density neighbourhoods

• Chapel Wharf is functionally part of the wider Manchester City 
Centre off ice market ,  with New Bailey and Embankment examples 
of recent development

• The Hotel market is well  covered in this part of Salford and whilst 
there are plans for new developments within the study area this 
is l imited to one small  serviced apartment scheme

• The retai l  and leisure markets are under provided for and this 
provides a signif icant opportunity to respond to residential 
growth.  Recent developments directly adjacent to the study area 
on Chapel Street are underway in response to this demand. 

Land Ownership And Planning Pipeline 

 Figure 14 - Land Ownership

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737 Figure 15 - Development Pipeline

NPlanning Pipeline

There is a focus for growth in the context of Greater Manchester, 
which is encouraging dense development,  but with an emphasis that 
supporting infrastructure and public spaces are integrated.  Chapel 
Wharf sits between two major growth areas within Salford which are 
realising this density ;  Greengate to the northeast and New Bailey 
to the southwest .  The Renaissance Hotel Masterplan,  bordering 
Deansgate and Blackfr iars Street is planned for redevelopment of 
the former Ramada Complex.  Development is planned adjacent and 
across the River I rwell  through the St .  Marys Parsonage SRF.  Several 
planning applications are proposed within the study area.  Please 
refer to Savi l ls Planning Policy Consultation Statement for more 
details ,  which is a separate document and which can be accessed 
on the “Chapel Wharf Development 
Framework” page of the Salford City 
Council  Website .

Connectivity is an important planning 
consideration,  with increased 
connections promoted through the 
area and to other key points in 
Salford and Manchester by foot , 
cycle and public transport .  There 
is a focus on making better use of 
existing assets,  particularly the r iver 
and heritage.   There is acceptance 
that a wide range of uses should 
be considered to form a mixed use 
area,  ensuring that the vision for the 
area complements init iatives in both 
Salford and Manchester. 

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

P
age 31



3130

Public Realm Audit

Types And Quality Of Streets

• Many streets suffer from high levels of enclosure but a lack of 
ground f loor animation (from ground f loor active uses) or high 
quality public realm (for example Dearmans Place)

• Some streets (Booth Street ,  John Street)  have a mix of intact 
historic buildings and some recent development and have an 
appealing and interesting character

• Bloom Street has received public realm investment with the 
introduction of rain gardens,  street trees,  outdoor seating 
and high quality paving as well  as narrowing the vehicular 
carr iageway -  a successful and well  delivered proposal which 
complements the historic character of the fronting buildings

• Many streets are dominated by on-street car parking 
• The mix of paving materials around the Lowry Hotel creates an 

i l legible route for walking and cycl ing,  and the lack of planting 
emphasises the scale of the imposing adjacent buildings along 
the relatively narrow street

• Chapel Street as an environment is dominated by vehicular traff ic 
and the spaces on both sides are poor quality and inactive. 
Chapel Street has currently has emergency active travel bike 
lanes implemented and plans in development as part of the 
Mayors Challenge Fund (Chapel Street East phases 1 and 2)

• Tr inity Way is a major inner r ing road with l imited opportunities 
for pedestrian l inks to nearby residential  neighbourhoods

• Bridge St ,  Blackfr iars St ,  Bridge St .  & Trinity Bridge provide 
crossing l inks across the River I rwell .

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737 Figure 16 - Public Realm Audit

P
age 32



3332

Types And Quality Of Spaces

• There are few open spaces of scale within the study area
• Spaces are comprised of hard materials ,  predominantly paving 

and some street furniture and many have few tree planting
• The Trinity Bridge space is framed by the Lowry Hotel and 

provides an opportunity to access the r iver side.  This space l inks 
Blackfr iars St with Bridge Street and has been upgraded where 
new development is being delivered.  The engineered r iver wall 
offers l imited biodiversity value or interaction with the r iver 
itself.   The current form of the space,  which has raised planters, 
arranged seating and a general lack of clear use creates a poor 
quality urban space which has the potential  to become a unique 
dwell  space within the city

• The 1635 Sacred Trinity Church sits within a historic Tr inity Market 
Square within the Flat I ron Conservation Area.  The area has an 
attractive townscape character,  expressed through the Gothic 
Architecture of the Church and the surrounding combination of 
attractive historic low walls ,  ornate rai l ings,  established trees 
and cobbled street along the viaduct 

• Some tree planting has been delivered in the study area albeit in 
a dis jointed way.  Some small  pocket spaces exist with unusable 
pieces of planting /  hard materials 

• Some high quality,  internal courtyard spaces have been delivered 
as part of new development,  many of which are private

• Surrounding spaces which the future regeneration strategy could 
respond to include St .  Stephen’s Gardens,  a proposed new public 
plaza to the south of Tr inity Bridge (as outl ined in the St .  Mary’s 
Parsonage SRF) and the urban space which sits along the River 
I rwell  and west of Cathedral Approach.

Public Realm Audit (cont.)

Vegetation used 
to fill gaps

Parked cars 
dominating 

street

Poor quality 
surface 

treatment

Blank & 
imposing 
facade

View along north along Bury Street towards Trinity Way 

No visual interest 
along street

Wide vehicular 
carriageway Narrow

footpath

Unanimated 
ground floor

View along Dearmans Place towards Trinity Bridge 

Wide corner radi 
encroaching on  

public realm 

Railing and signage 
cluttering streetscape

View of the Blackfriars Chapel Street junction

Parked cars 
dominating street

Uninviting surface 
treatment

Poor quality 
pavement

View along John Street looking towards apartment buildings  

P
age 33



9.

10.

11.

12.

a.

b.

c.

d.
f.

e.

13.

14.
15.

16.

16.

16.

8.

1.

2.

4.

3.

5.

6.

7.

3534

Potential Opportunity Sites

The framework identif ies a number of potential  future development 

opportunity sites .  Opportunity sites are defined as areas which 

have potential  for ful l  re-development or partial  re-development. 

This also includes potential  re-configuration of existing building 

footprints and internal layouts .  Although predominantly focused on 

built  form interventions,  opportunities can also include public realm 

interventions that could host commercial  uses.

1 .  Bloom Street Car Park

2.  Corner of Chapel Street /  New Bailey  Street

3.  Spaw Street Car Park and Viaduct Arches

4.  Delphian House & Cloister House 

5 .  HMRC Building and service areas

6.  Land between Barlows Croft and Booths Street

7.  Land between Chapel Street & Railway Viaducts

8.  Deva City Office Park

9.  !Audacious Church and surface car park (Planning application 

approved July 2021)

10.  Land between Bury Street and Trinity Way and Bury Street

11 .  Manchester Real Tennis Club Car Park

12 .  Land between Cross Street and Railway Viaduct

13.  Travel Lodge and associated car parking

14.  BT Exchange

15.  Car parking areas and curti lage associated with City Heights / 

Premier Inn building

16.  Chapel Street viaduct arches

Potential  opportunity sites beyond study boundary which wil l 

influence future development within Chapel Wharf

a) .   Reich Insurance site – 197 – 203 Chapel Street 

b) .  Stay Inn Hotel Site (early discussions – aspirations for major  

 development)

c) .  Renault Garage site -  no current plans for re-development but  

 occupies a prominent gateway location along Trinity Way and  

 into the study area via Blackfr iars Road 

d) .   Former off ices along Chapel Street 

 (Pre-application discussions are currently underway) 

e) .  Salford City Council  commissioned study to explore future uses  

 and activation of archways onto public space

f ) .  Maldron Hotel Site (planning approved)

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737 Figure 17 - Key Development Opportunity Sites

The l ist adjacent is not an 

exhaustive l ist of development 

opportunities across the study 

area and if  other proposals are 

presented to the Council ,  they 

wil l  be considered and reviewed 

through the planning process. 

Future planning applications 

within the Chapel Wharf area 

wil l  nevertheless be expected  to 

demonstrate how the design of 

such proposals are in al ignment 

with the overarching principles 

articulated in the framework.

P
age 34



5.

5.

5.

5.

5.
3.

2.
2.

2.

2.

3. 4.

1.

6.

6.

6.

6.

7.

9.

10.

3736

Emerging Opportunities

Based on our understanding and review of the potential  redevelopment opportunity 
sites identif ied above,  a number of spatial  opportunities emerge as a result .  The 
adjacent plan sets these out as broad themes, which wil l  be explored in greater 
detail  as the framework is developed. 
The spatial  opportunities identif ied below wil l  form the basis of a spatial  strategy 
plan.

1 .  Establish new pedestrian priorit ised crossing point(s)  across Trinity Way l inking 
to existing residential  communities

2.  Create new positive arr ival  points to Chapel Wharf through public realm 
improvements /  development interventions

3.  Identify opportunities for coordinated and holistic development to come forward 
suitable for a city centre /  15 minute neighbourhood 

4.  Create a vibrant,  mixed use new environment focused along the rai lway viaduct 
arches

5.  Improve the quality of Chapel Street and the ‘threshold’  points along it  (key 
junctions,  bridge underpasses,  points where it  l inks north to south)

6.  Establish a network high quality urban spaces with a range of uses and that 
respond to their  r iverside or historic setting

7.  Re-wild and enhance the r iverside environment
8.  Work with existing heritage assets in the area to improve their  setting and open 

up /  preserve views to them; and
9.  Create an accessible l ink along the River I rwell . 

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737 Figure 18 - Emerging Opportunities

P
age 35



V i s i o n 

& 

O b j e c t i v e s 

P
age 36



Housing for al l

Flexible accommodation

Safe neighbourhoods

Higher but comfortable density

Food

Health & care

Grocery & Delivery

Parks,  Parklets,  Green space

Community gardens,  food resil ience & grow spaces

Playgrounds & exercise spaces
Civic and spil l 

out space

Events
Food & drink

Community & 
social  space

Commercial

Shared
workspaces

Education 
& learning

Variety of 
work space

Buildings

Energy production & 
conscumption

Water Management 

Cycling Walking Public 
transport

CHAPEL WHARF
THE HEART OF A NEW 

TYPE OF CITY

MOVEMENT

OPEN SPACE
COMMUNITY 

REALM

SUSTAINABLE
WELCOME HOME

BASIC 
NECESSITIES

SKILLS &  
EMPLOYMENT

4140

The 15 Minute Neighbourhood

This Framework sets the foundations for Chapel Wharf to apply the 

15 minute Neighbourhood principles within Salford City Centre.  The 

C40 Cities Cl imate Leadership Group, a group of 96 major cit ies 

around the world,  defines the core principles of a 15-minute city as 

somewhere that :

• Residents of every neighbourhood have easy access to goods and 

services,  particularly groceries,  fresh food and healthcare

• Every neighbourhood has a variety of housing types,  of different 

sizes and levels of affordabil ity,  to accommodate many types of 

households and enable more people to l ive closer to where they 

work

• Residents of every neighbourhood are able to breathe clean 

air,  f ree of harmful air  pollutants,  there are green spaces for 

everyone to enjoy

• More people can work close to home or remotely,  thanks to the 

presence of smaller-scale off ices,  retai l  and hospital ity,  and co-

working spaces.

The underlying principle that under pins this 15 minute 

neighbourhood concept to Chapel Wharf is to ensure that it  makes 

the most of it ’s  land availabil ity,  encourages l iving at a comfortable 

scale and density,  provides a variety of open spaces as well  as safe, 

legible and sustainable l inks to surrounding social  infrastructure. 

Chapel Wharf wil l  become the heart of a new type of City. 

The existing assets and physical location of Chapel Wharf,  as well 

as its abil ity to draw on the major retai l ,  cultural and commercial 

environments around it ,  mean it  is perfectly placed to meet these 

principles .

A City Region Riverside

The Irwell  is a key part of Salford’s 

contribution to the City Region.  The 

access to the r iverside in Chapel Wharf 

offers potential  for Salford to be the main 

r iverside location within the City,  building 

on the investment to date and promoting 

the r iver edge as a key public space for the 

neighbourhood of Chapel Wharf and as a 

key attractor for visitors from across the 

wider city region. 

Reclaiming Urban Infrastructure

No longer simply a route to somewhere but 

an opportunity to shift  the threshold of 

arr ival  and rethinking key arterial  routes 

as a place for people rather than traff ic ; 

reclaiming valuable space in a central 

urban location.  In this way a new sense of 

place can be established, centred around 

Sacred Trinity Church and Chapel Street 

and the crossing of these routes. 

Foster A Virtuous Circle Of Community Life

Address gaps in the area’s offer to ensure l i fe’s 

daily needs can be met within or close to Chapel 

Wharf whilst increased density sustains a growing 

range of uses.  From schools and healthcare to 

culture and retai l ,  a harmonious balance where 

residents,  workers and visitors enjoy and sustains 

a mix of services.  No longer a series of gated 

developments but rather a true l iving and working 

community.

Overcoming Isolation With Comfortable Links

Create safer,  pedestrian & cycle crossings and 

establish more pedestrian & cycle priorit ised 

routes.  This wil l  tackle the severance caused 

by Trinity Way and al low existing residential 

areas to the north and west to directly connect 

to Chapel Wharf.  Cross braced streets that cross 

Trinity Way, the rai lway arches and the r iver wil l 

al low people and the f low of activity to cross into 

Chapel Wharf.  Chapel Wharf also has a key role 

in connecting with the Innovation and Knowledge 

Cluster around the University –  connecting ski l ls 

and innovation with business and commercial 

opportunity.Figure 19 - 15 minute neighbourhood concept diagram

P
age 37



4342

Our Vision

Chapel Wharf: 
the other side 
of City Centre 
Salford
A central neighbourhood offering 

an alternative urban experience.  An 

authentic place that feeds the mind, 

body and soul .  

Live sustainably, 
within easy reach 
of all the city has 

to offer in terms of 
jobs, culture, leisure 

and shopping

Move comfortably 
through people 

friendly routes or 
just spend time in 

attractive community 
spaces & family play 

streets

Enjoy exploring 
characterful 

buildings and  
re-invented railway 

arches full of 
distinctive uses and 

local life

Discover a natural 
edge through secret 

gardens, growing 
spaces, green 

streets, and riverside 
walks

A place that invites you to. . . 

P
age 38



4544

Objectives

1.
Railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse and more 

accessible; places in their own right

The rai lway arches which traverse Chapel Wharf can be such 

an important and distinctive asset to the neighbourhood.  The 

Framework wil l  look to re-position these arch spaces as meaningful 

and activated spaces which l ink the neighbourhood together as 

well  as establishing an excit ing,  bustl ing and evolving cultural 

destination.

2.
Creating accessible open spaces, of a scale, that provide balance 

and relief from the urban intensity of the area and support 

community l ife

Chapel Wharf has already experienced a signif icant amount of 

development and investment over the course of the past decade.  The 

area has gone through transformational change in density and scale . 

Looking forward,  this framework does support new development 

at density but crucial ly it  recognises the importance of high 

quality,  accessible and well  designed spaces to accommodate the 

demands of modern city l iving and to support opportunities to dwell 

comfortably and interact as a community. 

3.
A neighbourhood that manages its environmental impact

Chapel Wharf wil l  consciously seek to manage it ’s impact on the 

environment,  through water management,  air  quality management, 

carbon efficiency in buildings and modes of travel .  

4.
An accessible, high quality riverside environment

Making the most of the opportunity for Chapel Wharf to offer a City 

wide urban waterfront destination which offers opportunities to 

dwell ,  relax,  appreciate local nature and take some respite from the 

hustle and bustle of urban l iving. 

5.
Comfortable and balanced streets that create an accessible and 

connected urban environment

The street network across Chapel Wharf wil l  be equally responsible 

for accommodating opportunities to dwell ,  relax and support 

community l i fe .  They wil l  also ensure that residents can access 

surrounding amenities and uses in a sustainable way as well  as 

al lowing visitors and those who are passing through to do so safely, 

comfortably and using sustainable modes of transport . 

6.
An animated and activated ground plane

We want to activate the ground f loor or street level experience 

as far as possible .  This can be through a combination of active 

ground f loor uses,  front doors onto streets,  more visually permeable 

ground f loor uses and more eyes on street .  Increasing the amount of 

activity in the r ight locations wil l  not only draw people into the area 

but it  wil l  also improve the sense of safety and passive surveil lance. 

7.
A more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes

City centre l iving and al l  it  has to offer should not be solely 

dependent upon apartment accommodation.  Apartments form part of 

an important mix of residential  accommodation and the Framework 

seeks to promote a sustainable mix of homes to the city centre.  A 

mixed density,  variety of family homes, which offer f lexibi l ity and 

durabil ity for those choosing Chapel Wharf as their  home.  

8.
A type of development that reflects human scale and pays 

attention to detail

Along with animating the ground plane,  the Framework wil l  ensure 

that attention to detail  on buildings which meet the public realm 

is considered.  The Framework wil l  encourage those to consider the 

f iner design details on the ground plane,  which help to break up 

the scale and massing of larger development blocks and reflect the 

details and intricacies of the Victorian and Georgian architecture.

9.
An adaptive and advanced neighbourhood

Introducing opportunities for technology to help improve the quality 

of l i fe of those who l ive and work in Chapel Wharf.  Consideration 

to integrating super-fast broadband; WiFi connectivity across the 

public realm, real-t ime data access to local information such as bus 

times,  air  pollution levels ;  a Chapel Wharf App able to access the 

latest information on events,  offers ,  waiting times,  GP availabil ity. 

P
age 39



Choice Of Homes

Spaces Discovered

Social Spaces - 
Community Hangouts

Comfortable

Mixed Use

Activated Waterside

Family Friendly

4746

10.
A stronger sense of arrival

Announce,  define and celebrate the point at which you arr ive into Chapel 

Wharf.  The Framework wil l  look to establish clear gateway points and arr ival 

thresholds.  A combination of enhanced existing as well  as new arrival 

points wil l  help draw people to the area as well  as provide a wider sense of 

connectedness and accessibi l ity to the surrounding City context .  

11.
Protecting heritage assets 

Chapel Street is blessed with some beautiful  individual historic buildings as 

well  as intact areas of townscape character and quality.   The Framework wil l 

promote an enhanced setting and development response to important l isted 

buildings,  responding to important views and setting. 

12.
A diversified working neighbourhood

The COVID-19 pandemic has fundamentally changed our working patterns and 

has asked more of our abil ity to work from home as well  as reconsidering the 

type and location of employment in the future.  Chapel Wharf should support 

f lexible and adaptable work spaces which support a range of local and 

international businesses.  Work spaces can also begin to be considered in the 

less traditional manner,  offering multi-functional workspace,  start-up spaces, 

makers spaces as well  as larger commercial  space in certain locations. 

13.
Meeting the needs of a thriving community

As well  as improving access to existing community assets both within 

and beyond Chapel Wharf,  the evolution of this neighbourhood should 

respond to the needs of a thriving and diverse community.  Identifying 

opportunity areas to introduce the community infrastructure as well 

as encouraging the private sector to respond to community demand to 

support the principles of the 15 minute neighbourhood.  

  

14. 
Protect and enhance public transport provision including Mobility 

as a Service (MaaS) to reduce dependence on private vehicles

Bus gates at key locations such as Bridge Street and one previously 

implemented at Victoria Bridge Street wil l  help protect and enhance 

the rel iabil ity of bus services through the area.  To complement this , 

improvements should be made to bus waiting faci l it ies at stops 

throughout.  The continuation of the e-scooter tr ial  and the expansion 

of the GM cycle hire scheme increases the presence of Mobil ity as 

a Service (MaaS) in the area.  The ambition to deliver an integrated 

ticketing system across the Greater Manchester Public Transport 

network wil l  further support movement for residents and visitors 

al ike.  Salford Central  rai l  station is a travel hub serving al l  the above 

as well  as taxis and private hire vehicles .

Objectives

P
age 40



D e v e l o p m e n t

F r a m e w o r k

P
age 41



The issues:

• Vehicle dominated carriageway with l itt le space 

for pedestrians or cycl ists

• An intimidating environment,  which creates 

severance to communities north and west of 

Chapel Wharf 

• Severance further exacerbated with crossing 

opportunities which do not connect with local 

desire l ines. 

The opportunities: 

• Create a multi-modal corr idor,  with improved 

pedestrian & cycle provision along the corridor. 

Opportunities to uti l ise adjacent lower order 

streets which run paral lel  to Trinity Way 

• Introduce a new crossing point that reinforces 

desire l ines and creates a pedestrian priorit ised, 

direct crossing

• Improve the environmental qualit ies of the 

corridor by exploring opportunities for acoustic 

screening,  SUDs, Tree planting and higher quality 

public realm at crossings. 

Trinity WayExisting infrastructure is a dominant 

feature of Chapel Wharf.  I t  impacts upon the 

quality of the environment and the abil ity 

to seamlessly integrate with surrounding 

parts of the City. 

In order to successful ly deliver the 

objectives outl ined above and to provide 

a foundation for the principles of Chapel 

Wharf ’s 15 minute neighbourhood, then 

these infrastructure barriers must be 

overcome. We have identif ied four key 

areas of focus that the Framework seeks to 

address.  These are;

• Tr inity Way

• The Railway Viaducts

• Chapel Street Corridor

• River I rwell  Riverside

By considering the potential  place-led 

design approaches to these key areas of 

focus and unlocking their  ful l  potential , 

the Framework can help deliver on it ’s 

objectives.  

The issues:

• A hidden riverside in parts ,  with a number of 

perpendicular streets which do not l ink to the 

r iverside and provide more frequent opportunities 

to access

• An unanimated r iverside space with a dated and 

r igid layout and design which does not maximise 

the opportunity

• A diverted r iverside experience due to lengths of 

the r iver corr idor enclosed by building l ines and 

basement retaining walls . 

The opportunities: 

• Create a more accessible r iverside environment 

which has a stronger sense of connection with 

Chapel Street by opening up perpendicular streets

• Re-wild and replenish the r iverside encouraging 

more wildl ife into the city centre

• Create more opportunities to dwell ,  observe and 

benefit  from the r iverside setting through a unique 

public realm

• Improve the quality and function of existing spaces 

along the r iver and f ind opportunities to uncover 

new ones. 

The Riverside

5150

Key Responses

V i a d u c t s

V i a d u c t s

R i v e r  I r w e l l

R i v e r  I r w e l l

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

V i a d u c t s

V i a d u c t s

R i v e r  I r w e l l

R i v e r  I r w e l l

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

P
age 42



The issues: 

• A road that passes through instead of invit ing 

visitors to arr ive 

• A road which currently priorit ises vehicle 

movement,  designed for the car & bus,  with 

pedestrian and cycle needs secondary

• A l inear route which has l itt le opportunities to 

cross and encourage more informal movement 

through the area

• A dis jointed and disconnected public realm with 

low levels of ground f loor activity and animation.

The opportunities:

• Establish Chapel Street as a multi-functional 

street which reads as part of a connected public 

realm allowing for more crossing opportunities 

• Treat sections of Chapel Street as a piece of 

public realm or civic space,  which vehicles have 

to pass through. This wil l  give greater priority to 

pedestrians and encourage a greater connection 

between uses on either side of the street

• These proposals are due to be on site and 

delivered by Salford City Council .

Chapel Street
The issues: 

• Some of the most interesting and dynamic arch 

spaces under the viaducts are currently given over 

to car parking spaces

• A lot of the archways adjacent to Salford Central  are 

not open to public access and as a result remain 

hidden and undiscovered

• Although some uses currently exist within other 

areas of the arch network along Chapel Street ,  some 

remain underuti l ised,  derel ict or closed up which 

intensif ies the sense of severance.

The opportunities:

• Open the arches up to more public uses,  al lowing 

the interesting network of spaces to drive the sense 

of character and place,  forming a new distinctive 

character for Chapel Wharf and unique to Salford

• Explore opportunities to open both sides of the 

arches to dual facing uses,  shared spaces or new 

cut throughs and l inks across the area

• Encourage a mix of uses within the arches,  al lowing 

people to experience a characterful piece of 

historic infrastructure through a variety of uses and 

activit ies .

The Viaducts

5352

V i a d u c t s

V i a d u c t s

R i v e r  I r w e l l

R i v e r  I r w e l l

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

Key Responses

V i a d u c t s

V i a d u c t s

R i v e r  I r w e l l

R i v e r  I r w e l l

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

T r i n
i t

y  W
a y

P
age 43



5.

3.

2.
4.

9.

1.

6.

6.

10.

12.

12.

16.

15.

13. 14.

17.

18.

19.

11.

8.

7.

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

5554

1 .  Garden Lane enhanced and extended towards the west of the 

Bury Street 

2 .  Upgrades to existing junction to create a direct and 

comfortable pedestrian crossing to adjacent residential 

communities

3.  Potential  multi-functional l inear public space to include SUDs, 

residential  play space and urban grow spaces

4.  Establishing a new meandering pedestrian route along re-

animated arches from Blackfr iars Road 

5.  A new urban spil l  out space for re-activiated dual fronted 

arches and providing an improved setting to celebrate the Cook 

Street Brewery

6.  Introduction of animation programmes under opened arches 

( l ightworks,  audioworks,  art instal lations and pop-ups)

7.  Activation of arches facing north to create a new pedestrian 

l ink with uses within archways and spil l  out space.  Opportunity 

to activate the southern space with meanwhile uses and 

activity and establish as a high quality civic space for arch 

activit ies to spil l  onto 

8.  Dual fronted archways with uses addressing northern and 

southern aspects

9.  Extended public realm treatment along section of Chapel Street 

carr iageway to create stronger visual connection and improved 

pedestrian environment.  Opportunity to reduce carriageway 

widths and introduce traff ic calming

10.  Re-activated south facing arches with shared operational / 

service space to rear

11 .  New arrival  space to the south of Salford Central  Station and 

across New Bailey Street ,  providing improved access between 

one New Bailey and the revital ised arches

12.  Introducing pocket spaces and enhanced parking areas along 

local l inks

13.  Reconfigured Chapel St & Blackfr iars Street junction to improve 

pedestrian crossing and tighten up vehicle carr iageway and 

junction

14.  Reconfiguration of Premier Inn car park to open up a route and 

views to the r iverside and create a new riverside dwell  space

15.  Redevelopment of the Travelodge, creating a new gateway 

building,  which is setback and orientated to create a small 

r iverside pocket space

16.  Reconfigured Trinity Bridge space designed to accommodate 

a range of functions as well  as being more functional and 

versati le

17.  Environmental improvements along Trinity Way, improving 

the visual appearance of the highway through urban greening 

-SUDs, wildlf lower planting,  tree planting and visual screening

18.  The introduction of a softer r ivers edge with habitat creation 

and planting.

Development Framework

Figure 20 - Strategic Development Framework

N

P
age 44



Events

Food & drink

Community & 
social  space

Commercial

Sustainable

Community Realm

Skills & Employment

Shared workspaces

Education & learning

Variety of work space

Buildings

Energy production 
& consumption

Water Management 

Housing for al l

Flexible accommodation

Safe neighbourhoods

Comfortable density

Cycling

Walking

Public 
transport

Welcome Home

Basic Necessities

Movement

Open Space

Parks,  Parklets,  Green 
space

Community gardens,  food 
resil ience & grow spaces

Playgrounds & exercise spaces

Civic and spil l  out space

Food

Health & care

Grocery & Delivery

Figure 21 - Chapel Wharf’s 15 Minute  
Neighbourhood Opportunities

Key:

 Potential  new development

 Planned or recently  
 delivered development

 People focused l inks

 Railway viaduct

 River I rwell

5756

‘Targeted Intensification’ 
Supporting A Mix Of Uses

The principles of the 15 Minute 
Neighbourhood are applied to Chapel 
Wharf.  Reinventing,  diversifying,  enhancing, 
connecting and animating the area 
through a combination of a mix of uses, 
development potential ,  a co-ordinated 
public realm and movement network. 

Chapel Wharf is a place already in transit 
and has seen signif icant development 
already delivered.  This framework is seeking 
to ‘ f i l l  the gaps’  and provide those ‘missing 
l inks’  through targeted intensif ication 
in key areas.  The success of the strategy 
in delivering our underpinning principles 
wil l  depend upon how we connect to areas 
within and around the neighbourhood. 
Chapel Wharf is the missing piece which 
connects two growing cit ies both together 
and with its r iverside;  a part of the city 
offering an alternative urban experience 
which draws you in and encourages you 
through and beyond. 

P
age 45



5958

Illustrative Masterplan

Figure 22 - Illustrative Masterplan

Land-use

The approach to land-use is centred around a number of 
opportunities and influences including;
• re-activation of the viaduct arches a variety of uses to the area;
• responding to the development of New Bailey,  supporting and 

capital izing upon the success of this now established office led 
quarter ;

• a mix of daytime and night t ime uses encouraged along 
pedestrian routes and public spaces to ensure they help create 
safe environments at al l  t imes of day

• identifying opportunities of the re-purposing and development of 
existing buildings across the Framework;  and

• delivering a mix of residential  typologies to support a diverse 
community and which provide an additional offer to development 
in Greengate and Salford Central . 

The Framework land-use strategy identif ies a number of land-use 
areas which comprise of ;

Residential led development :  a variety of medium and high-
density residential  development opportunities across the framework. 
The focus of residential  development is north of the Viaducts and 
combines with areas of mixed-use development.  In terms of new 
residential  development the DEVA Business Park and !Audacious 
Church sites provide an opportunity to create a vibrant,  family 
focused residential  core north of the viaducts which helps integrate 
with existing neighbourhoods across Trinity Way.  The current 
Travel Lodge site could be realised as a higher density residential 
development providing views onto the r iverside and towards 
Manchester.  Elements of ground f loor commercial  or other non-
residential  uses are located within residential  led development to 
support local residents and to create a blend of ground f loor uses 
and activity.

Mixed use development:  areas where development is mainly 
characterised by a mix of other uses as well  as residential 
development.  These areas can include office accommodation, 
cultural uses,  retai l  and leisure which are integrated with 
residential  elements.  These are typical ly mixed-use blocks with 
a variety of non-residential  uses across lower f loors and with 
residential  development above. 

Commercial mixed use development:  focused mainly around New 
Bailey these areas wil l  accommodate a mix of uses,  but contain 
off ice and potential  for some residential  uses.  Some ground f loor 
convenience retai l ,  leisure food and beverage could be located 
here to support the existing and future off ice and residential 
communities .  There are also some opportunities for hotel uses in 
this location,  within close proximity to Salford Central  Station.

Cultural and leisure:  the cultural and leisure heart of the 
Framework is focused along and through the viaduct arches 
creating a distinctive character area which extends from Salford 
Central  Station to Blackfr iar ’s Road.  The ambition for this area is 
to accommodate a host of leisure and culture-based offers ,  ranging 
from independent food and drink enterprises;  l ive music ,  arts & 
crafts and exhibit ion spaces;  entrepreneurial  start up and business 
spaces;  makers markets and Brewery spaces.

Hotel accommodation :  The Lowry Hotel and Premier Inn Hotel 
continue to offer a variety of hotel choice in the area.  There may 
be longer term opportunities for hotel accommodation along the 
r iverside as part of a potential  conversion of part of the BT Exchange 
building.  This is a long term potential  opportunity and subject to the 
closure of the buildings current use and disposal of its associated 
infrastructure. 

N

P
age 46



2

1
3

4

6160

N

In addition to the broad land-use areas 
highlighted above,  there are some specif ic 
uses identif ied within the Framework 
including;

1 .  Potential  for future integration of 
residential ,  l ight retai l  and hotel 
development.  Discussions are ongoing with 
the !Audacious Church around providing 
opportunities for future proposals to al ign 
with the principles of this framework. 

2 .  Opening up of the arches north of Chapel 
Street to support active uses and the 
uti l ise the existing space along Chapel 
Street for activity and spil l  out space 
l inked to businesses within the arches. 
Potential  additional cut-throughs to the 
development areas north could be explored. 
In the short term, these viaducts and the 
space adjacent could be used for temporary 
pop-up instal lations and meanwhile uses, 
drawing residents and visitors to the area

3.  Potential  to open up arches and l ink with 
future residential  development

4.  Potential  to accommodate a use l inked to 
the industrial  past of the area -  Cook Street 
Brewery.  An interesting location for a 
microbrewery in the heart of Chapel Wharf.  

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737
Figure 23 - Proposed Land-use

Unlocking potential of established buildings

There are a number of large-scale existing buildings within the 
Framework,  which over the course of the Framework’s vision may 
offer new opportunities for reconfiguration or redevelopment, 
depending upon future demand. The Framework sets out a potential 
approach to the most signif icant buildings including 73 Yorkshire 
Street ,  Dial  House,  Premier Inn and Cloister House.

73 Yorkshire Street is an imposing 9 storey off ice building that is 
currently occupied by HMRC (Ref A on the adjacent plan) ,  although 
at the time of writ ing it  is understood they are re-locating to New 
Bailey in 2022.  The Framework identif ies the building as off ice led 
development with the potential  for residential  accommodation 
to be integrated.  The opportunity to refurbish the building to 
accommodate an enhanced office and new residential  element 
should be explored before ful l  redevelopment is considered.  The 
ground f loor environment along Dearmans Place is important and 
should look to create more active frontages,  potential ly offering 
space for smaller off ice e-suites,  f lexible workspace or some 
commercial  units .

Dial  House,  a Telephone Exchange (Ref B on the adjacent plan) , 
is currently owned and occupied by BT and is a crit ical  piece of 
BT’s infrastructure,  which supplies Salford and Manchester.  The 
building accommodates over 100,000sqft of cr it ical  infrastructure 
and as a result ,  short to medium term opportunities for the site’s 
alternative use are l imited given the complexit ies and challenges 
in decommissioning the site .  However,  should longer term 

opportunities emerge for this site under this Framework’s vision,  the 
site could be an area of change.  There may be potential  to open up 
routes down to the r iverside alongside the partial  retention of the 
buildings.  I f  future redevelopment or refurbishment became viable, 
the Framework supports future residential  and hotel uses on this 
site,  complementing recent developments by the Select Group and 
Renaissance Hotel (Treehouse Hotel ,  the f irst outside of London) . 

The Premier Inn site (Ref C on the adjacent plan) is extremely 
complex due to its fragmented ownership and the hotel being in a 
leasehold offer.  In the short to medium term the Framework supports 
the current use and whilst longer term a comprehensive residential 
and hotel refurbishment would enhance the area’s overal l  offer,  the 
current ownership fragmentation presents issues around delivery. 

The group of buildings comprising of Baskervi l le House,  Cloister 
House,  Aldine House and Delphian House create a complex of 
off ices and are located south of Browncross Street (Ref D on the 
adjacent plan) .  Both Baskervi l le House and Aldine House have been 
refurbished and the complex of off ices here complement the new 
build offer over the road well .  In the medium to longer term there 
may be more radical opportunities to redevelop part of the complex 
of off ices,  opening up l inks to the r iverside.  Future redevelopment, 
either through partial  or complete demolit ion could accommodate 
improved office led development with residential  accommodation 
integrated within. 

Reinforcing a distinctive 
office quarter at 
Browncross Street 

This part of Chapel Wharf has 
had a long history of successful 
commercial  uses with many of 
the existing buildings sti l l  in 
off ice use today.  In particular 
Baskervi l le House has only 
recently been refurbished to 
accommodate online retai ler 
AO.com, who moved into the 
building in 2018.  New Bailey 
has proved to be a considerable 
success story and the Framework 
looks to capital ise and support 
this success.  The f irst occupiers 
to take up space were Freshfields 
who relocated from London and 
since then both HMRC and BT 
have both recently committed 
their  long-term future to the 
area.  This part of the framework 
has the excellent connectivity 
to public transport and l inks 
into the heart of Manchester ’s 
commercial  distr icts ,  primari ly 
Spinningfields .  New Bailey has 
taken ful l  advantage of this 
location and the Framework looks 
to build on this momentum. 

P
age 47



River Irwell

Trinity Way

Quay StreetViaduct

Average shoulder 
building height across 

the study area

Greengate (Proposed)

Cook Street 
Brewery 
Tower

6362

Scale And Massing

High density development has an important role to play in the 
transformation of Chapel Wharf.  There is planned development at 
a super dense scale within the Greengate area of Salford,  creating 
a cluster of high density neighbourhoods to the north of the study 
area.  New Bailey to the south of the study area is delivering a 
medium scale of development,  with larger massing blocks delivering 
signif icant amounts of f loorspace.  Chapel Wharf wil l  seek to 
respond to both these emerging scales as well  as creating it ’s 
own human scale and rel ief spaces which complements the wider 
cityscape skyl ine and responds to the rai lway viaducts . 

It  is important that Chapel Wharf takes advantage of it ’s 
existing assets and location to support sustainable development. 
Development scale and density is supported within the framework 
to make the most eff icient use of the land available .  However,  
this must be balanced with regard to the historic context ,  l isted 
buildings and their  setting as well  as maximising views towards  
the r iver.

Figure 24 - Development height principles indicative cross - section

The broad principle of development height and its management 
across the study area are set out in f igure 24 below. Development 
height is generally greater along the edges of the study area,  where 
development addresses less sensitive areas.  Within the core of 
the study area,  height is suppressed, to al low historic features to 
remain visible and to prevent overshadowing especial ly those facing 
south on to Chapel Street .  This also al lows historic features such as 
the Cook Street Brewery Tower to punctuate the development skyl ine 

and remain a prominent heritage landmark within the study area. 
It  wil l  also ensure that the Chapel Street corr idor is human scaled 
and that views and the setting to existing historic buildings wil l 
be celebrated.  The prominence of Sacred Trinity Church along this 
stretch of Chapel Street wil l  be retained as it  is the oldest church in 
City Centre Salford.

The main opportunities for height are set out below and spatial ly 
mapped on the fol lowing page. 

P
age 48



Cook Street Brewery Tower Greengate (Proposed)

Greengate (Proposed)

Salford Central 
Station

Trinity Way

Beetham Tower

Affinity Living

Sacred Trinity Church New Bailey

6564

View along Chapel Street 
towards Sacred Trinity Church

View towards Manchester from 
Trinity Way

View along the Viaduct 
towards Greengate

View above New Bailey 
towards Lower Broughton

Scale And Massing

Figure 26 - Scale & Massing Strategy

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 25 - Building Heights Principle Plan

The proposed development height principles identif ied 
are indicative.

• consistent height along Trinity Way to complement 
existing recent development.  Opportunity for 
tal ler landmark building located at the proposed 
pedestrian on Trinity Way to aid with wayfinding

• height along Blackfr iars Street which maximises 
views to the r iver but which also respects the 
existing shoulder height of adjacent historic 
buildings

• a managed height profi le along Bridge Street to 
Quay Street .  4 -  8 storeys fronting onto Bridge 
Street ,  with a build up in scale and height towards 
Quay Street and the viaducts,  helping to create a 
landmark setting for this mixed use,  off ice led area 
of the neighbourhood

• scale and height (c .9 storeys) adjacent to Sacred 
Trinity Church to help enclose the enhanced 
junction with Chapel Street .  Building l ine set back 
to preserve views of the Blackfr iars Street facade 
on approach along Chapel Street .

P
age 49



6766

Movement & Active Travel

Through a combination of 
public realm improvements 
and opportunity sites,  the 
permeabil ity and sustainable 
movement structure of Chapel 
Wharf is enhanced substantial ly. 
Roads become streets,  part of 
the public realm, hosting activity, 
movement and opportunities to 
dwell .  An important aspiration 
of the framework is to promote 
pedestrian,  cycle and sustainable 
modes of transport on a number 
of streets,  whilst managing 
vehicular access across others . 
This proposed hierarchy responds 
to both these influences as set 
out on the adjacent Movement & 
Place matrix . 

The Proposed Movement Strategy 
(Figure 27)  aims to reinforce 
strategic desire l ines as well  as 
improving the human experience 
at street level .  The framework 
identif ies f ive street types plus 
pedestrian and cycle l inks only, 
al l  of which wil l  create street 
hierarchy whilst supporting the 
functions of the developments 
and services they provide access 
to. 

Type 1:  Strategic Roads
Movement corridors are used for longer journeys through the city 
and provide connections to the wider city region.  They are important 
for moving goods around and have higher vehicle speeds than the 
other types.  There is often l itt le activity along the edges of these 
routes as they tend not to be in areas with high footfal l .

Role
• Strategic vehicular routes,  which focus on distr ibuting vehicles 

through an area to other parts of the city region 
• These wil l  be higher speed environments & used for longer tr ips 

across the City.

Layout
• Users separated with physical segregation of cycle lanes and 

pedestrians
• Control led crossings along strategic pedestrian /  cycle desire 

l ines
• Often a central  median separating traff ic in each direction,  crash 

barriers on motorways.  Opportunity to include green and blue 
infrastructure,  especial ly SuDS, swales,  f i lter drains,  tree planting 
&  bio-diverse habitats as part of a wider green wildl ife network

• Materials used that priorit ise function over aesthetic 
• Upgrades to existing routes encouraged over building new routes 

of this typology.

Place & Movement
Overlaying the previous two 
maps identify the character of 
the streets shown in this map.

The classifications are those 
from the place/movement 
matrix shown below and are 
used to inform the street types 
shown on the next page

Place

M
o

ve
m

e
n

t

P1

M1

P1

P1

M1 M1

P2

P2

P2

M2 M2 M2

P3

P3

P3

M3M3M3

Place & Movement
Overlaying the previous two 
maps identify the character of 
the streets shown in this map.

The classifications are those 
from the place/movement 
matrix shown below and are 
used to inform the street types 
shown on the next page

Place

M
o

ve
m

e
n

t

P1

M1

P1

P1

M1 M1

P2

P2

P2

M2 M2 M2

P3

P3

P3

M3M3M3

Figure 27 - Movement Framework

Type 2:  Connector Streets
City Streets are used for daily journeys around the city,  cr it ical  for the movement of goods and large 
volumes of people.  They have many different user groups and a balance must be sought to ensure that 
they are functional for everyone.  These streets wil l  often have active ground f loor frontages and a 
sense of vibrancy and should be safe to cross and pleasant to use.

Role
• Strategic bus and vehicle routes,  capable of moving large volumes of people
• Low-moderate speed environments
• Used for cross city tr ips and for local access
• Movement and place functions important
• Important routes for good vehicles to serve local commercial  and mixed use areas.

Layout
• Fully integrated with surrounding movement network,  accessible to al l .  Users separated with 

physical segregation of cycle lanes as well  a wide footways,  at least 2m of clear footways for 
comfortable pedestrian movement 

• Bus lanes may be appropriate if  space is available and loading bays discretely provided where 
servicing is required

• Traff ic signals to control movements at most major junction with regular and intuitive places to 
cross.

Appearance
• Meaningful incorporation of green infrastructure,  especial ly SUDs and street trees as well  as clear 

signage
• Street furniture with multiple functions favoured to reduce street clutter,  l imited use of pedestrian 

guard rai ls
• Amenities located in areas that make sense -  cycle stands near services and places to dwell  that are 

easi ly accessed by bus stops.

P
age 50



6968

Type 3: High Streets
Neighbourhood Hubs are important places,  located where a confluence of different modes of movement 
is high.  They are found at transit hubs and places with historical or cultural signif icance.  These streets 
run through the centre of Chapel Wharf and as such should have lower speeds to complement any 
street side activity while being safe and pleasant places for the local community.  Street user hierarchy 
needs to be applied when designing these places.

Role
• Important gateway points which invite people to the area with an important place function. 
• Key pedestrian and cycle routes,  important for local tr ips and which encourage low vehicular speeds
• Place function important but movement function needs to be considered
• Quality cycle lanes providing cycle routes across the study area

Layout
• Fully integrated with surrounding pedestrian and cycle network,  accessible to al l
• A t ighter highway geometry and traff ic calming through street design such as raised tables at some 

junctions to reinforce regular and intuitive places to cross
• Footway crossovers at vehicle entry points to side streets,  lanes,  and private access points
• Segregated cycle lanes favoured where space al lows with wide footways
• Integration of cycle and bus infrastructure to reduce confl ict points between users

Appearance
• Central  median to provide a visual narrowing of the carriageway
• Street furniture with multiple functions favoured to reduce street clutter,  l imited use of pedestrian 

guard rai ls
• Cycle stands near amenities
• Amenities located in areas that make sense -  cycle stands near services and places to dwell  that are 

easi ly accessed by bus stops
• Consider high quality materials at focal point with continuous footways at footway crossovers
• Meaningful incorporation of green infrastructure,  especial ly SUDs, rain gardens,  street trees, 

wildflower meadows.
• Clear wayfinding with clear sight l ines and minimal amount of visual clutter.

Movement & Active Travel

Type 4: Active neighbourhoods
These streets wil l  serve the majority of residential  areas,  important areas of space that support local 
residential  l i fe and activity.  They should be pleasant and safe for people to travel locally by means of 
active travel and can be used by the community to social ise and play on.  Being near residences,  they 
need to accommodate vehicles,  mainly for parking or local access.  The design of the street should 
encourage slow vehicle speeds with through traff ic discouraged.

Role
• Pedestrian priorit ised spaces,  with vehicles as secondary users and located in car environments
• Vehicle access for residents,  servicing,  and blue badge holders only
• Place function along these streets is much more important than vehicle movement function. 

Layout
• Fully integrated with surrounding pedestrian and cycle movement network,  accessible to al l
• Tight highway geometry,  narrow vehicle carr iageway to l imit speeds,  with use of modal f i lters
• Multiple traff ic calming interventions through street design and public realm interventions
• Maximise opportunities for green infrastructure to order and arrange the street as well  as diversify 

it ’s  function i .e .  grow spaces,  visual screening,  green walls etc . 
•  Parking incorporated sensitively into the design so as not to dominate the street
• Play elements in some locations to enhance amenity value.

Appearance
• Meaningful incorporation of green infrastructure,  especial ly SuDS and street trees as well  as clear 

signage
• Informal places to sit ,  dwell  and social ize and children play functions
• Cycle stands incorporated into streetscape
• Street markings kept to a minimum.

Other considerations
• Potential  to l imit vehicle access at certain t imes of day,  for markets or  community events
• Collaboration with the residents and local businesses to understand local requirements.

P
age 51



7170

Type 5: Walking And Cycle Links
Pedestrian l inks for Chapel Wharf should be closed to vehicles 
and pedestrianised.  Occasionally,  vehicle access may be required 
for servicing and deliveries or emergencies but this interaction is 
managed through street design.

Role:
• Pedestrian dominated spaces,  with provision for recreational 

cycl ists
• Litt le to no motor vehicle movements
• Place and movement function important

Layout:
• Accessible to al l  and integrated with People Streets
• Green infrastructure used to add amenity and visual interest to 

the routes helping to create legibi l ity 
• Play elements,  dwell  spaces and social  spaces should be 

incorporated where appropriate
• Segregated cycle lanes if  space al lows.

Appearance:
• Maximise use of green infrastructure,  especial ly SUDs and street 

trees
• Clear way-finding is important to distinguish strategic cycle 

and pedestrian l inks from People Streets to attract users from 
surrounding neighbourhoods as they pass through the area

• Attention needed to make sure the route feels safe for al l  users 
at al l  t imes of day.  Lighting should be careful ly considered

• Materials that support function but which integrate with the 
surrounding public realm 

• Cycle stands incorporated into streetscape
• Street markings kept to a minimum.

Movement & Active Travel

N

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019737
Figure 28 - Proposed Movement Strategy

P
age 52



Catalyst Project: 
Trinity Gate Way

Catalyst Project: 
Flat Iron Square

Islington 
Park

St Stephen’s 

Gardens

The Friar’s PS

Catalyst Project: 
Re-imagined Riverside

Trinity Way

Chapel Street

Bloom Street

Blackfriars Road Victoria 
Bridge

Blackfriars 
Bridge

Trinity
Bridge

Bridge 
Street

Greengate 
Park

Greengate 
Square

Parsonage 
Gardens

St. Mary’s 
Parsonage

New Bailey Catalyst Project: 
Chapel Vaults

11 2

3

4

8
9

10

11

14

15

16

12

13

6
7

5

7372

Natural Riverside Connections Convivial Community SpacesPeople-Focused Comfortable Streets

To reinforce Chapel Wharf ’s distinctive role within central 
Manchester and Salford it  wil l  exhibit a range of spatial  types and 
urban landscape characteristics not widely available to city centre 
residents .  Four key catalyst projects t ie together changes in public 
realm, infrastructure and land-use are discussed in more detail  on 
the fol lowing pages.

Re wilding of the r iverside wil l  offer 

a more natural ,  softer edge to the 

Irwell ;  offering calmer,  greener spaces 

to dwell  and enjoy the view, alongside 

new planting and habitats for wildl ife . 

Enhanced walking l inks,  which could also 

include landscape, sustainable urban 

drainage and wildl ife habitat features, 

which wil l  also better connect the r iver 

back into Chapel Wharf as a key part of 

the area’s open space.

Re claiming street space for people, 

signif icantly enhancing walking and 

cycl ing,  as well  as tree planting and 

landscape features wil l  help to shape 

a distinctive and comfortable street 

environment.  Through movement is 

encouraged, with buses and cycl ists 

connecting through to other locations 

within the centre but this can not be at 

the expense of safe and comfortable local 

walking l inks. 

Whilst the tight urban grain of the 

area precludes signif icant new green 

open spaces Chapel Wharf wil l  sti l l  be 

characterised by a range of community 

focused spaces.  These wil l  incorporate a 

range of opportunities for planting,  play 

and gathering to foster a strong sense of 

community and support a range of ages 

and l i festyles .

Public Realm Strategy

Figure 29 - Public Realm Strategy

1. Super pedestrian crossing at grade along 
Trinity Way

2. New direct pedestrian link from Trinity 
Way to the Riverside & Manchester

3. Brew Yard! A new events and spill out 
space set below the former Brewery 
Tower and supporting arch food & drink 
businesses

4. Extended Cross Street to activate 
viaducts

5. Links to proposed Greengate open space 
as part of River Irwell Park walking route

6. Enhanced public realm setting around 
Sacred Trinity Church

7. Reconfigured pedestrian focused 
crossing at Flat Iron Square

8. Activated spill out space along busy 
arches

9. Pedestrian crossing provides direct link 
from Riverside to Trinity Way

10. Clermont-Ferrand Square with enhanced 
public realm to read as part of riverside 
setting

11. Enhanced Bee Network links to riverside
12. An attractive and peaceful new riverside 

urban garden for the City
13. New riverside spaces opening onto the 

River Irwell
14. New arrival space linking to the Station, 

arches and New Bailey as part of a 
public realm network

15. Activated arch spaces and through 
routes

16. New crossing and links to New Bailey & 
Train Station

P
age 53



Brew Yard

Multi-use arch space, 
meanwhile uses and 
potential to open up 

north -south links through

Cook Street 
Brewery

Linked arch spaces 
hosting galleries, 
live shows and 
events.

The ‘Arch Way’ - a 
reinvented link through 
Chapel Vaults with 
animated arches and arch 
space on either side 

Indoor and outdoor 
arch spaces with a mix 
of day & night uses

Independents and 
flexible space in 
smaller arch space

7574

Catalyst Project  
‘Chapel Vaults’

Positive external spaces Public art & intriguing spacesUnique occupiers

Interconnected spaces offering variety of configuration & sub-division

Make better use of the existing rai lway 

arches.  Nothing new there you might say.  

Nothing that sets Chapel Wharf apart 

from similar locations across the city 

centre?

To think that would be to misunderstand 

the special  nature of spaces created by 

these viaducts .  Three paral lel  structures 

snake through the heart of the area, 

touching and diverging at different 

points,  to create a variety of l inked 

spaces,  framed views and potential 

through routes.

By considering the possible combinations 

of enclosed,  commercial ,  open and public 

space we can create a new world to be 

explored within and around the viaduct . 

Chapel Vaults wil l  be a r ich and 

characterful environment to be 

experienced, not simply a barrier to pass 

through or an edge to activate.  A setting 

and offer that is defining for the area. 
Figure 30 -  The Chapel Vaults Activation Strategy 

P
age 54



7776

Enjoy exploring 
characterful buildings and  
re-invented railway arches 
full of distinctive uses and 

local life

Move comfortably 
through people friendly 

routes or just spend 
time in attractive 

community spaces & 
family play streets

P
age 55



Coloured asphalt raised 
table with demarcated 

pedestrian crossing

Narrowed carriageway 
with parking bays and 
foot-ways to create 
pedestrian friendly 
connection to riverside

Rain garden

Sloped access to 
existing bridge

Tree planting and 
seating along riverside 

walk

Seating space with 
views across the river

Terraced rain gardens

Informal play
Emergent 
planting shelf 
along river wall

Terraced access 
to the river side

Floodable reed beds 
& riparian planting

Board walk

7978

Catalyst Project  
‘Re-Imagined Riverside’

The public realm around Trinity Bridge is an important walking 

arr ival  point into Salford from Manchester City Centre and 

represents one of the most signif icant areas of open space along 

the r iverside.  Beyond the bridge,  Dearmans Place provides the most 

direct pedestrian connection to Chapel Street and is dominated by 

vehicle movement.  

The prominence of this space and it ’s south-facing,  r iverside aspect , 

provides a unique opportunity to create a green gateway into 

Salford,  setting the tone for character of public realm through the 

city centre.  The space should promote biodiversity and al low the 

opportunity for interaction between people and nature,  within the 

public realm, streetscape, and r iver ’s edge.

Pedestrian and cycle movement should be priorit ised,  and a clear, 

legible and invit ing streetscape should be created along Dearmans 

Place.  The street design should uti l ise planting where possible to 

reduce the impact of the adjacent buildings and provide a better 

quality amenity for the recently developed town houses.  A unif ied 

approach to the public realm and streetscape should embrace 

SUDs features and sponge city principles to create a multi- layered, 

sustainable,  and cl imate-resi l ient environment.

7776

Catalyst Project  
‘Re-imagined riverside’

The public realm around Trinity Bridge is an important walking 

arr ival  point into Salford from Manchester City Centre and 

represents one of the most signif icant areas of open space along 

the r iverside.  Beyond the bridge,  Dearmans Place provides the most 

direct pedestrian connection to Chapel Street and is dominated by 

vehicle movement.  

The prominence of this space and it ’s south-facing,  r iverside aspect , 

provides a unique opportunity to create a green gateway into 

Salford,  setting the tone for character of public realm through the 

city centre.  The space should promote biodiversity and al low the 

opportunity for interaction between people and nature,  within the 

public realm, streetscape, and r iver ’s edge.

Pedestrian and cycle movement should be priorit ised,  and a clear, 

legible and invit ing streetscape should be created along Dearmans 

Place.  The street design should uti l ise planting where possible to 

reduce the impact of the adjacent buildings and provide a better 

quality amenity for the recently developed town houses.  A unif ied 

approach to the public realm and streetscape should embrace 

SuDS features and sponge city principles to create a multi- layered, 

sustainable,  and cl imate-resi l ient environment.

Our proposal is to invert the proportions of hard and soft landscape 

to create a predominantly green environment from which spaces 

are carved out for pedestrian and cycle movement,  as well  as space 

to site and social ise enjoying views across the r iver.   The concept 

idea proposes to use the existing topography to create a series of 

green terraces which tier down from the hotel and bridge landing 

towards the r iverside.   The terraces could form part of a wider SuDS 

strategy,  acting as large rain gardens slowing rainwater run-off from 

the surrounding public realm, incorporating different habitat and 

planting types at each tier.   Along the r iverside a f inal t ier could 

be carved out of the existing r iverside forming an area of f loodable 

reed beds and emergent planting along with a greening of the 

existing r iver wall .

A narrowed carriageway and a coordinated palette of materials 

would create a clear,  legible route l inking Trinity Bridge with 

Chapel Street along Dearmans Place,  given priority to pedestrian 

and cycle movement.  Planting,  in form of street trees,  rain gardens 

and cl imbing plants to existing walls ,  would create a human-scale 

environment for visitors ,  existing residents and an improved arr ival 

experience for hotel guests .

The use of art ,  l ighting and signage would further elevate the public 

realm and streetscape as part of a coordinated strategy for the 

wider Chapel Wharf study area.

Chapel Street

Dearm
ans Place

Figure 30 - Proposed 
Riverside Urban Gardens -  

Concept Sketch

Paved raised table with 
demarcated pedestrian 

crossing

Paved carriageway, parking 
bays and foot-ways to 
create pedestrian friendly 
connection to riverside

Rain garden

Sloped access to 
existing bridge

Tree planting and 
seating along riverside 

walk

seating space with 
views across the river

Terraced rain gardens

Informal play
Emergent planting 
shelf along river wall

Terraced access 
to the river side

Floodable reed beds 
& riparian planting

Board walk

Our proposal is to invert the proportions of hard and soft landscape 

to create a predominantly green environment from which spaces 

are carved out for pedestrian and cycle movement,  as well  as space 

to sit  and social ise,  enjoying views across the r iver.  The existing 

topography is remodelled to create a series of green terraces which 

tier down from the hotel and bridge landing towards the r iverside. 

The terraces could form part of a wider SUDs strategy,  acting as 

large rain gardens slowing rainwater run-off from the surrounding 

public realm, incorporating different habitat and planting types 

at each tier.  Along the r iverside a f inal t ier could be carved out of 

the existing r iverside forming an area of f loodable reed beds and 

emergent planting along with a greening of the existing r iver wall .

A narrowed carriageway and a coordinated palette of materials 

would create a clear,  legible route l inking Trinity Bridge with 

Chapel Street along Dearmans Place,  given priority to pedestrian 

and cycle movement.  Planting,  in form of street trees,  rain gardens 

and cl imbing plants to existing walls ,  would create a human-scale 

environment for visitors ,  existing residents and an improved arr ival 

experience for hotel guests .

The use of art ,  l ighting and interpretation signage would further 

elevate the public realm and help foster local ownership and 

stewardship of public spaces.  The management and maintenance of 

the space wil l  be important to prevent anti-social  behaviour.

Chapel Street

Dearm
ans Place

Figure 31 - Proposed 
Riverside Urban Gardens -  

Concept Sketch

P
age 56



Coloured central overrunable 
rib to provide visual 
carriageway narrowing Bus stop and 

waiting space

Rain garden

Coloured asphalt on 
raised table, with 
demarcated cycle 
routes and pedestrian 
crossings.

Segregated cycle 
routes

Widened pavement a junction to create 
outdoor seating / dining space

Street trees in footway

Enhanced arrival 
space and setting 

for church

8180

Catalyst Project 
‘Flat Iron Square’

The current junction with Blackfr iars Street and Chapel Street is an 

important gateway which has a considerable sense of place due to 

the historic buildings along Blackfr iars Street ,  the Grade I I  Listed 

former Police Station and the Grade I I*  l isted Sacred Trinity Church, 

set within the Flat I ron Conservation Area.  The current junction 

is over-scaled and heavily dominated by vehicles .  Pedestrians sit 

at the lowest order of the movement hierarchy,  meaning crossing 

points and spil l  out space onto the public realm is l imited.   The 

junction also suffers from clutter and an over-engineered approach 

to pedestrian and cycl ist movement in al l  directions.  Pedestrian 

barriers block natural desire l ines and turning radii  increase the 

space pedestrians and cycl ists have to navigate to cross.

Considering the movement and place function of this key gateway, 

the fol lowing influences were considered as part of an option 

testing exercise to test various junction configurations;

• Invit ing space to spend time/dwell

• Accommodate pedestrian movement

• Cycle movement and cycle parking

• Buses

• Servicing and deliveries

• Private vehicles . 

Figure 32 -  Proposed Blackfriars 
Junction - Concept Sketch

P
age 57



8382

Catalyst Project 
‘Flat Iron Square’

The proposed interventions to the highway and public realm would reduce carriageway widths,  increase 

the area of vehicle-free space and create a streetscape more intuitive for pedestrian and cycle 

movement.  This rationalised approach al lows pedestrians to cross both the cycle lane and vehicle lane 

in one crossing.  Turn radii  would be maintained at the corners where bus movements are required but 

elsewhere the geometry would be tightened to help reduce vehicle speed.  The movements for vehicles 

would be the same as they are with the existing arrangement and would also be control led with 

signals . 

A simple,  coordinated palette of paving materials would create a cohesive public realm centred around 

the junction,  creating a setting for historic buildings and enhancing the townscape quality of the 

Flat I ron Conservation Area,  as well  as providing an attractive setting for new development.   On the 

northern side of Chapel Street a clear and welcoming approach to the Sacred Trinity Church is proposed, 

whilst opposite the increased pavement area would al low for a designated outdoor area for the Black 

Lion pub and other ground f loor uses to spil l  out .

The incorporation of new street trees and rain gardens would further reduce the dominance of the 

highway junction.  A central  median could be used to help visually narrow the carriageway whilst also 

al lowing vehicles to over run to pass or for local access.

Live sustainably, 
within easy reach 
of all the city has 
to offer in terms 
of jobs, culture, 

leisure and 
shopping

View towards Flat Iron Square 
with improved cycle and 
pedestrian l inks, new tree 
planting, enhanced public 
realm and opportunities to 
relax and dwell. 

P
age 58



8584

Catalyst Project 
‘Trinity Gate Way’

Trinity Way has an important role in distr ibuting local traff ic 

around the city Centre.  It  is also a signif icant barrier between 

Chapel Wharf and surrounding community faci l it ies,  amenities and 

residential  neighbourhoods.  The operational function of the route 

wil l  need to be maintained to accommodate vehicle f lows however 

the environment through which vehicles travel through could be 

softened and made more invit ing for pedestrians,  cycl ists and offer 

an enhanced amenity for residential  areas.  The main influences in 

considering a place-led approach include;

• Reducing pedestrian severance

• Improved pedestrian and cycle movement along Trinity

• Improving biodiversity,  public realm quality and environmental 

performance.

Without reducing the capacity of Tr inity Way, interventions in 

the surrounding landscape and public realm could help to reduce 

its effect as a barrier to pedestrian and cycle movement as well 

as reducing the impact of noise and air  pollution on surrounding 

residents .  Future public realm proposals along the corridor could 

also incorporate SUDs features and a variety of landscape responses 

which support greater bio-diversity.

A new paved crossing would 

l ink to Frederick Street helping 

promote pedestrian and cycle 

movement across Trinity Way, as 

part of a wider strategy for public 

realm intervention associated 

with new development. 

Existing road verges and the 

hard central  reservation would 

be uti l ised to create a greener 

environment lessening the impact 

of the road infrastructure.  These 

green corridors would promote 

biodiversity,  incorporating low-

maintenance wildflower planting, 

native trees and could form 

part of a wider network of SUDs 

features,  slowing run-off of 

surface water drainage.

  

Segregated cycle 
routes

New pedestrian connection 
and green link between 
Trinity Way and Chapel 
Street 

Improved streetscape 
serving ‘The Tower’

Linear wildflower 
meadow created 
along central 
reservation

New street trees 
and meadow along 

existing verges

Straight-across 
Toucan Crossing 

provides safe, 
direct connection 

for pedestrians and 
cyclists

SuDS attenuations 
and green open space

Rain gardens

Figure 33 -  Proposed Trinity Way Crossing -  
Concept Sketch

8180

Catalyst Project 
‘Trinity Gate Way’

Trinity Way has an important role in distr ibuting local traff ic 

around the city Centre.  It  is also a signif icant barrier between 

Chapel Wharf and surrounding community faci l it ies,  amenities and 

residential  neighbourhoods.  The operational function of the route 

wil l  need to be maintained to accommodate vehicle f lows however 

the environment through which vehicles travel through could be 

softened and made more invit ing for pedestrians,  cycl ists and offer 

an enhanced amenity for residential  areas.  The main influences in 

considering a place-led approach include;

• Reducing pedestrian severance

• Improved pedestrian and cycle movement along Trinity

• Improving biodiversity,  public realm quality and environmental 

performance

Without reducing the capacity of Tr inity Way, interventions in 

the surrounding landscape and public realm could help to reduce 

its affect as a barrier to pedestrian and cycle movement as well 

as reducing the impact of noise and air  pollution on surrounding 

residents .  Future public realm proposals along the corridor could 

also incorporate SUDs features and a variety of landscape responses 

which support greater bio-diversity.

A new paved crossing would 

l ink to Frederick Street helping 

promote pedestrian and cycle 

movement across Trinity Way, as 

part of a wider strategy for public 

realm intervention associated 

with new development. 

Existing road verges and the 

hard central  reservation would 

be uti l ised to create a greener 

environment lessening the impact 

of the road infrastructure.  These 

green corridors would promote 

biodiversity,  incorporating low-

maintenance wildflower planting, 

native trees and could form 

part of a wider network of SuDS 

features,  slowing run-off of 

surface water drainage.

  

Segregated cycle 
routes

New pedestrian connection 
and green link between 
Trinity Way and Chapel 
Street 

Improved streetscape 
serving ‘The Tower’

Linear wildflower 
meadow created 
along central 
reservation

New street trees 
and meadow along 

existing verges

Paved pedestrian 
super crossing 

SuDS attenuations 
and green open space

Rain gardens

Figure 32 -  Proposed Trinity Way Crossing -  
Concept Sketch

P
age 59



C h a p e l  W h a r f 
D e v e l o p m e n t  F r a m e w o r k

March 2022

P
age 60



savills.co.uk   

Salford City Council October 2020 
 

 

   

   

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford  
 

   

   

 Planning Policy Baseline Review   

   

 

 

Page 61



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020   

Contents 
1. Introduction 1 

2. Development Plan 2 

3. Relevant Other Material Considerations for Salford 8 

4. Relevant Other Material Considerations External to Area 16 

5. Emerging Planning Policy 18 

6. Relevant Key Planning Applications 21 

7. Summary and Conclusions 27 

Appendices 28 

Appendix 1 Links to Relevant Policy and Other Material Consideration Documents  

 

 

Page 62



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  1 

1. Introduction 
1.1. This Planning Policy Review Baseline has been produced by Savills Planning to inform work on the 

Chapel Wharf Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) by OPEN on behalf of Salford City Council 

(SCC). 

1.2. This report details the planning policy position which is directly applicable to the subject area, as well as 

relevant other polices that do not directly impact the subject area but are of relevance in terms of 

considering the baseline. The report also considered recent and current planning applications within and 

close to the subject site. 

1.3. The report is structured as follows: 

 Section 2: Development Plan – Summarises relevant policies of the Salford City Development Plan. 

 Section 3: Relevant Other Material Considerations for Salford – Details relevant other material 

considerations that form part of Salford City’s planning policy. 

 Section 4: Relevant Other Material Considerations External to Area – Details relevant other material 

considerations that form part of adjoining  councils’ development plans and wider planning policy. 

 Section 5: Emerging Planning Policy -  Outlines relevant emerging development plan documents for 

Salford, the wider Greater Manchester area and relevant parts of adjacent  councils’ emerging planning 

policy. 

 Section 6: Relevant Key Planning Applications – Provides an overview of the major planning 

permissions granted in the study area.  

 Appendix A: Policy Document Links – Provides web links to the policy documents referred to in this 

report.      

 

1.4. For clarity the subject site is bounded in red below. 

Figure 1: Subject Site 

  

Page 63



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  2 

2. Development Plan 
2.1. This section discusses the planning policies which form part of the adopted Development Plan for 

Salford. Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, these policies form a 

key part of the basis for decision making in the area. 

2.2. At the time of writing the Development Plan for Salford comprises the following documents: 

 Saved Policies of the Unitary Development Plan Document – Adopted July 2006 and saved following 

direction from the Secretary of State on 26 February 2009; 

 Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan Document – Adopted April 2012; and 

 Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan Document – Adopted April 2013. 

 

2.3. Of these Development Plan Documents it is deemed that only the Saved Policies of the Unitary 

Development Plan are directly relevant for establishing the baseline for the Chapel Wharf SRF. This will 

be discussed in further detail below. 

Salford Unitary Development Plan (Saved Policies) 

2.4. The Salford Unitary Development Plan (SUDP) was adopted by the Council on 21 June 2006 with a plan 

period from 2004 to 2016.  

2.5. Owing to a change in legislation, policies that were not explicitly ‘saved’ by direction of the Secretary of 

State by 21 June 2009 expired on that date. 

2.6. While the policies of the plan are ‘time expired’ owing to the plan period being between 2004 and 2016, 

legislation is clear  that the expiration of that time does not necessarily render policies out of date. 

Instead the weight to be attributed to the policies is dependent on its level of accordance with the 

provisions of the most recent iteration of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

2.7. Given the above, only policies that remain extant owing to being ‘saved’ by the Secretary of State will be 

discussed below.  

2.8. The following spatial policies are directly applicable to the subject site according the policy mapping. 

Policy MX 1 – Development in Mixed-Use Areas 

2.9. The subject site is identified as being within the Chapel Street East mixed-use area. As such the 

following uses are deemed to be appropriate here. 

 housing; 

 offices;  

 tourism, including hotels;  

 leisure;  

 cultural uses; 

 education;  

Page 64



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  3 

 community facilities;  

 retail and food and drink uses, where consistent with the retail and leisure policies of the UDP;  

 essential infrastructure and support facilities; and  

 knowledge-based employment, including live-work units. 

 

2.10. Applications for development in the these areas will be determined on the basis of their impact on the 

wider regeneration of the area, complementing, and not clashing with nearby uses, the contribution in 

terms of ensuring active use throughout the day, the prominence of the site, the size of the site and the 

support that it offers to the Knowledge Capital. 

2.11. In terms of Chapel Street East, the explanatory text for Policy MX 1 states the following at paragraph 5.4: 

The Chapel Street East area (MX 1/1) will be increasingly seen as a key quarter of Manchester city centre, 

with improved physical and functional connections to the rest of the city centre, as well as coordinated 

management. The large areas of surface commuter car parking constitute an inefficient use of land, and 

provide significant potential for redevelopment, although this will need to take place having regard to the 

parking needs of the city centre as a whole. There are strong commercial opportunities across the area, 

but particularly around Salford Central Station, linking to the Spinningfields development in Manchester. It 

is estimated that in the region of 2,000 dwellings will come forward in the area over the plan period. There 

are opportunities to improve connections within the area, through the reduction of traffic along parts of 

Chapel Street, and improved links through the viaduct, which has the potential to be seen as a positive 

townscape feature rather than a barrier. There is also potential to take more advantage of the riverside 

location. 

 

2.12. Key elements for consideration within the Chapel Wharf SRF would therefore be as follows. 

 Improvement of physical and functional connections with Manchester City Centre; 

 Assessment of the potential of surface car parks to accommodate development; 

 Maximise the commercial potential of the corridor between Salford Central and Spinningfields; 

 Accommodate residential development; 

 Improve connections in the area, including a reduction of traffic on sections of Chapel Street; 

 Investigation of viaducts in terms of how they can make a more active contribution to the area; and 

 Investigate taking further advantage of the riverside location. 

 

Policy MX 2 – Chapel Street Frontage 

2.13. The designation runs through the centre of the subject site from east to west, with policy stating that 

development along Chapel Street will be required to incorporate active ground floor use. Suitable uses 

are stated to be retail, financial and professional services, food and drink, leisure, non-residential 

institutions, and culture and tourism. 

2.14. The Chapel Wharf SRF has a role in encouraging more ground floor uses by improving the street 

environment and connections to enable such uses to thrive. 

 

 

Page 65



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  4 

Policy E 3 – Knowledge Capital 

2.15. The Knowledge Capital designation covers the subject site. Within this area the following sectors will be 

encouraged. 

 financial and professional services, and other office-based uses; 

 creative, cultural and media industries;  

 communications;  

 research and development; and  

 higher education. 

 

2.16. While the subject site does not lie within or directly adjacent to Salford University, it does lie in the arc 

connecting to other educational establishments. 

2.17. A key element of the Chapel Wharf SRF could include improving the connections between these 

institutions, major transport hubs and Manchester City Centre. 

Policy EN 9 – Wildlife Corridors 

2.18. The part of the site directly abutting the River Irwell is designated as a Wildlife Corridor Area of Search. 

2.19. These areas represent open spaces and linear features that connect to the countryside. As such, the 

areas have the potential to provide stepping stones between established habitats for flora and fauna. 

Development in these areas will therefore not be permitted should they unacceptably impair movement 

of species. 

2.20. The Chapel Street SRF should seek to explore ways that the environment and function of the riverside 

part of the subject site can improve its function as a potential wildlife corridor at the heart of the city. 

CH 2 – Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 

2.21. The subject site contains a number of listed buildings, with several others located outside but visible from 

within. The proposals of the Chapel Wharf SRF should be sensitive to this fact and ensure that the 

setting of these listing building is not subject to a negative impact. 

CH 3 – Works within a Conservation Area 

2.22. The subject site contains the Flat Iron conservation area which is centred around the corner of 

Blackfriars Street and Chapel Street.  Furthermore, the Cathedral conservation area lies directly to the 

east of the subject site on the opposite side of Victoria Bridge Street and extends to the north east across 

the border into Manchester. 

2.23. Development in conservation areas will only be permitted where it would preserve or enhance the 

character or appearance of the conservation area. 

Page 66



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  5 

2.24. Improving the public realm and connectivity in, and around the conservation areas, in order to enhance 

heritage assets and protect and improve important views will be key element for the Chapel Wharf SRF 

to explore. 

Page 67



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  6 

CH 8 – Local List of Buildings, Structures and Features of Architectural, Archaeological or Historic Interest 

2.25. The subject site contains a number of buildings that appear on the Council’s Local List of Heritage 

Assets dated November 2013. These comprise structures on Chapel Street and Blackfriars Road, 

amongst others. 

2.26. The policy states that impact of development on these assets will be a material planning consideration. In 

a similar was to statutory listed heritage assets the Chapel Wharf SRF should explore ways to preserve 

and enhance assets on Salford’s Local List. 

R5 – Countryside Access Network 

2.27. Both an existing Strategic Recreation Route and a proposed Strategic Recreation Route transect the 

subject site. The former runs along Chapel Street to the west and then down New Bailey Street where it 

crosses the Irwell into Manchester and becomes Bridge Street. The latter runs along the Irwell and 

extends beyond the subject site in both directions. Following that route to the south west leads to Salford 

Quays. 

2.28. The Chapel Street SRF will have a role in considering how to improve the usability of these 2 routes for 

pedestrians and cyclists. 

Policy Map Extract 

2.29. An extract o the adopted Policy Map is below showing how the above strategies relate to the subject site. 

 

Page 68



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  7 

Summary 

2.30. While the policies of the UDP are time expired, they remain relevant to the determination of planning 

applications in Salford and are therefore key in guiding the scope and proposals of the Chapel Wharf 

SRF.  

2.31. Policy MX 1 is the key Development Plan policy in terms of setting out the appropriate uses for the 

subject site and also the key elements of change to be explored within the area. The appropriate uses 

are stated to be housing; offices; tourism, including hotels; leisure; cultural uses; education; community 

facilities;  retail and food and drink uses, where consistent with the retail and leisure policies of the UDP; 

essential infrastructure and support facilities; and knowledge-based employment, including live-work 

units. 

2.32. Key interventions for the Chapel Wharf SRF to consider are listed below based on Policy MX 1. 

 Improvement of physical and functional connections with Manchester City Centre; 

 Assessment of the potential of surface car parks to accommodate development; 

 Maximise the commercial potential of the corridor between Salford Central and Spinningfields; 

 Accommodate residential development; 

 Improve connections in the area, including a reduction of traffic on sections of Chapel Street; 

 Investigation of viaducts in terms of how they can make a more active contribution to the area; and 

 Investigate taking further advantage of the riverside location. 

 

2.33. Based on the review above, the Chapel Wharf SRF has a key role in fulfilling the aims of policies 

concerned with increasing uses at ground floor level, improving accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists, 

improving the setting of listed buildings and conservation areas, increasing biodiversity and generally 

improving the streetscape. 

Page 69



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  8 

3. Relevant Other Material Considerations for Salford 
3.1. In addition to the policies of the Development Plan, applications in Salford may be determined based on 

other material considerations that are of relevance.  

3.2. These considerations are discussed in turn below in terms of their relevance to the subject site and the 

potential scope of the Chapel Wharf SRF. Links to the documents can be found in Appendix A. 

Irwell City Park Planning Guidance 

3.3. The part of the subject site that falls to the south of the railway line lies within the Irwell City Park and is 

therefore subject to the Irwell City Park Planning Guidance (ICPPG) adopted by Salford, Manchester and 

Trafford in March 2008.  

3.4. The ICPPG is a material consideration in determining applications for planning permission and other 

matters in the area. In addition, it establishes a set of principles to ensure the provision of a continuous 

riverside cycle/walkway and the high quality design of new public open spaces and other infrastructure. 

3.5. The purpose of the ICPPG is to guide a restoration in the River Irwell and create a new urban park which 

helps preserve existing industrial and architectural achievement as well as attracting new waterfront 

development. 

3.6. The subject site lies within Zone 3 – Heart of the City. The character of this area is discussed at 

paragraph 2.13 as follows. 

Here the Irwell runs through Manchester / Salford city centre and provides an attractive relief to the 

density of development. It creates a dramatic ‘urban canyon’ where the river is bounded on both sides by 

tall buildings. The historic and the new co-exist as landmark buildings and public spaces line the river 

along this stretch including Manchester Cathedral and the Lowry Hotel. 

3.7. The ICPPG sets out planning guidance thematically. Key policies are set out below in the context of 

providing a baseline for the Chapel Wharf SRF. 

Policy ICP 1 - Character 

The creation of the Irwell City Park will result in a vibrant and distinctive part of the Regional Centre with a 

range of functions including commercial, residential, cultural, retail and leisure uses. It will be characterised 

by a continuous riverside cycle/walkway, high quality public spaces and a distinctive waterside frontage 

with new connections between Manchester, Salford and Trafford. It will be an area where there is activity, 

life and movement. 

 

Policy ICP 2 - Appearance 

The design of new infrastructure, in particular, cycle/walkways, bridges and public realm, should seek to 

provide high quality contemporary solutions that respond to the River Irwell’s architectural and historic 

legacy. Designs should interpret the materials and form found in adjoining areas and seek to establish 

visual qualities that will make the City Park distinctive and successful. 

 

Page 70



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  9 

Policy ICP 3 – Lighting 

The introduction of creative architectural lighting schemes is encouraged. 

 

Policy ICP 4 – Public Art 

The potential for urban art should be considered at an early stage in all appropriate infrastructure and 

development schemes 

 

Policy ICP 5 – Key Views 

New infrastructure should exploit the angles, alignments and changes of level of sites along the River to 

maintain and create new vistas. 

 

Policy ICP 6 -  

The provision of new development and infrastructure should take into consideration the principles of 

‘Secured By Design’. 

 

Policy ICP 7 

The design of boundary treatments fronting onto the City Park’s walkways and public open spaces needs 

careful consideration to ensure a balance between building security, defensible space and maintaining the 

quality and attractiveness of the City Park’s facilities. 

 

Policy ICP 8 – Landscaping 

A unified landscaping strategy will be provided throughout the Irwell City Park area. 

 

Policy ICP 9 – Heritage 

New development and infrastructure schemes will need to respect the historic and architectural importance 

of listed buildings and structures within the City Park area. 

 

ICP 12 – City Centre Transportation 

The Irwell City Park is very well placed for public transport provision. New transport networks and 

associated developments should achieve a balance between ensuring that it is as easy as possible to get 

to the City Park whilst minimising the impact on people being able to move around the area itself. A major 

objective is to encourage a switch to public transport and walking and cycling to reduce the impact of the 

car. 

 

ICP 13 – River Irwell Corridor 

The creation of the Irwell City Park will re-define the role of the River Irwell as a point of interconnection 

between Manchester, Salford and Trafford. There will be an extended and enhanced pedestrian and cycle 

route along the River edge, regularly linking back into adjoining neighbourhoods, the City Centre and the 

Croal Irwell Regional Park. 

 

ICP 14 – Accessible Routes 

A core network of fully accessible routes will be established in the Irwell City Park. 

 

ICP 15 – Cycling 

Page 71



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  10 

The Irwell City Park will provide a cycling corridor, which will connect to the local cycling network and 

national cycling network. 

 

ICP 17 – Public Access 

A combined footway and cycleway will be created along the entire riverside route of the Irwell City Park to 

provide the City Park with full public access all year round and at all times. 

 

ICP 18 – Environmental Design 

All proposals for new development and infrastructure within the Irwell City Park should accord with the 

principles of sustainable construction and should make a positive contribution to the delivery of a 

sustainable environment. 

 

ICP 19 – Water Quality 

The design of all proposals for new development and infrastructure within the Irwell City Park should, where 

possible, contribute to the improvement of the quality of water in the River Irwell. 

 

ICP 20 – Drainage 

The design of all proposals for new development and infrastructure within the Irwell City Park should 

contribute to the regulation of the level and flow of surface and ground water entering the River Irwell 

 

ICP 21 – Biodiversity 

The provision and design of new development and infrastructure within the Irwell City Park should take 

into consideration the protection of existing flora and fauna habitats and wildlife corridors as well as 

identifying opportunities for local interventions that will improve the overall value and biodiversity of the 

River and its edges 

 

ICP 22 – Waterside Development 

Waterside development within the Irwell City Park will provide a mix of uses to contribute to the creation of 

a vibrant and interesting area which has activity during the day and evening throughout the year. 

 

ICP 24 – Active Frontages 

Developments that face the Riverside walkway and public realm should incorporate active frontages to 

encourage vibrant areas and pedestrian activity 

 

ICP 27 – Zone 3 – Heart of the City 

1. The creation of a new route through The Exchange Greengate linking the River at Victoria Bridge 

Street/Chapel Street to the River at Trinity Way. This comprises new public open space and an improved 

link along Greengate as part of The Exchange Greengate Primary Public Realm proposals  

2. A new pedestrian bridge linking Victoria Street to Chapel Street (part of The Exchange Greengate 

Primary Public Realm).  

3. The provision of a new length of walkway at West Riverside to link New Bailey Street to Chapel Wharf 

and improvements to the adjoining existing West Riverside Square  

4. The improvement of existing lengths of walkway on the Salford bank from New Bailey Street to Hampson 

Street  

5. The improvement of the existing walkway on the Manchester bank from Irwell Street to Prince’s Bridge  

Page 72



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  11 

6. A new suspended walkway bridge linking Victoria Street and Chapel Wharf  

7. A new pedestrian bridge linking Spinningfields to Stanley Street and the creation of a new public space 

on the Salford bank providing a connection to Salford Central Station  

8. A new pedestrian bridge linking Water Street and land at Stanley Street.  

9. Enhancements to existing bridges at Victoria Bridge, Blackfriars Bridge, New Bailey Street and Windsor 

Bridge including improved lighting and crossing points  

10. The creation of Cathedral Square, a new area of public realm fronting Manchester Cathedral along 

Victoria Street and linking to the footbridge to The Exchange Greengate  

11. The creation of new riverside open space on the Manchester bank from Victoria Bridge Street to 

Blackfriars Street  

12. The extension westwards of the public open space at Chapel Wharf/Trinity Bridge  

13. Improvements to the pedestrian access to Trinity Bridge on the Manchester bank  

14. Refurbishment of Trinity Square, including new paving, lighting and street furniture  

15. Creation of new open space on land adjoining Bridge Street West (Manchester bank) including 

cantilevered deck, new gardens, information point and toilets  

16. Improvements to the embankment leading from the Pump House to the riverside walkway  

17. Improvements to existing landscaped areas at Windsor Gardens and Canal Gardens including new 

paving, lighting and seating  

18. The first phase of the restoration of the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal  

19. Improvements to landing stages and mooring points for visiting boats 

 

3.8. The ICPPG generally seeks to reconnect parts of Salford, Manchester and Trafford to the River Irwell. In 

terms of the subject site, the key aspirations and related policies seek to achieve the following. 

 Improved routes for cyclists and pedestrians; 

 Improved public access to the riverside area as a recreation route; 

 Improved lighting in key areas and on key routes;  

 Ensure that proposals are sustainable, contribute favourably to the drainage regime and increase 

biodiversity; and 

 Increased activity for development at ground floor level where it fronts the river. 

 

3.9. The Chapel Wharf SRF should seek to investigate ways in which these aspirations may be realised. 

Greengate Regeneration Strategy 

3.10. The Greengate Regeneration Strategy, adopted by SCC in May 2018, relates to an area directly abutting 

the subject site and lying to the north and north east of it. 

3.11. While not overlapping with the subject site, it is important that a strategy for the Chapel Wharf area 

considers the vision for Greengate so as to make the city centre as cohesive as possible. As such it 

represents a material consideration. This vision is detailed below. 

Page 73



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  12 

The Vision of the Strategy is to deliver a dynamic residential and commercial place with an exceptional 

public realm. Greengate will be a focus of cultural activity for both residents and visitors alike, building on 

the current strong brands within the area and developing new exciting opportunities. The area will witness 

the regeneration of important historical aspects of the Collier Street Baths and the Market Cross. The 

delivery of Greengate Boulevard will provide a new key route linking Collier Street to the Market Cross and 

Greengate Park onwards to Greengate Square. 

 

3.12. Providing a legible network of pedestrian and cycle links and improving the public realm of the Chapel 

Wharf area will therefore be important in realising the potential of both areas. 

Salford Central Planning Guidance 

3.13. The Salford Central Planning Guidance (SCPG) was adopted in March 2008 and outlines policies to 

guide the future development of the area and result in comprehensive redevelopment. While the SCPG 

is not part of the Development Plan, it is a material consideration in the determination of planning 

applications in the area. 

3.14. The SCPG designated area has a small area of overlap with the subject site to the east of New Bailey 

Street. This is classified as being within the Salford Central Station Area. The description of the character 

area from the SCPG (paragraph 5.14) is below. 

The area around Salford Central Station is currently dominated by surface car parking which serves 

commuters who work in the city centre. The area therefore has minimal townscape quality, however the 

historic rail viaducts and bridges which cross the area contribute to the sense of place, as does the River 

Irwell which forms the southern boundary to the area. There are a number of existing medium density 

commercial uses within the area, focused around Ralli Quays and West Riverside. The new Spinningfields 

quarter lies to the east on the Manchester bank of the Irwell, and represents a major new commercial and 

mixed-use quarter in the heart of the city. On the Salford bank, the Chapel Wharf area lies immediately to 

the northeast and has attracted major investment with the Lowry Hotel and the iconic Trinity Bridge. 

 

3.15. None of the specific development proposals within the SCPG lie within the subject site, although the 

need to consider a landmark office building and / or development above Salford Central Station in the 

‘Core Area’ lies directly to the west. 

3.16. Generally site specific considerations centre around the following which are of relevance to the 

development of the Chapel Wharf SRF. 

 Provision of connections through the railway arches and  consideration of more creative uses of these 

spaces; 

 Provision of a riverside walkway as part of the Irwell City Park; and 

 General environmental improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  13 

Salford Central Development Framework 

3.17. The Salford Central Development Framework (SCDF) was formally adopted by the city council on 19 

May 2009 and forms a detailed masterplan for the Salford Central area based on the policies of the 

SCPG. As it is a subsidiary document to the SCPG it is also a material consideration. 

3.18. The illustrative masterplan shows the part of the subject site falling under the SCDF as being mixed use 

and commercial office uses, with active ground floor frontages towards the river. The majority is listed as 

8-10 storeys, with the potential for a landmark taller building addressing New Bailey Street close to the 

entrance to Salford Central Station. 

3.19. Key pedestrian and cycle routes are shown running alongside the River Irwell. 

3.20. Elements of this illustrative masterplan should be used to form a baseline for the Chapel Wharf SRF. 

The Crescent Development Framework 

3.21. The current Crescent Development Framework was adopted in 2014 and generally covers the areas 

around Salford Crescent Station and Salford University. The subject site does not fall within the Crescent 

area. 

3.22. The vision for the Crescent is as follows. 

It will provide high quality leisure, business, and learning opportunities that will enhance it’s existing 

heritage assets and will take full advantage of its position in the Salford / Manchester Regional Centre 

and the development of the University of Salford in driving growth and regeneration in the area. 

3.23. While the Crescent Development Framework does not cover the subject site, it is important that 

proposals within the Chapel Wharf SRF are cognisant of this document as links from Salford Crescent 

Station past Salford Central and towards Manchester Victoria will be essential to the success of both 

areas. As such it is a material consideration 

3.24. A new Crescent Development Framework is currently being prepared and is discussed in Section 5 of 

this report. 

Shaping Central Salford’s Spaces and Places Public Realm Handbook 

3.25. The handbook was adopted in February 2009 and is a material consideration in the determination of 

planning applications. 

3.26. The documents sets benchmarks for public realm improvements in the City aiming to lead to well used 

and loved public spaces. The concepts and methodologies contained within the document are therefore 

a material consideration and a key baseline when considering the Chapel Wharf SRF, given its focus on 

the public realm. 

Shaping Salford Supplementary Planning Document 

Page 75



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  14 

3.27. The Shaping Salford SPD was adopted in March 2008 and is a key material consideration in terms of 

design. 

3.28. The SPD sets out the principles of good design that the Council will apply to schemes in Salford as well 

as outlining core design elements that are specific to Salford. 

3.29. In addition to this the document sets out local guidance on specific parts of the city. The subject site falls 

within the Regional Centre and specifically Chapel Street. The design guidance for this area is as below 

which should inform the baseline for the Chapel Wharf SRF. 

 New development will respect existing building lines and street patterns, heights and scales, and will 

seek to re-use and adapt buildings of interest. The juxtaposition of new and old buildings will 

complement and contrast to provide variety within a harmonious environment.  

 Respect Chapel Street’s architectural legacy of strong vertical features with spires, domes and cupolas 

used to emphasise the importance of a corner building and the use of a variety of materials and details 

carefully proportioned in the style prevalent at the time.  

 Development on Chapel Street should incorporate innovative architectural responses to provide 

modern residential properties that re-introduce a dense urban street pattern that will contribute to the 

creation of a city centre feel.  

 Ensure proposals respect views to existing landmarks, such as Salford Cathedral and St Phillip’s 

Church on Chapel Street, high quality buildings and distant vistas, such as the view across the 

Meadows from the Crescent.  

 As well as providing ground floor green open spaces, where practical, innovative approaches to private 

space will be sought, to contribute towards the creation of a network of green streets. The use of roof 

gardens, courtyards and glazed atriums featuring indoor planting will all contribute to achieving this 

aim.  

 Development will facilitate the progressive re-opening of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal and 

will enhance pedestrian routes, particularly over the A6 and to Salford Crescent Station. 

 

Design and Crime Supplementary Planning Document 

3.30. Adopted in 2006, the Design and Crime SPD outlines measures that can be incorporated within 

development, or infrastructure improvements, to lower the incidence of crime. The proposals of the 

Chapel Wharf SRF should be cognisant of these measures and wider methods to increase the safety of 

the area. 

Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document 

3.31. The SPD details measures to be included within developments to increase their sustainability 

credentials. The Chapel Wharf SPD should explicitly reference opportunities to increase the sustainability 

of the area in terms of the measures outlined in the SPD and the wider implications of the Climate 

Emergency declared by SCC in summer 2019. 

Nature Conservation and Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document 

Page 76



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  15 

3.32. The Nature Conservation and Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document was adopted by SCC in 

2006 and represents a material consideration. 

3.33. Policy NCB 1 – Maintaining and Enhancing Biodiversity – states that Development proposals should 

seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and the nature conservation interest of sites. Where possible 

and practicable, they should incorporate new wildlife habitat, landscaping and built features that attract 

wildlife.  

3.34. The Chapel Wharf SRF should therefore focus on was that existing biodiversity assets may be protected 

and opportunities for new habitats to be incorporated within the subject site. 

  

Page 77



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  16 

4. Relevant Other Material Considerations External to Area 
4.1. While the majority of relevant planning policy relating to the subject site is applicable directly to it and / or 

has been produced by SCC, some strategies for nearby areas are also of relevance. 

4.2. These documents are Strategic Regeneration Frameworks and Masterplans produced by, or for, 

Manchester City Council and applicable to areas in close proximity to the subject site. Whilst not all 

elements of these documents will be relevant, the parts of relevance are discussed below.  Again, links 

to the documents have been provided in Appendix A.  

Manchester – Medieval Quarter Masterplan 

4.3. The document was produced by SimpsonHaugh and Partners and adopted by Manchester City Council 

in 2016. The aim of the document is to realise the growth potential of this area given its strategic location 

close to Victoria Station and Manchester City Centre, as well as protecting the significant heritage assets 

that exit, such as the Cheetham School of Music complex and Manchester Cathedral. 

4.4. The area covered by the Medieval Quarter Masterplan lies across the border in Manchester to the east of 

the subject site. The key proposals that potentially affect the subject site are as follows. 

 The creation of a green bridge on Victoria Bridge Street which would enhance pedestrian and cycle 

routes between this part of Manchester and Salford; 

 Creating new public realm at the main entrance of Manchester Cathedral; 

 New desking of the River Irwell to allow increased access to the Cathedral catacombs; and 

 The opening up of hanging ditch to give direct access to the Cathedral arches and visitor experience. 

 

Ramada Complex Strategic Regeneration Framework 

4.5. The Ramada Complex SRF was produced by Urban&Civic and adopted in May 2018 by Manchester City 

Council. It relates to the Ramada hotel site on the corner of Deansgate and Blackfriars Street. The area 

site to the east of the subject site across the River Irwell. 

4.6. Given that the Ramada Complex SRF area lies on a street directly leading to the subject site and has a 

riverside location viewable from the subject site, the proposals are clearly of relevance to the Chapel 

Wharf SRF. 

4.7. The proposals for the Ramada Complex comprise the delivery of a mixed use scheme comprising 

residential development and a hotel complex The proposals also include significant new areas of public 

open space to the centre of the site, with addition links to the Irwell in order to reconnect the city to the 

River. There will be a prevalence of active frontages on this new open space as well as Deansgate and 

Blackfriars Street. 

4.8. Landmark buildings of significant height are proposed on each of the corners of this triangular site and 

are of a scale that will likely be visible from the subject site. 

Page 78



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  17 

4.9. The proposals have the potential to open up the area of Blackfriars on the Manchester side of the Irwell 

and result in a more inviting entrance to the subject site. Furthermore, increased active uses at ground 

floor level have the potential to increase footfall heading towards Blackfriars Bridge from Deansgate and 

St Mary’s Gate. 

St Mary’s Parsonage Strategic Regeneration Framework 

4.10. The St Mary’s Parsonage SRF was produced by KPF and adopted by Manchester City Council in August 

2020. This is of key relevance to the subject site as it includes the whole of the opposite bank for the 

Irwell as well as having direct frontages on to 3 bridges into the subject site. The area will therefore be 

highly visible from the subject site and also frame access to it. 

4.11. Key elements to consider from the design principles set out in the St Mary’s Parsonage SRF are set out 

below: 

 Connectivity – 3 of the 7 key pedestrian routes shown link directly to the subject site via Blackfriars, 

Trinity and Albert bridges. 

 Key Views – 3 of the key views shown are from the Salford side of the Irwell with 2 in or directly 

adjacent to the subject site at Blackfriars bridge and the Lowry Hotel. 

 Active Frontage – Active ground floor frontages are shown leading to Trinity Bridge and Blackfriars 

bridge. 

 New Square – A new / repurposed is proposed at the end of Trinity Bridge enhancing the public realm 

in that area. 

  

Page 79



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  18 

5. Emerging Planning Policy 
5.1. A number of planning documents are currently in the progress of being prepared that will, when adopted, 

be of relevance to the policy baseline of the subject site. These are at regional, city and local level and 

are discussed below. 

Regional – Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

5.2. The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), once adopted, will set strategic level planning 

policies for the region as a whole, including making allocations a significant amount of development. The 

latest draft was released for consultation in 2019 

5.3. The latest version of the GMSF identifies the subject site as being within the Core Growth Area, along 

with Manchester City Centre and Salford Quays. As such, Policy GM-Strat 1 is applicable. This states 

that the area will be a focus for major growth in the number of jobs provided across the area. It will also 

be a focus for complementary residential development with associated green spaces and infrastructure, 

but not at the expense of economic growth. 

5.4. The subject site is also identified as being within the City Centre area and therefore Policy GM-Strat 2 

applies. This states that the area will be a focus for business leisure, culture and tourism uses for Greater 

Manchester. In addition to this there will be a range of high density homes. Improvements to the public 

realm, walking and cycling facilities as well as green infrastructure are also specifically mentioned for the 

area. 

5.5. Policy GM-Strat 2 states that in the period 2018 to 2037 the City Centre area will accommodate circa 

1,500,000m2 of office space and 50,000 new homes. 

5.6. In terms of homes, Policy GM-H 1 states that Salford will be a focus for major residential growth between 

2018 and 2037, with only Manchester accommodating more. The previous iteration of the GMSF from 

2016 stated that the vast majority of these will be in the form of apartments and GM H4 states that in the 

City Centre area the minimum housing density should be 200 dwellings per hectare. 

Salford Local Plan 

5.7. The Publication Draft of the Salford Local Plan (SLP) was published in January 2020 and consulted upon 

until March 2020. Once adopted, the policies of this document will replace those of the existing UDP as 

the key element of the Development Plan for Salford. 

5.8. The Salford Local Plan would sit below the GMSF and its proposals will be in general accordance with 

the regional document. 

5.9. In addition to the recreation routes and conservation areas already discussed earlier in this report, the 

subject site is identified as falling within the City Central area. As such it is covered by spatial policies 

AP1 and TC1. 

Page 80



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  19 

5.10. Policy AP1 requires that all development in the City Centre integrates fully into and contributes to the 

sense of place of the specific neighbourhood in which it is located. In terms of the subject site, this is 

Chapel Wharf neighbourhood. AP1 sets out the following requirements. 

The area will maintain its diverse mix of uses and range of heritage assets, providing an important link 

between Greengate and New Bailey, and a key connection between the Salford and Manchester parts of 

the City Centre. 

5.11. Uses permissible in principle within the City Centre are stated to be business, tourism, cultural and 

leisure and residential led mixed use. Retail and leisure uses, community and social facilities (including 

health and education facilities) and other amenities to support the residential, business and visitor 

populations will be permitted. These facilities shall be focused on prominent frontages, busy intersections 

with high footfall, and where they can add vibrancy and best meet the needs of the neighbourhood. 

5.12. In terms of transport in Chapel Wharf, the policy seeks greater public transport links to the areas existing 

rail stations, facilities and employment.  

5.13. The policy states that development will be required to protect and enhance existing heritage, public 

realm, and green infrastructure assets. Viaducts are listed explicitly as a key opportunity to deliver 

increased connectivity and imaginative active uses. The provision of a riverside walkway and cycle route 

which also enhances the biodiversity of the Irwell is also listed and of relevance to the subject site. 

5.14. Policy TC1 states that the City Centre will continue to provide the primary shopping area. Retail and 

leisure uses, community and social facilities (including health and education facilities) and other 

amenities to support the residential, business and visitor populations will be permitted. These facilities 

shall be focused on prominent frontages, busy intersections with high footfall, and where they can add 

vibrancy and best meet the needs of the neighbourhood. 

The Crescent Development Framework 

5.15. The latest draft of the Crescent Development Framework has been jointly produced by Salford City 

Council, the English Cities Fund and the University of Salford and was released in October 2020 for a 

virtual consultation owing to the ongoing social restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

5.16. While the masterplan area does not cover the subject site, the aspirations to realise significant growth 

and regeneration in an area close to the subject site is clearly relevant. 

5.17. Perhaps the most important interventions proposed to note in terms of the Chapel Wharf SRF baseline 

are in terms of infrastructure. The Crescent Development Framework proposes the de-engineering and 

greening of the A6, the creation of pedestrian links alongside and towards the Irwell, a new Metrolink 

stop and other public realm improvements.  

Page 81



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  20 

5.18. This is important context for the Chapel Wharf SRF which should complement these measures and 

ensure easy accessibility between the two areas. 

5.19. The endorsement of the final Development Framework by Salford City Council is expected in January 

2021. 

  

Page 82



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  21 

6. Relevant Key Planning Applications 
6.1. The following planning applications have been approved within the realms of the subject site. Further to 

the initial grant of planning permission on the sites a number of the development proposals have been 

subject to request for the grant non-material amendments to the approved proposals. These have not been 

shown below due to the minor scale of amendments resulting in no material change to the originally 

approved submission.  

6.2. The following permission was granted for development of Alto, located south of the Ring Road off Trinity 

Way. Much of the development has now been completed and has resulted in high quality public open 

space including a green wall complete with foraging opportunities. 

Land Bounded By Trinity Way, Blackfriars Road, Bury Street And Garden Lane Salford 

Reference. 14/65407/FUL 

Demolition of existing buildings with the exception of the former Black Friar public house and erection of two 
buildings (ground plus 12 storeys and ground plus 16 storeys) comprising 380 residential units (Use Class C3) 
and 889 sqm commercial space (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1 and D2); ancillary basement providing 
space for refuse, cycle parking, car parking, plant and core; change of use of the vacant former Black Friar public 
house to accommodate offices, management suite and other ancillary functions; associated access, car parking, 
public realm and other associated works. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 380 units  

Approved March 2015 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NCHYIXNPFM400&activeTab=su
mmary 

 

6.3. In 2020 the below planning application was submitted on land to the north east of the above site boundary. 

The application was also accompanied by an application for Listed Building Consent was approved in line 

with the below.  

Former Blackfriars Inn And Adjcent Building Blackfriars Road Salford M3 7DB 

Reference - 20/74890/FUL 

Construction of new link building between the former Black Friar Public House and building known as 'Block 5' of 
'Local Blackfriars' development (as approved under Planning Permission Reference 14/65407/FUL), and use of 
all buildings (former Black Friar Public House, new link building and Block 5) as a restaurant, along with other 
associated works, to include the provision of outdoor seating area.  

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 156 sqm (net additional floorspace) 

Approved May 2020 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

6.4. Additionally, to the south east of the site boundary the following application was granted in 2017. 

Site Located Off Of Garden Lane, Salford (part Of Wider Blackfriars Local Development Comprising Site 
Bound By Trinity Way, Blackfriars Road, Garden Lane And William Street 

Reference - 17/70655/FUL 

Erection of two-storey development, comprising six apartments, plus ancillary gym, cinema room and 
launderette (all of which will be for the use of residents only), to form part of the wider 'Blackfriars Local' 
development previously approved under Planning Permission 14/65407/FUL. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 6 units; 247 sqm  

Approved November 2017 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

Page 83

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NCHYIXNPFM400&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NCHYIXNPFM400&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  22 

 

6.5. The site of Audacious Church and associated parking benefited from the following approval in 2017. This 

retained the existing surface car park as a part of that scheme. 

Units 1 And 2 The Deva Centre 49 Bury Street Salford M3 7BB 

Reference - 17/69359/FUL 

Single storey extension to North East elevation, 5 storey extension to North West elevation together with partial 
demolition of the existing building and a 6-7 storey extension to the South West elevation including a roof top 
terrace. Internal alterations to enlarge the auditorium seating capacity. New extensions to accommodate church 
foyer (D1), cafe (A3), children's play area, offices (B1), church ancillary accommodation, additional meeting 
rooms, kids church facilities and multi-storey car park. External alterations and new boundary treatment to Bury 
Street elevation. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 13,084 sqm (net additional floorspace) 

Approved December 2017 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

6.6. To the west of the subject site, the following application was granted on land currently utilised as car 

parking. This has the potential to change the current character of Bloom Street and the area around the 

King’s Arms pub and a Chapel Wharf SRF should be cognisant of this. 

Car Park Bloom Street Salford 

Reference - 14/65395/OUT 

Outline application for access, appearance, layout and scale with other matters reserved for the erection of a 
five-storey serviced apartment/apart hotel scheme comprising 83 units with associated car parking. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 83 units 

Approved April 2017 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NCE8X6NPFLR00&activeTab=su
mmary 

 

Reference - 20/75112/REM 

Details of reserved matters for landscaping details pursuant to outline planning permission 14/65395/OUT. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 83 units (as above) 

Approved July 2020 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

6.7. The below application is located under the exiting railway lines adjacent to Chapel Street. This is an 

example of more active uses of rail arches benefitting local residential that should be encouraged where 

possible 

112 Chapel Walks Chapel Street Salford M3 5DW 

Reference - 19/74401/FUL 

Change of Use Planning Application from Sui Generis (Vehicle Showroom) to D2 (Gym) with external alterations 
including 2.no air-conditioning units, and a reduction in mezzanine floorspace. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: -132.5 sqm (net additional floorspace) 

Approved January 2020 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

Page 84

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  23 

 

6.8. The below development at Chapel Wharf lies to the north of the Lowry and is now largely built out. The 

scheme as constructed dominates this part of the subject site, but could potentially be improved by a 

better surrounding public realm and relationship to the Lowry Hotel servicing yard and car park. 

Land At Chapel Street Bounded By Clowes Street, River Irwell And Dearmans Place Salford M3 5LH 

Reference - 14/65224/FUL 

Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to create four residential (use class C3) buildings ranging 
from 13 - 23 storeys creating 995 new dwellings, 1,469sqm ground floor commercial floorspace (flexible use 
classes A1 to A5, B1, D1, and D2) and ancillary community facility floorspace, 375 car parking spaces, cycling 
provision and related highway, access, servicing, landscaping, plant and associated works. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 995 units; 1,460 sqm 

Approved February 2015 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NA6OZCNP00B00&activeTab=su
mmary 

 

6.9. The following applications for mixed use development are clustered at land to the south west of the 

Study Area Boundary towards the River Irwell and boundary between Manchester City Centre and 

Salford.  

Land At Bridge Street, New Bailey Street Riverside Estate Salford M3 5AA 

Reference - 16/67780/FULEIA 

Erection of a 17 storey residential building (Use Class C3), consisting of 188 apartments ground floor residential, 
amenity areas and commercial units (Use Class A1, A2, A3, A4, B1 and D2), 427sqm floor space, public realm 
and landscaping, access and servicing arrangements and associated works 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 188 units; 427 sqm 

Approved July 2016 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=O2U6CINPHY200&activeTab=su
mmary 

 

Land At Bridge Street, New Bailey Street Riverside Estate Salford M3 5AA 

Reference - 16/67779/FULEIA 

Demolition of existing buildings, erection of a 35 storey residential building (Use Class C3), consisting of 318 
apartments and mezzanine floor, residential amenity areas and commercial unit (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, 
B1, D2), (404sqm floor space ), public realm and landscaping, access and servicing arrangements and 
associated works, and construction of new entrance to office building. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 318 units; 404 sqm 

Approved July 2016  

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=O2U6CFNPHY100&activeTab=s
ummary 

 

Reference - 20/75495/FUL 

Application for Full Planning Permission for an additional 14 apartments, alterations to the external window 
arrangement and associated works within the development approved under Planning Permission 
16/67779/FULEIA. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 14 units 

Approved September 2020 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

Page 85

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NA6OZCNP00B00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NA6OZCNP00B00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=O2U6CINPHY200&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=O2U6CINPHY200&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=O2U6CFNPHY100&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=O2U6CFNPHY100&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  24 

Reference - 20/75494/FULEIA 

Variation of condition 2 (approved Plans) attached to planning 16/67779/FULEIA 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: N/A 

Approved September 2020 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

Delphian House New Bailey Street Salford M3 5AP 

Reference - 19/73238/COU 

Change of use at ground floor south B from office (B1) to a physiotherapy clinic (D1) 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: N/A 

Approved May 2019 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

6.10. Additionally, the following applications also fall within the boundary of the study area.  

Albert Vaults 169-171 Chapel Street Salford M3 6AD 

Reference - 15/66691/FUL 

Erection of an 8 storey, 24 unit residential building with a 48 sq.m commercial unit (A2) on the ground floor. Re-
submission of 14/65648/FUL 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 24 units; 48 sqm 

Approved December 2015  

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NRGU8WNPGVX00&activeTab=
summary 

 

6.11. The following applications fall out with the Study Area Boundary, but are within the vicinity and will likely 

generate additional footfall for the area.  

Land Bound By Greengate, Collier Street, Queen And King Street And Gravel Lane M3 7BN 

Reference - 19/74465/HYBEIA 

Hybrid planning application for demolition of existing buildings on the site and comprehensive redevelopment to 
create between 1,407 and 1,521 dwellings, comprising of: (a) Phase 1 (submitted in full with no matters 
reserved) for development of a 50-storey residential building; commercial floor-space (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, 
A4, A5, B1, D1 and D2); new public park; highways and public realm improvements and other associated works; 
and, (b) Phases 2 and 3 (submitted in outline with all matters reserved) for the development of two residential 
buildings up to 42 storeys in height; commercial floor-space (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1 and D2); 
new highways; a public square; public realm improvements and other associated works. (EIA development, 
accompanied by Environmental Statement) 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: up to 1,521 units; additional commercial floorspace tbc 

Approved March 2020 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=Q1KGXHNPHZ900&activeTab=s
ummary 

 

Embankment West Off Salford Approach And New Kings Head Yard Chapel Street Salford 

Reference - 17/70626/FUL 

Erection of one 18 storey residential building (Block A, Use Class C3); one 16 storey residential building (Block 
B, Use Class C3); one 18 storey building providing a mix of residential and serviced apartment accommodation 
and amenity facilities including lounge, swimming pool and gym (Block C, Use Class Sui Generis); 536sqm of 
commercial floorspace (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4); new access from Greengate; car and cycle parking; public 
realm and landscaping; and other associated works. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 503 units; 536 sqm 

Page 86

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NRGU8WNPGVX00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NRGU8WNPGVX00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=Q1KGXHNPHZ900&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=Q1KGXHNPHZ900&activeTab=summary


 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  25 

Approved November 2017 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=OW03HLNPKTJ00&activeTab=s
ummary 

 

Canon Green Drive Salford M3 7DB 

Reference - 18/72212/FUL 

External refurbishment and overcladding of Westminster House and Canon Green Court and erection of a part 9, 
part 11 storey building to accommodate 108 apartments and supporting commercial floor-space, with associated 
car parking, landscaping and other external works (resubmission of 18/71538/FUL) 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 180 units  

Approved October 2018  

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=PCGOUDNPMOR00&activeTab=
summary 

 

Land Bounded By Gore Street, Trinity Way And Chapel Street Salford 

Reference - 15/66415/FUL 

Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of site to provide: three residential buildings ranging from 13 
to 22 storeys comprising 364 apartments (Use Class C3) sitting on two storey podiums containing commercial 
and retail floorspace (727sqm) (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 and/or B1), car parking (104 spaces) and 
related servicing and plant; eleven townhouses; new access and landscaping and associated works. 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 364 units; 727 sqm 

Approved August 2017  

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=NOFKXONPGMJ00&activeTab=s
ummary 

 

Reference - 18/72164/FUL 

Application for the variation of condition 2 (approved plans) attached to planning permission 15/66415/FUL (as 
amended by 17/70690/NMA) 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: N/A 

Approved September 2018 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

Plot 1 New Bailey / Plots B2/B3 Salford Central Masterplan At Land Southwest New Bailey Street And 
Southeast Salford Central Station M3 5ET 

18/71823/FUL 

Erection of 7-storey office building (Use Class B1a) and formation of parking area within railway arches and 
pedestrian link between New Bailey and Gore Street, means of access, landscaping, together with ancillary 
facilities, servicing and public realm, associated localised repair and redecoration of the Southern Railway 
Viaduct (Grade II* Listed) – (along with associated LBC) 

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 19,444 sq m 

Approved July 2018 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P8Q2QYNP06300&activeTab=su
mmary 

 

Plot B7 Salford Central Masterplan. At Land Southwest Off New Bailey Street 

Reference - 20/75571/FUL 

Erection of a 10-storey B1(a) office building with flexible ground floor commercial units (A1/A2/A3/A4/B1) with 
associated ancillary facilities, servicing, means of access, landscaping and public realm  

Total Dwellings/ Area Approved: 27,230 sq m  

Awaiting Decision (Submitted July 2020) 

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

 

Page 87

https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=OW03HLNPKTJ00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=OW03HLNPKTJ00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=PCGOUDNPMOR00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=PCGOUDNPMOR00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P8Q2QYNP06300&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P8Q2QYNP06300&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.salford.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  26 

6.12. The subject site and the surrounding area has been the subject of a period of redevelopment over recent 

years and further large scale applications look set to continue this trend. 

6.13. A key function of the Chapel Wharf SRF will be to knit together existing and consented  development, as 

well as proposed development, into a cohesive and well connected environment. 

6.14. A good example of this is the open space at Blackfriars Road. However, the major development at 

Clowes Street does not currently sit comfortably in the public realm and limits the attractiveness of the 

route to Trinity Bridge. The Chapel Wharf SRF should devise proposals to address areas such as this, 

with reference to good practice in the area. 

 

 

  

Page 88



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  27 

7. Summary and Conclusions 
7.1. The subject site is affected by a number of planning policies, both adopted and emerging. Key elements 

that are generally discussed in the majority of these documents are listed below. 

 Pedestrian and cycle connections should be improved; 

 Public transport should be more accessible; 

 Ground floor uses should be encouraged; 

 The area should remain mixed use and of high density; 

 Heritage assets should be preserved and enhanced; 

 A riverside walking and / or cycling route should be explored; 

 There should be an increase in biodiversity; and 

 Schemes should be of adequate design quality and reflect the character of the area. 

 

7.2. These matters are key for exploration within the development of the Chapel Wharf SRF. 

7.3. The subject site has seen a period of intense redevelopment over recent years resulting in some large 

scale schemes completed and under construction. Certain completed schemes demonstrate good 

practice and can been seen as exemplars to which the Chapel Wharf SRF can refer. However, some 

larger schemes currently struggle to relate well to the existing fabric of the area and the SRF should 

focus on how this can be remedied. 

7.4. The subject site also contains a number of consented, but as yet not implemented schemed. These are 

important context for the Chapel Wharf SRF and the document should seek to anticipate how they may 

contribute towards the area. 

  

Page 89



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  28 

 

  

   

   

Appendices  

   

   

Page 90



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  29 

 

  

   

   

Appendix 1 
Links to Relevant Policy and Other Material Consideration 
Documents 

 

   

   

 Page 91



 

 

Chapel Wharf, Salford 

Planning Policy Baseline Review 

 

 
   

Salford City Council  October 2020  30 

 

Page 92



 

Page 2 

2. Development Plan 
 

Salford Unitary Development Plan – June 2006 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386606/udp-written-statement-saved-policies.pdf 

3. Relevant Other Material Considerations for Salford 
 

Irwell City Park Planning Guidance – March 2008 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385577/irwellcitypark-planning-guidance.pdf 

Greengate Regeneration Strategy – February 2018 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/392405/greengate-regen-framework.pdf 

Salford Central Planning Guidance – March 2008 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386189/salford-central-web-final-2.pdf 

Salford Central Development Framework – May 2009 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386186/salford-central-dev-framework-final-adopted-web.pdf 

The Crescent Development Framework – May 2014 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/384923/140521_crescent_-_df_-_adopted_version.pdf 

Shaping Central Salford’s Spaces and Places Public Realm Handbook – February 2009 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385172/central-salford-public-realm-handbook.pdf 

Shaping Salford Supplementary Planning Document – March 2008 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386414/shaping-salford-adopted-version-2008.pdf 

Design and Crime Supplementary Planning Document – July 2006 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385250/design-crime-spd-19-07-06b.pdf 

Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document – March 2008 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386432/spd-design-and-construction.pdf 

Nature Conservation and Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document – July 2006 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385127/biodiversity-spd-january-2006.pdf 

 

 

Page 93

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386606/udp-written-statement-saved-policies.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385577/irwellcitypark-planning-guidance.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/392405/greengate-regen-framework.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386189/salford-central-web-final-2.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386186/salford-central-dev-framework-final-adopted-web.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/384923/140521_crescent_-_df_-_adopted_version.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385172/central-salford-public-realm-handbook.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386414/shaping-salford-adopted-version-2008.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385250/design-crime-spd-19-07-06b.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386432/spd-design-and-construction.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/385127/biodiversity-spd-january-2006.pdf


 

Page 3 

4. Relevant Other Material Considerations External to Area 
 

Medieval Quarter Masterplan – June 2016 

https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/6485/medieval_quarter_srf_2016 

Ramada Complex Strategic Regeneration Framework – May 2018 

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/26611/ramada_complex_deansgate_srf.pdf 

St Mary’s Parsonage Strategic Regeneration Framework – August 2020 

https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/7208/st_marys_parsonage_srf 

5. Emerging Planning Policy 
 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 2020 Iteration – October 2020 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/3663/221020-agma-issue-opt.pdf 

Salford Local Plan Publication Version – January 2020 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394997/publication-salford-local-plan-slpdmp-jan-2020.pdf 

The Crescent Development Framework Draft – October 2020 

https://salfordcrescent.consultation.ai/#draft-development-framework 

Page 94

https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/6485/medieval_quarter_srf_2016
http://www.manchester.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/26611/ramada_complex_deansgate_srf.pdf
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/7208/st_marys_parsonage_srf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/3663/221020-agma-issue-opt.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394997/publication-salford-local-plan-slpdmp-jan-2020.pdf
https://salfordcrescent.consultation.ai/#draft-development-framework


 

 
Salford City Council  October 2020  1 

 
 
 

   

 Jay Patel Matthew Dawber  

 Director Associate  

    

    

    

 

savills.co.uk 
Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 March 2022 

 

  

   

   

 

Consultation Statement 
 

   

   

 
Chapel Wharf Development Framework 
 

 

 

   

Page 97



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    1 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction 1 

2. The Chapel Wharf Development Framework 4 

3. Legislation and Planning Context 8 

4. Consultation Methodology 11 

5. Scoping Consultation 12 

6. Draft Development Framework Consultation 16 

 

 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A Scoping Consultation Letter Sent to Residents, Statutory Consultees and Key Stakeholders, dated 14 April 2021 
 

Appendix B Full Schedule of Responses Received to the Vision and Objectives 

Appendix C Questions Posed within the Draft Development Framework Online Consultation 
 

Appendix D Draft Development Framework Consultation Letter Sent to Residents / Statutory Consultees and Key 
Stakeholders, dated 13 September 2021 

Appendix E Full Schedule of Responses to the Draft Development Framework from Statutory Consultees and Key 
Stakeholders 

Appendix F Public Comment Data from the Multiple Choice Questions Posed within the Online Consultation on the Draft 
Development Framework 

Appendix G Full Schedule of Public Responses to the Open Questions within the Online Consultation on the Draft 
Development Framework 
 

Appendix H Demographics of the Public Respondents to the Draft Development Framework 

Page 98



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    1 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. The City Council have prepared a new Development Framework to oversee development in the Chapel 

Wharf area.  

1.2. This overarching purpose of the framework is to establish a clear vision, objectives and set of development 

principles that will catalyse the delivery of transformational change over the course of the next 20 years, 

securing a range of economic, social and environmental benefits across the area of Chapel Wharf and 

adjoining communities. Once adopted, the Development Framework will become a material planning 

consideration in the assessment of future development proposals coming forward across the Chapel Wharf 

area. 

1.3. The Framework will facilitate Salford’s dramatic growth in a way which better suits the needs of those who 

live, work and visit Chapel Wharf, whilst creating beautiful public spaces; riverside environments and with 

the principles of the 15-minute neighbourhood in mind. It will ensure that new public realm and development 

is of excellent quality by recognising and enhancing Chapel Wharf’s heritage. This transformation will create 

spaces for culture, social life and knowledge to flourish, securing long-term success for Salford and the wider 

community.  

 

Figure 1 - Aerial Image of Chapel Wharf 

Page 99



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    2 

1.4. This Consultation Statement sets out the comprehensive consultation that has been undertaken by the 

Council to inform the preparation of the final Development Framework. 

Legislation and Planning Policy Context 

 

1.5. This Consultation statement has been provided in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) (July 2021) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) which provide the framework for 

the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans. Both recognise that early and meaningful engagement 

and collaboration with neighbourhoods, local organisations and businesses is essential. 

1.6. This statement also accords with Regulation 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 

amended) which requires all Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to prepare a Statement of Community 

Involvement (‘SCI’) which sets out how it will consult upon Local Development Documents. Furthermore, the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (‘the Local Plan Regulations’) sets 

out the requirements for consultation on local plans (Regulation 18) and supplementary planning documents 

(Regulation 12(a)), having regard to a LPA’s commitments in their SCI. 

1.7. Whilst the Development Framework does not constitute a local development document, nor a Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD), once adopted by the Council it will form a material consideration for the 

determination of planning applications in the area, and will align with policies contained in the emerging 

Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations Document (‘SLP:DMP’) which is 

currently under examination. 

Purpose of the Consultation Statement 

 

1.8. In this context, the Development Framework has been subject to comprehensive public consultation, and 

therefore, this Statement has been prepared to set out who has been consulted, the main issues raised, and 

how those issues have been addressed within the Development Framework. 

1.9. The purpose of taking such a comprehensive approach to consultation has been to ensure that a wide range 

of stakeholders were involved in developing plans for the future of the area and to give appropriate weight to 

the Development Framework as a material planning consideration in the determination of planning 

applications within the area. 

1.10. This Statement has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s adopted SCI. it also follows the requirements 

set out in Regulation 12(a) of the Local Plan Regulations relating to SPD’s and sets out: 

 
I. The persons consulted when preparing the Development Framework; 

 
II. A summary of the main issues raised by those persons; and 

 
III. How those issues have been addressed in the final Development Framework. 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    3 

Structure of the Statement 

 

1.11. The statement is structured as follows: 

Section 2 – Provides the background and overview of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework; 

Section 3 – Sets out the legislative and planning policy context which underpins the Framework; 

Section 4 – Describes the consultation methodology;  

Section 5 – Details the vision and scoping consultation; and 

Section 6 – Details the formal consultation on the Draft Development Framework. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    4 

2. The Chapel Wharf Development Framework 
 

Chapel Wharf: A Crucial Opportunity for the Success of Salford 

 

2.1. Salford is at a crucial moment in its transformation into a competitive and internationally recognised city. 

The tremendous growth seen in the last 10 years in Salford is set to continue over the next two decades, 

with Salford experiencing the fastest percentage growth in Greater Manchester. It is vital that the next 20 

years build upon the significant progress that has been made to secure wide range of regeneration benefits 

for Salford’s future because there still remains significant challenges ahead in meeting Salford futures 

development needs in a way that tackles inequality and enhances its natural assets and valued 

environment. Salford’s integration with the City is recognised as an essential ongoing objective to maximise 

benefits for all Salford’s residents and strengthen resilience for future challenges so that the City can 

prosper.  

2.2. To date there has been limited strategic understanding of the Chapel Wharf area with regeneration activities 

and interventions focused within the adjoining regeneration areas, such as Greengate and New Bailey. 

Development and investment is taking place across the Chapel Wharf area, however, it is currently being 

brought forward in an un-coordinated manner by various landowners and developers on a site by site basis. 

Also, as the Greengate, New Bailey and wider City Centre areas continue to grow and thrive, developer 

interest in the Chapel Wharf area is increasing.  

2.3. New opportunities are emerging and the Council has been engaged in pre-planning enquiries across 

several sites in the area. Unlike adjacent areas, there is a clear lack of a cohesive vision for the Chapel 

Wharf area. This is in a large part due to the area not being covered by a formal framework.  

2.4. The potential of the Chapel Wharf area is significant, but without a clear vision and strategy to guide future 

development and investment, the full potential of the area and individual opportunities will not be exploited. 

This ultimately will result in the loss of development momentum, investment and strategic growth 

opportunities. 

Delivery Partners 

 

2.5. Salford City Council (SCC) has overseen the preparation of the Development Framework in collaboration 

with OP-EN (Optimised Environments), Savills and Civic Engineers. The Council has a strong track record 

in delivering large-scale mixed-use regeneration schemes across the City, working in partnership with the 

private sector and other key stakeholders. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    5 

Overview of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework  

 

2.6. The document sets out a vision and spatial strategy that aims to create a new “15-minute neighbourhood” 

at the heart of city centre Salford, which will be an area open to all as a place to call home, make a living 

or visit and relax in. This will be achieved through improving connectivity in to and through the area for both 

walking, cycling and active travel and through creation of high-quality public spaces and sites for new 

commercial, community and residential developments. Furthermore, the cultural, architectural, transport, 

heritage and ecological assets of will be protected, enhanced and celebrated and key infrastructure barriers 

overcome.  

2.7. The Development Framework supplements several saved policies in Salford’s adopted Unitary 

Development Plan (primarily Policy MX1 which sets a vision for the Regional Centre as a vibrant mixed-

use area). The Framework is also framed by policies in the emerging Salford Local Plan, such as Plan 

Policy AP1 (City Centre Salford, area B Chapel Wharf) which states that ‘the area will maintain its diverse 

mix of uses and range of heritage assets, providing an important link between Greengate and New Bailey, 

and a key connection between the Salford and Manchester parts of the City Centre’. 

The Framework Area 

 

2.8. The area covered by the Development Framework sits within Salford City Centre and extends to 

approximately 19ha. It is bordered by the River Irwell, Trinity Way, New Bailey Street and Blackfriars. It falls 

within the ward of Blackfriars and Trinity. This geography was chosen to bridge this strategic gap in the 

council’s vision for this part of the City, but not disrupt the established and successful communities that now 

reside in Trinity and Blackfriars. 

2.9. The Framework area contains buildings of significant historical and heritage value such as the Sacred 

Trinity Church and Audacious Church, as well as many nationally recognised destinations such as the 

Lowry Hotel. The site is bounded to the north by established communities in Blackfriars and Greengate and 

to the south by Manchester city centre on the southern side of the River Irwell. 

Vision 

 

2.10. The Development Framework sets the following new vision for Chapel Wharf:  

 ‘A central neighbourhood offering an alternative urban experience. An authentic place that feeds the mind, body and 

soul’ Furthermore, it establishes Chapel Wharf as a place that invites you to… 

- Live sustainably, within easy reach of all the city has to offer in terms of jobs, culture, leisure and shopping; 

- Enjoy exploring characterful buildings and re-invented railway arches full of distinctive uses and local life; 

- Move comfortably through people friendly routes or just spend time in attractive community spaces & family 

play streets. 

- Discover a natural edge through secret gardens, growing spaces, green streets, and riverside walks.” 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    6 

Objectives 

 

2.11. The key objectives for the Development Framework have been developed to align with the Council’s ‘Great 

8’ priorities, local and national planning policy and the UN sustainability goals. In summary these aim to: 

1. Provide railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse and more accessible places. 

2. Create accessible open spaces, of a scale, that provide balance and relief from the urban intensity 

of the area and support community life. 

3. Develop a neighbourhood that manages its environmental impact. 

4. Create an accessible, high quality riverside environment along the Irwell. 

5. Provide comfortable and balanced streets that create an accessible and connected urban 

environment. 

6. Create active street frontages with a variety of occupiers to serve the needs of the local community 

and visitors alike. 

7. Supply a more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes, including provision for families. 

8. Provide development that reflects human scale and attention to details. 

9. Introduce opportunities for technology that improve the quality of life for those who live and work in 

Chapel Wharf. 

10. A stronger sense of arrival. 

11. Protect heritage assets. 

12. Create a neighbourhood that provides a variety of employment opportunities. 

13.  Meet the needs of a thriving community. 

14. Protect and Enhance public transport provision including mobility as a service. 

 

2.12. The Development Framework goes on to set out in more detail the proposed development principles for 

the area, focussed around key responses to the defining infrastructure elements of Trinity Way, the River 

Irwell, Chapel Street and the Railway Viaducts. 

2.13. The Framework acknowledges that while these four things presently create barriers and are detrimental to 

the area, they have potential to be Chapel Wharf’s greatest assets and unique, defining features. Following 

on from this, a spatial framework is set out for the area that: 

• Defines a coherent approach to potential future land use. 

• Recommends scale of future development sites. 

• Illustrates how future development can be connected together through high quality walking and 

cycling routes that incorporate the historical fabric of this part of City Centre Salford. 

• Establishes key gateways to the area, which will in turn increase connectivity to the Trinity and 

Blackfriars neighbourhoods and Manchester City Centre. 

• Sets out a public realm strategy identifying potential for improvements to existing streets and spaces 

and the creation of new high-quality public realm. 

• The development framework concludes with four “catalyst projects” that might potentially be brought 

forward as infrastructure interventions at the earliest opportunity. 

 

Page 104



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    7 

2.14. These have been identified as: 

• Chapel Vaults 

• Re-imagined Riverside 

• Flat Iron Square 

• Trinity Gateway 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    8 

3. Legislation and Planning Context 
 

3.1. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 introduced the requirement for Local Planning 

Authorities (LPAs) to produce a Statement of Community Involvement which outlines the way in which 

communities and stakeholders will be consulted on new development plans or supplementary planning 

documents. The following section sets out the legislative and planning policy context that is relevant to the 

preparation of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework.  

Legislative Framework 

 

3.2. There has been a number of updates to the legislation and guidance relating to community engagement, 

particularly in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the challenges it poses The production of this 

statement has where relevant had full regard to the processes and recommendation within the recent 

relevant publications outlined below: 

• The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2020; 

• The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedures, Listed Buildings and 

Environmental Impact Assessments) (England) (Coronavirus)(Amendment) Regulations 2020; and 

• The Local Authority and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authorities and 

Police Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 

 

National Planning Policy and Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework  

 

3.3. The National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) provides the framework for local communities and 

LPAs to prepare local and neighbourhood plans that reflect their visions and aspirations through the Local 

Plan process. Paragraph 16(c) of the NPPF states that plans should be “shaped early, proportionate and 

effective engagement between plan-makers and communities, local organisations, businesses, 

infrastructure provides and operators and statutory consultees”. The value of early engagement in 

recognised within the NPPF as improving the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning system, as well 

as improving outcomes for the community. 

Planning Practice Guidance 

 

3.4. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) requires at Paragraph 035 that “Local planning 

authorities must set out in their Statement of Community Involvement how they will engage communities 

on the preliminary stages of plan-making, specifically survey stage and Local Development Scheme.” 

Page 106



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    9 

3.5. Paragraph 035 of NPPG goes on to state the following: 

‘We would encourage authorities to use social media tools and other platforms to communicate with 

communities, where appropriate. Authorities are expected to be mindful of the need to produce concise, 

visual evidence, written in plain English to help ensure that it is easily accessible to local communities, to 

avoid them becoming disengaged with the process.’ 

Local Planning Policy 

Salford Statement of Community Involvement (October 2020) 

 

3.6. The Council’s SCI was formally adopted in October 2020, following a partial review which amended 

consultation methods to allow for social distancing and virtual methods in light of the challenges posed by 

the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 

3.7. Whilst partial review of the SCI in October 2020 found that the SCI was in need of updating, it is not 

considered to be creating any significant issues in its current form. The Council are focussing resources in 

progressing the New Local Plan and it is agreed that updating the SCI at this time would result in its 

misalignment with the ongoing Local Plan process.  

3.8. The SCI aims to increase public involvement and community engagement in planning processes. It sets 

outs those to be consulted, the methods of such, and the point in the plan-making process or planning 

determination at which consultation will take place.  

3.9. The SCI sets out the Council’s policy for community engagement in the production of formal statutory 

planning documents (Development Plan Documents) and non-statutory documents such as SPDs.  

3.10. Below is a summary of the SCI guidance in respect of consultation at the different stages of SPD production, 

which the Development Framework has broadly followed: 

 

• Stage 1 – Pre-production - This stage is based around the gathering of evidence and asking people 

to identify issues and make suggestions in order to inform the preparation of the draft document. 

 

• Stage 2 – Production – A draft document is produced following the evidence gathering pre-

production stage. Whilst the regulations simply require that draft SPDs are subject to a consultation 

period of at least 4 weeks, the SCI commits SCC to always consulting on the draft SPD (in this case, 

the draft Development Framework) for 6 weeks in order to maximise potential involvement. The SCI 

states that SCC will carefully consider any representations received during the consultation period 

and will update the document where it is considered necessary and appropriate. 

 

• Stage 3 – Adoption - The SPD (in this case, the Final Development Framework) will then be 

adopted. A summary of representations received and how they have been taken into account will be 

published at this stage. 

 

Page 107



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    10 

3.11. The SCI also sets out the various approaches and methods to community engagement, including how they 

can be adapted to adhere to any relevant restrictions imposed by the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 

These are listed below in terms of how their status has changed as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. 

Table 1 - Consultation Methods Changed Owing to COVID-19 as Set Out in Salford SCI 2020 

Method Change Owing to COVID-19 

Newspaper Notices Removed as proposed method of community engagement. 

Leaflets and Flyers May not be able to be used as they may be inconsistent with Government guidance at 
the time. 

One-on-One 
Discussions 

To be held virtually or over the telephone. 

Public / Stakeholder 
Meetings 

May not be able to be used as they may be inconsistent with Government guidance at 
the time. 

Posters in Public 
Places 

May be inconsistent with Government guidance at the time. 

Consultation Games May not be able to be used as they may be inconsistent with Government guidance at 
the time. Could be held virtually if possible. 

Planning for Real 
Exercises 

May not be able to be used as they may be inconsistent with Government guidance at 
the time. Could be held virtually if possible. 

Public Exhibitions / 
Displays 

To be held virtually if possible. 

Documents Available 
for Public Inspection 

No requirement for documents to be made available for inspection. 

Social Media Addition to latest version. To post general and specific information regarding the 
consultation. 

 

3.12. Other methods remain the same as prior to COVID-19 and are listed below: 

• Local Newspapers and Radio; 

• Press Releases; 

• Life IN Salford Magazine; 

• Salford City Council Website; 

• Letters or Emails to Specific and General Consultees; 

• Consultation Database Letters; 

• Questionnaires; 

• Letters to Neighbouring Authorities; 

• Notification to Councillors; and 

• Steering Group and Community Forum. 

 

3.13. A new method was added to the SCI as follows: 

 

• Social media e.g. Facebook, Twitter - To post general and specific information about the consultation 

and to signpost specific details during the consultation period. 

  

Page 108



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    11 

4. Consultation Methodology 
 

4.1. The amendments to the Council’s SCI as defined in Section 3 do not fundamentally change the overarching 

process which should be followed for SPDs and therefore other non-statutory documents, such as the 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework. A summary of the key stages and the approach followed for the 

consultation on the Development Framework is set out below: 

Stage 1 – Pre-Production 

 

4.2. Stage 1 involved pre-production scoping consultation to set out and seek views on the proposed remit, 

vision and objectives for the Framework. This consultation ran for 4 weeks from 14 April 2021 and asked 

residents, businesses and stakeholders to identify issues and make suggestions in order to inform the 

preparation of a ‘draft’ document. Full details are provided in Section 5. 

Stage 2 – Production 

 

4.3. The views and comments received throughout the pre-production scoping consultation informed the 

production of the Draft Development Framework. Consultation was undertaken on the draft document for 

a period of 6 weeks from Monday 13 September – Monday 25 October 2021 in order to maximise outreach 

and potential engagement.  

4.4. The primary form of consultation took pace using virtual methods including a dedicated online consultation 

page where users could access a variety of media from the Draft Development Framework and then answer 

a series of both multiple choice and open ended questions. The choice to use a virtual form of consultation 

was in response to recent amendments to national guidance and the Council’s SCI. 

4.5. In addition to the above, some targeted engagement with key landowners within the Framework Area was 

also undertaken.     

4.6. Upon the close of consultation, all representations received were carefully considered and incorporated 

where appropriate and necessary into the Development Framework. Full details are provided in Section 6. 

Stage 3 – Adoption 

 

4.7. This Consultation Statement, including a summary of representations received and how they have been 

taken into account, will be published alongside the Final Development Framework for consideration by 

Elected Members. 

  

Page 109



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    12 

5. Scoping Consultation 
 

5.1. The initial Scoping Consultation was undertaken by Salford City Council between 16 April – 14 May 2021. 

A scoping consultation letter setting out the proposed vision and objectives, the accompanying red line 

boundary for the Development Framework area and next steps in terms of the review of the guidance was 

mailed/ emailed to statutory consultees, key stakeholders, local businesses and residents. A copy of this 

letter is provided at Appendix A. 

5.2. The Council consulted approximately 6,000 residents and local businesses falling within the framework red 

line boundary, and the area immediately adjacent to that area (approximately 150m beyond the red line 

boundary).  

5.3. Details of the scoping consultation were also published on the Council’s website and an electronic version 

of the letter was available to download.  

5.4. Appendix B sets out a schedule of all representations received on the proposed vision and objectives.  For 

ease of reference, a summary of key comments is provided below. 

 

Responses Received 

 

5.5. A total of 23 no. responses were received to the scoping consultation as set out below: 

• Statutory consultees: 

o Environment Agency; 

o Highways England; 

o United Utilities; 

o Salford Community Leisure; 

o Trafford Council; 

o Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM); 

o Health and Safety Executive (HSE); 

o Greater Manchester Police (GMP) – Design out Crime; 

o Sport England; 

o Coal Authority; 

o Homes England; 

o Theatres Trust; 

o National Grid; 

o Natural England; 

o Greater Manchester Archelogy Advisory Service (GMASS); and 

o Historic England 

 

• Key Stakeholders: 

o Theatres Trust; 

Page 110



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    13 

o Vodafone / Atkins Global; 

o Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA);  
o Manchester and Salford Ramblers;  

o Manchester Bolton & Bury Canal Society; and 

o CSJ2.  

 

• Residents: 

o 1 resident. 

 

5.6. The following Consultees responded to confirm they had no comments to make to the Scoping 

Consultation: 

• The Manchester Bolton & Bury Canal Society;  

• Trafford Council Strategic Planning;  

• United Utilities;  

• HSE; 

• Homes England; and  

• National Grid 

 

5.7. A summary of the representations submitted to the Scoping Consultation is provided at Table 2 below. 

Table 2 - Summary of Statutory Consultees and Key Stakeholders Reponses (Scoping Consultation) 

Theme Comments 

Healthy 
Lifestyles 

• GMP – Design out Crime noted that crime and disorder should be a consideration in any proposed 

development in the area as the crime rate within the framework area is above average; 

• CSJ2 suggested co-living should be referenced to create more inclusive and sustainable communities 

• Sport England broadly agree with overall aim of the vision but would welcome the inclusion of “be 

active” in the sentence ending “riverside walks”. They also suggest their Facility Calculators are used 

to estimate additional demand for playing infrastructure. 

Green space/ 
Open space 

• Environment Agency supported the reference to a “natural aspect” in the framework area, and 

identifies that improving access to the riverside would improve health, resilience, land value and 

biodiversity. 

• Manchester and Salford Ramblers suggested that blue/green infrastructure is a prioritised theme and 

highlights the importance of riverside walks. 

The 
Environment, 
Biodiversity 
and Ecology 

• Natural England suggested an incorporation of various themes: Biodiversity Net Gain; Environmental 

enhancement; Access and Recreation; Biodiversity duty; Ecological Networks; and the use of Defra 

Metric. 

• TfGM note that density policies should be in line with those within Places for Everyone. 

Page 111



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    14 

Transport • Highways England supportive of infrastructure that reduces reliance on car ownership. They also 

noted that “there is an opportunity capitalise on the urban location with existing and enhanced 

transport infrastructure; to ensure a sustainable transport network underpins the Framework, 

complementing the objectives relating to an accessible urban area”. 

• TfGM notes that: 

a) The Bee Network infrastructure on chapel street should consider active travel design guide; 

b) Car parking should be in line with CCTS to deliver reduction in traffic and zero carbon agenda; 

and 

c) Retaining alignment for Metrolink routing on Chapel Street/New Bailey should be considered. 

Heritage • Salford Community Leisure stress the importance to protect heritage assets and character of the 

area; 

• The Theatres trust believe the document should include heritage and culture as key themes; 

• GMAAS support the use of heritage as a key theme; 

• Historic England emphasises the importance of heritage-led regeneration and identifies the viaducts 

as a key asset. Suggestion to undertake a number of works such as urban design and townscape 

analysis. 

 

5.8. All respondents have been kept informed throughout the Development Framework process.  

5.9. There was only one individual response from a local resident. The comment was related to heritage and 

noted that the Blackfriars Bridge and buildings along Blackfriars Street are in need of restoration. 

Key Stakeholder Engagement 

 

5.10. In addition to the above consultation, the team undertook targeted engagement with a focused number of 

key landowners within the Framework Area to engage in discussions about how the Framework might 

develop. 

5.11. On the 7 May 2021, the Council met with Audacious Church and their planning consultants in regard to 

an ongoing revised planning application on their site. The Church confirmed their commitment to Salford 

and the surrounding communities and summarised some of their long term ideas for the area which might 

include the provision of a food store, social housing and educational facilities. The request by Audacious 

Church was therefore that the Chapel Wharf Development Framework reflected their long term 

aspirations for the site and the surrounding areas. These comments were noted during the drafting of the 

Framework. 

 

Page 112



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    15 

5.12. The Council also discussed the vision for the draft Framework with ArchCo, in regard to the railway arch 

assets which fall within the Framework boundary and form an essential elements of the proposals within 

the draft Framework. The emerging ideas for the railway arches were shared with ArchCo. Subsequently, 

they confirmed that the ideas were very much in line with their aspirations for the area, but would be 

subject to viability. 

5.13. On the 6 January 2022, the Council met with a planning consultant on behalf of the owner of the former 

United Reformed Church on Chapel Street, which is situated in the framework area. A meeting was held 

to discuss emerging ideas for development on the site. A recommendation was made by SCC officers to 

the planning consultant that the appropriate way forward was through the city council’s a formal pre 

planning application process. 

5.14. During the Scoping Consultation stage, the project team also engaged with Telreal Trillium who manage 

Dial House. They confirmed that there are no plans in the short to medium term to stop using this critical 

facility and as such plans for its redevelopment would be premature in this framework. 

5.15. A meeting also took place with Euro Car Parks who own Browncross Street car park.  They confirmed 

that they see the site as a development opportunity but at the time had no firm plans. Euro Car Parks do 

have a track record with residential development and they confirmed they would like to see the site 

identified for this use. 

Revisions Made Following Scoping Consultation 

 

5.16. Following the closure of the scoping consultation period, all representations that were received were 

reviewed in detail.  

5.17. The comments received throughout the scoping consultations helped inform the production of the ‘draft’ 

Development Framework or Stage 2. 

5.18. The revisions and updates made in response to the comments received are set out at Table 7 along with 

the responses to the formal draft consultation. 

 

Page 113



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    16 

6. Draft Development Framework Consultation 
 

Online Public Consultation Event 

 

6.1. Following the initial Scoping Consultation, the ‘draft’ Development Framework documents was prepared, 

and a 6 week period of consultation was undertaken between 13 September – 25 October 2021. 

6.2. As a result of social distancing requirements and the recent success of virtual consultation methods, the 

consultation took the form of an online consultation website available at: 

https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/ 

6.3. The online consultation website contained a series of pages setting out the vision, objectives and proposals 

within the ‘draft’ Development Framework and asked a number of multiple choice and open questions for 

the consultees to answer. A list of the questions asked is attached at Appendix C. There was also an 

option to view and download a copy of the Framework. A screenshot of the pages within the online 

consultation website is shown at Figure 2 below. 

 

Figure 2 - Online Consultation Screenshot 

Page 114

https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/


 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    17 

6.4. A letter was sent out to local residents, statutory consultees and key stakeholders in the Chapel Wharf area 

on 13 September 2021 which notified members of the consultation website and set out the various ways to 

submit comments. A copy of this letter is shown at Appendix D. 

6.5. In order to make the consultation as accessible as possible for members of the public and key stakeholders 

to view the proposals and provide views, the website and response forms could be accessed via both 

desktop and mobile. In addition, comments on the draft proposals could be submitted by any of the following 

means: 

• Via the question forms within the online consultation website 

• By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

• By phone 0161 958 6296 

• By post to: 

Draft Chapel Wharf Development Framework Consultation  
Spatial Planning  
Salford Civic Centre  
Chorley Road  
Swinton  
M27 5BY 

 

Additional Consultation Activities 

 

6.6. In addition to the methodology outlined above, the draft Development Framework was presented by Salford 

City Council’s Strategic Director of Place to the Council’s Property and Regeneration Briefing. This 

presentation took place on the 9 August 2021 following completion of the draft Development Framework. 

At the meeting, Salford City Council’s Lead Member for Housing, Property and Regeneration: - 

1. Noted the contents of the report; 

2. Endorsed the Draft Chapel Wharf Development Framework for the purposes of public consultation; 

and 

3. Noted that the final version will be brought back to a future meeting for endorsement 

 

Representations on the Draft Development Framework  

 

6.7. Schedules of all representations received, from both statutory consultees and the public, are provided in 

full at Appendices E, F and G. A summary of these representations are also provided in the relevant 

sections below. Following this, a schedule is presented which sets out how the comments received as part 

of the consultation informed revisions to produce the final Development Framework. 

Statutory Consultees 

 

6.8. In total, 9 statutory consultees and key stakeholders submitted responses to the draft Development 

Framework as set out below: 

• Euro Car Parks 

Page 115

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    18 

• GMP Police 

• Historic England 

• Manchester Airport Group 

• Natural England 

• Paul Butler Associates 

• United Utilities 

• Vodafone 

• Transport for Greater Manchester 

 

6.9. The Coal Authority and Homes England responded to confirm that they had no comments to make in 

respect of the draft Development Framework. 

6.10. The responses received from the statutory consultees and key stakeholders generally expressed support 

for the draft Development Framework and the vision and proposals within. A summary of the notable 

comments on the Draft Development Framework is provided at Table 4 below. 

Table 3 - Summary of the comments made on the draft Development Framework 

Theme Concerns 

The Proposals • Euro Car Parks raised concerns that the Building Heights Plan at Figure 24 and the Scale 

Massing Strategy at Figure 25 of the Draft Development Framework are too prescriptive in 

dictating the layout, height and massing of buildings on opportunity sites. They commented that 

flexibility is required so developers can adapt to changing market conditions. 

 

• Paul Butler Associates noted that they are currently representing a client for redevelopment of 

Opportunity Site No. 6 in the Framework. Extensive pre-applciation discussions have taken place 

for a scheme that varies in layout and height from that depicted in the Draft Development 

Framework. PBA asked for the height and layout of the proposed scheme to be considered when 

developing the Framework. 

 

• Euro Car Parks commented that the uses along the railway arches should be a mix of daytime 

and night time uses to ensure it provides a safe route at all times.  
The 
Environment, 
Biodiversity and 
Ecology 

• Historic England requested that the Council prepare a Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) to accompany the framework. They believe it is required because identification of sites for 

development have not undergone a heritage impact assessment nor a site specific policy within 

the adopted Local Plan. 

 

• Natural England agreed with the Council's assessment that an SEA is not required. 

 

• United Utilities suggested that text be added to the Framework which stipulates that 'The design 

of new development should consider the inclusion of water efficiency measure inthe development 

of new buildings'. 

Flooding and 
Drainage 

• United Utilities suggested adding a section of text to the Framework which outlines that new 

development 'will be expected to incorporate exemplary sustainable drainage methods' . 

Transport • GMP Police commented that emergency access should be considered in the proposed layout. 

Page 116



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    19 

• Transport for Greater Manchester: 

o Request that the vision aligns with the TfGM ‘Streets for All’ Initiative and that ‘protect 

and enhance public transport’ is an explicit objective of the framework. 

o Request that reference is made to improving bus waiting environments. 

o Suggest the idea of a TfGM ‘Travel Hub’ at Salford Central Station. 

o Taxi and private hire vehicle access and requirements need consideration. 

o Reference new bike and scooter hire schemes to be rolled out in the area in the short 

term. 

Heritage • Historic England raised concerns that the draft document identifies opportunities for 

redevelopment (including indicating the positioning of new landmark buildings), and sets out 

development criteria such as heights, scale and massing for these sites/ new buildings, without 

proper assessment to inform this, despite its potential to have a significant effect on the historic 

environment. They recommended that the Development Framework’s revised contents are 

underpinned by Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA). 

Utilities • Vodafone requested written assurances that Voafone apparatus in the area will be safeguarded 

and reimbursement of costs will be made for any necessary works. 

 

• Manchester Airport Group recommended that consideration of the relevant aerodrome 

safeguarding criteria, consultation procedures, and any potential impacts on aircraft safety are 

addressed in regard to building heights and lighting. 

 

Public Comments 

 

6.11. In total, there were 969 visitors to the online consultation website. Across the five pages, 43 individual 

respondents left a total of 84 comments on the draft Development Framework. A full report of the 

respondent data is set out at Appendix F for the multiple choice questions and Appendix G for the open 

questions.  

6.12. Out of the 43 individuals who responded to the questions within the consultation website, 26 of those 

signed up to project updates via email, in order to keep up to date with the development of the 

Framework. 

6.13.  The most common age group amongst the 43 respondents was between 25-34, into which 39% of 

respondents were categorised. This was followed by 55-64 which represented 19% of all respondents.  

6.14. In regard to Ethnicity, 98% of the respondents identified as White, while the remaining identified as Mixed. 

A full set of respondent demographics is set out at Appendix H. 

 

Page 117



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    20 

6.15. When asked about their connection the respondents had to the Chapel Wharf area, the respondents 

provided a variety of responses as set out in Table 5 below. 

6.16. Public comments submitted to the online consultation website were predominantly positive. Analysis 

undertaken by the consultation platform concluded that of the total 84 comments, 68 (81%) were positive, 

9 were natural (11%) and 7 (8%) were negative.  

6.17. ‘The Vision’ page received the most engagement of all pages on the consultation website, eliciting 36 

comments of which 30 were positive, 2 were neutral and 4 were negative. 

6.18. The remaining 3 negative comments responded to the ‘Development Opportunities’ page, while 8 

responded positively and two were neutral. 

6.19. The remaining three sections, namely the Draft Development Framework’, ‘Public Realm Strategy’ and 

‘Movement and Active Travel Network’, received no negative comments. 

Table 4 - Bar graph showing consultation respondents' connection to the Chapel Wharf area 

 

 

6.20. Table 6 on the following page provides a summary of the individual responses to the draft Development 

Framework: 

 

Page 118



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    21 

Table 5 - Summary of public comments made on the draft Development Framework consultation 

Question Concern 

The Vision - What 

other comments do 

you have about our 

proposed Vision? 

• Great cycling routes, such as those along the Irwell are often blocked off. They should be 

used as a footprint however for new cycling routes in the future. 

• Chapel Street would benefit from regular tree-lining. 

• Publicly accessible green spaces even if they are only small can be really positive. Also 

information such as plaques or boards can contribute to a sense of place.  

• Limit the traffic on Chapel Street area and make it greener, cleaner and more pedestrian 

friendly.  

• Support for more pedestrianisation, it would create more space for these shops, 

restaurants, cycles paths and other things more important than a dual carriageway. 

• Support for more restaurants / bars providing they don’t create too much noise pollution. 

• New development supported, as long as they aren’t poorly designed office blocks and 

residential towers.  

• Concerns regarding the anti-social behaviour and drug use outside the first entrance to the 

Bridge which is a proposed green space 

• Request that there is sufficient disabled parking and access parking for tradespeople 

working at the Bridge.  

• Request for reduction in car spaces 

• Concern that this will gentrify the area further and raise the already high rent prices in this 

area. 

Potential 

Opportunity Sites - 

Do you have any 

ideas about other 

potential 

opportunity sites for 

redevelopment 

within the 

framework area that 

would help deliver 

the vision? 

(Development 

Opportunities) 

• Increased density should be allowed in exchange for greater design quality and developer 

contribution to improving the public realm (i.e. improved street lighting, replace netting on 

bridge across Blackfriars, affordable housing/rent). 

• Concern regarding Opportunity Site 11 and its proximity to a listed building. 

• Support for green space instead of more flats. 

• Cafes and creative arts spaces, would be great. Some independent green grocers, 

butchers and food stalls would be amazing too. Blackfriar's Road is dangerous, constantly 

dirty and it is congested. The cycle line is not respected by vehicles.  

• Concerned raised with Site 9, which is about to be developed into a 7 story car park to fund 

the Audacious church. 

• Potential to set up a community cycle shop to progress the cycling plans of the area.   

• Commented that there is an opportunity to develop a recreational space for the people who 

live nearby considering the amount of development that is already in place or has been 

recently completed. 

• Support for houses which would be better to encourage families and a more diverse 

population in the city. 

Scale and massing - 

Do you have any 

more comments on 

the building scale 

and massing plans?  

(Development 

Opportunities) 

• Concern regarding new tall buildings and lack of green space. 

• High-density development should be more affordable 

• It's important to enhance the historical assets such as Sacred Trinity Church  

• The heights of the buildings should be in line with the historic buildings that are already 

there. The quality of the architecture and the final finish is important too.  

• Local residents do not need multi-storey car parks. I can see some in your chapel vaults 

artwork. Please do not do this, I can only beg you. 

• There should be a maximum height of new building max 7 floors to make rapid evacuation 

form buildings possible quickly in case of fire.  

Page 119



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    22 

Development 

Opportunities - Are 

there any other 

ways we could 

make better use of 

the existing Railway 

Arches? 

• Green space  /parks / affordable co-working spaces?  

• Maybe a library or a gallery or a coffee shop. 

• Some could simply be opened up via a through-route, such as Gore Street. 

• Grocery, butchers, cheese and food market stalls. 

• Concern that potential music venue will cause noise disturbance 

• Would like to see some space dedicated to children, parents and cyclists in this area. 

• Local shops, perhaps a bakery, deli, farm shop etc in this space. The regeneration with 

bars, pubs, restaurants etc are all welcome to local homeowners.  

 

Movement 

Framework - What 

other comments or 

suggestions do you 

have relating to the 

movement 

framework? 

• Better lighting will help improve movement through area  

• The 30mph speed limit on Trinity Way could be better enforced and everywhere else ought 

to be 20mph. Street clutter, including abandoned Lime Scooters should be reduced.   

• Make sure e-scooters are included in cycling routes  

• Make sure that there a lot of new bins in the area as even the best looking street can be 

spoilt by litter. Unfortunately, this is a big problem in Salford at the moment.  

• There are no cycle facilities along Trinity Way and the pavement is blocked in areas by 

large advertising hoardings - addressing these issues was rejected by those leading on the 

recent travel consultation.  

• The cycle routes should follow Irwell River Park 

• Why is New Bridge Street not used? The vast majority of journeys will be for people 

passing through here into Manchester City Centre but this link seems vague e.g. what 

happens to cyclists using Blackfriars Road when they get to Manchester?  

• Just please make sure the cycleway is coloured red and has clear priority over all side 

roads. This includes continuous footways and cycleways. Look at Waltham Forest Lea 

Bridge road for inspiration.  

Catalyst Project - Do 

you have any other 

comments about the 

proposals for Trinity 

Gate Way? 

• Tree planting and softening via landscaping is supported 

• It would be nice if the bike paths didn't randomly stop and start.  

• Blackfriars and Chapel Street are more important for cycle access (not steps} onto the 

river.  

• The new Trinity Way/Chapel St junction is a wasted opportunity as there's no pedestrian 

crossing on the western side of Chapel St. by the New Harvest church/ St Stephen St.  

• Keep landscaping simple and easily maintained.  

• I love this, personally, I would like reduced traffic on this road in any form. Late at night 

people race through here, and burst through red lights. 

• More of this please. Let’s make Salford as cycleable as Amsterdam.  

Catalyst Project - 

Can you think of 

other ways we could 

improve the Flat 

Iron Square 

proposals? 

• The signal timings are terrible and would benefit from re-planning  

• Suggestion of bike rack by Bridge 

• Personally, I feel safer on normal roads than on bus only roads, busses are the most 

dangerous vehicles for me.  

• The lighting scheme on the church could be renewed.  

• Important to have bike hire available but reduce the street clutter that randomly abandoned 

scooters create.  

• Important to ensure that traffic signs are in the carriageway not on the pavement.  

• Encourage space to be made for roadworks as this usually encroached on cycle lanes 

• Make sure the junction is a CYCLOPS  

Page 120



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    23 

Development 

Framework - Do you 

have any other 

comments about the 

Draft Development 

Framework? 

• Co living should be limited to a small number of identified sites. It had a place in the 

residential ecosystem but should be limited. 

• More bins are needed to prevent littering in the area.  

• Concerns raised about The Audacious Church which has a planning application to develop 

a 7 story for profit car park. There are now 4 multi-story car parks within a 5 minute walk 

from this location all developed in the last 5 years. 

• We have identified that Opportunity Site 1 (Bloom Street Car Park) is the neighbouring site 

to the Kings Arms pub and theatre.  As a valued social and cultural facility it is essential 

that new development is compatible and will not result in conflict with the existing pub on 

the grounds of noise and disturbance. 

 

Revisions Made to the Development Framework Following Consultation 

 

6.21. Once the draft Development Framework Consultation period had closed, the responses submitted to the 

website were collated and reviewed in detail. This informed the next stage in the production of the 

Development Framework i.e. in producing the ‘final’ version – or Stage 3. The amendments made to the 

Development Framework throughout both the scoping consultation and formal draft consultation are set out 

below in Table 7. 

Table 6 - Schedule of revisions made to Development Framework following consultation responses 

Theme Revisions made to the Development Framework 

Purpose of 
the Document 

A new section was added to page 7 of the Framework which outlines the consultation process that was 

undertaken to prepare the document, as well as clarifying the purpose and remit of the Framework. This 

included noting that the Framework seeks to define broad parameters rather than specify the detailed design 

of specific proposals. Further, it clarified that applications will need to be accompanied by specific supporting 

assessments such as Heritage Impact Assessments where applicable. This responds to some of the 

comments from the consultation such as those from Euro Car Parks that sought flexibility and Historic 

England which stated their concern that heritage hadn’t been properly assessed at the identified opportunity 

sites. 

The Planning Status of the Framework and how it will be used in the determination of planning applications 

within the Framework Area has also been clarified.    

Heritage Both the scoping consultation and draft consultation received numerous comments highlighting the value of 

heritage in the area and the desire for its protection. Public comments also raised concerns about the 

protection of heritage assets in the Framework area such as Sacred Trinity Church. Historic England 

requested at the scoping consultation that the Framework is underpinned by a full understanding of the 

heritage interest and significance of the area to inform the proposals within. Comments from the Greater 

Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) and The Theatre Trust at the scoping consultation 

further stated that heritage is a key theme that the Framework should cover.  

Page 121



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    24 

Therefore, in addition to the above revision which clarified how heritage assessments would still be required 

to support individual planning applications which impact on heritage assets in the Framework area, the final 

Framework was amended to include a standalone Heritage Chapter. This Chapter sets out the significance 

of each of the heritage assets identified within the Chapel Wharf Study Area to provide a appropriate heritage 

baseline context for the rest of the Framework.  

Transport 
 

During the consultation Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) responded requesting that the importance 

of bus routes are recognised as well as the recently installed bus gates on Bridge Street / New Bailey Street. 

They also sought a reference to mobility as a service (MAAS) and the TfGM Transort Strategy 2040. As a 

result the final Framework included a new Figure 11 at Page 6 which depicted bus routes, high quality bus 

corridors,  bus stops and the new bus gates within the Framework area. Further, a new objective was included 

at page 48 which seeks to protect and enhance public transport provision including MAAS . This was intended 

to highlight the importance of the bus network in the Framework area to reflect the visions of the TfGM 

Transport Strategy 2040 to encourage use of the public transport network. 

 

Euro Car Parks responded to the consultation stating that they encourage the redevelopment of the railway 

arches as they will create active frontages that will encourage a mix of day and night time uses in this locality. 

This reference to the ability of the opportunity sites to encourage day and night uses was therefore included 

at page 59. 

  

Planning 
Pipeline 

A new Figure 15 was incorporated into the final Framework which visualises on a map the relevant key 

planning applications that are currently proposed within the Framework area. This accompanies text on page 

29 which points readers to the Savills Planning Policy Baseline review which sets out further details on each 

application. Further, specific applications are cited at page 34 in relation to the potential opportunity sites. 

These amendments were incorporated to respond to a number of public comments and key stakeholder 

comments from Paul Butler Associates which raise that a number of planning applications are ongoing within 

the Framework area. The map clarifies that those ongoing applications and the any pre-application 

discussions relating to them have been considered during the development of the Framework, and the 

adoption of the framework will not stifle the progress of those applications.  

 

Further, as part of the consultation process, Audacious church reinstated their intention to fully develop out 

their site in line with the ongoing planning application. It was requested that the Framework reflected their 

long term aspirations for the site and surrounding areas, therefore reference to these discussions were 

included at page 60.  

 

Opportunity 
Sites 

A number of the public comments identify other opportunity sites within the Framework area that they would 

like to see regenerated. In order to therefore demonstrate that the opportunity sites in the Framework are not 

an exhaustive list, page 34 clarifies that if other proposals are presented to the Council, they will be 

considered and reviewed through the planning process, subject to the appropriate assessments against local 

and national policy.  

Page 122



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    25 

 

Scale and 
Massing 

The scale and massing chapter was amended in the final iteration of the Framework to respond to a number 

of comments from key stakeholder and the public relating to building heights and development parameters.  

 

For instance, some public comments opposed to an intensification of development in the Framework 

including further tall buildings. As a result, the Framework was amended at page 62 to highlight the 

importance of taking advantage of its existing assets location to support sustainable development and the 

most efficient use of the land available. It also provides a rationale to the proposed location of higher density 

development, which addresses less sensitive areas to allow historic features to remain visible and prevent 

overshadowing. 

 

As previously stated, respondents requested that the Framework principles be applied flexibly in regards to 

scale and massing. In order to reinstate the role of the Framework to provide broad parameters of 

development, a new figure 25 building heights principle plan was incorporated at page 64. This map detailed 

broad height ranges in the Framework area and clarified that the scale and massing strategy at figure 26 is 

illustrative rather than prescriptive. 

 

Sustainability Throughout the consultation process, many public comments highlighted the importance of tree planting and 

soft landsaping throughout the Chapel Wharf area. In response, further specific references were made to 

these at page 72 to underline the consideration given them during the development of the Framework. 

Further, reference to sustainable urban drainage and wildlife habitat features was included to respond to the 

importance placed upon them during the consultation process by United Utilities, Natural England and the 

Environment Agency.  

 

6.22. Once all the relevant amendments were made to the final Draft Framework  following consultation, the 

Framework was finalised and subsequently prepared for adoption. 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    26 

 
 
 

 
 

   

 Jay Patel Alex Wylie  

 Director Graduate Planner  

    

 Jay.patel@savills.com Alex.wylie@savlls.com  

    

Page 124



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    27 

 
 
 
 
  

savills.co.uk 

   

   

Appendices  

   

   

Page 125



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    28 

 
  

   

   

Appendix A 
Scoping Consultation Letter Sent to Residents, Statutory 
Consultees and Key Stakeholders, dated 14 April 2021 

 

   

   

 Page 126



 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    29 

 
 

Planning  
Salford City Council, Civic Centre 

Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY  

 

email plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk Web 

www.salford.gov.uk 

14th April 2021 

 
Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework Document 
 
Dear Sir / Madam, 
 
The Chapel Wharf area in City Centre Salford is a key regeneration area for Salford City Council. It covers 

approximately 19 hectares and is bordered by the River Irwell, Blackfriars Road, Trinity Way and New 

Bailey Street (please see attached plans for further detail). The area is home to a mix of established 

commercial, community and residential uses, as well as significant rail and road infrastructure, also the 

River Irwell. 
 
In recent years the wider area has seen a significant amount of investment and development activity. This 

pace of change is set to continue over the next 10 years. 
 
The Chapel Wharf area is now the only part of the City Centre Salford strategic growth area not covered 

by a development framework. The potential of the area is significant, but without a clear vision and strategy 

to guide future development, investment and infrastructure interventions, the full potential of the area will 

not be realised. A framework is now required to ensure Chapel Wharf becomes a successful, well 

connected, and vibrant community, which plays its role in the ongoing transformation of City Centre 

Salford. 
 
In this context, the City Council has now commenced work on a development framework document which 

aligns with the emerging Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations 

document in order to create an inviting, attractive and unified place which enhances the City of Salford’s 

economy. Once adopted by the City Council the new Development Framework will guide development 

and infrastructure schemes in the area for the next 10+ years. 
 
Vision 

 
Chapel Wharf lies at the heart of Central Salford and will be somewhere that invites you to: 

 

 Live sustainably, within easy reach of all the city has to offer in terms of jobs, culture, leisure and 
shopping. 

 Move comfortably through people friendly routes or just spend time in attractive community spaces & 
family play streets. 

 Enjoy exploring characterful buildings and re-invented railway arches full of distinctive uses and local life. 

 Discover a natural aspect through secret gardens, growing spaces, green streets, and riverside walks. 

Page 127

http://www.salford.gov.uk/


 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework   

 

  

   

    30 

Objectives 

 Meeting the needs of a thriving community – cultivate a vibrant mix of uses to help galvanise a 
strong local neighbourhood.  

 Railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse, and more accessible places in their own right. 

 An accessible, high quality riverside environment. 

 Reducing the barrier of Trinity Way between Chapel Wharf and Trinity and 
Blackfriars neighbourhoods.  

 Creating accessible open spaces which provide balance and relief from the urban intensity of 
the area and support community life.  

 Comfortable and balanced streets that create an accessible and connected urban area. 

 Animated and activated streets. 

 A more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes. 

 A diversified working neighbourhood with a variety of employment opportunities, especially 
for local residents.  

 A type of development that reflects human scale and attention to details 

 A neighbourhood adaptive to the impacts of climate change – mitigating flood risk and 
with carbon efficient building forms & response spaces.  

 An advanced neighbourhood that embraces the latest technology to make it future proof. 

 A stronger sense of arrival to Chapel Wharf’s major gateways, increasing the place brand of 
the area and protecting heritage assets. 

 

Comments to inform the preparation of the Development Framework 

 

We would welcome any comments which will assist us in preparing the Development Framework. We 

would welcome responses to the following questions: 
 

1) Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the enclosed plan, which 
establishes the extent of the regeneration area? 

2) Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development Framework is 
aiming to create? 

3) Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area? 
4) What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. traffic, heritage, 

blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to address? 
5) Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development Framework at this stage? 

 

Submission of Comments 

 

All comments should be received by the City Council no later than the 12th May 2021. 
 

Comments may be submitted by any of the following means: 

 

• By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
 By post to: 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework Document consultation 

Spatial Planning 

Salford Civic Centre 

Chorley Road 

Swinton 

M27 5BY 

Page 128

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


 

 

 

    1 

As a Council, we would like to reduce use of paper wherever possible and so support email as a means 

of communication for all who have email access. If you have received this letter by post and do have 

access to email, I would be grateful if you could provide an email address for future correspondence. 
 

Subject to the nature of comments received, we intend to prepare a Draft Development Framework 

Document, which will be subject to formal consultation later this year. 
 

If you have any queries regarding the production of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework Document 

please contact the spatial planning team via plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk or by telephoning 0161 

793 3782. 
 

Data protection 

 

Please note that all comments will be held by Salford City Council and will be available to view publicly. 

Comments cannot be treated as confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and e-mail 

address will not be published, but your name and organisation (if relevant) will. 
 

In responding to this consultation your contact details will automatically be added to the Council’s planning 

policy consultation database. If you do not want to be contacted about future stages of the Chapel Wharf 

Development Framework Document, or other planning policy documents, please let us know in your 

response. 
 

Yours faithfully,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

James Shuttleworth 

Head of Planning 

 

Encs. Proposed Development Framework Boundary Plan 

 

 

  

 Page 129

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


 

 

 

    2 

 

 

Statutory Consultee / Key 
Stakeholder 

• Response 

Campaign for 
Real Ale (CAMRA) 

• CAMRA welcomes the production of this framework and would hope it would help 
to secure the future of the four pubs which lie in this area, namely the Black Lion 
Hotel, the Kings Arms, the Salford Arms and the Rovers Return. These pubs all 
make a valuable contribution to the local area and indeed, Greater Manchester as 
a a whole. CAMRA would hope that any framework would seek to secure and 
enhance their role in the area as this chimes with many of the aspirations you set 
out in your consultation letter, such as sustainable living, access to leisure 
opportunities, animated spaces, community spaces, retention of characterful 
buildings and protection of heritage assets. It would appear that the overall aim of 
the framework is to promote Chapel Wharf as a distinct and strong neighbourhood 
within central Salford and these pubs should play a central role in that. 

 

Paul Butler 
Associates 

• On behalf of my client Colin Shenton of CJS2 Ltd, I write in response to the Chapel 
Wharf Area Development Framework Document that is to be developed for this 
part of City Centre Salford. CSJ2 Ltd have an ownership interest in a site located 
within the framework area. The site is located at Barlows Croft, Salford, M3 5DY 
and is bound by Barlow’s Coft, the 11-storey block of ‘‘The Edge’ apartment 
development, Booth Street and properties fronting Chapel Street (see attached 
plan). 

 

• We are currently engaging with the Council’s planning officers and are looking to 
progress the submission of a planning application in the near future. 

 

• We are therefore very interested to hear of these proposals and very much support 
the principle of the Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework, and its aims of 
providing a clear vision and strategy to guide future development; thereby ensuring 
that the area becomes a successful, well connected, and vibrant community. We 
firmly believe that our client’s proposals will contribute to this vision and act as a 
catalyst for further investment and regeneration in the area. 

 

• In response to the questions asked at this early stage: we agree with the proposed 
red line boundary for the regeneration area; and, we agree with the vision for the 
future of the area and the objectives proposed to achieve this vision, in particular 
the need for a ‘mix’ of modern / high quality homes. We feel that specific reference 

   

   

Appendix B 
Full Schedule of Responses Received to the Vision and 
Objectives 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 130



 

 

 

    3 

should be made to the ‘co-living’ concept which has the potential to respond to and 
support current housing need within the City and provide a valuable contribution to 
the creation of inclusive and sustainable communities. In terms of the key themes 
that should be covered in the framework – and in addition to traffic, heritage, blue-
green infrastructure, we would also add environmental considerations (including air 
quality), biodiversity enhancement and public realm improvements. 

 

• At this stage we have no other comments to make other than that we would 
welcome further engagement on the framework as it is developed, whilst our 
client’s design team would be happy to feed into the framework with our 
development proposals if / when required. We await further news on the framework 
in due course. 

 

GMP Police • Crime and disorder should be a consideration in any proposed development in the 
area, and that as individual projects come forward for planning permission, they 
should require CIS reports, (and this includes any public realm, residential, 
commercial and other non-residential proposals).  

 

• You might also observe that the overall level of crime in the area is above 
average, being close to central Manchester. In terms of impact on operational 
policing, the potential rise in the residential population is likely to increase the 
demand on GMP locally, and emergency access within the area should be 
considered in the proposed layout.  

Environment 
Agency 

 
1) Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the 
enclosed plan, which establishes the extent of the regeneration area?  

• No specific comments  
2) Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development 
Framework is aiming to create?  

• Overall we support the vision that has been identified with particular reference to 
the ‘natural aspect’ for the area. However the Council may wish to consider how 
the vision could be strengthened to support future ambition within the planning 
system to move towards wider biodiversity gains (supported by the Local Plan) 
and that of the 25 Year Environment Plan which ultimately look to gains across the 
whole environment.  

3) Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area?  

• The River Irwell is a key green infrastructure asset that forms part of the 
development framework area. Currently it is heavily canalised and is also failing to 
meet its required objective under the EU Water Framework Directive/ Water 
Environment (WFD) (England and Wales) Regulations (2017). Improving the river 
and its habitat is about more than making it ‘accessible’. Providing overall 
enhancements for the water environment for people and wildlife and ensuring such 
features form a part of future regeneration, will ultimately harness other place 
making priorities such as creating more attractive places leading to inward End 2  

 
investment/land value uplifts, improved health and longer term resilience. Therefore we 
would suggest the following changes (or similar):  

• An accessible, high quality riverside environment.  

• An improved river environment which sees future development positively respond 
to the river corridor providing an overall enhancement and increased access for 
people and wildlife  

 

• For the ‘adaptive neighbourhood’ objective this could be strengthened through the 
inclusion of ‘greening’ of public realm areas and buildings through sustainable 
urban drainage approaches. This is supported by the Local Plan (Policy WA5). 
The Council may even wish considering a specific objective on ensuring good 
quality design includes the incorporation of green infrastructure.  
 

Page 131



 

 

 

    4 

 
4) What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. 
traffic, heritage, blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to 
address?  

• Where there is specific detail for the area, the development framework should 
provide further emphasis for how future development should support the policies 
contained in the Local Plan. It should identify the constraints, opportunities and 
critical assets as part of this approach, and we would encourage the Council to 
consider the following issues (which we recognise may be incorporated under 
higher level overarching themes/merged together):  

- Climate resilience and sustainability  

- Identification of key environmental assets, gateways and future improvements  

- Priorities for public realm and open space areas  

- Landscape and biodiversity  

- Integrated water management (flood risk and water quality)  

- Design  

- Pedestrian/cycle linkages and active travel  

- Opportunities for low carbon generation  
 
5) Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development 
Framework at this stage?  

• No further comments 

Greater 
Manchester 
Archaeological 
Advisory Service 
(GMAAS) 

• Thank you for consulting GMAAS on the preparation of the Chapel Wharf 
Development Framework. This is clearly a key part of the city centre and 
producing a vision and strategy to guide future development as proposed is most 
welcome.  

 

• The rich history and heritage of the Development Framework area provides an 
opportunity to enhance a sense of local distinctiveness amidst future development, 
increasing the ‘place brand’ of the area and ultimately protecting heritage assets. 
Heritage can also make a very positive contribution to high-quality public realm, 
especially when linked to existing heritage strategies, such as those for Greengate 
Square and the proposed Market Cross. The importance of heritage assets is 
enshrined in the Salford Local Plan (Policies HE1-HE6), and forms of one of the 
Strategic Objectives in that document: ‘To deliver high quality development that 
makes a positive contribution to the character, heritage and identity of Salford and 
its neighbourhoods’. 

 

• GMAAS certainly consider heritage to be a key theme that the Development 
Framework should cover, ideally paying consideration to distribution and setting of 
the numerous nationally listed and locally listed historic buildings, with particularly 
important groups along Blackfriars Street and Blackfriars Road. Another important 
group lies along Bloom Street, and it is pleasing to see that the boundary of the 
Development Framework area extends far enough to the west to include these. On 
the question of coverage, I’m pleased to confirm that GMAAS is happy with the 
extent of the regeneration area. 

 

• In addition to the historic built environment, the Development Framework area is 
very likely to retain below-ground remains of archaeological interest. The area 
enclosed within the red-line boundary lies immediately to the south-west of the 
medieval historic core of the city, which was focused along Greengate, Gravel 
Lane and the eastern end of Chapel Street. Salford expanded rapidly across the 
Development Framework area from the mid-18th century, and previous 
archaeological investigations have demonstrated that important below-ground 
remains deriving from the early industrialisation of Salford survive intact. A key 
archaeological site within the Framework area is Chapel Wharf that is being 
developed currently by Dandara, which has been subject to comprehensive 

Page 132



 

 

 

    5 

archaeological investigation. In first instance, during the early 2000s, the 
University of Manchester Archaeological Unit undertook an archaeological desk-
based assessment (reported April 2005), evaluation and open-area excavation 
(reported June 2008) to satisfy a condition attached to the first two phases of the 
Chapel Wharf development. 

 

• These investigations revealed archaeological remains of regional significance. The 
edge of the medieval borough of Salford was shown to be marked by Clowes 
Street. To the east of Clowes Street two medieval burgage plots and their 
boundary ditches were excavated, with the remains of buildings and other features 
dating from the 15th to 19th century being recorded. A large assemblage of finds 
recovered from the excavation included a regionally significant assemblage of 
15th- to 19th- century pottery, charting the development of ceramic typologies 
during this period.  

 

• The excavations also demonstrated that the medieval burgage plots had gradually 
been infilled during the post-medieval period. A set of late 18th-century back-to-
back houses are some of the earliest examples recorded in the area. On the west 
side of Clowes Street there was evidence for medieval plough soils with post-
medieval building development.  

 

• The third phase of the Chapel Wharf development, bounded by Chapel Street, 
Clowes Street and Dearmans Place, was also subject to archaeological 
excavation in 2016. This uncovered further physical evidence for the development 
of the area during the late medieval and post-medieval periods, together with 
significant remains of the Salford Twist Mill, a cotton mill that was erected in the 
late 1790s and was one of the first iron-framed buildings in the world. 

 

• The heritage and archaeology of the Chapel Wharf development site is being 
presented to the public in part via the creation of a heritage ‘garden’ in the land 
immediately behind 96 Chapel Street, on the east side of Clowes Street. This will 
include the permanent installation of a series of five information boards 
commemorating the remarkable history and archaeology of the site and will see 
some of the early structural ironwork salvaged from the demolished remains of the 
Salford Twist Mill incorporated into the public realm. It is hoped that similar means 
of presenting important archaeological discoveries can be adopted for future 
development in the area. 

 

• Another important site is the former Salford Iron Works, situated on the east side 
of Cook Street. Established in the early 1790s by James Bateman and William 
Sherratt, the Salford Iron Works became one of the largest manufacturers of cast-
iron products and stationary steam engines, outselling even Boulton & Watt of 
Birmingham. Their machines powered some of the earliest cotton mills that made 
Manchester the world's first industrial city.  

 

• It is perhaps worth noting that the delivery of future development within the 
Framework area will need to pay heed to the advice available from Historic 
England with respect to Tall Buildings and the Setting of Heritage Assets 
Guidance 

 

• I hope that these comments are of use. 

Highways 
England 

Thank you for your email of 14 April regarding the Chapel Wharf Development Framework. 
 

• Highways England is responsible for operating, maintaining and improving the 
Strategic Road Network (SRN) in England, in accordance with the Licence issued 
by the Secretary of State for Transport (April 2015), and Government policies and 
objectives. As a statutory consultee in the planning system, Highways England 
has a regulatory duty to co-operate. Consequently, we are obliged to give 

Page 133



 

 

 

    6 

consideration to all proposals received and to provide appropriate, timely and 
substantive responses. 

 

• Our desire to be a proactive planning partner goes beyond this statutory role, but 
follows the spirit of the Licence which stipulates that Highways England should 
“support local and national economic growth and regeneration”. We encourage all 
parties promoting and preparing Plans that may have an impact on the SRN to 
engage with us as early as possible, to enable collaborative working and to deliver 
positive outcomes as quickly as possible. 

 

• We are committed to working with local authorities and plan-making bodies prior to 
and between formal consultation periods to contribute to the thinking, and support 
the analysis of options and development of strong plans and proposals that take full 
account of highways issues. 

 
In this instance, we offer the following responses to the questions posed in the consultation 
letter: 
 

1) Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the 
enclosed plan, which establishes the extent of the regeneration area? 
No comment. 

  
2) Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development 

Framework is aiming to create?  
There is an opportunity to capitalise on the urban location with existing and 
enhanced transport infrastructure. 

  
3) Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area?  

There is an opportunity to ensure a sustainable transport network underpins the 
Framework, complementing the objectives relating to an accessible urban area.  

  
4) What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. 

traffic, heritage, blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to 
address?  
Highways England supports the provision of existing and new transport 
infrastructure to a standard which reduces the reliance on car ownership and 
provides viable alternatives to car based travel. Where movements are required by 
car based modes these should consider strategic interfaces, included routing 
strategies for both residents/tenants and the supporting servicing/delivery 
movements which might have origins/destination within the wider City Region and 
beyond. 

  
5) Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development 

Framework at this stage?  
Highways England supports the principle of having an overarching Development 
Framework. Whilst the SRN is peripheral to Chapel Wharf, any changes to road 
hierarchies which may affect the local Key Route Network and ultimately materially 
affect movements adjoining the SRN should be discussed with Highways England. 
  

We welcome the opportunity to review future consultations. Please do not hesitate to contact 
me directly on the email address below if you have any further queries.  

Historic England  
 1) Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the 
enclosed plan, which establishes the extent of the regeneration area?  

• Your letter identifies Chapel Wharf as the only area of City Centre Salford strategic 
growth area currently not covered by a development framework. We are 
supportive of the creation of frameworks, to guide development and enable 
change to be managed in a positive way.  
 

Page 134



 

 

 

    7 

• In terms of our interests, it is positive to see that the environs of the Flat Iron 
conservation area, home to the Grade II * listed Sacred Trinity Church - one of a 
number of designated heritage assets - is included within the proposed red line 
boundary. The wider red line boundary also encompasses many other designated 
and non-designated heritage assets including the high-grade Manchester Tennis 
and Racquet Club and Southern Railway Viaduct (both Grade II*). The latter of 
which - alongside the accompanying Grade II listed Northern and Central Railway 
Viaducts - bisects the whole of the area (broadly east-west).  

 

• The Chapel Wharf area’s wider environs also host many heritage assets. Of 
particular note abutting the Chapel Wharf area’s eastern and southern boundaries 
but on the opposite side of the River Irwell within the City of Manchester lie the 
Cathedral and Parsonage Garden conservation areas. Both host high-grade 
assets: Manchester’s Cathedral (Grade I) and the Hanging Bridge (Scheduled 
Monument); and the Barton Building (Grade II*) respectively. Within Salford a 
short distance beyond the northern boundary is the Collier St former public bath 
(Grade II*) which is identified as ‘at risk’ on the national Heritage at Risk Register 
(last updated 2020), and similarly a short distance to the west is Adelphi & Bexley 
Square conservation area.  

 
2) Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development 
Framework is aiming to create?  

• We would encourage you to bring the area’s heritage to the vision’s fore. We 
suggest that you set out more explicitly the contribution that the historic 
environment - including, for example, infrastructure such as the viaduct - makes to 
Chapel Wharf area’s character and distinctiveness, and the positive role that this 
will play in future place-making.  

 
3) Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area?  
It is important that the Development Framework helps to safeguard those elements that 
contribute to the significance of the heritage assets within the area, to ensure that they can 
be enjoyed by future generations. We welcome reference being made to the area’s 
heritage assets but note that the objectives focus merely on ‘protection’. We feel that the 
historic interest of the area and the role heritage can play in successful place-shaping 
should be brought out more strongly within the objectives, helping create a positive 
strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the area’s heritage.  
 
4) What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. 
traffic, heritage, blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to 
address?  

• The positives of heritage-led regeneration are well recognised. Given the 
prevalence of heritage assets within the Development Framework’s boundary (and 
also its setting), we would encourage you to position the historic environment as a 
central theme of the Development Framework.  

 
5) Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development 
Framework at this stage?  

• We recommend that the Development Framework is underpinned by a full 
understanding of the heritage interest and significance of the area; to inform the 
proposals and help ensure that they are appropriately tested. For example, one of 
the main failings nationally in the location of certain taller buildings has been a lack 
of understanding of the nature of the area around them, and the impact they would 
have on heritage assets and historic character of places; the very things that make 
places distinctive and that people cherish. This could, for example, include work 
such as: statements of heritage significance, conservation area appraisals, 
characterisation, urban design and townscape analysis, 3D modelling, setting and 
view analysis. This would help enable change to be managed in a positive way.  

Page 135



 

 

 

    8 

• We draw your attention to our suite of guidance and advice notes for further 
information <https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/planning-system/> The 
following are of particular relevance to the Development Framework:  

 
• HE Good Practice Advice in Planning 3 - The Setting of Heritage Assets: 
<https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-
heritage-assets/heag180-gpa3-setting-heritage-assets/>  
• HE Advice Note 4 - Tall Buildings (an updated version should be available 
shortly):  
<https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-
note-4/heag037-tall-buildings/>  
• HE Advice Note 12: Statements of Heritage Significance:  
<https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/statements-heritage-
significance-advice-note-12/heag279-statements-heritage-significance/>  
• HE Advice Note 1: Conservation Areas:  
<https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-
appraisal-designation-management-advice-note-1/heag-268-conservation-area-
appraisal-designation-management/>  

• We hope that our comments are helpful and would welcome continued 
involvement in the production of the Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework. 

Manchester and 
Salford Ramblers 

• Thank you for forwarding your consultation document about Chapel Wharf. I reply 
as an individual resident but also declare an interest as Footpath Officer for 
Ramblers Salford.  

 

• I wonder if the Boundary could be extended to the North East to include Gravel 
Lane and Greengate? Forgive me if these areas are already included elsewhere.  

 

• I think the Vision perfect and would not seek to change it. 
 

• Regarding the Objectives, I wonder if there are too many? Whilst they are all, 
separately, very worthy, their sheer number, applied to such a relatively small 
area, may result in none being achieved in sufficient depth to be effective. I think 
some ranking is required. My priorities would be: 

1. An accessible, high quality riverside environment 
2. A neighbourhood adaptive to the impacts of climate change  
3. Accessible open spaces  
4. Railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse 
5. Reducing the barrier of Trinity Way between Chapel Wharf and Trinity and 

Blackfriar neighbourhoods 
6. A more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes 

• I think the overarching Key Themes should prioritise the blue / green 
infrastructure. 
 

• As you will recall, the Salford Trail weaves through this area and I would hope the 
Council will continue to afford this walking route the priority that it deserves in the 
Development Framework. The Trail links adjacent riverside areas and is a great 
resource for the whole population of Salford. What better way of getting to Chapel 
Wharf from Salford Quays downstream and the University campus upstream than 
by the Salford Trail?  

Capita Minerals 
and Waste 

• The proposed development area does not fall within any of the designated 
Minerals or Waste areas, and, as such, the policies within both the Greater 
Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan (2013) (Minerals Plan) and the 
Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plans (2012) (Waste Plan) are not 
necessarily relevant at this stage. That said, we would encourage any 
development within Chapel Wharf to adhere to the Objectives of the Waste Plan in 
particular.  

Page 136



 

 

 

    9 

 

• Any development should also be in line with National Planning Policy for Waste 
(2014), which outlines the Government’s ambition to work towards a more 
sustainable and efficient approach to resource use and management. The NPPW 
also outlines the ways in which positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering 
the country’s waste ambitions. Furthermore, new non-waste development should 
make sufficient provision for waste management and promote good design to 
secure the integration of waste management facilities, including, providing 
adequate storage facilities at residential premises.  
 

• The handling of waste arising from construction and operation of development 
should also maximise reuse/recovery opportunities, and minimise off-site disposal. 

 

Natural England • Natural England advises that with the information currently provided the Chapel 
Wharf Development is unlikely to have major effects on the natural environment, 
but may nonetheless have some effects. This development also provides good 
opportunities for ecological enhancements. We therefore advise you to consider 
the following:  

 
Biodiversity Net Gain  
 

• Biodiversity net gain is a key tool to help nature’s recovery and is also fundamental 
to health and wellbeing as well as creating attractive and sustainable places to live 
and work in. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights the role of 
‘policies and decision making to minimise impacts and provide net gains for 
biodiversity’ (para 170).  
 

• Planning Practice Guidance describes net gain as an ‘approach to development 
that leaves the natural environment in a measurably better state than it was 
beforehand’ and applies to both biodiversity net gain and wider environmental net 
gains. For biodiversity net gain, the Biodiversity Metric 2.0, can be used to 
measure gains and losses to biodiversity resulting from development. We advise 
you to use this metric to implement development plan policies on biodiversity net 
gain. Any action, as a result of development, that creates or enhances habitat 
features can be measured using the metric and as a result count towards 
biodiversity net gain.  

 

• The Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management, along with 
partners, has developed ‘good practice principles’ for biodiversity net gain, which 
can assist plan-making authorities in gathering evidence and developing policy.  

 
Environmental enhancement  
 

• Development provides opportunities to secure net gains for biodiversity and wider 
environmental gains, as outlined in the NPPF (paragraphs 8, 72, 102, 118, 170, 
171, 174 and 175). We advise you to follow the mitigation hierarchy as set out in 
paragraph 175 of the NPPF and firstly consider what Page 2 of 3  

 

• existing environmental features on and around the site can be retained or 
enhanced or what new features could be incorporated into the development 
proposal. Where onsite measures are not possible, you should consider off site 
measures. Opportunities for enhancement might include:  

• Providing a new footpath through the new development to link into existing 
rights of way.  

• Restoring a neglected hedgerow.  

• Creating a new pond as an attractive feature on the site.  

• Planting trees characteristic to the local area to make a positive 
contribution to the local landscape.  

Page 137



 

 

 

    10 

• Using native plants in landscaping schemes for better nectar and seed 
sources for bees and birds.  

• Incorporating swift boxes or bat boxes into the design of new buildings.  

• Designing lighting to encourage wildlife.  

• Adding a green roof to new buildings.  
 

• You could also consider how the proposed development can contribute to the 
wider environment and help implement elements of any Landscape, Green 
Infrastructure or Biodiversity Strategy in place in your area. For example:  

• Links to existing greenspace and/or opportunities to enhance and improve 
access.  

• Identifying opportunities for new greenspace and managing existing (and 
new) public spaces to be more wildlife friendly (e.g. by sowing wild flower 
strips)  

• Planting additional street trees.  

• Identifying any improvements to the existing public right of way network or 
using the opportunity of new development to extend the network to create 
missing links.  

• Restoring neglected environmental features (e.g. coppicing a prominent 
hedge that is in poor condition or clearing away an eyesore).  

 
Access and Recreation  

• Natural England encourages any proposal to incorporate measures to help 
improve people’s access to the natural environment. Measures such as reinstating 
existing footpaths together with the creation of new footpaths and bridleways 
should be considered. Links to other green networks and, where appropriate, 
urban fringe areas should also be explored to help promote the creation of wider 
green infrastructure. Relevant aspects of local authority green infrastructure 
strategies should be delivered where appropriate  
 

Biodiversity duty  

• Your authority has a duty to have regard to conserving biodiversity as part of your 
decision making. Conserving biodiversity can also include restoration or 
enhancement to a population or habitat. Further information is available here.  
 
 

Ecological Networks  

• The proposed development is within an area that Natural England considers 
important as part of a landscape scale network of wetland habitats that act as 
stepping stones for wildlife. As such, Natural England would encourage the 
protection and enhancement of wetland habitats and associated terrestrial habitats 
into this development which can perform a range of functions including improved 
flood risk management, provision of accessible green space, climate change 
adaptation and biodiversity enhancement. We strongly encourage you to share 
this advice with the applicant to maximise opportunities to incorporate green 
infrastructure and biodiversity enhancements during the development of the 
detailed proposal. The development provides opportunities to secure biodiversity 
net gain for nature and local communities, as outlined in paragraphs 9, 109 and 
152 of the NPPF. Reference should be made to the Defra Metric guidance below.  
 

Defra Metric Page 3 of 3  
 

• For the wide range of habitats on this site, Natural England advocates the use of 
the Defra Metric to calculate any potential biodiversity losses and compensation to 
be measured. Please see the following links:  
 

1. https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/biodiversity-offsetting  

Page 138



 

 

 

    11 

2. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/695
31/pb13745-bio-technical-paper.pdf  

3. Should the proposal change, please consult us again. 

Salford 
Community 
Leisure 

• As an organisation involved in the heritage of the City we would like to stress the 
importance to both protect the heritage assets and character of this area but also 
balanced with making it accessible to people too. 
 

• In addition this area of the City has limited access to public library facilities and 
whilst we are exploring opportunities to deliver services from “non library” buildings 
I think this point recognises that there is a community there that do require access 
to public services, and the transformation of the area has (and does) often leave 
these service offers behind. 

 

• If you require any clarification or anything further please don’t hesitate to contact 
me. 

 

Sport England Thank you for giving Sport England the opportunity to provide comments on the above 
Development Framework Document. 
 
There are a number of guidance/strategies that can help inform this Framework: 
 

• Amendments to the NPPF 

• GM Moving Strategy (2017) 
https://www.gmmoving.co.uk/ 

• Sport England Active Design Guidance (2015) 
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-

cost-guidance/active-design 

• Salford Playing Pitch Strategy (2018) 

• Salford Indoor Sport and Leisure Facility Strategy (2015) 

• Updated Sport England strategic planning tools for estimating additional demand 
for sport from new development – Sports Facility Calculator and Playing Pitch 
Calculator 

• Sport England Strategy Uniting The Movement     

• Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
 
With the above strategies in mind I have commented on the Framework questions: 
 
1. Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the enclosed 

plan, which establishes the extent of the regeneration area? 

• No comment on the red line boundary  
 
2. Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development 

Framework is aiming to create? 

• Broadly agree with the overall aim of the vision but would welcome the inclusion of 
"be active" in the sentence ending “riverside walks”.  The importance of access to 
greenspace for activity and good mental health has been highlighted during the 
Covid pandemic.  With indoor and outdoor sports facilities being closed, 
individuals and households have become reliant on access to greenspace nearby 
to carry out their daily exercise. 

 
3. Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area? 

• Broadly yes - would like to see more emphasis around opportunities to be 
physically active within the objectives to support the wider "Support healthy 
lifestyles and improved wellbeing" objectives of other Council, regional and 
national strategies.  This would bring the objectives in line with the GM Moving 
Strategy and Sport England’s Strategy. 

 

Page 139

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/HP9DCJg1UwQGWZfy2H6m?domain=eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/PvSfCLkGh9YxDKH5d5M3?domain=eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/PvSfCLkGh9YxDKH5d5M3?domain=eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/2XBKCMlXt36KyXHN-UsD?domain=eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com


 

 

 

    12 

4. What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. traffic, 
heritage, blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to address? 

• Active design - it's clear there is an overarching objective to promote health and 
wellbeing throughout the objectives and adopting the principles of Active Design 
will help to achieve those objectives. Active Design is a key priority of the GM 
Moving Strategy and is contained within the emerging Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework draft policy GM-E-5.  
 

• https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-
cost-guidance/active-design 

 

• Sport England and BRE Global have worked together to map the individual issues 
and criteria in each BREEAM Scheme with the Active Design principles outlined 
by Sport England. The built environment can have major impacts on people’s 
health and wellbeing, designing the Principles of Active Design into new, emerging 
and established areas of the built environment is becoming increasingly desirable 
at national and local planning levels. BREEAM, HQM and CEEQUAL are schemes 
which can be used to ensure that the high level principles of active design are met 
and implemented where possible during each stage of a projects lifecycle. 

https://www.breeam.com/engage/research-and-development/consultation-
engagement/active-design-and-breeam/ 
 
5. Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development Framework 

at this stage? 

• The increased amount of housing is likely to put pressure on existing sports 
facilities.  Using Salford’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) and Indoor Sport and 
Leisure Facility Strategy (ISFS) as a starting point, an assessment of what the 
additional demand is likely to be and impact on existing facilities is required to help 
inform the Framework. Sport England has developed strategic planning tools 
(Sports Facility Calculator and Playing Pitch Calculator) to help estimate the 
additional demand.  Using the capacity analysis from the PPS and ISFS it will help 
inform whether existing sports facilities have sufficient capacity to accommodate 
the additional growth; improvements are required to increase capacity; or new 
provision required. Sport England will be happy to assist with this assessment. 

 
If you have any queries relating to these comments please contact the undersigned. 
 

Transport for 
Greater 
Manchester 

• I would be keen to ensure we pick up: 
  

- Significant Bee Network infrastructure on Chapel Street - (and wider Salford 
City Bee Network Package) – Active Travel Design Guide considerations? 

- Significant bus accessibility/priority for LSM & other services to access the city 
centre - (that whole new bailey street discussion I’m blissfully ignorant of 
compared to yourself and Jonathan!) 

- Retaining alignment for Metrolink routing on Chapel Street/New Bailey/Other 
options to as Salford aspires to? Maybe one for Martin Lax/Luke Bramwell? 

- An approach to car parking that reflects the themes of CCTS. 
- Density policies that reflect Places for Everyone 

  

• All of this is set within the LIP / 2040 / CCTS Transport Strategy to deliver a 
significant reduction in car traffic within this location over the period to 2040. Given 
where climate emergency declaration is taking us, this could be framed both within 
achieving the Right Mix and delivering upon zero carbon agenda. I also wonder 
whether the upcoming development of S4A has some helpful place/movement 
considerations that could inform the principles?  

 

Page 140

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/ecYuCPoGcX5Y1WU9DpVu?domain=eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/ecYuCPoGcX5Y1WU9DpVu?domain=eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com


 

 

 

    13 

Theatre Trust • The Trust is supportive of a framework being produced to guide development 
proposals in this area. Our responses to the individual consultation questions are 
as follows:  

 
1) Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the 
enclosed plan, which establishes the extent of the regeneration area?  

• We have no objection in principle to the proposed red line boundary  
 

2) Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development 
Framework is aiming to create?  

• Yes. The area is already a place for leisure and culture as demonstrated by the 
presence of valued uses and facilities such as the King’s Arms, which is also a 
designated heritage asset. Railway arches are commonly utilised by arts and 
cultural operators including elsewhere within  

• the Greater Manchester area so could facilitate further activity locally. Sustainable 
development will need to ensure the activities of existing cultural uses are 
protected, mindful of paragraph 182 of the NPPF (2019).  

 
3) Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area?  

• In principle we are supportive of the objectives outlined. As referenced above, 
whilst supportive of diversification the needs of existing positive uses which 
contribute towards the attractiveness and vitality of the area will need to be 
protected and supported.  

 
4) What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. 
traffic, heritage, blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to 
address?  

• We suggest the document should include heritage and culture as key themes, 
including consideration of the ‘Agent of Change’ principle and protection of existing 
uses in line with Local Plan and NPPF policy.  

 
5) Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development 
Framework at this stage?  

• We have no further comments at this stage but look forward to progression of the 
document and continued engagement as it is developed. 

United Utilities • United Utilities has some significant water and wastewater infrastructure within 
framework boundary. Some of the assets also have separate legal easements 
associated to them. All UU assets will need to be afforded due regard in any 
masterplanning process as the location of such assets can impact on the 
deliverability of certain schemes. All our assets must be given due regard as part 
of future development.  

 

• We therefore strongly recommend that the Council directs future developers to 
contact us at their earliest convenience, ideally before any contracts or land 
transactions, and certainly prior to planning application stage, to explore their 
options as early as possible. We cannot stress highly enough the role the Council 
can play in encouraging applicants/developers to contact us early in the 
development process to discuss asset protection, water supply and sustainable 
drainage.  
 

• It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between 
any United Utilities' assets and any proposed development.  

 

• It should highlighted at this stage that during and post construction, there should 
be no additional load bearing capacity on the main without prior agreement from 
United Utilities. This would include any earth movement and the transport and 
position of construction equipment and vehicles. We will need to review any 
proposed designs (including any vibration or settlement calculations) and agree a 

Page 141



 

 

 

    14 

method of work with you prior to any site works starting. It is therefore important 
that the LPA and future developers are aware of the location of our assets at the 
earliest opportunity, to avoid any unnecessary delays to development. Where 
United Utilities’ assets exist, the level of cover to the water mains and public 
sewers must not be compromised either during or after construction.  

 

• A number of providers offer a paid for mapping service including United Utilities. 
To find out how to purchase a sewer and water plan from United Utilities, please 
visit the Property Searches website; https://www.unitedutilities.com/property-
searches/.  

 
Framework Delivery - Surface Water Drainage and Potential Impact on Public 
Sewerage System  

• United Utilities wishes to highlight there will be an expectation for future planning 
applications to demonstrate how the new development is drained in the most 
sustainable way, by applying the surface water hierarchy and providing evidence 
when a more sustainable drainage option is discounted. It is recommended that 
any future draft document acknowledges the requirements of the draft Local Plan 
to ensure co-ordinated development across the multiple phases and parcels within 
the allocated area. We would look for the Council to encourage a pro-active 
approach to new infrastructure, working alongside United Utilities throughout the 
process, to deliver any proposed infrastructure, including multi-functional SuDS, 
whilst ensuring there is communication between phases/neighbouring 
developments so there is sufficient capacity to serve all the development in the 
area and not just for one phase. There are opportunities to link the SuDS 
infrastructure to a connected, green network in the site with multi-functional 
benefits. The proximity of the River Irwell provides an opportunity to secure a 
network that seeks to discharge surface water, and become a more sustainable 
discharge than many of the areas combined sewers. This should be discussed 
alongside those who act as the Council’s Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). It is 
important to secure such linkage the sustainable options for the discharge of 
surface water must be identified throughout each parcel/phase within the 
framework boundary to outline a strategy to work to as proposals come forward. 
We wish to challenge the Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework to include 
sufficient detailing on the necessary linkage between green and blue infrastructure 
to encourage such holistic considerations.  

 

• Further to the above, the framework can create clear linkage to a number of Local 
Plan policies which UU is in support of, including Policy CC1 (Climate Change), 
Policy WA5 (Sustainable Drainage) and Policy EF2 (Coordinated development). 
The challenge for the Council now is to introduce a commitment in the framework 
to the supported policies in the Local Plan and we would welcome further 
discussions.  

 

• As has been highlighted in previous responses to Salford Council, we strongly 
recommend the framework is underpinned by an infrastructure delivery strategy 
that considers connecting parcels and the surrounding, connecting proposals 
between new and existing holistically. It is appreciated this may not be the aim of 
the document to do this, but it would be important for any development document 
like this to refer to an infrastructure strategy that underpins the requirements for 
future applicants involved in the future proposals to secure the most sustainable 
delivery and avoid any delays to new infrastructure.  

 
Summary  

• Moving forward, we respectfully request that the Council continues to consult with 
United Utilities for all future planning documents. We are keen to continue working 
in partnership with Salford Council to ensure that all new growth can be delivered 
sustainably.  
 

Page 142



 

 

 

    15 

• In the meantime, if you have any queries or would like to discuss this 
representation, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Vodafone • Please accept this email as confirmation that Vodafone: Fixed does have 
apparatus within the vicinity of your proposed works detailed below. 
 

• Please note that according to our records there is leased and/or third party 
network within your proposed works. However, because the plant is leased/third 
party we strongly recommend you contact all other utility providers to gather the 
extent of services within that area. Unfortunately, we are unable to advise who the 
plant is leased to or who the third party is. 

  

Page 143



 

 

 

    16 

  

   

   

Appendix C 
Questions Posed within the Draft Development Framework 
Online Consultation 

 

   

   

 Page 144



 

 

 

    17 

Section Question 

The Vision 1. Do you think applying the proposed uses as part of the 15 minute Neighbourhood principle within Salford city 
centre would help those who live, work and visit the area?  Yes / No 
2. What aspect of the vision is most important to you? 

• Re-invented open space 

• Improved walking/cycling routes 

• Characterful buildings 

• Community and leisure provision 

• Living within easy reach of services 

• Other 
3. What types of uses would you like to see more of in Chapel Wharf? 

• Gyms 

• Bars/restauraunts 

• Cultural facilities 

• Shops 

• Offices 

• Residential 

• Other 
4. What other comments do you have about our proposed Vision?  
5. What is your overall impression of the Vision for Chapel Wharf?  

Development 
Opportunities 

1. Potential Opportunity Sites - Do you agree that the identified sites provide an opportunity for full or partial 
redevelopment? 
Yes/No 
2. Potential Opportunity Sites - Do you have any ideas about other potential opportunity sites for redevelopment 
within the framework area that would help deliver the vision? 
3. Scale and massing - Do you think the proposed building heights and scales will allow Salford to grow in a way that 
suits the needs of people who live, work and visit here? 
Yes/No 
Please select... 
4. Scale and massing - What are the important issues for you regarding building heights and scale? 

• Architecture 

• Heritage assets 

• Sunlight 

• Views 

• Other 
5. Scale and massing - Do you have any more comments on the building scale and massing plans? 
6. Catalyst Project - Which of the proposed changes to the railway viaducts is most important to you? 

• Pedestrianised spill out spaces 

• A new Brew Yard for food and drinks 

• Arch spaces used for exhibitions and music 

• The ‘Arch way’ to allow a walkway 

• Other 
7. Catalyst Project - What age group do you believe would benefit from more provisions within the Railway Arches? 
Children, 16-25, 25-40, 40-65, 65+ 
8. Catalyst Project - What types of uses would you like to see as part of the Railway Arches? 

• Pop-up shops 

• Restaurants 

• Bars 

• Offices 

• Gyms 

• Live shows 

• Art installations 

• Events 

• Other 
9. Are there any other ways we could make better use of the existing Railway Arches? 
10. What is your overall impression of the Development Opportunities, Development Scale and Catalyst Project for 
Chapel Wharf? 

Page 145



 

 

 

    18 

Movement and 
Active Travel 
Framework 

1. Do you think applying the proposed uses as part of the 15 minute Neighbourhood principle within Salford city 
centre would help those who live, work and visit the area?  Yes/ No 

2. What aspect of the vision is most important to you? 

• Re-invented open space 

• Improved walking/cycling routes 

• Characterful buildings 

• Community and leisure provision 

• Living within easy reach of services 

• Other 
3. What types of uses would you like to see more of in Chapel Wharf? 

• Gyms 

• Bars/restauraunts 

• Cultural facilities 

• Shops 

• Offices 

• Residential 

• Other 
4. What other comments do you have about our proposed Vision?  
5. What is your overall impression of the Vision for Chapel Wharf?  

Public Realm 
Strategy 

1. Do you think applying the proposed uses as part of the 15 minute Neighbourhood principle within Salford city 
centre would help those who live, work and visit the area?  Yes/ No 

2. What aspect of the vision is most important to you? 

• Re-invented open space 

• Improved walking/cycling routes 

• Characterful buildings 

• Community and leisure provision 

• Living within easy reach of services 

• Other 
3. What types of uses would you like to see more of in Chapel Wharf? 

• Gyms 

• Bars/restauraunts 

• Cultural facilities 

• Shops 

• Offices 

• Residential 

• Other 
4. What other comments do you have about our proposed Vision?  
5. What is your overall impression of the Vision for Chapel Wharf?  

Draft 
Development 
Framework 

1. Development Framework - Do you feel the proposals within the Draft Development Framework will improve the 
Chapel Wharf area for those who live, work and visit? Yes/ No 

2. Development Framework - Which changes are the most important to you? 

• Redevelopment of existing buildings 

• Improved walking and cycling functions 

• New riverside walking links 

• Reuse of railway arches 

• Other 
3. Development Framework - Do you have any other comments about the Draft Development Framework? 
4. Land use - Do think applying the proposed land uses would help those who live, work and visit the area? Yes/ No 
5. Land use - Do you have any other comments about the land use plans? 
6. What is your overall impression of the draft Development Framework and proposed land use strategy for Chapel 

Wharf? 

 

Page 146



 

 

 

    19 

 

  

   

   

Appendix D 
Draft Development Framework Consultation Letter Sent to 
Residents / Statutory Consultees and Key Stakeholders, 
dated 13 September 2021 

 

   

   

Page 147



 

 

 

    20 

Planning 
Salford City Council, Civic Centre 
Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 

 

email plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 

Web www.salford.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13 September 2021 

 

1.0 Chapel Wharf Area Draft Development Framework Public Consultation 

 

Dear Sir / Madam, 

 

Further to my letter of 14 April 2021 advising that the City Council had commenced work on a 

development framework document for Chapel Wharf, I am pleased to advise you that a draft of 

the document has now been completed. 

 

Public consultation on the draft framework will take place between Monday 13 September and 

Sunday 24 October 2021 and can be viewed on the Commonplace website over this period at: 

 

https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/ 
 

As previously explained, the Chapel Wharf area in City Centre Salford is a key regeneration area for 

Salford City Council. It covers approximately 19 hectares and is bordered by the River Irwell, 

Blackfriars Road, Trinity Way and New Bailey Street (please see attached plan for further detail). The 

area is home to a mix of established commercial, community and residential uses, as well as 

significant rail and road infrastructure, also the River Irwell. 

 

In recent years the wider area has seen a significant amount of investment and development 

activity. This pace of change is set to continue over the next 10 years. 

 

The Chapel Wharf area is now the only part of the City Centre Salford strategic growth area not 

covered by a development framework. The potential of the area is significant, but without a clear vision 

and strategy to guide future development, investment and infrastructure interventions, the full 

potential of the area will not be realised. A framework has therefore been developed to ensure that 

Chapel Wharf becomes a successful, well connected, and vibrant community, which plays its role in 

the ongoing transformation of City Centre Salford. 

 

In this context, the draft development framework document aligns with the emerging Salford Local 

Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations document in order to create an inviting, 

attractive and unified place which enhances the City of Salford’s economy. Once adopted by the City 

Council the new Development Framework will guide development and infrastructure schemes in the 

area for the next 10+ years. 

 

Page 148

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/
https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/


 

 

 

    21 

We would welcome any comments you may have to assist the City Council in finalising the 

Development Framework.  

Submission of Comments 

 

All comments should be received by the City Council no later than Sunday 24th October 2021. 

 

We are encouraging comments to be submitted through the Commonplace website 

at: https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/ 
 

However, you can also submit comments by any of the following means: 

 

• By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

• By post to: 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework Document 

consultation Spatial Planning 

Salford Civic 

Centre Chorley 

Road Swinton 

M27 5BY 

 

As a Council, we would like to reduce use of paper wherever possible and so support the 

Commonplace website approach or email as a means of communication for all who have access. If 

you have received this letter by post and do have access to email, I would be grateful if you could 

provide an email address for future correspondence. 

 

Subject to the nature of comments received, we intend to finalise the Chapel Wharf 

Development Framework Document, towards the end of this year. 

 

If you have any queries regarding viewing the Chapel Wharf Draft Development Framework Document 

please contact the spatial planning team via plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk or by telephoning 

0161 793 3782. 

 

Data Protection 

 

Please note that all comments will be held by Salford City Council and will be available to view publicly. 

Comments cannot be treated as confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and e-

mail address will not be published, but your name and organisation (if relevant) will. 

 

In responding to this consultation your contact details will automatically be added to the Council’s 

planning policy consultation database. If you do not want to be contacted about future stages of 

the Chapel Wharf Development Framework Document, or other planning policy documents, please 

let us know in your response. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 

Page 149

https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


 

 

 

    22 

 

 

James 

Shuttleworth Head 

of Planning 

 

Encs. Proposed Development Framework Boundary Plan 

  

 Page 150



 

 

 

    23 

 

  

   

   

Appendix E 
Full Schedule of Responses to the Draft Development 
Framework from Statutory Consultees and Key 
Stakeholders 

 

   

   

 Page 151



 

 

 

    24 

Statutory Consultee / Key 
Stakeholder 

Response 

Euro Car Parks (ECP)  • The Chapel Wharf Development Framework intends to provide a vision for the future of the area over 
the next 20 years. Once adopted it will become a material consideration in the determination of any 
future planning application in the area. If the full potential of the area is to be realised it is important 
the Development Framework reflects the aspirations of the community and landowners within the 
area. 

• ECP control the surface car park at Browncross Street (‘the Site’) located within the Chapel Wharf 
Area. A plan showing the location of the Site is included at Appendix 1. 

• The Site is identified as an opportunity site within the Development Framework capable of hosting 
two residential or office buildings of up to 20 storeys. ECP support the Site being identified as being 
suitable for development. However, the Development Framework is too prescriptive in its 
expectations for the layout, height and massing for development on the Site. In addition, we consider 
the Site would be better suited to residential development with ground floor commercial uses. 

• Our comments to the Development Framework are provided in this context and we set out our 
responses to the relevant questions in the following sections below. ECP would be delighted to 
discuss our responses in further detail with the Council should this be deemed necessary. 

• Do you think applying the proposed uses as part of the 15-minute Neighbourhood principle within 
Salford city centre would help those who live, work and visit the area? 

• Yes, the 15 minute neighbourhood principles will help to create a sustainable community where 
people can live, work and have access to amenities and open space without the need to travel by 
private car. These principles are essential for urban living and align with the principles established 
through the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

• What aspect of the vision is most important to you? 

• It is important Chapel Wharf takes advantage of its existing assets and physical location to create a 
place where people can live sustainably. The Development Framework should also seek to achieve 
densities that make the most efficient use of land available in the locality. 

• What types of uses would you like to see more of in Chapel Wharf? 

• ECP would like to see a balanced mix of residential, retail, cultural and office uses in Chapel Wharf. 
What other comments do you have about our proposed Vision? 

• ECP support the reinvention of the railway arches to provide new uses and spaces that will meet the 
needs of those living within Chapel Wharf. Residential development should be located close new 
amenities as well as local transport hubs, such as Salford Central Station, to ensure the Council’s 
ambitions for a 15 minute neighbourhood can be fully realised. ECP’s Site is located next to railway 
arches and Railway Station and would be suitable to accommodate residential development. 
What is your overall impression of the Vision for Chapel Wharf? 
Potential Opportunity Sites - Do you agree that the identified sites provide an opportunity for full or 
partial redevelopment? 

• ECP support the identification of their site at Browncross Street as an opportunity site (no. 3) in the 
Development Framework. 

• The Site is positioned at a key gateway to the city and Chapel Wharf. It has the potential to provide a 
high quality development set within attractive surroundings that will not only improve the 
appearance of this area but provide a sustainable place to live and facilitates active frontages onto 
the railway arches that will encourage a mix of day and night time uses in this locality. As such, given 
its prominent location within Chapel Wharf, the development of the Site for a flagship scheme is 
encouraged. 

• Scale and massing - Do you think the proposed building heights and scales will allow Salford to grow 
in a way that suits the needs of people who live, work and visit here? 

• Yes. High density development is encouraged in city centre locations and the heights and scale of 
development proposed would not be out of character with the surrounding area. This scale of 
development would also make the most efficient use of land, maximising the development potential 
of Chapel Wharf and ensuring the vision for the area is realised. 
Scale and massing - What are the important issues for you regarding building heights and scale? 

• The most important issues for ECP when designing any future development on their Site are 
architecture and its relationship with surrounding buildings. 

• Scale and massing - Do you have any more comments on the building scale and massing plans? 

• ECP support the principle of high-density development of up to 20 storeys on their Site. This would 
make the most efficient use of land in a highly sustainable city centre location next to a key transport 
hub and major employment/leisure areas such as New Bailey and Spinningfields. The increase in 
height in this location will also serve as a wayfinder tool across the city for both Salford Central 

Page 152



 

 

 

    25 

Railway Station, the new commercial and leisure spaces under the railway arches and down to the 
riverside waterfront. 

• Notwithstanding this, the Proposed Building Heights Plan at Figure 24 and the Scale and Massing 
Strategy at Figure 25 of the Development Framework are too prescriptive in dictating the layout, 
height and massing of buildings on opportunity sites. More flexibility is required so developers can 
adapt to changing market conditions. This is particularly important in the context of the Framework 
having a 20 year timeframe. In addition, this flexibility ensures architects can apply creativity when 
designing the layout and massing of the buildings. 

• Like the Greengate Regeneration Strategy, we propose a baseline strategy is adopted for the layout, 
scale, and massing of development on opportunity sites. This should show each opportunity site as a 
single development block and rather than dictate heights by stories it should set out where low and 
medium rise development would be acceptable. In addition, a plan showing where additional height 
could be incorporated should be included.  

• Again, heights should not be dictated by the number of stories to ensure the Development 
Framework can be applied flexibly. 

• Catalyst Project - Which of the proposed changes to the railway viaducts is most important to you? 

• To improve connectivity across the area it is important that the pedestrian and cycle routes next to 
the railway arches, particularly to the north of Browncross Street, are safe and attractive for all users. 
A mix of daytime and night time uses should be encouraged along this route to ensure it provides a 
safe route for users at all times of days.  

• ECP support the proposals for their Site to provide an active frontage onto the railway arches. This 
has the potential to act as a catalyst to attract other uses to this part of the Chapel Wharf. 

• Catalyst Project - What age group do you believe would benefit from more provisions within the 
Railway Arches? 

• To create a balanced neighbourhood and to encourage social interaction between people who might 
not otherwise come into contact the railway arches should seek to cater for a mix of ages. 

• Catalyst Project - What types of uses would you like to see as part of the Railway Arches? 

• Uses that activate and animate this space and give Chapel Wharf its own identify. 

• Movement Framework - Do you support the proposals to enhance pedestrian, cycle and sustainable 
public transport routes? 

• Yes. It is important that the Development Framework facilitates sustainable connections not only to 
other parts of Salford but to Manchester where many people who live in this area will shop and work. 
The proposals for a landmark building on ECP’s Site will facilitate improvements to important routes 
from Chapel Street to Salford Central Railway Station and Manchester City Centre along Browncross 
Street, Quay Street and the viaduct making them more attractive to pedestrians and cyclists. 
However, it is important that these routes also retain an element of parking for residents and 
servicing. 

• Movement Framework - What other comments or suggestions do you have relating to the movement 
framework? 

• We note that Browncross Street and Quay Street are identified as ‘People Streets’ in the 
Development Framework. These are described as serving residential areas which are important areas 
of space that support local residential life and activities. As detailed below, this aligns with ECP’s 
aspiration for the Site to be developed for residential development and we are supportive of this 
approach. 

• Notwithstanding this, ECP are concerned that preventing access at certain times of day could cause 
problems in relation to local access for servicing and residents parking. For these reasons, markets 
and community uses should take places in pedestrianised zones to avoid any conflicts. This is typically 
the case in other towns and cities and given the proposed enhancements to the railway arches there 
is no reason why these residential routes should be restricted. 

• Further to our comments above in relation to the scale and massing, the layout for ECP’s site should 
be shown as a single development block to ensure the Development Framework provide flexibility 
when it is applied. As such, the ‘People Street’ between the two buildings should be removed as it is 
not known at this stage how many buildings will be built on the Site and whether this route will be 
required. 

• What is your overall impression of the Movement Framework and Catalyst Project for Chapel Wharf 
Draft Development Framework - Which changes are the most important to you? 

• As detailed above, it is important that the Development Framework makes the best and most 
efficient use of land to ensure it achieves its vision to create a sustainable 15 minute neighbourhood. 
It is, therefore, essential that the Development Framework identifies key opportunities sites, such as 
ECP’s Site at Browncross Street, that are capable of delivering meaningful change and will ultimately 
act as a catalyst for the regeneration of existing assets in the area such as the railway arches. 

Page 153



 

 

 

    26 

• Development Framework - Do you have any other comments about the Draft Development 
Framework? 
25. Figure 20 identifies ECP’s Site as a re-development site with the opportunity for a landmark 
building. ECP is fully supportive of this aspiration for the Site. However, as set out above, the ‘People 
Street’ between the two buildings should be removed. It is not yet known how many buildings will be 
built on the Site and whether this route will be required. In addition, there is no evidence that the 
existing offices to the south of the Site will be redeveloped under the Development Framework. As 
such, ECP should not be required to provide this route if it is not going to provide a connection to 
anywhere. 

• Finally, the proposals for enhanced parking at point 12 along Quay Street is at odds with the ‘People 
Street’ principle shown in Figure 27 and the ‘Sustainable streets with enhanced pedestrian, cycle and 
environmental function’ principle in Figure 20. Whilst promoting sustainable modes of travel is 
important we consider parking should also be provided along these routes to meet the needs of 
residents. This needs to be clarified in the Development Framework. 

• Land use - Do you have any other comments about the land use plans? 

• Figure 23 identifies the Site as falling within an area for office-led development with some residential 
included. The supporting text states that this area is focussed mainly around New Bailey and will 
accommodate a variety of office accommodation. Some ground floor convenience retail, leisure or 
hotel uses could be located here to support the existing and future office accommodation. The 
supporting text also identifies some opportunities for residential development in these areas if 
demand supports their delivery. 

• We acknowledge that the Development Framework provides some flexibility in allowing different 
uses to come forward on the Site. However, ECP consider the Site would be better suited to a 
residential development with ground floor commercial uses. The Site is in a highly sustainable 
location next to a key transport hub and employment areas. Although it is located next to New Bailey 
the surrounding area comprises a mix of uses, including residential development directly to the west 
and south-east. As such, a residential use on the Site would not be out of character for the area. 

• The Development Framework aspires to improve the attractiveness of Browncross Street and Quay 
Street as key routes through Chapel Wharf towards the river and Salford Central Railway Station. The 
regeneration of the railway arches to the north of the Site is also a key component of the vision for 
the area. The Site is currently surrounded by office buildings to the south and east and during the 
evening Browncross Street and Quay Street are quiet unattractive routes for pedestrians and cyclists. 
As such, a residential use on the Site would help animate and provide natural surveillance in this area 
when the offices are closed, and the ground floor commercial uses would provide an active frontage 
that would animate and encourage the reinvention of the railway arches. 

• A residential use on the Site would also be more aligned with the aspirations of the Development 
Framework which identifies the adjacent streets as ‘People Streets’ and aligns with the growth of 
housing in the surrounding area in this part of the City Centre. 

• For these reasons, the Site should be redesignated for residential use in Figure 23 of the 
Development Framework. In line with our comments above, the plot should also be shown as a single 
development block. ECP would be delighted to discuss the Site further with the Council should this be 
considered necessary. 

GMP Police • Crime and disorder should be a consideration in any proposed development in the area, and that as 
individual projects come forward for planning permission, they should require CIS reports, (and this 
includes any public realm, residential, commercial and other non-residential proposals). 

• You might also observe that the overall level of crime in the area is above average, being close to 
central Manchester. In terms of impact on operational policing, the potential rise in the residential 
population is likely to increase the demand on GMP locally, and emergency access within the area 
should be considered in the proposed layout. 

Historic England • In terms of our interests, the Chapel Wharf area contains a series of isolated clusters of heritage 
assets - including the Flat Iron conservation area - that represent all that is left of this once heavily 
developed industrialised area of the city that was subject to mass demolition with some 
redevelopment in the last century. Trinity Way and the River Irwell define the area’s northern and 
southern boundaries, with the listed railway viaducts a key feature, bisecting the whole of Chapel 
Wharf in a north-east/south-west direction. 

• Historic England generally welcome the creation of documents such as the Chapel Wharf 
Development Framework. Such documents can help to guide development and enable change to be 
managed in a positive way. 

• We acknowledge that the Chapel Wharf area has the potential to accommodate change; and are 
supportive in principle of many of the ideas outlined within the document. We particularly welcome 
the retention and sympathetic repurposing of underutilised heritage assets such as the listed 

Page 154



 

 

 

    27 

viaducts, enhancement of their significance and putting them to viable use consistent with their 
conservation. Proposals will need to be informed by a full understanding of the significance of the 
heritage assets and their setting. This approach will allow the assets to adapt to the proposed use in a 
way that keeps their heritage value intact. 

• Notwithstanding, we do have concerns that the document identifies opportunities for redevelopment 
(including indicating the positioning of new landmark buildings), and sets out development criteria 
such as heights, scale and massing for these sites/ new buildings, without proper assessment to 
inform this, despite its potential to have a significant effect on the historic environment. We strongly 
recommend that the Development Framework’s revised contents are underpinned by comprehensive 
Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA). 

• One of the main failings nationally in the location of certain taller buildings, for example, has been a 
lack of understanding of the nature of the area around them, and the impact they would have on 
heritage assets and historic character of places; the very things that make places distinctive and that 
people cherish. Using Heritage Impact Assessment to inform plans can help to ensure that those 
elements that contribute to the significance of the area’s heritage assets and their setting are 
safeguarded, so that they can be enjoyed by future generations. An understanding of significance can 
also aid the development of positive plans that help enhance and better reveal the significance of 
heritage assets. 
In view of the isolated nature of the small groups of heritage assets within the Chapel Wharf area and 
also their proximity to areas identified for redevelopment, we also seek to ensure that any 
redevelopment does not render assets redundant through, for example, impacting on their functional 
setting. 

Manchester Airport 
Group 

• Thank you for consulting and inviting comments from Manchester Airport’s Group (MAG) on the 
Draft Development  framework for Chapel Wharf. Our principal interest in the Development 
Framework relates to Manchester Airport’s aerodrome safeguarding requirements and the need to 
protect the safe and efficient operation of aircraft when considering certain characteristics of 
development. 

• Legislative provisions regarding the aerodrome safeguarding process are set out in ODPM/DfT  
Circular 1/2003 – Safeguarding Aerodrome, Technical Sites and Military Explosives Storage Areas. In 
accordance with this Circular, Manchester Airport is a statutory consultee for certain planning 
applications for developments that require safeguarding to protect the Airport’s 
operation. Safeguarding maps (which are held by the LPA) show the extent of the safeguarded area 
and set out the requirements for statutory consultation with us. 

• Chapel Wharf lies within Manchester Airport’s safeguarded area and consideration should therefore 
be made to whether development within the area causes: an obstacle; an attraction to birds; light or 
reflection that might present a visual hazard; interference with radar and other air navigation and 
communication systems and whether the construction process will present any hazard to aircraft 
safety. 

• When considering the type, scale and design of any development within the Chapel Wharf Study 
Area, we therefore recommend that consideration of the relevant aerodrome safeguarding criteria, 
consultation procedures, and any potential impacts on aircraft safety are addressed. This will 
principally relate to the height of buildings, the incorporation of any renewable energy technologies 
such as wind and solar energy schemes, and the installation of any animation programmes such as 
lightworks. 

• We endorse the value of promoting early engagement with stakeholders and would therefore 
welcome any pre-application consultation to discuss the implications of proposals as they take shape. 

• Thank you again for providing us with the opportunity to comment on the Chapel Wharf Draft 
Development Framework. We hope that our comments have been useful but please do not hesitate 
to contact us if you have any queries or wish to discuss any of the points made in more detail. 

Natural England • Thank you for your consultation on the above dated and received by Natural England 13 September 
2021 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the 
natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future 
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development. 

• Our remit includes protected sites and landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity, soils, protected species, 
landscape character, green infrastructure and access to and enjoyment of nature. 
We have reviewed the Chapel Wharf Development Framework SEA/SA Screening Statement (Salford 
City Council, September 2021). 

• Natural England advises that we agree with the conclusion of the Screening Statement, that the 
Chapel Wharf Development Framework is unlikely to have significant environmental effects and will 
be a non-statutory planning document, therefore a SEA/SA will not be required. 

Page 155



 

 

 

    28 

• We have no further comments to make. 

Paul Butler 
Associates (on behalf 
of CJS2) 

• We initially provided a response to the Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework Document in 
May 2021. 

• It was confirmed that our client, Colin Shenton of CJS2 Ltd, has an ownership interest in a site located 
within the framework area.  

• The site is located on Land at Barlow’s Croft and Booth Street, Salford, M3 5DY and is bound by 
Barlow’s Croft, the 11-storey block of ‘The Edge’ apartment development, Booth Street and 
properties fronting Chapel Street (see attached plan). 
As confirmed in our initial response, we are very interested to hear of these proposals and very much 
support the principle of the Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework, and its aims of providing a 
clear vision and strategy to guide future development; thereby ensuring that the area becomes a 
successful, well connected, and vibrant community. We firmly believe that our client’s proposals will 
contribute to this vision and act as a catalyst for further investment and 
regeneration in the area. 

• Our client’s site is identified as an ‘Opportunity Site’ (No.6) within the Framework, and is identified 
for redevelopment with a 4-8 storey building. We appreciate that at this stage the height and scale of 
development identified for this site is very much indicative, and an appropriate form of development 
will need to be justified as part of a planning application submission. 
That said, it is important to highlight that during the last 12 months our client and his design team 
have been progressing a redevelopment scheme for this site in consultation with the Council’s 
planning and regeneration officers. The proposals relate to a co-living apartment scheme with 
associated resident’s amenity space and co-working space. A formal pre-application enquiry has been 
submitted to the Council, with 2 rounds of consultation being undertaken and the proposals 
developed in response to the comments received. We are now in the process of progressing a 
planning application for the site. 

• The proposals for the site comprise a part 14 storey / part 7 storey building, with the tallest section of 
the building positioned to the rear of the site and adjacent to ‘The Edge’ apartment block, and 
stepping down to 7 storeys on that part of the site closest to Chapel Street. Within the pre-
application response from the Council it has been confirmed that the height / massing / form of the 
development is commensurate with that of neighbouring buildings and sits comfortably within 
the surrounding environment. 

• Although the height and scale of the proposed building will require further assessment as part of the 
planning application submission (i.e. through a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment and 
Heritage Assessment), it is considered that the height / scale / form of the development is 
appropriate and will not have a detrimental impact on the townscape. 

• We also note that the Framework identifies a layout for a building that comprises a T-shape, with 2 
squares of green space adjacent to Barlow’s Croft. Again, we appreciate that this layout of built form 
is indicative, however we think it is important to highlight that the proposals that have been 
developed for the site include a building that is positioned back of pavement to both Booth Street 
and Barlow’s Croft. Not only does this ensure that the built form respects the historical character 
of the area, but it also ensures that the development will provide passive surveillance benefits to 
these streets and encourage activity and vibrancy. 

• A significant level of work has been undertaken by the client and his design team to develop a 
scheme that relates to its context, whilst further assessment will be undertaken as part of a planning 
application submission. We would therefore request that the height of the proposed scheme (at 7 – 
14 storeys) and its layout on the site, is considered when developing the Chapel Wharf Area 
Development Framework. 
At this stage we have no other comments to make other than that we would welcome further 
engagement on the framework as it is developed, whilst our client’s design team would be happy to 
feed into the framework with our development proposals if / when required. 
We await further news on the framework in due course. 

United Utilities • United Utilities has some significant water and wastewater infrastructure within framework 
boundary. Some of these assets also have separate legal easements associated to them. All UU assets 
will need to be afforded due regard in any masterplanning process as the location of such assets can 
impact on the deliverability of certain schemes. All our assets must be given due regard as part of 
future development. 

• We therefore strongly recommend that the Council directs future developers to contact us at their 
earliest convenience, ideally before any contracts or land transactions, and certainly prior to planning 
application stage, to explore their options as early as possible. We cannot stress highly enough the 
role the Council can play in encouraging applicants/developers to contact us early in the 

Page 156



 

 

 

    29 

development process to discuss asset protection, water supply and sustainable drainage. 
It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any United Utilities' 
assets and any proposed development. 

• It should highlighted at this stage that during and post construction, there should be no additional 
load bearing capacity on the main without prior agreement from United Utilities. This would include 
any earth movement and the transport and position of construction equipment and vehicles. We will 
need to review any proposed designs (including any vibration or settlement calculations) and agree a 
method of work with you prior to any site works starting. It is therefore important that developers 
are aware of the location of our assets at the earliest opportunity, to avoid any unnecessary delays to 
development. Where United Utilities’ assets exist, the level of cover to the water mains and public 
sewers must not be compromised either during or after construction. 

• A number of providers offer a paid for mapping service including United Utilities. To find out how to 
purchase a sewer and water plan from United Utilities, please visit the Property Searches website; 
https://www.unitedutilities.com/property-searches/. 

• Framework Delivery - Surface Water Drainage and Potential Impact on Public Sewerage System 
United Utilities welcomes the approach in the document with regards to green and blue 
infrastructure. There is reference to inclusion of SuDS throughout the document and this is noted and 
welcomed by United Utilities. There is an opportunity to use the framework to create a connected 
green and blue water environment utilises the promotion of SuDS next to the River Irwell and use this 
opportunity to sustainably discharge of surface water. If thoroughly assessed, a connected green blue 
infrastructure network can direct resulting surface water towards the River Irwell which can be used 
as a final point of discharge for resulting surface water. 

• Our previous responses to the LPA have highlighted it is important to secure such linkage between 
development site so the sustainable options for the discharge of surface water are available as 
proposals come forward. We wish to challenge the Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework to 
include sufficient detailing on the necessary linkage between green and blue infrastructure to 
encourage such holistic considerations. 

• In connection to the above, we suggest the following text to be added to the framework at the 
Council’s discretion: 
‘New development will be expected to incorporate exemplary sustainable drainage methods and 
follow the surface water hierarchy. Applicants will have to submit clear evidence of why more 
sustainable options within the hierarchy have been discounted. The expectation will be for only foul 
flows to communicate with the public sewer. 
Development proposing new public realm should allocate provision for the management of surface 
water through the use of sustainable drainage systems with multi-functional benefits as part of a high 
quality, connected green and blue water environment. 

• New development should ensure unfettered access for new sustainable drainage infrastructure 
through a connected series of green and blue infrastructure. New green and blue features must 
consider the topography of the site to understand how development sites will link and account for 
any naturally occurring flow paths or low lying areas within the boundary where water will naturally 
accumulate.’ 

• We feel there is opportunity to reinforce the provision in supporting Local Plan policies, including 
Policy CC1 (Climate Change), Policy WA5 (Sustainable Drainage) and Policy EF2 (Coordinated 
development). We wish for direct reference surface water management in the framework so 
opportunities are not missed. 
Water Efficiency 

• Maintaining and improving water quality and the treatment of water and wastewater in the face of 
growth, changing environmental legislation and climate change pressures will be an ongoing 
challenge for the development industry over the coming years. As our customers’ expectations 
change, there is likely to be greater demand from customers for environmental improvements which 
is likely to be reflected in increased environmental standards over time. 
It is important that United Utilities maintains the ability to flexibly respond to environmental and 
growth drivers both now and in the future. Future development within the region will need to be 
managed to enhance the environmental quality of the immediate area and manage the effects of 
climate change. United Utilities would seek to encourage the use of systems like rainwater harvesting 
and grey water recycling that help to reduce pressure on public water supply and the public sewerage 
system. Additional benefits result in a reduced environmental impact by making sure that valuable 
resources are used efficiently, at time reducing the costs associated with improving local water 
infrastructure for a new development as they require less mains water. Additional benefit is that such 
measures will reduce future occupants' costs for water bills. 

Page 157

https://www.unitedutilities.com/property-searches/


 

 

 

    30 

• We would recommend the below paragraph to the document to ensure water efficiency measures 
are fully considered in the design of new development. We suggest the following text to be added to 
the framework at the Council’s discretion: 
‘The design of new development should consider the inclusion of water efficiency measures in the 
development of new buildings. New development can become more resilient to climate change by 
encouraging water efficiency measures including water saving and recycling measures to minimise 
water usage.’ 
Co-ordinated Infrastructure Provision 

• As has been highlighted in our previous responses to Salford Council, we strongly recommend the 
framework is underpinned by an infrastructure delivery strategy that considers connecting parcels 
and the surrounding, connecting proposals between new and existing holistically. It is appreciated 
this is not the aim of the document to do this, but it would be important for any development 
document like this to refer to an infrastructure strategy that underpins the requirements of future 
applicants involved in the future proposals to secure the most sustainable delivery and avoid any 
delays to new infrastructure. We are happy to discuss this point further and share our experiences 
from similar schemes across our region. 

• The proposed growth needs to be carefully planned to ensure new infrastructure provision does not 
cause any unexpected delays to development delivery. The full detail of the development proposals 
are not yet known. For example, the exact detail of the drainage proposals or the water supply 
requirements. As a result it is important that we highlight that in the absence of such detail, we 
cannot fully conclude the impact on our infrastructure over a number of 5 year investment periods 
and therefore as more detail becomes available, it may be necessary to co-ordinate the timing for the 
delivery of development with the timing for delivery of infrastructure. 

• Once more information is available with respect to specific development sites in the framework, 
which is often only at the planning application stage, we will be able to better understand the 
potential impacts of development on infrastructure and, as a result, it may be necessary to 
coordinate the delivery of development with the timing for the delivery of infrastructure 
improvements. We recommend that you include a development management policy in your draft 
plan to this effect. Our recommended policy addition is below. 

• There will be a requirement co-ordinate the delivery of future development with timing for the 
delivery of infrastructure improvements. 

Vodafone • Confirmation that Vodafone has apparatus in the area and advises that we have a qualified objection 
to 
the order unless you, or your applicant, provides WS Atkins with written assurances, quoting our 
reference above, as to the safeguarding of Vodafone apparatus and the reimbursement of costs for 
any works necessary. As-built records showing our apparatus are enclosed 
Vodafone’s apparatus is to remain in the stopped-up area we shall also require an undertaking 
that the applicant will grant a wayleave agreement to Vodafone on terms and conditions acceptable 
to 
Vodafone and the reimbursement of our (WS Atkins’) costs associated with the negotiation of the 
said 
wayleave. A copy of Vodafone’s standard stopping-up wayleave proforma is available on request. 

• Transport 
for Greater 
Manchester 

• Thank you for giving Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) the opportunity to respond to the 
consultation on the above document.  As stated in the document the Chapel Wharf area is currently 
the only part of Salford’s city centre not covered by a strategic development framework and the 
Chapel Wharf Development Framework will provide a single integrated plan for the strategic 
redevelopment of the area. It sets out a clear vision, deliverable strategy and development principles 
for the area to guide growth and to help deliver the transformational change that is required.  TfGM 
is supportive of this approach, in particular the establishment of movement and public realm 
strategies that take a place based approach and are fully integrated with the identified opportunity 
sites.   

• Chapel Wharf is a key area of Salford city centre which also acts as a key entrance point into the 
wider city centre from the North-West. The area is home to many residential developments and has 
seen a lot of inward investment over the last ten years. It is encouraging to see that regeneration and 
development in the area is continuing and that Salford City Council are adopting a pro-active 
approach to ensure that existing communities can thrive and new investment opportunities are 
maximised to ensure that the Chapel Wharf area can achieve its full potential.   

• The Chapel Wharf Development Framework correctly recognises the role that transport can play in 
regeneration and place making. It identifies a number of new local transport infrastructure 
improvements planned for the area including the Mayors Challenge Fund investment and additional 
platforms planned for Salford Central Station.  However, the Development Framework also 

Page 158



 

 

 

    31 

recognises that further investment in improving the transport infrastructure in the Chapel Wharf area 
is required to create a people focused sustainable neighbourhood of lasting quality. 

• TfGM is largely supportive of the proposals within the Chapel Wharf Development Framework in 
particular the movement and place approach to defining street typologies, the development of 15 
minute neighbourhood principles and the focus on measures to encourage and prioritise walking, 
cycling and the use of public transport. These proposals align with the GM Transport Strategy 2040 
and associated 5 Year Delivery Plan.  A key part of the GM Transport Strategy 2040 is the concept of 
“Right Mix”.  This establishes an objective of zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in Greater 
Manchester between 2017 and 2040.  Meeting this target would require non-car mode share across 
Greater Manchester to increase from 39% of trips in 2017 to 50% of trips in 2040. Within this target 
there is scope for some traffic to increase in some locations, but this must be balanced by 
significantly reduced traffic elsewhere.  As outlined in the GM City Centre Transport Strategy, 
published in March 2021, in which our aim is for 90% of morning peak trips into the city centre to be 
made on foot, by cycle or public transport before 2040. 

• Achieving the Right Mix objective will require support through land-use and transport policies, 
changes in individual travel behaviours and preferences, transformational cycling policies and 
measures, and continuing improvements to public transport.  The Chapel Wharf area has great 
potential to contribute to achieving the Right Mix target and the GM City Centre Transport Strategy 
ambitions.  It has many of the key requirements in place; increased development densities and the 
approach to mixed use development aligned to the 15 minute neighbourhood principles represent a 
further positive contribution. However further investment in sustainable travel and constraint of 
private car use is required. The types of measures set out in the Development Framework notably on 
place making, such as wholesale improvement of the public realm, reducing the dominance of the 
car, removing barriers to movement on foot and by cycling, and improving active travel links, are 
therefore welcome.  

• In order to set the Chapel Wharf Development Framework in a transport policy context it would be 
helpful if the document made reference to GM Transport Strategy 2040, the Right Mix and the City 
Centre Transport Strategy ambitions.  It should also be noted that the Salford Local Implementation 
Plan (LIP) sets out Salford’s transport priorities for the next five years. It complements the GM-level 
transport interventions in the 5 Year Delivery Plan by focusing particularly on more local, 
neighbourhood and town-level priorities for delivery in the period to 2025.  

• TfGM has worked closely with Salford City Council and other local authorities across Greater 
Manchester on developing the Streets for All approach to the GM road network. Streets for All seeks 
to put people first as we design and manage our streets. It provides a framework for considering the 
needs of everyone who uses the streets – whether they are travelling through, stopping by or 
spending time there – and encourages street design which enables individuals and businesses to 
switch to walking, cycling and public transport wherever possible.  The emerging GM Street for All 
Strategy has developed street typologies and requirements. We are also developing Streets for All 
design guidance. Applying a Streets for All approach to the Chapel Wharf area would appear 
beneficial and would assist in the delivery of the place-based objectives set out in the Development 
Framework. It may be useful to consider how the movement and place approach to street typologies 
set out in the Development Framework could be aligned with the GM Streets for All Strategy and 
design guidance. We would suggest that reference is made to Streets for All in the document.   

• The Chapel Wharf area is very well served by bus with frequent services connecting the city centre to 
many areas in the west of Greater Manchester.  However, we recognise that unreliability of services 
(whether actual or perceived) does serve to undermine confidence in this network.  TfGM is currently 
working with operators and local authorities to implement measures across Greater Manchester to 
reduce impediments to bus and remove or mitigate points of delay on the network, both through roll 
out of corridor-based Quality Bus Transit and more local interventions.  It is also important that in 
bringing forward changes to the local road network or streetscape in the Chapel Wharf area, the 
importance of bus is recognised and steps are taken to ensure that design reflects the needs of buses 
and bus passengers and actively seeks to improve on the existing bus priority.  Bus priority is 
important given the number of bus services, some of which are running cross-city and bus priority is 
particularly important for cross-city services given the need to maintain journey time reliability across 
the city. This need should be reflected in the Chapel Wharf Development Framework. One of the 
proposed objectives should be to protect and enhance public transport. Buses are key to bringing 
people to / from the Chapel Wharf area and the wider city centre yet currently the Development 
Framework does not include any proposals to assist buses or bus priority. There is no reference to the 
recently installed bus gate on Chapel Street, just north of Victoria Bridge Street.  This has removed 
some general traffic from the area and provides priority for buses. There is also no reference to the 
proposed outbound bus gate on Bridge Street / New Bailey Street.  This is one of Greater 

Page 159



 

 

 

    32 

Manchester’s biggest delay points for buses during the PM peak.  TfGM would also like to see 
improvements to bus waiting environments as part of the general improvements to the public realm. 

• The Development Framework rightly identifies the need to reduce the existing physical barriers to 
movement such as the main roads, as well as personal safety and security issues, in order to 
encourage active travel.  This will require a large investment in the walking and cycling network 
across the Chapel Wharf area and beyond, including new and improved crossings.  It is therefore 
essential that the regeneration of the area is co-ordinated with the continuing development of the 
Bee Network and the delivery of measures through initiatives such as the Mayors Cycling and Walking 
Challenge Fund (MCF). Any measures should be designed in accordance with LTN 1/20 Cycle 
Infrastructure Design standards and the current GM Interim Active Travel Guidance (or those in the 
Streets for All Design Guide when that is launched). 

• TfGM welcome the focus on maximising active travel opportunities utilising routes through the 
existing and proposed green and blue infrastructure, such the Irwell River Park area. Again, care 
needs to be taken to ensure these routes are designed in accordance with current standards, form an 
integral part of the wider Bee Network, and are supported by secure cycle parking at key locations.  
Active frontages and continuous passive surveillance from development is not always possible along 
the entirety of such routes, but these routes will need to be designed to be as safe as possible in 
order to encourage their use. 

• Alongside encouraging more walking, cycling and the use of public transport it will be important to 
also restrain the use of private cars in the Chapel Wharf area to achieve the GM City Centre Transport 
Strategy ambitions. It is unclear how the Development Framework will contribute to this, other than 
the re-allocation of existing carriageway space to more sustainable modes. The provision of car 
parking within the area will have a significant role to play in the number of private car journeys. 
Chapel Wharf’s city centre location provides an excellent opportunity to promote car free 
development for both residential and commercial development which the Development Framework 
should highlight. TfGM would welcome the development of a parking strategy for the Development 
Framework, which should address issues of location, existing supply and demand, how this may 
change in future years, parking provision for new development (including cycle parking), EV charging 
infrastructure requirements, opportunities for promoting EV car clubs, and car parking pricing policy.  
Encouraging the transition to electric vehicles for residents, businesses and visitors through the 
provision of EV charging infrastructure will also help in the decarbonisation of transport and 
improvement in local air quality within the area and more generally across Greater Manchester. 

• The area around Salford Central Station offers a favourable location for the potential development of 
TfGM’s Travel Hub concept in the future.  Whilst there is currently no specific committed funding 
identified for the development of a Travel Hub at Salford Central in the next 5 years, it would still be 
worthwhile to consider in the longer term, what type of facilities it may be possible and appropriate 
to deliver in this location and also how these could be funded (potentially through Section 106 
contributions). 

• There are a number of other areas relating to the movement of both people and goods where it is 
suggested that the Development Framework could be improved. 

• The Development Framework needs to consider the role of taxis or private hire vehicles within the 
area.  These will be important to the area, particularly if the leisure and evening economies are to be 
further developed.  It is important that the needs of these transport sectors with respect to access 
and parking / waiting areas, are reflected in the Development Framework. 

• The Development Framework should also consider issues relating to future transport technologies 
and new forms of transport. TfGM would welcome an approach which builds on the proposed Bike 
Hire scheme as part of the Bee Network or the current e-scooter trial within Salford. TfGM would be 
keen to understand whether Salford City Council believe there could be a positive impact from these 
schemes on Chapel Wharf and how potential rollout of these schemes could contribute to the City 
Centre Transport Strategy and Right Mix targets going forward.  The Development Framework should 
also reference Mobility as a Service (MaaS).  MaaS seeks to meet the need for mobility through a 
wide range of transport services for both people and goods, offering tailor-made transport on 
demand via the most appropriate means, be it public transport, taxi, car rental, ride/car/bike-sharing, 
or other MaaS-type opportunities which could be developed. 

• There appears to be no reference in the Development Framework to delivery and servicing activity to 
premises within the Development Framework area.  Careful consideration should be given to the 
requirements of businesses in the area to ensure their requirements can be accommodated, 
especially if changes are made to vehicular access.  There may be opportunities through 
consolidation, promotion of sustainable delivery methods (e.g. cargo bikes) and/or re-timing of such 
activity to further support the objectives of the Development Framework. 

 

Page 160



 

 

 

    33 

 

 

  

   

   

Appendix F 
Public Comment Data from the Multiple Choice Questions 
Posed within the Online Consultation on the Draft 
Development Framework 

 

   

   

Page 161



 

 

 

    34 

  

 Page 162



 

 

 

    35 

  

Page 163



 

 

 

    36 

  

Page 164



 

 

 

    37 

  

Page 165



 

 

 

    38 

  

Page 166



 

 

 

    39 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

   

Appendix G 
Full Schedule of Public Responses to the Open Questions 
within the Online Consultation on the Draft Development 
Framework 

 

   

   

 Page 167



 

 

 

    40 

The Vision - What 

other comments 

do you have about 

our proposed 

Vision?  

• New cycling routes being developed recently are STILL not "quality"- I often avoid 

as they are so unsuitable. Meanwhile great cycle routes (along the Irwell) are 

blocked off or going back to nature 

• More trees along Chapel Street - but with some consistency, it not ok having 6 

trees within 2 metres in front of a building and then no trees in the next 40 metres. 

• A warmer lighting system (like the one around the Sacred Trinity Church), enough 

of h"  

• Terrific stuff - make it happen! Needs to have firm development principles that 

insist developers curate independent operators - especially on any council owned 

plots. Hard to control via planning but need to have a strategy to mean that less 

'ordinary' retail/leisure used are promoted.  Less consumerism and overpriced 

junk  

• Opening up some of the Railway arch spaces would be great and also the 

riverside could be more accessible.  

• Publicly accessible green spaces even if they are only small can be really 

positive. Also information such as plaques or boards that contribute to a sense of 

place. Locals need somewhere where its possible to be outside in a reasonably 

quiet and safe surrounding with proper green space not just a tree in a planter.  

• Encourage wildlife with wild areas not just regimented council borders that look a 

little pretty but are no environmental help  

• I honestly don't understand these plans. Looking at the 'opportunities' on your 

maps, you appear to either be ruining existing buildings - the Kings Head pub for 

example on Bloom Street, or building on every small area of land that currently 

has plants (next to Trinity Way), or a wide pavement (on Chapel Street, across 

from the Lowry Hotel).  

• Limit the traffic on Chaple St area and make it greener, cleaner and more 

pedestrian friendly.  

• Personally I would love to see some of this area pedestrianised, it would create 

more space for these shops, restaurants, cycles paths and other things more 

important than a dual carriageway. 

• I don't want to see more 7 story car parks here. 

• Concerned that too many bars etc would make it noisy to live near, but would 

definitely from one or two nice restaurants/bars. I’m all for the development, as 

long as they aren’t bland office blocks and residential towers. Little shops, bars, 

restaurants and public spaces would all be a fantastic addition to the area. There 

need to be rented homes that are secure tenancy.  I bought my home in Sillavan 

Way because it was a quiet place. I wouldn't have any close bar or leisure space 

under any circumstance,  

• The council would really help the residents of the Bridge, Dearmans place if they 

compulsory purchased Worsley street, access at rear to the Bridge,  and the front 

access via Dearmans place from the freeholder.  

• There are currently drug users and anti-social behaviour incidents outside the 

front entrance to the Bridge, in the area that you propose as a green space. What 

measures will be taken to ensure this does not encourage further anti-social 

behaviour and drug taking.   

• Please ensure that there is sufficient disabled parking and access parking for 

tradespeople working  at the Bridge. This is a small ( in comparison to all the 

surrounding development) residential development, and is currently enclosed by 

taller buildings now on three sides.  

Page 168



 

 

 

    41 

• Great! I would like to see less spaces for cars to park, as now I can hardly walk on 

pavements without having to go into the street as cars are parked on the 

pavements.   

• I am concerned that this will gentrify the area further and raise the already high 

rent prices in this area   

• There are a lot of positives for the community such as walking and cycling routes, 

but it involves building even more high rise blocks. Across Blackfriars the area is 

already becoming over developed with buildings being constructed very close 

together. There has been a lot of development in Salford, but as the buildings go 

up there seems to have been no thought given to open spaces and parks. There 

was a nice open area in the New Bailey development but that has now been taken 

over by the building of offices for BT. I am now starting to feel more and more 

"hemmed in". Many cities in the world have areas that are given to parks and are 

a relief to all the tall buildings. If we do not have open spaces then people with 

families will start to move out of the city. The area near the Deva centre is perfect 

to develop as an open space for recreation. 

Potential 

Opportunity Sites 

- Do you have any 

ideas about other 

potential 

opportunity sites 

for redevelopment 

within the 

framework area 

that would help 

deliver the vision? 

(Development 

Opportunities) 

• Increased density should be allowed in exchange for greater design quality and 

developer contribution to improving the public realm (i.e. improved street lighting, 

replace netting on bridge across Blackfriars, affordable housing/rent). 

• One of the larger sites should have to plan for including social infrastructure 

including GP/dentist IF demand or future aspirations for the area can be 

understood. 

• I do not want another tall building on site 11. There is desperate need for green 

space not another block of 9-12 story flats. There is also an old building beside it 

which I suspect is listed so it would look terrible beside this.  

• I do not agree with site 11- it is beside an old building that is probably listed. 

• We do not need another block of flats in the small area, we need green space. 

• Cafes and creative arts spaces, would be great. Some independent green 

grocers, butchers and food stalls would be amazing too. It doesn't seem 

appropriate to label "opportunity sites" when these are in active use by 

businesses.  This creates huge uncertainty for firms and may stifle investment by 

local companies.  Unless the council owns the site it is needless to do, achieves 

little and does more harm than good.  

• Blackfriar's Road is horrendous: it is dangerous, it is constantly dirty and full of 

waste and it is congested. The cycle line is entirely unrespected by vehicles. 

Page 169



 

 

 

    42 

These plans will make it more so, without improving any of these problems for 

pedestrians and cyclists.  

• I have to take issue at least with site 9, site 9 is about to be developed into a 7 

story car park to fund the Audacious church so there will be no opportunity there 

unless you plan to move along a large and seated church. There is potential to 

interject here as they have planning but do not start development until mid-2022 

• Other sites at a glance look like good opportunities. 

• No Setting up a community cycle shop to progress the cycling plans of the area.   

Site 14 is a telephone exchange and can't be touched until openreach/bt have 

decommissioned the building, note it's also have the pumps outflow for guardian 

nuclear bunker telephone exchange. 

Site 9 would benefit to new housing needs. 

• I believe this is an opportunity to develop a recreational space for the people who 

live nearby considering the amount of development that is already in place or has 

been recently completed. I can't see the need for further development of high 

rises. If it had to be housing development I believe houses would be better to 

encourage families and a more diverse population in the city. 

Scale and 

massing - Do you 

have any more 

comments on the 

building scale and 

massing plans?  

(Development 

Opportunities) 

• Should areas like the Diva be taller and can other 'lower' rise sites be denser?  Do 

not want more tall buildings in the area. 

• The area does not need more tall blocks of flats. 

• Green space is the biggest issue. 

• Denser is better, but if it's just more condos for the rich it's useless It's important 

to enhance the historical assets such as Sacred Trinity Church  

• The heights of the buildings should be in line with the historic buildings that are 

already there. The quality of the architecture and the final finish is important too. I 

feel that the Atelier development further down Chapel St is such a wasted 

opportunity with it's plain and boring design. It's a shame that something like that 

replaced the historic buildings that were demolished. Think of something more 

interesting for Chapel Wharf. There have been several poorly designed schemes 

in this area which have already been detrimental to existing listed building, views 

and settings. We've had strategies in the past for parts of this area but when it 

came to planning applications, the council has opened ignored and said the 

strategies were not legally binding.  Is this going to be any different? Local 

residents do not need multi-storey car parks. I can see some in your chapel vaults 

artwork. Please do not do this, I can only beg you. 

• There should be a maximum height of new building max 7 floors to make rapid 

evacuation form buildings possible quickly in case of fire.  

• There are too many high rise blocks. There are currently several blocks going up 

on the other side of Blackfriars. There is also a new development on Chapel 

Street behind the Station. We need areas for all these people to spend time in the 

open air not building on every available space. The nice square on New Bailey 

has been taken away by the BT building. 

Should areas like the Diva be taller and can other 'lower' rise sites be denser?  

Page 170



 

 

 

    43 

Development 

Opportunities - 

Are there any 

other ways we 

could make better 

use of the existing 

Railway Arches?  

• No // Green space/parks  cheap coworking spaces? maybe a library or a gallery 

or a coffee shop Some could simply be opened up a a route through such as has 

happened very nicely from Gore Street Grocery, butchers, cheese and food 

market stalls This sends very mixed signals.  The council actively promoted (and 

spend money on) the demolition of unused railway arches in neighbouring 

Greengate, arguing that there were intimidating and unpleasant to walk through. 

Maintenance of the highways and lighting under other arches also continues to be 

poor.  If the council can't maintain and doesn't like existing railways arches, what 

will it's commitment be to these? Why not allow the existing businesses to 

continue to function in them rather than making them 'destinations' for a transient 

young population that will not sustain these sites? "At a glance, my assumption is 

that this is aimed very much at young adults. I can see this becoming successful 

music venues and bars but that is definitely not what I want as my neighbours. 

• Even though I almost fit this demographic we already battle a lot protecting quiet 

hours with residents, breach of contract airbnbs and construction work starting 

early. Any gesture that these would be somewhat protected would be wonderful. 

• I would like to see some space dedicated to children, parents and cyclists in this 

area." I’d love to see local shops, perhaps a bakery, deli, farm shop etc in this 

space. The regeneration with bars, pubs, restaurants etc are all welcome to me as 

a local homeowner. Reduce the rent to affordable prices 

No 

Movement 

Framework - What 

other comments 

or suggestions do 

you have relating 

to the movement 

framework?  

• Better lighting will help improve movement through area  

• You are not clear with what you define as a bike path(e.g. Chapel St. is marked as 

one but it's been just renovated (near the chapel) and there's zero provisions for 

bikes which really makes no sense as there's plenty of space there). A bus lane is 

not a bike lane. a sidewalk is not a bike lane. A bike lane is a bike lane. What 

does type5. walking& cycling links mean?  

• Often for commuting shorter bike path is preferable to longer quieter one, so 

moving the bike paths behind trees is not always a good idea. Although in this 

case it seems like it's close enough where it wouldn't be a problem. 

• The 30mph speed limit on Trinity Way could be better enforced and everywhere 

else ought to be 20mph. Street clutter, including abandoned Lime Scooters should 

be reduced.   

• Make sure e-scooters are included in cycling routes  

• Make sure that there a lot of new bins in the area as even the best looking street 

can be spoilt by litter. Unfortunately, this is a big problem in Salford at the 

moment.  

• The council has just consulted on a walking and cycling strategy for this area and 

had a further consultation on the City Centre Transport Strategy, so is this 

something new (in a matter of just a few month) or just repeating what's already 

been decided? Movement along Trinity Way for pedestrians and cyclists, is just as 

important as movement across.  There are no cycle facilities along Trinity Way 

and the pavement is blocked in areas by large advertising hoardings - addressing 

these issues was rejected by those leading on the recent travel consultation. The 

cycle routes should follow Irwell River Park - why don't they?  Why is New Bridge 

Street not used? The vast majority of journeys will be for people passing through 

here into Manchester City Centre but this link seems vague e.g. what happens to 

cyclists using Blackfriars Road when they get to Manchester?  

• My concern is that this nice area alongside the road will become the route drunk 

partygoers take on the way home. Are the red shapes umbrellas or restaurant 

seating, because again I would seek some assurance that this is an area where 

Page 171



 

 

 

    44 

current construction sites cause us much distress waking us up at late hours and 

early in the morning. If you can offer all this then I love it 

• Just please make sure the cycleway is coloured RED and has clear priority over 

all side roads. This includes continuous footways and cycleways. Look at 

Waltham Forest Lea Bridge road for inspiration.  

• Ensure the objectives in the GM Moving in Action Strategy are fully integrated by 

liaising with the GM Moving Team. If it was easier and more pleasant to walk and 

there were more green spaces people, especially families would want to live here. 

The pandemic has taught us people appreciate green spaces and somewhere 

nice to walk, hence why people are moving out of cities. 

Catalyst Project - 

Do you have any 

other comments 

about the 

proposals for 

Trinity Gate Way?   

• Tree planting and softening via landscaping is good.  

• It would be nice if the bike paths didn't randomly stop and start. 

• More opportunities to cross this busy road and more trees are needed along the 

whole section of Trinity way in the city centre to make it more pedestrian friendly.  

• The new Trinity Way/Chapel St junction is a wasted opportunity as there's no 

pedestrian crossing on the western side of Chapel St by the New Harvest church/ 

St Stephen St. Nice ideas but the council has repeatedly stated it doesn't have the 

ability to maintain landscaping, as proposed.  Large sums were spent on 

landscaping not far from hear and on tree planters, but all have either died or 

been removed to save cost.  Keep landscaping simple and easily maintained.  

• I love this, personally, I would like reduced traffic on this road in any form. Late at 

night people race through here, and burst through red lights. 

• Again, Audacious church have just got application to turn all of this area into a 7 

story car park so I would seek to purchase that land asap :) 

• More of this please. Lets make Salford as cycle-able as Amsterdam. 

Catalyst Project - 

Can you think of 

other ways we 

could improve the 

Flat Iron Square 

proposals?  

• The signal timings are terrible and would benefit from re-planning again there are 

no bike paths on the drawings you provided... I understand that the bridge is 

supposed to be mostly pedestrian, but you could at least have a path leading up 

to it and some bike racks on the spot. Personally, I feel safer on normal roads 

than on bus only roads, busses are the most dangerous vehicles for me and it's 

not due to speed limit or that the road is pawed vs cobbles, it's because bus is 

huge, loud, and literally has to stop in front of me when there is a bus stop and I 

have to go around it.  

• The lighting scheme on the church could be renewed.  

Page 172



 

 

 

    45 

• Important to have bike hire available but reduce the street clutter that randomly 

abandoned scooters create.  

• Important to ensure that traffic signs are in the carriageway not on the pavement.  

• Seems a rehash of previous strategies - anything new? "I have seen very few 

areas converted to encourage restaurant spill out that have worked well. Firstly, 

we live in Salford so for 8 months of the year I wouldn't dream of sitting outside. 

• Secondly, around this area, there are often lots of roadworks, and drop off 

vehicles. I encourage space to be made for these, otherwise, cycle lanes are 

abused anyway."  

• Make sure the junction is a CYCLOPS.  

• The signal timings are terrible and would benefit from re-planning. 

Development 

Framework - Do 

you have any 

other comments 

about the Draft 

Development 

Framework?  

• Co living should be limited to a small number of identified sites. It had a place in 

the residential ecosystem but should be limited.  

• I feel like there should be more lane reducing and car removing done. 

• More bins are needed to prevent littering in the area.  

• I see the two areas marked off as ""cultural"" simply refer to the Audacious 

Church and the Sacred Trinity Church. Sacred Trinity is Salford’s first church, and 

really works for the community. 

• The Audacious Church has a planning application to develop a 7 story for profit 

car park, going against all this green agenda, and improved public transport, 

pedestrian access and cycle links. I suggest you remark this land or do something 

relatively quickly about its potential misuse. There are now 4 multi-story car parks 

within a 5 minute walk from this location all developed in the last 5 years. 

• I worry that the construction will be long and that the noise will be very disruptive 

for current residents (as it is around the flats being built behind spectrum) Still too 

many buildings and not enough park and open space in the plans.  

• We have identified that Opportunity Site 1 (Bloom Street Car Park) is the 

neighbouring site to the Kings Arms pub and theatre.  As a valued social and 

cultural facility it is essential that new development is compatible and will not 

result in conflict with the existing pub on the grounds of noise and disturbance.  As 

such the framework should only ensure that new development is designed so that 

there are sufficient acoustic mitigations to prevent the Kings Arms being 

undermined by future restrictions.   

 

Page 173



 

 

 

    46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

Appendix H 
Demographics of the Public Respondents to the Draft 
Development Framework 

 

   

   

Page 174



 

 

 

    47 

 

 Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) 

Title of proposal: Chapel Wharf Development Framework 

Service Group/ Team: Regeneration 

Date of assessment: March 2022 

Lead CIA Officer: Perry Twigg 

Officers in Assessment Team: Perry Twigg, Matthew Townsend, Matt Doherty  

Review date: March 2022 

 

The findings of your CIA MUST be included within the report for decision and this document 
attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact on communities. 

Summary of Community Impact Assessment 

Brief summary of proposal or what you are impact assessing  

The City Council, working with Partners, is preparing a Development Framework which once 
endorsed will help guide development in the Chapel Wharf area. The overarching purpose of 
this Development Framework is to establish a clear vision, objectives and set of development 
principles that will catalyse the delivery of transformational change over the next 20 years, 
securing a range of long-lasting economic, social and environmental benefits across the 
Framework area and adjoining communities. It has been prepared in the context of Salford’s 
adopted ‘Saved’ Unitary Development Plan (UDP), emerging Local Plan and wider 
regeneration initiatives. 

How did you approach the CIA and what did you find? 

Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will have positive community 
impacts, helping to secure the long-term regeneration of the area to the benefit of local 
residents and businesses. Comprehensive consultation has been undertaken in respect of 
the Draft Framework which has helped shaped the key priorities for the area. The City 
Council has sought to make this process as inclusive as possible. In light of the COVID-19 
pandemic restrictions in place at the time, a virtual public consultation process was 
undertaken as well as wider engagement with the local ward councillors for Blackfriars and 
Trinity and the East Salford community committee.   

What are the main areas requiring further attention? 

There is not considered to be any requirement for further attention. 

Summary of recommendations for improvement 

Not applicable. 

Page 177



2 
 

1. The proposal 

This section should outline details of the proposal. This could include (where 
applicable) 

• Description of the current service (policy, procedure, strategy, function) 

• Explanation of the proposal 

• Reason for the proposal 

• Aim or purpose of the proposal 

• Who should benefit from the proposal 

• Who are the key stakeholders 

• What outcomes are required from the proposal 

• Details of other services on which the proposal could impact  

• Social value considerations 

Proposals for development within the Development Framework area, captured by the red line boundary, 
are currently guided by the ‘saved’ UDP policies and the emerging Salford Local Plan policies. Following 
endorsement by the Council, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will guide development across the 
Framework area over the next 20 years and will form a material consideration in the determination of all 
future planning applications. 

The Development Framework will not form part of the adopted Development Plan. However, it has been 
prepared having full regard to relevant legislation, national planning policy contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021), ‘saved’ policies of the Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004-
2016 (UDP) (2006), Places for Everyone Publication plan (PfE) (2021), and emerging policies within the “A 
Fairer City” Publication Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies (SLP:DMP) (2020) as 
amended by the 2021 Addendum. 

The City Council undertook a scoping consultation on the Vision & Objectives for the Development 
Framework between 16th April - 14th May 2021.  This took the form of a Scoping Letter and was issued to 
approximately 6,000 addresses including those within the red line area and the immediate surrounding area 
(approximately 150m around the boundary on all sides). Comments received were reviewed and a ‘draft’ 
Framework was then prepared which was subject to formal consultation for 6 week period between 13th 
September – 24th October 2021. 

The Chapel Wharf Development Framework has been developed by an appointed consultant team led by 
Optimised Environments and including Savills and Civic Engineers. Salford City Council’s Development 
Team (within the Regeneration team of the Place Directorate) have acted as client through the process and 
ensured the work being done has aligned with the original brief and city council’s strategic priorities. 

A wide range of stakeholders have the potential to benefit from the development framework for Chapel 
Wharf and have had the opportunity to contribute towards its vision and objectives in order to shape the 
overall masterplan for the area. These stakeholders include local residents, businesses, landowners, and 
statutory consultees. Local residents, local businesses and will benefit from the proposals in terms of an 

Page 178



3 
 

enhanced public realm, new infrastructure, greater transport connectivity, improved access to housing, job 
opportunities and new community facilities.  

In terms of outcomes, the Development Framework sets out a clear vision for the Chapel Wharf area of 
Central Salford with an associated set of objectives. The framework sets a spatial vision for the next 20 
years of development in the area to become a more sustainable and inviting place to live, work and visit. 
The indicative proposed layout for the area and public realm and infrastructure interventions provide a blue 
print that will guide future public and private investment in to this key area of city centre Salford.  

Social Value considerations have been taken into account by council officers and the consultant team. This 
has primarily been through undertaking public consultation to gather the views of the local community to 
inform the final development framework document. As the framework is a broad vision and will be a 
material planning consideration, rather than a prescriptive part of local planning policy, further realisation of 
social value outputs from future development in Chapel Wharf will be realised through the city council’s 
existing development management processes. 

.

Page 179



4 
 

  

2. Evidence and research 

What equality information (qualitative and quantitative), research or other intelligence have you 
used to develop this proposal? 

This can include; equality monitoring information, census data, customer satisfaction surveys and 
feedback, inspection reports, desktop research (local, regional and national), professional journals, 
feedback from individuals and groups. Details of information considered when assessing the 
impact should be published (whilst ensuring individual confidentiality). 

Information Source What has this told you? 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

The National Planning Policy Framework (July 
2021) sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these should be applied. It 
provides a framework within which locally-prepared 
plans for housing and other development can be 
produced. 
 
Paragraph 8 establishes a social objective for the 
planning system which seeks to “support strong, 
vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that 
a sufficient number and range of homes can be 
provided to meet the needs of present and future 
generations; and by fostering a well-designed and 
safe places,  with accessible services and  open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs  and 
support communities’ health, social and cultural 
well-being.” 

 
The government has also published National 
Planning Policy Guidance which provides 
additional guidance at a national level (last 
updated 24 June 2021). 

 
In reviewing the Development Framework, full 
account has had to be taken of the NPPF and the 
NPPG. 

 Places for Everyone Places for Everyone (PfE), once adopted, will set 
strategic level planning policies for 9 districts in 
Greater Manchester including Salford, and make 
allocations for a significant amount of 
development. 
 
The latest version of PfE identifies the subject site 
as being within the Core Growth Area, along with 
Manchester City Centre and Salford Quays. As 
such, Policy JP-Strat 1 is applicable. This states 
that the area will be a focus for major growth in the 
number of jobs provided across the area. It will 
also be a focus for complementary residential 
development with associated green spaces and 
infrastructure, but not at the expense of economic 
growth. 
 
In preparing the Development Framework, full 
account has had to be taken of the emerging 
proposals in the drafts of PfE (and previously the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework) 
documents at the time of writing. 

 
 

Page 180



5 
 

 
 
 
 
 

“A Fairer City” Publication Salford Local Plan: 
Development Management Policies (SLP:DMP) 
(2020), and Addendum (2021) 

Provides the main policies that will be used to 
manage development and determine planning 
applications, identifies the designations that will 
protect the city’s most important environmental 
assets, town centres and infrastructure, and 
support the key deliver of key infrastructure such 
as transport and utilities 

Scoping Consultation (16 April to 15 May 2021) Feedback from interested organisations and 
individuals in relation to the proposed Chapel 
Wharf Development Framework, highlighting 
information that it should include and expand upon.  
Letters were sent to approximately 6,000 
households and local businesses in the 
Development Framework area and within the 
immediate surrounding area. Details of the scoping 
consultation were also published on the Council’s 
website and an electronic version of the letter was 
available to download. 23 representations were 
received from organisations including statutory 
consultees, residents, and landowners. 
 
The responses informed the production of the Draft 
Development framework that went out for 
consultation. Further details of this can be found in 
section 5 of the Consultation statement.  

Public Consultation An online public consultation was held via the 
“Commonplace” website from 13th September to 
24th October 2021. As well as this a consultation 
letter was sent out to all local residents and 
businesses in the framework area inviting  
comments. The feedback from this informed the 
production of the final development framework – 
full details of what changes were made can be 
found in section 6 of the Consultation Statement. 
  

 
 
A wider range of relevant planning policies and document were considered and reviewed by the consultant team to 
inform the production of the development framework and can be found in the Planning Policy Baseline Review 
document that forms part of the suite of documents associated with the final development framework that will be 
published together on the Salford Council Website once the framework is adopted. 
 

Page 181



6 
 

 

 

3. Engagement / Consultation 

When considering your proposal, you should be engaging with individuals and groups covering the following protected characteristics (You can 
use evidence from existing consultations if this evidence is relevant to your proposal): 

• Age 

• Disability  

• Gender 

• Gender reassignment 

• Marriage and Civil Partnership 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Race 

• Religion and belief 

• Sexual orientation 

We also advise you to consult people on a low income, carers, ex-offenders, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies and travellers, 
where appropriate. 

You should detail below your engagement activities (Please note; you must ensure individual confidentiality) 

Date(s) of 

engagement 

Who was involved? Main issues identified 

Scoping 
Consultation 
(16 April to 15 
May 2021) 

The City Council sought the views of stakeholders and 
consultees through a scoping consultation letter on its 
intention to adopt a Development Framework for the 
Chapel Wharf area of City Centre Salford. The City 
Council consulted approximately 6,000 letters were sent to 
residents and local businesses falling within the 
Development Framework area, and the area immediately 
adjacent to the area, together with all statutory consultation 
bodies. 

The purpose of the Scoping Consultation was to inform 
stakeholder, residents and businesses of the desire to update the 
Framework for the Chapel Wharf Area and to seek views upon 
the vision and objectives for the development of the Framework. No 
formal documents were produced for the scoping consultation, but 
a letter was sent to the identified consultees together with details 
of how comments could be submitted. 23 organisations and 
individuals submitted representations, whilst 6 organisations 
responded to confirm that they had no comments. A detailed 
schedule of responses is included within 5.7 of the accompanying 
Consultation Statement. In summary the following themes were 

P
age 182



7 
 

raised: 
 
Healthy Lifestyles 
 
Crime, anti-social behaviour and the encouragement of healthy, 
active and sustainable lifestyles should be considered. 
 
Green Space/Open Space 
 
These comments stressed the importance of increasing access to 
the area riverside connection with the River Irwell. 
 
The Environment, Biodiversity and Ecology 
 
Natural England requested the inclusion of various  themes, and 
TFGM requested that the final framework aligns with relevant policy 
in the upcoming Places for Everyone plan. 
 
Transport 
 
These comments focussed on a need to reduce reliance on car 
ownership and promote active and sustainable travel modes for 
those within and those visiting the framework area.  
 
Heritage 
 
All comments stressed the need for the final framework to protect 
and enhance heritage and cultural assets within the Chapel Wharf 
area.  
 

Draft 

Development 

Framework 

Consultation (13 

September – 24 

October 2021) 

Following the initial scoping consultation, the City Council 

undertook a full consultation with key stakeholders and 

consultees on the Draft Development Framework over a 6-

week period between 13 September and 24 October 2021.  

A letter was sent out to local residents, statutory 

consultees and key stakeholders in the Chapel Wharf area 

on 13 September 2021 which notified members of the 

The purpose of the public consultation was to present the Draft 

Development and seek comments from local residents, businesses 

and key stakeholders on the emerging proposals.  As previously 

noted, a virtual consultation website was set up to maximise 

engagement in light of the COVID-19 restrictions. In total 969 no. 

visitors were recorded to have viewed the commonplace 

consultation website. 

P
age 183



8 
 

consultation website and set out the various ways to 

submit comments. which provided details of the Draft 

Development Framework consultation and the 

mechanisms by which the Draft could be reviewed and 

comments could be submitted. Full details are set out 

within the Consultation Statement which accompanies the 

Development Framework, and a summary is provided 

below: 

• A dedicated consultation website hosted by 

Commonplace containing 7 pages summarising the 

proposals and a copy of the Framework was 

accessible at: https://chapelwharf.commonplace.is/  

• An online feedback form was available to be 

completed online and submitted within the 

consultation room. 

• Comments could be submitted via email 

• A freephone number was available. 

• A consultation leaflet was produced and distributed 

in the local area and at community events – such 

as the doors open day at Sacred Trinity Church.  

Details of the consultation were also published on the 

Salford Council website in the “Regeneration” section: 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-

regeneration/regeneration/projects/chapel-wharf-

development-framework/. This summarised the project and 

provided a link to the commonplace consultation website. 

9 statutory consultees and key stakeholders submitted responses to 

the draft Development Framework and 43 individuals responded to 

the feedback questions on the Commonplace website. 

Organisations and individuals submitted representations, whilst 2 

organisations responded to confirm that they had no comments.  

The responses received from the statutory consultees and key 

stakeholders generally expressed support for the draft Development 

Framework and the vision and proposals within. The responses from 

the general public on the commonplace website and via email were 

more varied but the majority expressed support for the principles, 

vision and expenses set out in the draft framework 

A detailed schedule of responses is available from items 6.7 to 6.20 

of the accompanying Consultation Statement, as well as a summary 

of what changes were made to the framework following the public 

consultation. 

 

P
age 184



9 
 

East Salford 

Community 

Committee Meeting 

(23 September 

2021) 

The lead Council Regeneration Officer responsible for the project 
management of the development framework project attended a 
virtual East Salford Community Committee Meeting on 23 
September 2021. The Draft Chapel Wharf Development 
Framework was presented to the Committee  with comments 
from members of the public sought. 

The presentation was well received and no specific issues raised.  A 

request was made for a copy of the presentation to be circulated to 

attendees, which was subsequently organised. 

In the meeting, Members of Community Committee were encouraged to 

view the consultation commonplace website and to leave their comments 

and feedback.  Also, they were asked to pass the message on that public 

consultation was open to the 24th October 2021 for comment. 

 

P
age 185



10 
 

4. Assessing the impact 

From your evidence gathering, you will have identified potential disproportionate negative impacts. Please provide details and 
your actions to overcome these below. We would also like to know if there will be any positive impacts that your proposals will 
make to improve equalities: 

• Potential impact: If the proposal could result in some groups (including customers and/or staff) being disadvantaged or treated 
unfairly 

• Mitigations and actions: Where there is a potential for disadvantage or unfair treatment, what are your plans to eliminate, 
reduce, mitigate or justify it? Could making these changes have a negative effect on any other group(s)? Explain why and 
what you will do about this. You should include details of who will be responsible for the actions and target dates for 
completion:  

• Promoting Equality: Could the proposal result in an opportunity to promote equality or inclusion? Explain how. 

Please note: these details will form the basis of your action plan. 

Protected 

characteristic 

or other group 

Potential 

impact 

Mitigations 

and 

actions 

Responsible 

Officer 

Target 

Date 

Promoting Equality 

Age The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people, regardless of age. 

Disability The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework has the potential to have a positive 

impact for people with a disability by facilitating the delivery of high quality development, new 

active travel connections, greenspace, and public realm which is accessible to all. 

P
age 186



11 
 

Gender The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people, regardless of gender. 

Gender 

Reassignment 

The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people, regardless of gender reassignment . 

Marriage and 

Civil 

Partnership 

The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people regardless of  marriage and civil partnership status. 

Pregnancy and 

Maternity 

The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people regardless of  pregnancy and maternity. 

Race The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people  regardless of race. 

P
age 187



12 
 

Religion and 

Belief 

The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people , regardless of religion and race. 

Sexual 

Orientation 

The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Framework will be a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within the 

defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people, regardless of sexual orientation.  

Other Groups The Development 

Framework is 

anticipated to have a 

positive impact. 

 

  Once endorsed, the Chapel Wharf Development Framework will be a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications and will apply to all development proposals within 

the defined Framework area. The Development Framework is concerned with the overall 

regeneration of the Chapel Wharf area and seeks to bring about positive change through a 

wide range of measures. As such, the proposals contained within it will be of benefit to all 

people. 

 

: 

P
age 188



13 
 

5. Assessing the impact on community cohesion  

Community cohesion is what must happen in all communities to enable different groups of people to get on well together. A 
key contributor to community cohesion is integration which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing residents 
to adjust to one another. 

An integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations: 

• People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities. 

 

• People knowing their rights and responsibilities. 

 

• People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly. 

 

And three ways of living together: 

• A shared future vision and sense of belonging. 

• A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity. 

• Strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds. 

Detail below if the proposals is likely to impact on community cohesion, including if there is likely to be a positive impact: 

The Chapel Wharf development framework seeks to help create a diverse, sustainable community in a key city centre location 
in Salford. Its overarching vision is to create a place that provides an alternative urban experience which is more welcoming and 
nourishing for those who live and work in and visit the area.  

P
age 189



14 
 

Whilst the framework is somewhat limited in its ability to bring about a more integrated and cohesive community in the short term 
due to its function as setting out a long term vision for the area without a specific action plan – this aim is at the heart of the 
document in a number of ways: 

- Providing space for people from different backgrounds to either reside in, work in or visit such a central location in the GM 
regional centre will help create similar access to the opportunities this area offers. As will efforts to provide better connections 
through the area in to Manchester from surrounding communities such as Trinity and Blackfriars. 

- Through the framework’s role in bringing in the enhancement of current important public spaces and the creation of new 
public squares this will benefit the community life for Chapel Wharf and thus help over time build trust between different 
people and communities who reside in or visit the area. 

- The championing of the areas heritage, cultural and natural assets will also encourage the local community to take more 
pride in the area, which will in turn enhance peoples sense of belonging in Chapel Wharf and Salford as whole. 

- The framework will help create public spaces and streets that prioritise those who are walking or cycling and will also cater 
more to people of all ages such as young children and the elderly. The vision also states the need to create more places for 
street play and for dwelling/sitting. All this is turn will help usher in a more diverse and caring community within Chapel Wharf. 

More detail on the vision and objectives for the Chapel Wharf Development Framework can be found on pages 44-47 of the main document. 

 

P
age 190



15 
 

6. Monitoring 

You should ensure that any actions within your CIA are monitored and reviewed regularly within Pentana. You should review 
progress on your action plan annually. 

7. Review 

Your CIA should be reviewed after the proposals have been implemented to review actual impact. You should record an 
appropriate review date below.  

Review date: April 2028 

8. Sign off  

When you have completed your CIA, it must be signed off by a senior manager within your service group (Assistant Director or 
above).  

 

 

Name: Jim Wensley 

Signature  

Date: 30.03.2022 

When your CIA has been signed off and after the decision has been made, send it to Equalities&Cohesion Team in Policy and 
Strategy for publishing on the council’s website.  

P
age 191

mailto:Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/impact-assess.htm


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Chapel Wharf 

DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 

SEA/SA SCREENING STATEMENT 

Salford City Council 

September 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



Page 2  

 
 

 

CONTENTS 
1 Introduction ...................................................................................................... 3 

2 Site Context ....................................................................................................... 4 

3 Legislative and Planning Policy Framework .....................................................  9 

4 Consultation .................................................................................................... 17 

5 SEA/SA Screening – Conclusion ...................................................................... 18 

APPENDICES 

A Assessment of Likely Effects Against Criteria ................................................. 20 

B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies .......................................................... 22 

C Sustainability Objectives ................................................................................. 34 

D Copy of Scoping Letter dated 6 July 2020 ....................................................... 35 

Page 194



1 Introduction 

Page 3 

 

 

 

 
 

This Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)/ Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Screening Statement (‘Screening 

Statement’) has been produced for the emerging non-statutory Chapel Wharf Development Framework 

Document. 

The Development Framework will eventually be adopted by SCC, forming a material consideration for the area, 

and will align with policies contained in the emerging Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies and 

Designations Document (‘SLP:DMP’) which was submitted for Examination in June 2021. 

The purpose of this Screening Statement is to identify whether there is a need for a standalone SEA/ SA for the 

Development Framework. 

This Statement is structured as follows: 

• Chapter 2: Site Context - this section provides an overview of the Development Framework area and any 

statutory and non-statutory designations which cover it or fall within this zone; 

• Chapter 3: Legislative and Planning Policy Framework – this section provides an overview of the legislative 

requirements for SEA/SA with regards to land use plans and programmes, including the relevant criteria 

against which the Development Framework has been assessed, the planning policy framework with a 

summary of the most relevant policies relating to the site, and sets out the scope of the Development 

Framework in planning terms; 

• Chapter 4: Consultation – this section provides an overview of the next steps and timescales for 

consultation associated with the Development Framework; and 

• Chapter 5: SEA/SA Screening Conclusion – this section draws upon the assessment against the relevant 

criteria which is provided at Appendix A and provides the conclusions of this Screening Statement. 

Page 195



2 Site Context 

Page 4 

 

 

 

 
 

 

SITE LOCATION 

The Chapel Wharf area covers approximately 19 hectares and is bordered by the River Irwell, Blackfriars Road, 

Trinity Way and New Bailey Street. The proposed Development Framework area is shown edged red in Figure 1.1 

below. Chapel Wharf is currently the only part of City Centre Salford not covered by a Strategic Regeneration 

Framework. The area currently presents a clear gap in the council’s vision for this part of Salford as it is adjacent 

to the regeneration zones of Salford Central/New Bailey to the West and Greengate to the East. 

Figure 1.1 – Site Location 

 
STATUTORY DESIGNATIONS 
 
Heritage 

There is one Conservation Area of relevance to the Development Framework: 

• The Flat Iron Conservation Area 

 
Flat Iron Conservation Area (FICA) 

 

The Flat Iron conservation area is centred around the grade II * listed Sacred Trinity Church on the A6, close to the 
boundary with the city of Manchester. It is bounded by Blackfriars Road and Blackfriars Street on the east, the River 

Irwell to the south, Booth Street and Bury Street to the west and the railway line to the north.  

The Flat Iron conservation area derives its name from the triangular shaped plot of land which contained both 

Sacred Trinity Church and the market itself, resembling the shape of flat, hot coal heated iron once used for ironing 

clothes. 

New Bailey 

Greengate SRF  

Page 196



Page 5 

 

 

 

The original town of Salford was contained within the triangle of land bounded by the River Irwell, Chapel Street, 

Gravel Lane and Greengate. Although Salford received a Borough Charter in 1228 and a Market Charter in 1230, it 

had no church of its own until 1635 when Sacred Trinity was erected. At this time it was on the edge of the town 
and remained so for almost the next 150 years, until the industrial revolution resulted in the rapid expansion of the 

town. 

In the late 18th and early 19th centuries, the areas adjacent to the old town centre developed with housing, 
industry and public buildings. Originally the surrounding areas were fashionable residential areas, but as the 19th 

century progressed, they became increasingly used for commerce and industry. The houses were replaced by 
shops and offices and only a limited amount of residential accommodation, often over shops or in the form of 

caretaker's flats, survived. This process was accelerated in the 1880s by the building of Exchange Station, which 

resulted in the obliteration of a large part of Sacred Trinity's parish. 

 

A map showing the extent of the conservation area is provided at Figure 1.2 below. 

Figure 1.2 – Flat Iron Conservation Area Boundary 
 

 

Page 197



Page 6 

 

 

 

A full list of all listed buildings in the FICA is provided below: 
 

• Blackfriars Bridge (that part in Salford), Blackfriars Street (Grade II) 

• The Punch Bowl Public House, 81 Chapel Street (Grade II) 

• 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street (Grade II) 

• 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street (Grade II) 

• The Crown Tavern, 24 Blackfriars Street (Grade II) 

• Church of the Sacred Trinity, Trinity Market (Grade II*) 

• 88, 90 and 92 (Caxton Hall), Chapel Street (Locally Listed) 

• 91 (Rovers Return Public House), Chapel Street (Locally Listed) 

• 65, 67 & 69, (The Black Lion Public House), Chapel Street (Locally Listed) 
 

 
 

Other Heritage Assets  
 

Outside of the FICA there are a number of other nationally and locally listed buildings/structures either within, or 

directly on the draft development framework boundary. These are historically significant assets which reflect the 
Salford’s industrial, cultural, and civic heritage.  

 
A full list and labelled map of these are provided below: 

 

a. Kings Arms Public House, Bloom Street (Grade II) 

b. Arlington House, Bloom Street (Grade II) 

c. Salford Model Lodging House and Number 6, Bloom Street (Grade II) 

d. Chapel Street and Hope United Reformed Church, Chapel Street (Grade II) 

e. Egerton Arms Public House, 2 Gore Street (Locally Listed) 

f. Chester’s Salford Brewery, Cook Street (Grade II) 

g. Black Friar Public House, Blackfriars Road (Grade II) 

h. Manchester Tennis and Racquet Club, 33 Blackfriars Road (Grade II) 

i. Former Manchester Swimming Baths, 31 Blackfriars Road (Grade II) 

j. 29 (Former Sacred Trinity Schools), Blackfriars Road (Locally Listed) 

k. Southern Railway Viaduct and Colonnade, New Bailey Street (Grade II*) 

l. Mark Addy landing stage and public house, New Bailey Street (Locally Listed) 

m. Irwell Street Bridge (that part in Salford), Irwell Street (Grade II) 

n. Former Police Station, 62 Chapel Street (Grade II) 

o. 52 - 60, Chapel Street (Locally Listed) 

 

 

 
 

 

 Page 198



Page 7 

 

 

 

Figure 1.3 – Listed Buildings outside of FICA (Chapel Wharf DF boundary shown in red, FICA boundary in green, Nationally Listed in 
pink, Locally Listed in Purple). 

 

 

Page 199



Page 8 

 

 

Environmental Designations 
 

Flood Risk 

The Development Framework boundary (shown in red on figure 1.4 below), shows that the northern half of the area 

above Chapel Street falls into Flood Zone 1. However, the majority of the lower half falls into Zone 2 with a very small, 

uninhabited section by the River Irwell in Zone 3 (an area with a high probability of flooding).  

 

Figure 1.4 – Flood Zone mapping (Source: https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/) – framework boundary shown in red. 

 
 

 
Ecology, Biodiversity and Habitats 

Parts of the Development Framework area (primarily covering Peel Park, the River Irwell and The Meadow) fall into 

the following designation areas: 

 

Biodiversity 

• Woodland Priority Habitat Network (England) including both: 

− High Spatial Priority 

− Lower Spatial Priority 

• Woodland Improvement (England) including both: 

− High Spatial Priority 

− Lower Spatial Priority 

• Woodland - Flood Risk (England) – High Spatial Priority 

Page 200

https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/


Page 9 

 

 

 

 

3 Legislative and Planning Policy Framework 
 

 
 

LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 
 

Requirement for Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 

Section 19 (5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a local planning authority (LPA) to carry 

out SA of each of the proposals in a plan, during its preparation. More generally, section 39 of the Act requires 

that the authority preparing a plan must do so “with the objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable 

development.” 

A SA is a systematic process that must be carried out during the preparation of local plans and spatial development 

strategies. Its role is to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to which the emerging plan, when 

judged against reasonable alternatives, will help to achieve relevant environmental, economic and social objectives. 

 

Requirement for Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

SAs incorporate the requirements of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 

(commonly referred to as ‘the SEA Regulations’). The requirement for SEA is set out in the ODPM’s practical guidance 

on applying the European Directive 2001/42/EC1. The SEA Regulations apply to any plan or programme which 

relates either solely to the whole or any part of England, or to England and any other part of the UK. 

The SEA Regulations together with the guidance set out the requirement for LPAs to undertake SEA on land use plans 

or programmes which “set the framework for future development consent of projects.” 

Under Article 3(3) and 3(4) of the EIA Directive, environmental assessment is required for certain categories of plans 

and programmes only where they are determined to be likely to have significant environmental effects. Plans and 

programmes in these categories are: 

• Plans and programmes of the types listed in Article 3(2) which determine the use of small areas at local level, 

or which are minor modifications to plans and programmes; 

• Plans and programmes of types which are not listed in Article 3(2), which set the framework for future 

development consent of projects (not limited to projects listed in the Annexes to the EIA Directive). 

The European Commission guidance (paragraphs 3.33–3.35) suggests that plans or programmes which determine 

the use of small areas at local level might include “a building plan which, for a particular, limited area, outlines 

details of how buildings must be constructed, determining, for example, their height, width or design…. The complete  

phrase … makes it clear that the whole of a local authority area could not be excluded (unless it were itself small). 

…The key criterion for the application of the Directive, however, is not the size of area covered but whether the plan 

or programme would be likely to have significant environmental effects”. 

In this case, LPAs must carry out screening to determine whether plans or programmes of the types covered by Article 

3(3) and 3(4) are likely to have significant environmental effects, and hence whether SEA is required under the 

Directive. Annex II of the Directive lists criteria for determining the likely significance of the environmental effects of 

plans or programmes2. A copy of these criteria is provided below: 

 
 

 

 
 

 
1 The SEA Regulations reproduce the Directive and do not add any further requirements. However, they adapt the Directive to 

arrangements in the UK in certain respects, notably by defining the authorities responsible for SEA (the ‘Responsible 

Authorities’), designating the organisations to be consulted (the ‘Consultation Bodies’), and setting out time limits and other 

arrangements for consulting and informing authorities and the public. 

2 These criteria are reproduced at Schedule 1 to the Regulations 2004 which reproduce the Directive (see footnote 1). 

Page 201



Page 10 

 

 

 

“Annex II - Criteria for determining the likely significance of effects referred to in Article 3(5) 

1. The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to 

− the degree to which the plan or programme sets a framework for projects and other activities, either 

with regard to the location, nature, size and operating conditions or by allocating resources, 

− the degree to which the plan or programme influences other plans and programmes including those in 

a hierarchy, 

− the relevance of the plan or programme for the integration of environmental considerations in 

particular with a view to promoting sustainable development, 

− environmental problems relevant to the plan or programme, 

− the relevance of the plan or programme for the implementation of Community legislation on the 

environment (e.g. plans and programmes linked to waste-management or water protection). 

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard, in particular, to 

− the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects, 

− the cumulative nature of the effects, 

− the transboundary nature of the effects, 

− the risks to human health or the environment (e.g. due to accidents), 

− the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the population likely to 

be affected), 

− the value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to: 

− special natural characteristics or cultural heritage, 

− exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values, 

− intensive land-use, 

− the effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national, Community or international 

protection status.” 

 

Requirements for Other Spatial Planning Documents 
 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

Under the regulations and directives set out above, all Local Development Documents, comprising Development 

Plan Documents (DPDs) and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs), were required to undergo SA, 

incorporating the requirements of the SEA Directive, until 2008. 

The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008, and subsequent 

Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2009 allowed for SPDs to be 

prepared without a full SA as long as a screening assessment is carried out to establish whether this policy will result 

in significant environmental effects, as defined in the SEA directive (i.e. when assessed against the Annex II criteria 

set out above) which have not already have been assessed during the preparation of the relevant strategic policies. 

Page 202



Page 11 

 

 

 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – July 2021 

The NPPF provides the framework for the development of spatial planning documents such as Local Plans, policies 

and guidance. It requires that the preparation and review of all policies should be underpinned by relevant, 

adequate and proportionate up-to-date evidence. This should be focused tightly on supporting and justifying the 

policies concerned and take into account relevant market signals. 

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF sets out that local plans and spatial development strategies should be informed 

throughout their preparation by SA that meets the relevant legal requirements (e.g. SEA). It states that SA “should 

demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant economic, social and environmental objectives (including 

opportunities for net gains)”. 

Furthermore, significant adverse impacts on these objectives should be avoided and, wherever possible, alternative 

options which reduce or eliminate such impacts should be pursued. Where significant adverse impacts are 

unavoidable, suitable mitigation measures should be proposed (or, where this is not possible, compensatory 

measures should be considered). 

 

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

The NPPG provides additional guidance further to the policies contained within the NPPF. It confirms that SA and 

SEA are tools used at the plan-making stage to assess the likely effects of the plan when judged against reasonable 

alternatives (Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 11-003-20190722). 

Importantly, the NPPG confirms that SA should be prepared for any of the documents that can form part of a local 

plan, including core strategies, site allocation documents and area action plans; however, neighbourhood plans, 

supplementary planning documents, the Statement of Community Involvement, the Local Development Scheme or 

the Authority Monitoring Report are excluded from this requirement (Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 11-005- 

20190722). 

 

CITY OF SALFORD’S DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

Decisions on planning applications must be made in line with the development plan, unless there are material 

considerations which dictate why this should not be the case. Salford’s development plan currently comprises: 

• The ‘saved’ Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies; 

• Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan document; 

• Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan document; and 

• The interactive proposals map. 

Two other documents are currently being produced which will form part of Salford’s development plan once they 

are adopted by Salford City Council (SCC): 

• Places for Everyone; and 

• Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations. 

Since the publication of the Revised Draft Local Plan in January 2019, the decision was taken to progress Salford’s 

Local Plan in two parts: Part one, the Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies (SLP:DMP), includes 

development management policies and designations. Issues of overarching spatial strategy, the appropriate 

scale of development and land allocations to provide for it, will now be addressed through the Places for 

Everyone (a joint development plan document of nine GM districts) and part two of Salford’s Local Plan (Salford 

Local Plan: Core Strategy and Site Allocations). 

Page 203



Page 12 

 

 

 

The Development Framework will align with the ‘saved’ policies of the UDP which provides the planning context 

for development within the Chapel Wharf area. In addition, the SLP:DMP has already undergone a SA itself for 

each specific policy (Sustainability Appraisal – Main Report, January 2020, and the January 2021 addendum to 

it). As such, although not currently part of the adopted development plan the SLP:DMP policies are also 

considered to be of relevance and have been included below. 

The policies set out below are considered to be most relevant to the Chapel Wharf area specifically; however, it is 

noted that there are many other relevant detailed technical policies contained within both the UDP and the 

emerging SLP:DMP therefore a full schedule of relevant policies has been provided at Appendix B. 

 

‘Saved’ City of Salford UDP 2004 to 2016 

The UDP was adopted by SCC on 21 June 2006. It set out the council's main planning policies used to guide 

development, conservation, regeneration and environmental improvement activity in Salford. 

Due to legislative changes resulting from the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, the council had to 

apply to the Secretary of State to ‘save’ policies in the UDP beyond 21 June 2009. As a result, a number of 

policies contained within the UDP expired on 21 June 2009. In addition, two further policies expired on 1 April 

2012 upon adoption of the Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan Document and three further 

policies expired on 26 April 2013 upon adoption of the Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan 

Document. 

The ‘saved’ UDP policies will be replaced once the SLP:DMP is adopted and will form part of SCC’s Development 

Plan. 

 

Policy MX 1 - Development in Mixed-Use Areas 

This policy identifies four locations, including Chapel Street East (MX1/1) (which falls within the Development 

Framework boundary), to be developed as vibrant mixed-use areas with a broad range of uses and activities. 

Development within them will be required to support this, and appropriate uses within these areas will include: 

housing; offices; tourism, including hotels; leisure; cultural uses; education; community facilities; retail and food 

and drink uses, where consistent with the retail and leisure policies of the UDP; essential infrastructure and 

support facilities; and knowledge-based employment, including live-work units. 

In determining the appropriate mix of uses on individual sites, regard will be had to: 

 

i.  the positive impact that the proposed development could have on the regeneration of the wider area; 

ii. the use on adjoining sites and the extent to which the proposed development would support the objective of 

maintaining a mix and balance of uses throughout the mixed-use area; 

iii. the contribution that the proposed development would make towards securing activity in the area 

throughout the day; 

iv. the prominence of the location, particularly in relation to key pedestrian and other transport routes; 

v. the size of the site; and 

vi. the potential to support the establishment, expansion and success of the Knowledge Capital, in 

accordance with Policy E3 'Knowledge Capital'.” 

 

The following “Reasoned Justifications” are set out in the Unitary Development Plan which relate to the Chapel 
Wharf Development Framework Area: 

 

“5.3 Salford Quays and the Chapel Street area are dynamic and competitive locations forming part of the 
Regional Centre, with Chapel Street East forming an integral part of Manchester City Centre. The success 
and popularity of these areas derives partly from the mix of uses within them, and the city council will seek 
to retain and develop this mix through the control of new development. The Ordsall Lane riverside corridor 

Page 204



Page 13 

 

 

provides an important link between Salford Quays and Chapel Street, and will also be developed as a mixed-
use area. 

 
5.4 The Chapel Street East area (MX 1/1) will be increasingly seen as a key quarter of Manchester City 
Centre, with improved physical and functional connections to the rest of the city centre, as well as 
coordinated management. The large areas of surface commuter car parking constitute an inefficient use of 
land, and provide significant potential for redevelopment, although this will need to take place having 
regard to the parking needs of the city centre as a whole. There are strong commercial opportunities across 
the area, but particularly around Salford Central Station, linking to the Spinningfields development in 
Manchester. It is estimated that in the region of 2,000 dwellings will come forward in the area over the plan 
period. There are opportunities to improve connections within the area, through the reduction of traffic 
along parts of Chapel Street, and improved links through the viaduct, which has the potential to be seen as 
a positive townscape feature rather than a barrier. There is also potential to take more advantage of the 
riverside location.” 

 

Policy MX2: Chapel Street Frontage 
 
This policy sets outs that development along Chapel Street will be required to incorporate active uses at ground 
floor level. Such uses will be required to be consistent with the other policies and proposals of the UDP, and may 

include: 

a. retail; 

b. financial and professional services; 

c. food and drink; 
d. leisure; 

e. non-residential institutions; and 
f. culture and tourism. 

Office development at ground floor level of the Chapel Street frontage will also be acceptable in less prominent 
locations, where it would not result in a long frontage of office uses. Residential development at ground floor level is 

not appropriate, although entrances to such uses are acceptable. 

Policy E3 - Knowledge Capital  
 

Saved Policy E3 seeks to develop a Knowledge Capital, consisting of a cluster of knowledge-based employment, 
education-related uses, cultural facilities, and other complementary uses, to be developed based around the 

internationally important University of Salford and linking through to the universities within the city of Manchester. 
The Chapel Wharf Area is defined in the Unitary Development Plan as being included in this geography within 

Greater Manchester, as it lies within the arc between the Universities of Salford and Manchester and within the 

regional centre. The primary focus for development associated with the establishment of the Knowledge Capital will 
be the “Arc of Opportunity” as defined on the proposals map. Within the Arc of Opportunity, there will be an 

emphasis on the provision of employment opportunities, particularly within the following sectors: 

 

• Financial and professional services, and other office-based uses; 

• Creative, cultural and media industries; 

• Communications; 

• Research and development; and 

• Higher education. 

 

Development proposals should demonstrate how they accord with this emphasis, including through the balance of 
uses within the mixed-use areas identified under Policy MX1 'Development in Mixed-use Areas'. Within that part of 

the mixed-use areas that falls within the Arc of Opportunity, employment uses within the above sectors will be 

considered appropriate. 

 

Publication Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations 
document 

As set out above, the SLP:DMP is now being progressed which includes development management policies and 

designations. The below sets out the relevant policies in addition to the conclusions made within the Local Plan SA. 
Page 205



Page 14 

 

 

 

Policy AP1 City Centre Salford 

Neighbourhoods: 

Policy AP1 sets out the vision for ‘City Centre Salford’, which includes the Chapel Wharf neighbourhood.  

The policy requires that development shall be fully integrated into and contribute to the success and strong 

sense of place of, both the neighbourhood within which it is located, and the City Centre as a whole. The 

following neighbourhoods are included within the Development Framework area and are therefore of relevance 

to this assessment: 

 

“B) Chapel Wharf – The area will maintain its diverse mix of uses and range of heritage assets, providing 

an important link between Greengate and New Bailey, and a key connection between the Salford and 

Manchester parts of the City Centre.” 

 

Uses: 

In terms of land use, policy AP1 requires that development shall maintain the wide range of uses in City Centre 

Salford, reflecting its importance within the wider City Centre, supporting its roles as a business location, 

tourism, cultural and leisure destination, centre of learning and knowledge, and home to a series of residential 

neighbourhoods. Of direct relevance to the Development Framework, it states: 

 

“1)   Business, tourism, cultural and leisure development will be appropriate across the area. 

3) Residential-led mixed-use development will be appropriate across the rest of City Centre Salford. 

This will be primarily in the form of apartments, reflecting the area’s locational advantages, but may 

also include houses built at high densities. 

4) Retail and leisure uses, community and social facilities (including health and education facilities) and 

other amenities to support the residential, business and visitor populations will be permitted. These 

facilities shall be focused on prominent frontages, busy intersections with high footfall, and where 

they can add vibrancy and best meet the needs of the neighbourhood.” 

 

Transport and Movement: 

The policy identifies a number of initiatives in terms of transport and movement to support the successful 

functioning of the City Centre, particularly in terms of facilitating people to travel to and around it by sustainable 

modes of transport, including the following projects which are of direct relevance to this Development 

Framework: 

 

“5) The development of further public transport links into the City Centre’s existing rail stations, 

employment, cultural and leisure opportunities; 

Page 206



Page 15 

 

 

 

7) The continued improvement of Salford Central Station as the main western rail gateway to the central 

business district of the City Centre, including through works which enable more services and longer trains 

to stop at the station;“ 

 

Environmental Quality: 

Finally, the policy sets out that development look to achieve the high environmental quality that is essential to 

the long-term success of the City Centre, including through the following measures of relevance to the 

Development Framework: 

 

“11) Protect and enhance important heritage assets and their setting, including its conservation areas 

and key landmarks; including its conservation areas and key landmarks such as Salford Cathedral, 

St. Philip’s Church, Sacred Trinity Church and Collier Street Baths 

12) Support a significant increase in the quantity and quality of green infrastructure, taking an 

innovative approach to the incorporation of green infrastructure within a high-density context; 

13) Contribute to the provision of high quality public realm that promotes walking and cycling, provides 

green infrastructure, incorporates a variety of functions, and is fronted by activity; 

14) Respond positively to the viaducts and their associated opportunities, including delivering additional 

and improved pedestrian routes through them, providing active uses within the railway arches that 

add to the vibrancy of the area, greening the infrastructure, and enabling appreciation of their 

heritage interest; 

15) Provide a riverside walkway and cycleway and connected open spaces, which are integrated into the 

wider Irwell River Park and designed to enhance the ecological role of the river; 

18) Manage flood risk in accordance with policy WA4.” 

 

SLP:DMP – Sustainability Appraisal 

In the context of the legislative framework set out above, the Publication SLP:DMP (January 2020) was subject 

to SA, as well as an Equalities Impact Assessment, Habitats Regulations Assessment, and Health Impact 

Assessment. Addendums to these assessments were published in January 2021. 

An initial draft SA scoping report for the local plan was published for public consultation for a nine week period 

between 8 February and 12 April 2013. The SA scoping report was subsequently revised and updated, having 

regard to the comments received. The revised SA report also included the city council's formal determination 

that the SA will incorporate SEA in accordance with the requirements of the Directive. 

Given the scope of the SLP:DMP has been narrowed from that of the Draft and Revised Draft Salford Local Plans 

this is reflected in the SA which accompanies it. The 2020 Sustainability Report and 2021 addendum is therefore 

focused on the SLP:DMP only. The SA process has however continued throughout the plan’s development (as 

described above) including specific appraisals of the Draft Salford Local Plan (November 2016) and the Revised 

Draft Salford Local Plan, (January 2019) that preceded the Publication (2020) version. 

The draft policies set out within the SLP:DMP have been assessed and commentary relating to the relevant 

policies is provided below: 

19) Policy AP1 City Centre Salford - The SA for Policy AP1 identifies that there are a number of significant 

positive and minor positive effects when assessed against the SA objectives with other scores uncertain or 

neutral effects. The assessment notes that the introduction of this Policy does significantly alter the 

approach which has been established within the Saved Policies of the UDP and other local strategies. The 

Policy adds value by providing a more detailed framework for the area, reflecting the individual 

neighbourhoods and the latest proposals in terms of transport and movement. The SA therefore has 

assessed the policy as having major positive effects, with no mitigation suggested. Page 207



Page 16 

 

 

 

Development Framework Planning Status 

The draft Development Framework will not form part of Salford’s Development Plan, but it is clearly set within 

the planning policy framework provided by the ‘saved’ policies of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and the 

emerging SLP:DMP as described above. 

Once adopted by SCC, the Development Framework will help guide development in the area and will form a 

material consideration in the determination of future development proposals. The Development Framework will 

also help to guide future investment decisions by the key agencies and developers with an interest in the area. 

At a local level, in addition to the Council’s adopted UDP (policies saved beyond 21 June 2009), the 

Development Framework should be read alongside the emerging SLP:DMP and the range of other SPDs and 

Planning Guidance documents which make up the planning policy framework for Salford. 

 

SEA/SA Screening 

In the interest of ensuring that the Development Framework is as robust as possible, this Statement has been 

prepared to screen the need for SEA/SA to be undertaken alongside the Development Framework. 

The Screening Assessment has been undertaken against the criteria from Annex II of the SEA Directive and 

Schedule 1 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004) and is provided in 

Appendix A. 

The Screening Assessment demonstrates that this Development Framework is not likely to have any significant 

effects on the environment and therefore a full SEA is not required. Conversely, it shows that a number of 

positive benefits will be generated. 

Page 208



4 Consultation 

Page 17 

 

 

 

 
 

This Screening Statement has been produced following a scoping consultation on the Chapel Wharf 

Development Framework.  The nature of this scoping consultation is set down in the letter at appendix D.  

The conclusion of this screening statement is that an SEA/SA will not be required.   

This screening statement together with the draft Development Framework will form the basis of a 6 week public 

consultation taking place between September and October 2021. 

Following this period of public consultation, this SEA Screening document will be amended and updated, as 

required  and finalised for publication together with the adopted Development Framework. 

However, should the outcome of the public consultation determine that the conclusion of this SEA Screening 

document needs to change, then an SEA/SA will be produced which appraises the draft Development Framework 

against adopted and emerging local sustainability objectives.  

 

 

The timing of key stages is set out in Table 4.1 below. 

Table 4.1 – Consultation Timescales 
 

Stage Timing 

Period of 6-week public consultation on Draft Development Framework/SEA screening 13th September – 2 4 t h  October 2021 

Preparation of final Development Framework. Also, SEA/SA if determined necessary November - December 2021 

Adoption of Development Framework.  Also,  publication of SEA/SA if determined 

necessary 

2022 

Page 209



5 SEA/SA Screening – Conclusion 

Page 18 

 

 

 

 
 

 

This Screening Statement identifies in Section 1 that there are a limited number of statutory designations which 

cover the site Development Framework area, primarily relating to heritage assets including a conservation area 

and a number of listed buildings (including those locally listed).  

It further confirms that, given that the Development Framework will be a non-statutory planning document, 

there is no legislative requirement for non-statutory documents to undergo SEA/SA, as set out within the 

relevant legislation, and national planning practice guidance, as set out in Section 2. Furthermore, SA has been 

undertaken in respect of both the adopted policy (‘saved’ policies of the UDP) and in support of the emerging 

policy (SLP:DMP), which comprise the relevant policies of relevance to the Chapel Wharf area. 

Finally, notwithstanding the above, the criteria from Annex II of the SEA Directive and Schedule 1 of the 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004) – a copy of which is provided within 

Section 2 of this Statement - have be used in order to consider the relevance of the ‘plan’ (i.e. the Development 

Framework) to the SEA Directive. An assessment of the likely effects against these key issues is provided at 

Appendix A. This clearly demonstrates that the delivery of the Development Framework will result in positive 

impacts across a broad range of social, economic and environmental objectives and that the Development 

Framework will not give rise to any significant environmental effects. 

In conclusion, this Screening Statement considers that SEA/SA is not required in this instance. 

Page 210



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

APPENDICES 
 
 

Page 211



Page 20 

 

 

A Assessment of Likely Effects Against Criteria A Assessment of Likely Effects Against Criteria 
 

 
  

Criteria (from Annex of SEA Directive and Schedule of Regulations) Response 

Characteristics of plans and programmes  

(a) the degree to which the plan or programme sets a framework for projects and other  

activities, either with regard to the location, nature, size and operating conditions or by 

allocating resources. 

The Development Framework (DF) provides the context for projects and other activities 

by providing additional guidance over and above the ‘saved’ policies of the UDP and  

emerging Local Plan policies relating to the Chapel Wharf area. Once adopted, the DF will 

form a material consideration in the determination of applications for future projects 

within this area. It will be separate to any planning application proposals. 

(b) the degree to which the plan or programme influences other plans and 

programmes including those in a hierarchy. 

The DF provides additional guidance to the existing ‘saved’ strategic planning policies 

set out within the UDP and the emerging Local Plan relating to the Chapel Wharf area 

only. It will not be a statutory planning document. It will have no influence over other 

plans and programmes outside the Chapel Wharf area. 

(c) the relevance of the plan or programme for the integration of environmental 

considerations in particular with a view to promoting sustainable development. 

The DF aims to provide a masterplan of the defined site area (outlined in section 1) and  

will have set clear expectations relating to environmental considerations such as open 

space and green infrastructure, the requirements of which are set out in the Local 

Plan. The DF will be in accordance with the ‘saved’ policy of the UDP and the draft  

policies set out within the emerging Local Plan which promote sustainable development 

and has been subject to a SA. 

(d) environmental problems relevant to the plan or programme The DF will review and assess the site constraints, including those relating to  

‘environmental problems’ such as air quality and noise; however, it is noted that the  

objective of this exercise is to complete a DF for this site, and that these issues have  

already been considered as part of the adopted and emerging policy framework. This 

being the case, there will not be any adverse impacts on the environment relevant to the  

plan. 

(e) the relevance of the plan or programme for the implementation of Community 

legislation on the environment (for example, plans and programmes linked to waste 

management or water protection) 

Not applicable 

Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected  

(a) the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects The DF is not expected to give rise to any significant environmental effects. Conversely, 

it will set out site specific guidance to enhance the area through the regeneration  

framework which will benefit the site through a comprehensive masterplan. Therefore, 

there are likely to be some positive effects, however these will only be realised if any  

future development comes forward in line with the DF which will have their own detailed  

assessments through the planning application process. 

(b) the cumulative nature of the effects The DF is not considered to have any significant cumulative effects and is not thought to  

contribute to cumulative impacts in combination with the policies contained within the  

emerging Local Plan. 

(c) the transboundary nature of the effects The DF is not expected to give rise to any significant transboundary environmental effects, 

being focused on one specific area. 

(d) the risks to human health or the environment (for example, due to accidents) There are no anticipated negative effects of the DF on human health. 

(e) the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the 

population likely to be affected) 

The DF is for a defined area, which is aligning itself with the emerging Local Plan for 

Salford. Therefore, there are likely to be positive effects which are localised. 

Page 212



Page 21 

 

 

A Assessment of Likely Effects Against Criteria 
 

 

 
(f) the value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to: 

(i) special natural characteristics or cultural heritage 

(ii) exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values 

(iii) intensive land-use 

 
The DF will be consistent with both adopted and emerging planning policy and looks to  

build on the relevant policies related to cultural and natural heritage with specific 

reference to the Flat Iron Conservation Area as well as the listed heritage assets falling 

within the red line boundary. The DF looks to align with adopted and emerging policy 

and provide guidance for a better place, therefore it will seek to enhance and protect this 

characteristic – which forms part of the vision and objectives for the DF. These assets 

are also subject to statutory provisions that manage change and their protection. 

Therefore, the DF is not anticipated to adversely affect any special natural characteristics 

or cultural/built heritage. 

In addition, the DF would not be expected to lead to the exceedance of environmental  

standards or promote intensive land use. 

(g) the effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national, Community or 

international protection status. 

The proposals contained within the DF are not expected to have any adverse effect on 

areas with national, community or international protection, rather they will seek to 

enhance the existing area and improve these areas and landscapes. 

Page 213



Page 22 
24 

 

 

B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

 
 

‘SAVED’ POLICIES OF THE CITY OF SALFORD UDP 2004 TO 2016 

 
 

Strategic Policies 

Policy ST 1 Sustainable Urban 
Neighbourhoods 

Development will be required to contribute towards the creation and 
maintenance of sustainable urban neighbourhoods. 

Policy ST 3 Employment Supply Seeks to secure a good range of employment opportunities. 

Policy ST 4 Key Tourism Areas Looks to protect and enhance key sites including Chapel Street and 
Worsley Village and the Bridgewater Canal Corridor as tourism 
destinations. 

Policy ST 5 Transport Networks Looks to maintain and improve multi-modal transport networks. 

Policy ST 7 Mixed-use Development Focussing mixed-use development that minimises the need to travel 
in key areas including the Chapel Street regeneration area, Lower 
Broughton, and other locations well served by public transport. 

Policy ST 9 Retail, Leisure, Social 
and Community 
Provision 

Seeks to ensure provision of comprehensive and accessible range of 
retail, leisure, social and community facilities and provides the retail 
hierarchy for DM purposes. 

Policy ST 10 Recreation Provision Ensuring provision of a range of accessible recreation opportunities. 

Policy ST 12 Development Density Development within the regional centre, town centres, and close to 
key public transport routes and interchanges will be required to 
achieve a high density appropriate to the location and context. 

Policy ST 13 Natural Environmental 
Assets 

Development that would result in an unacceptable impact on any of 
the city's natural environmental assets will not be permitted. 

Policy ST 14 Global Environment Development will be required to minimise its impact on the global 
environment. Major development proposals will be required to 
demonstrate how they will minimise greenhouse gas emissions. 

Policy ST 15 Historic Environment Historic and cultural assets that contribute to the character of the city 
will be preserved and, wherever possible and appropriate, 
enhanced. 

Mixed-use Development 

Policy MX1 Development in Mixed- 
use Areas 

Chapel Street East, Chapel Street West, Salford Quays and Ordsall 
Lane Riverside Corridor are to be developed as vibrant mixed-use 
areas with a broad range of uses and activities - development within 
them will be required to support this. 

Policy MX2 Chapel Street Frontage Requires development along Chapel Street to incorporate active uses 
at ground floor level. Land uses to be consistent with the other 
policies and proposals of the UDP but may include: retail; financial 
and professional services; food and drink; leisure; non-residential 
institutions; and culture and tourism. Office development at ground 
floor level will also be acceptable in less prominent locations, where 
it would not result in a long frontage of office uses. Residential 
development at ground floor level is not appropriate, except 
entrances to such uses. 

Design 

Policy DES 1 Respecting Context Ensuring that development responds to its physical context, respect 
the positive character of the local area in which it is situated, and 
contribute towards local identity and distinctiveness. 

Policy DES 2 Circulation and 
Movement 

Ensuring that the design and layout of new development is 
accessible, user-friendly, safe and there are minimal conflicts 
between different users. 

Policy DES 3 Design of Public Space Ensuring that the design of public space is of the highest quality 
considering the relevant objectives in the policy. 

Policy DES 4 Relationship of 
Development to Public 
Space 

Ensuring that development adjoining public space shall be designed 
to have a strong and positive relationship with that space. 

B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 214



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Policy DES 5 Tall Buildings Setting out the requirements for tall buildings / where they will be 
permitted. 

Policy DES 6 Waterside Development Ensuring that development adjacent to the River Irwell, the 
Manchester Ship Canal, Salford Quays, the Bridgewater Canal, and 
the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal facilitates pedestrian access 
to, along and, where appropriate, across the waterway. 

Policy DES 7 Amenity of Users and 
Neighbours 

All new development, and alterations and extensions to existing 
buildings, will be required to provide potential users with a 
satisfactory level of amenity, in terms of space, sunlight, daylight, 
privacy, aspect, and layout. 

Policy DES 8 Alterations and 
Extensions 

Ensuring that alterations or extensions to existing buildings respect 
the general scale, character, rhythm, proportions, details and 
materials of the original structure and complement the general 
character of the surrounding area. 

Policy DES 9 Landscaping Requirements for hard and soft landscaping as part of development 
proposals. 

Policy DES 10 Design and Crime Encouraging development which incorporates design measures to 
discourage crime, anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime, and 
support personal and property security. 

Housing 

Policy H 1 Provision of New 
Housing Development 

Sets out the requirements for housing development in terms of 
density, size, type, tenure and affordability. 

Policy H 3 Housing Improvement Sets out that refurbishment and adaptation of existing housing stock 
and provision of new and replacement housing will be permitted if 
consistent with the strategy for the regeneration of the area. 

Policy H 4 Affordable Housing Affordable housing to be provided on all residential sites over 1 
hectare, irrespective of the number of dwellings, or in housing 
developments of 25 or more dwellings. 

Policy H 5 Provision of Residential 
Accommodation within 
Existing Buildings 

Sets the requirements for the conversion of non-residential property 
into residential use. 

Policy H 6 Residential Social and 
Community Uses 

Sets the criteria for the development of residential social and 
community uses. 

Policy H 7 Provision of Student 
Accommodation 

Sets the criteria for the development of student accommodation. 

Policy H 8 Open Space Provision 
Associated with New 
Housing Development 

Sets the requirement for the provision of formal and informal open 
space and its maintenance over a twenty-year period. The provision 
shall meet the identified need and is to be provided as part of the 
development or through an equivalent financial contribution based 
on a standard cost per bed space for both capital and maintenance. 

Employment and the Economy 

Policy E 3 Knowledge Capital A Knowledge Capital, consisting of a cluster of knowledge-based 
employment, education-related uses, cultural facilities, and other 
complementary uses, will be developed based around the 
internationally important University of Salford and linking through to 
the universities within the city of Manchester. The primary focus for 
development associated with the establishment of the Knowledge 
Capital will be the “Arc of Opportunity”. 

Policy E 5 Development Within 
Established Employment 
Areas 

Sets the requirements for development within existing employment 
areas. 

Education, health and community facilities 

Policy EHC 3 Provision and 
Improvement of Health 
and Community 
Facilities 

Sets out the requirements for provision of new, and improvements to 
existing, health and community facilities by public, private and 
voluntary agencies. 

  
Page 215



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Accessibility 

Policy A 2 Cyclists, Pedestrians 
and the Disabled 

Ensures adequate provision for safe and convenient access by the 
disabled, other people with limited / impaired mobility, pedestrians 
and cyclists. 

Policy A 4 Railways Encouraging improvements to the city’s railway stations, rail 
infrastructure and rail services. 

Policy A 5 Buses Encouraging provision of Quality Bus Corridors, bus lanes, guided 
busways and other bus priority measures will be permitted, where 
they are consistent with regeneration objectives and other policies 
and proposals of the UDP. 

Policy A 6 Taxis Requires major development ensures satisfactory provision for 
both hackney carriage and private hire taxis where this would be 
compatible with the objectives of improving road safety and 
safeguarding residential amenity. 

Policy A 8 Impact of Development 
on the Highway 
Network 

States that development will not be permitted where it would: 
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the ability of the 
Strategic Route Network to accommodate appropriate traffic flows 
by virtue of traffic generation, access, parking or servicing 
arrangements; or, cause an unacceptable restriction to the 
movement of high, wide, long or heavy vehicles along Abnormal 
Load Routes. 

Policy A 10 Provision of Car, Cycle 
and Motorcycle Parking 
in New Developments 

Sets requirements for parking provision in new developments. 

Policy A 11 Provision of Long Stay 
Commuter Car Parks 

Planning permission will not be granted for long-stay surface 
commuter parking other than when expressly provided in association 
with new development; or for a temporary period on land proposed 
for redevelopment. Permission will only be granted where the 
development would: 
i. provide high levels of personal safety and vehicular security; 
ii. not prejudice the development of the site for other purposes; and 
iii. be consistent with the regeneration strategy of the UDP. 

Policy A 15 Safeguarding Potential 
Transport Routes 

Former railway lines, shown on the proposals map, will be 
safeguarded from developments that would be likely to prevent their 
future reuse as transport routes. 

Environmental protection and improvement   

Policy EN 12 Important Landscape 
Features 

Development that would have a detrimental impact on, or result in 
the loss of, any important landscape feature will not be permitted 
unless the applicant can clearly demonstrate that: 

i. the importance of the development plainly outweighs the nature 
conservation and amenity value of the landscape feature; and 
ii. the design and layout of the development cannot reasonably 
make provision for the retention of the landscape feature. 
If the removal of an important existing landscape feature is permitted 

as part of a development, a replacement of at least equivalent size 

and quality, or other appropriate compensation, will be required 
either within the site, or elsewhere within the area. 

Page 216



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

Policy EN 19 Flood Risk and Surface 
Water 

Development, including the alteration of land levels, will not be 
permitted where it would: i. be subject to an unacceptable risk of 
flooding; ii. materially increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; or 
iii. result in an unacceptable maintenance liability for the city council 
or any other agency in terms of dealing with flooding issues. 
Development that is considered likely to be at risk of flooding, or to 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere materially, will need to be 
accompanied by a formal flood risk assessment that should 
accurately assess the level of flood risk involved. 

Policy EN 22 Resource Conservation Development proposals for more than 100 dwellings or 5,000sqm 
of floorspace will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
that: a. the impact on the conservation of non-renewable resources, 
and on the local and global environments, has been minimised as 
far as practicable; and b. full consideration has been given to the 
use of realistic renewable energy options, and such measures have 
been incorporated into the development where practicable. 

Policy EN 23 Environmental 
Improvement Corridors 

Development along any of the city’s major road, rail and water 
corridors will be required to preserve, or make a positive contribution 
to the corridor’s environment and appearance. 

The City’s Heritage 

Policy CH 1 Works to, and 
Demolition of, Listed 
Buildings 

Sets out the requirements for works to and demolition of listed 
buildings and how this would be considered. 

Policy CH 2 Development Affecting 
the Setting of a Listed 
Building 

Planning permission will not be granted for development that would 
have an unacceptable impact on the setting of any listed building. 

Policy CH 3 Works Within 
Conservation Areas 

Development in conservation areas will only be permitted where it 
would preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. 

Policy CH 4 Demolition of Buildings 
Within Conservation 
Areas 

Sets out the requirements for works to and demolition of buildings 
within conservation areas and how this would be considered. 

Policy CH 8 Local List of Buildings, 
Structures and Features 
of Architectural, 
Archaeological or 
Historic Interest 

The impact of development on any building, structure or feature that 
is identified on the council’s local list of buildings, structures and 
features of architectural, archaeological or historic interest will be a 
material planning consideration. 

Recreation 

Policy R 7 Recreational Use of 
Waterways 

The recreation and leisure potential of the city’s waterways will be 
developed during the plan period; proposals that make provision for 
the recreational and leisure use of the waterways will be permitted 
where they would meet the criteria identified. 

Policy DEV 5 Planning Conditions 
and Obligations 

Development that would have an adverse impact on any interests of 
acknowledged importance or would result in a material increase in 
the need or demand for infrastructure, services, facilities and/or 
maintenance, will only by granted planning permission subject to 
planning conditions or planning obligations that would ensure 
adequate mitigation measures are put in place. 

Policy DEV 6 Incremental 
Development 

On sites within or immediately adjacent to an area identified for 
major development, planning permission will not be granted for 
incremental development that would unacceptably hamper or 
reduce the development options for that wider area 

Page 217



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

SLP:DMP (JANUARY 2020) 
 

A fairer Salford 

Policy F1 An inclusive 
development process 

Encourages developers to involve local residents, businesses and 
other stakeholders throughout the development process. 

Policy F2 Social value and 
inclusion 

Seeks to ensure that all development shall be located, designed, 
constructed and operated so as to maximise its social value and 
contribution to making Salford a more socially inclusive city. 

Policy F3 Inclusive places Requires that all places and developments shall be as inclusive as 

possible, capable of adapting to a broad range of changing needs 

and delivering a high quality of life, where no one is potentially 
excluded because of disability, age, gender, sexuality, ethnicity or 
social class. 

Policy F4 Fairness between 
generations 

Sets the requirements for development which shall promote the 
interests of future generations. 

Climate change 

Policy CC1 Climate change Development shall support Salford becoming carbon neutral by 
2038, through the relevant criteria set out in this policy. 

Efficient and Coordinated Use of Land 

Policy EF1 Efficient Use of Land Encourages efficient use of land; all parts of a site shall have a clear 
and positive purpose. Support will be given to the use of suitable 
previously developed land and appropriate opportunities to 

  remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable 
land. 

Policy EF2 Coordinated 
Development 

Development will not be permitted if it would unacceptably hamper 
or reduce the development options for adjacent sites or the wider 
area. Development must make provision for, and be phased with, 
supporting infrastructure, facilities, and appropriate environmental 
mitigation. 

Planning Conditions and Obligations 

Policy PC1 Planning conditions 
and obligations 

Development that would have an unacceptable adverse impact or 
would result in a material increase in the need or demand for 
infrastructure, services, facilities and/or maintenance, will only be 
granted planning permission subject to planning conditions and/or 
planning obligations that would ensure adequate mitigation 
measures are put in place. 

Area Policies 

Policy AP1 City Centre Salford Set the vision and objectives for City Centre Salford and the 
neighbourhoods contained within it including appropriate land uses. 

Culture and Tourism 

Policy CT1 Policy CT1 Development shall protect and enhance the tourism function of the 
key tourism locations in Salford, including City Centre Salford, in a 
manner consistent with criteria identified. 

Policy CT2 Art and culture Development shall: 

1) Maintain and, where appropriate, enhance the provision of 

cultural activities and facilities across the city, including workspaces 
and studios; and 

2) In the case of major developments, where practicable and 
appropriate to the location, incorporate cultural activities (which may 
include the provision of public realm capable of hosting events and 
performances, as well as cultural space within buildings). 

Page 218



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Housing 

Policy H1 Type of Housing Seeks to ensure a broad mix of housing options across Salford, 
ensuring that identified housing needs can be met. In City Centre 
Salford this means there is no minimum requirement for houses, but 
proposals should incorporate ground floor duplexes and other 
larger dwellings where practicable that enable a wider range of 
households to live in this location. 

Policy H2 Size of dwellings Residential development shall deliver a balanced mix of dwelling 
sizes across Salford, enabling people to access housing with 
sufficient space to meet their needs and support good health. There 
is a requirement for new dwellings to be built to the nationally 
described space standards. 

Policy H3 Housing density Requires that new residential development achieves the minimum 
densities provided in the table within this policy. 

Policy H4 Affordable Housing Sets a minimum 20% affordable housing requirement across the city 
(and higher in some parts where development viability can support 
this) in order to improve the availability of affordable housing in 
Salford to be delivered through a combination of public funding, 
investment by registered providers, and developer contributions, 
enabling people to find a home at a cost they can afford. 

Policy H5 Build to Rent Identifies that build to rent schemes will be supported, particularly 
in City Centre Salford, with key criteria set out in this policy. 

Policy H6 Housing for older 
people 

Requires that all new dwellings meet the accessible and adaptable 
standards under requirement M4(2) of Schedule 1 to the Building 

  Regulations 2010 for England (see Policy D7), except where it can 
be clearly demonstrated that this is impracticable due to site-specific 
constraints. Seeks to support the improvement of existing, and the 
development of new, specialist accommodation, including sheltered 
housing, extra-care housing, nursing homes and residential care 
homes. 

Policy H7 Student housing Identifies that new student housing shall be concentrated within A) 
Within and immediately adjacent to the University of Salford campus 
at Peel Park/Frederick Road B) In close proximity to the University of 
Salford campus at Salford Quays, whilst ensuring that it does not 
detract from the important business, tourism, leisure and residential 
functions of the area. 

A Learning City 

Policy ED2 Residential 
development and 
education places 

Sets the requirements for residential development where they would 
contribute to a projected shortfall in education places. The requisite 
increase in education places proportionate to the number of people 
aged 0-19 that it is likely to accommodate shall be ensure, typically 
through financial contribution. 

Health 

Policy HH1 Development and 
health 

Identifies that Health Impact Assessments will be required for 
development proposals that the city council considers would have 
the potential to have a significant adverse impact on health and 
wellbeing. 

Page 219



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Accessibility   

Policy A1 Supporting sustainable 
transport 

Development shall: 1) Help to reduce the overall need to travel 
through its location, density and mix of uses; 2) Enable a modal shift 
towards more sustainable forms of transport such as walking, cycling 
and public transport; 3) Minimise any adverse impacts on transport 
networks; and 4) Be phased with the provision of sufficient transport 
infrastructure and services. 

Policy A2 Transport hierarchy 
and sustainable streets 

Development and transport infrastructure schemes shall be located 
and designed to promote the hierarchy identified (highest priority 
listed first), helping to maximise the use of those modes towards the 
top of the hierarchy. Also, to support the delivery of more 
sustainable streets. 

Policy A3 Walking and cycling Development and transport infrastructure schemes shall contribute 
to the delivery of walkable and cyclable neighbourhoods and 
support a significant increase in the proportion of journeys made by 
walking and cycling. 

Policy A4 Public transport The following public transport schemes will be supported in order to 
manage the travel demand from development. New development 

shall be consistent with/ facilitate the following schemes: 
1) The expansion of the Metrolink system 

2) Conversion of rail lines to tram-train use, considering how 

accessibility can be maximised having regard to heavy and 
light rail solutions 

3) The enhancement of public transport facilities within City 
Centre Salford and improved connections with the wider 
City Centre. 

4) The development of new and improved public transport 
interchanges, focusing particularly on the town centres and 
rail stations. 

  5) The enhancement of the city’s rail stations, particularly in 
terms of passenger facilities and disabled access. 

6) The electrification of the city’s rail lines. 

7) The further expansion of rapid transit routes along the A580 
East Lancashire Road and elsewhere within the city, 
particularly where this improves the accessibility of key 
employment and leisure locations. 

8) The development of an improved local bus network, 
including the investigation of opportunities for bus priority 
where appropriate. 

Policy A6 Highway network The efficient, effective and safe operation of the city’s highway 
network will be supported through a range of measures set out in 
this policy. 

Policy A7 Motor vehicle parking 
provision and drop-off 
facilities in new 
developments 

Seeks to ensure the amount of parking is inclusive, accessible, 
supports the efficient use of land, does not exceed parking standards 
etc. 

Policy A8 City Centre car parking The provision of surface and public car parking serving the City 
Centre will be carefully controlled, having regard to the measures 
identified within this policy. 

Policy A9 Park and ride facilities Park and ride schemes will be supported where it can be 
demonstrated that they comply with the objectives set out in this 
policy. 

Page 220



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Policy A10 Electric vehicle 
charging points 

The continued development of a network of electric vehicle charging 
points across Salford will be supported, with publicly accessible 
charging infrastructure focused in safe, convenient and accessible 
locations. 

Policy A13 Safeguarding potential 

transport routes 

Former railway lines shown on the Policies Map will be safeguarded 

from developments that would be likely to prevent their future re-use 
as transport routes. Their use for public transport will be encouraged, 
conditional upon pedestrian and cyclist access being retained 
wherever practicable. 

Digital Infrastructure 

Policy DG1 Digital infrastructure New development shall: Enable the enhancement of Salford’s digital 
infrastructure; Incorporate full fibre connections, including ducting 
capable of accommodating more than one digital infrastructure 
provider; and Build in potential for Building Information Modelling, 
through being designed to accommodate existing and future smart 
cities applications including data collection and communications 
facilities. 

Energy 

Policy EG1 Sustainable energy Encourages all developments to accord with the energy hierarchy 
identified in the policy, and the retrofitting of existing buildings with 

measures to reduce energy consumption. For new build 
development: 
A) Residential – shall exceed the fabric energy efficiency required 
under Part L of the Building Regulations 2013 by 19% and meet the 
standard required by any subsequent revision to Part L 
B) Non-residential development of 1,000 square metres or more – 
shall achieve at least BREEAM very good and meet the standard 
required by any subsequent revision to Part L of the Building 
Regulations. 

Policy EG2 Renewable and low 
carbon energy 
schemes 

Encourages developers to incorporate renewable and low carbon 
energy infrastructure into scheme e.g. through solar, wind etc. 

Water 

Policy WA1 Delivering the North 
West River Basin 
Management Plan 

Development must not have an adverse impact on the current overall 
status, or prevent future attainment of ‘good’ status, of any water 
body. Where practicable, development shall take opportunities to 
support the improvement of water bodies to at least ‘good’ status, 
including through: i) The provision and design of green 
infrastructure; ii) Utilisation of sustainable drainage systems; iii) 
Control of pollution; iv) Remediation of contamination; v) 
Naturalisation of watercourses; and vi) Reducing obstacles to the 
movement of wildlife. 

Policy WA2 Water supply and 
water efficiency 

The Thirlmere Aqueduct and the West East Link Main will be 

protected from development that could compromise their physical 

integrity or effective maintenance. Development is encouraged to 
minimise water use as far as practicable by incorporating 
appropriate water efficiency and water recycling measures. 

Page 221



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

Policy WA4 Development and 
flood risk 

Development shall take opportunities to reduce flood risk wherever 
practicable. Development will not be permitted where it would: 
1A) Be subject to an unacceptable risk of flooding, with the 
acceptability of any risk being determined having regard to: The 
likely frequency of a flood event; The likely depth and velocity of any 
flood waters; The vulnerability of the use; The potential impacts on 
any users of the development; and, The potential impacts on any 
buildings and other structures; 
1B) Materially increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; 

1C) Result in an unacceptable maintenance liability in terms of 

dealing with flood-related issues; or 
1D) Require unduly complicated or burdensome emergency 
planning procedures. 

Policy WA5 Surface water and 
sustainable drainage 

Development shall ensure that surface water across the whole site is 
managed in a co-ordinated, sustainable way, helping to minimise 
flood risk and water pollution, promote biodiversity, and secure 
compliance with the North West River Basin Management Plan (see 
Policy WA1) in accordance with the hierarchy set out within the 
policy. 

Design 

Policy D1 Design principles All development shall achieve a high design quality, consistent with 
the ten characteristics set out in the National Design Guide (or any 
subsequent amendments), and two additional principles in the 
interests of achieving the plan objectives. 

Policy D2 Local character and 
distinctiveness 

Seeks to ensure development will protect, enhance and respond to 
any positive character and distinctiveness of the local area, and 
contribute towards local identity. It shall be a positive addition to the 
surrounding area, being integrated within the townscape and 
landscape. 

Policy D3 Layout and access Provides objectives relating to layout and access which should be 
incorporated into any developments. 

Policy D4 Spaces Provides objectives to ensure that all spaces will be accessible, where 
appropriate, to everyone who wants to use them and be designed to 
have a clear purpose and role, which is apparent to all potential 
users. 

Policy D5 Amenity Development shall ensure that it: 1) Provides all potential users with 
an acceptable level of amenity; and 2) Does not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of the users of other buildings 
and spaces. 

Policy D6 Design and crime Development shall be designed to: 1) Minimise the fear of crime; 2) 
Minimise opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour; 3) 
Minimise the threat of terrorism; and 4) Provide surveillance to 
support personal and property security. In particular, development 
shall be designed to: A) Allow for natural surveillance of public 
spaces, means of access and parking areas; B) Encourage activity 
within public areas; C) Avoid new, and where possible remove 
existing, places of concealment; and D) Avoid having a hostile 
appearance. 

Page 222



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

Policy D7 Housing Design Housing shall be designed to: 1) Meet the nationally described 
space standards; 2) Be accessible/ adaptable in accordance with 
requirements of the Building Regulations except where it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this is impracticable due to site-specific 
factors; 3) Provide an appropriate level of outdoor amenity space 
that reflects the type and size of each new dwelling; 
4) Ensure that their occupiers enjoy a high level of amenity - all 
habitable rooms with to have a good level of natural light; 5) 
Exceed the fabric energy efficiency required under the Building 
Regulations by 19% and meet any future revisions to this standard 
6) Make appropriate provision for refuse storage and collection; 
and 7) Incorporate provision for the secure delivery of shopping 
and parcels. 

Policy D8 Alterations and 
extensions 

Identifies that alterations and extensions to existing buildings shall: 

1) Respect the general scale, character, rhythm, proportions, details 
and materials of the original building; 2) Retain and avoid masking 
any key architectural features of the original building; 3) Ensure that 
the resultant building appears as an attractive and coherent whole; 
and 4) Where a heritage asset would be affected, either directly or 
in terms of its setting, preserve the significance of that asset and its 
setting. This does not preclude the use of innovative designs or 
contrasting materials, which in some circumstances may be more 
appropriate than copying the approach in the original building. 

Policy D9 Waterside development Development near to Salford’s waterways (including the River Irwell 
and the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal) shall make a positive 
contribution to their character, environmental quality, public amenity 
value, and role as key walking and cycling routes. 

Heritage 

Policy HE1 Heritage protection Ensures that Salford’s heritage assets and their settings will be 
conserved, and enhanced, ensuring that they continue to make a 
positive contribution to the character/ identity of the city’s 
neighbourhoods. 

Policy HE2 Managing change 
across historic areas 

Development shall: 1) Protect, conserve and enhance the historic 
character of places; and 2) Positively respond to the history and 
stories of the local area, enabling people to understand how the site 
and area have changed over time. 
For Greengate, Salford Central and the Crescent, new development 
shall be carefully designed to ensure it does not detract from the 
large number of assets, including those in neighbouring Manchester 
and where appropriate, opportunities to secure enhancements to 
assets will be sought 

Policy HE3 A positive future for 
heritage assets 

The positive use of heritage assets will be encouraged, helping to 
ensure that they are appropriately maintained; the use secured 
should be consistent with the protection and enhancement of the 
asset’s heritage significance and its sustainable long-term use. The 
original or a historically significant use will typically be the most  
appropriate long-term use for a heritage asset, and where a 
proposal departs from this then the applicant must demonstrate 
why it is not feasible to retain or restore that use original/historic 
use. Uses that provide opportunities for heritage learning and 
public access to and appreciation of heritage will be looked on more 
favourably. 

Page 223



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Policy HE4 Heritage at risk For heritage assets that are at risk, SCC encourages owners to 
address the source of the risk at the earliest opportunity, in a manner 
consistent with the long-term protection of the heritage asset – and 
strongly encouraged to investigate grant funding opportunities. 
Where appropriate, a range of actions may be taken to secure the 
appropriate restoration or maintenance of heritage assets, including 
enforcement action against unauthorised changes, compulsory 
purchase orders, urgent works notices, and dangerous structure 
orders. When assessing a development proposal, the reduction or 
removal of risk to a heritage asset will be considered a public benefit 
that counts in favour of the proposal. 

Policy HE5 Heritage information 
and interpretation 

Requires that all applications that affect the historic environment, 
heritage assets and their setting must be accompanied by a heritage 
assessment. Similarly, where significant potential for below ground 
artefacts or remains has been identified, an archaeological 
investigation will be required prior to the development of the site. 

Policy HE6 Canals Development alongside the line of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury 
Canal shall facilitate its restoration or, where this is not practicable, 
provide open space incorporating walking and cycling routes and 
heritage interpretation features along its line so that the potential for 
future restoration is retained and people can appreciate the history 
of the canal; and 
Development that would prevent or significantly hinder the future 
restoration of the canal or its towpath will not be permitted. 

Green Infrastructure 

Policy GI1 Development and 
green infrastructure 

Development shall protect and enhance the green infrastructure 
network by helping to maximise its extent, interconnectedness, multi- 
functionality, and quality. The policy sets out the requirements for 
developments based on these objectives. 

Policy GI6 Trees, woodland and 
hedgerows 

Seeks to increase the extent of tree cover with an emphasis on native 
species that support wildlife and carbon sequestration. Looks to 
protect and enhance the vital role that trees and hedgerows make to 
environmental quality through a range of measures set out in this 
policy. 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Policy BG2 Development and 
biodiversity 

All development shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity value (at least a 
10% net gain in biodiversity value in major developments). 
Development shall avoid having any adverse impact on the nature 
conservation value of all identified sites, with the weight afforded to 
their protection reflecting their position in the hierarchy (greatest 
weight first) set out within this policy. Where an adverse impact on  
biodiversity is unavoidable then this shall be minimised as far as 
possible and appropriate compensation provided for any remaining 
adverse impacts. 

Page 224



B Schedule of Relevant Planning Policies 

Page 23  
34 

 

 

 

Recreation 

Policy R1 Recreation standards New residential development shall contribute to the achievement of 
the identified recreation standards, and the management and 
maintenance of any facilities provided or improved for at least a 20 
year period, proportionate to the additional demand that they would 
be expected to generate. 

Policy R4 Strategic recreation 
routes 

A network of high quality strategic recreation routes will be protected 
and enhanced. Opportunities will be sought to join up existing routes 
by filling in gaps in the network and to expand routes into other parts 
of the city. The routes will play an important role in connecting 
neighbourhoods with places of work, shops and between strategic 
open spaces, contributing towards public health and quality of life. 
Where practicable, new developments shall connect to the network 
of strategic recreation routes, particularly in terms of enhancing 
pedestrian and cycling accessibility from the development. This 
includes Irwell River Park (The Meadow to Salford Quays), River Irwell 
(Clifton Country Park to The Meadow), and The Meadow. 

Air Quality, Pollution and Hazards 

Policy PH1 Pollution control Development shall minimise and mitigate pollution during both the 
construction and operational phases of development. Development 
will not be permitted where it would result in unacceptable levels of 
pollution, either individually or cumulatively with other existing or 
proposed developments or would itself be subject to unacceptable 
levels of pollution. 

Minerals and Waste 

Policy WM1 Waste and 
development 

Development shall: i) Have regard to the need to minimise, re-use 
and recycle waste generated during the demolition and/or 
construction phase ii) Make provision for waste storage and 
collection iii) Utilise high quality design solutions to minimise any 
adverse visual impact of waste facilities on site. 

Page 225



C Sustainability Objectives C Sustainability Objectives 

Page 35 

 

 

 
 

 

SLP:DMP OBJECTIVES 

SCC has identified 21 sustainability objectives, covering a broad range of issues, for example relating to health, 

biodiversity, air, water, climate, heritage, landscape, prosperity, housing, accessibility, and community cohesion 

against which the policies within the emerging SLP:DMP have been assessed. 

Table B.1 – Sustainability Objectives 
 

No. Theme Objective 

1 Health To improve physical and mental health 

2 Biodiversity, flora and fauna To protect, enhance and restore biodiversity resources 

3 Geodiversity To protect, enhance and restore geological resources 

4 Soil and land To protect and improve soil and land 

resources 

5 Water To protect and enhance water resources 

6 To minimise the risk and impacts of flooding 

7 Air To improve air quality 

8 Climatic factors To minimise contributions to climate change 

9 Material assets To minimise the use of non-renewable resources 

10 Cultural and built heritage To protect, enhance, and enable the appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

11 Landscape and townscape To maintain and enhance the quality and character of landscape and townscape 

12 Amenity To protect and enhance amenity 

13 Crime To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

14 Economic health To maximise economic growth that can be sustained in the long-term 

15 Prosperity To enhance economic inclusion 

16 Education To improve the city’s knowledge base 

17 Housing To ensure that everyone has access to a good home that meets their needs 

18 Accessibility To improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities 

19 Community cohesion To improve community cohesion 

20 Decision-making To increase involvement in decision-making 

21 Image To improve the perceptions of the City 

 

UDP OBJECTIVES 

The adopted UDP sustainability objectives were identical to those included above; however, they also included one 

additional objective relating to population: 

20) To secure a self-sustaining and balanced population sufficient to support a full range of local services. 

Page 226



D Copy of Scoping Letter dated 6 July 2020 

Page 37 

 

 

 
 

 

     Planning 
Salford City Council, Civic Centre 
Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 

 
email plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 
Web www.salford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9th April 2021 
 
 
 
Chapel Wharf Area Development Framework Document 
 
Dear Sir / Madam,   
 
 
The Chapel Wharf area in City Centre Salford is a key regeneration area for Salford City Council. It covers 
approximately 19 hectares and is bordered by the River Irwell, Blackfriars Road, Trinity Way and New 
Bailey Street (please see attached plans for further detail). The area is home to a mix of established 
commercial, community and residential uses, as well as significant rail and road infrastructure, also the 
River Irwell.  
 
In recent years the wider area has seen a significant amount of investment and development activity. This 
pace of change is set to continue over the next 10 years. 
 
The Chapel Wharf area is now the only part of the City Centre Salford strategic growth area not covered 
by a development framework. The potential of the area is significant, but without a clear vision and 
strategy to guide future development, investment and infrastructure interventions, the full potential of the 
area will not be realised. A framework is now required to ensure Chapel Wharf becomes a successful, 
well connected, and vibrant community, which plays its role in the ongoing transformation of City Centre 
Salford.   
 
In this context, the City Council has now commenced work on a development framework document which 
aligns with the emerging Salford Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations 
document in order to create an inviting, attractive and unified place which enhances the City of Salford’s 
economy.  Once adopted by the City Council the new Development Framework will guide development 
and infrastructure schemes in the area for the next 10+ years.  
 
Vision 
 
Chapel Wharf lies at the heart of Central Salford and will be somewhere that invites you to:  
 

• Live sustainably, within easy reach of all the city has to offer in terms of jobs, culture, leisure and 
shopping. 

• Move comfortably through people friendly routes or just spend time in attractive community spaces 
& family play streets.  
 Page 227

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/


D Copy of Scoping Letter dated 6 July 2020 

Page 38 

 

 

 
 

 

 

• Enjoy exploring characterful buildings and re-invented railway arches full of distinctive uses and 
local life.  

• Discover a natural aspect through secret gardens, growing spaces, green streets, and riverside 
walks. 

 
Objectives 
 

• Meeting the needs of a thriving community – cultivate a vibrant mix of uses to help galvanise a 
strong local neighbourhood. 

• Railway arches that are busy, vibrant, diverse, and more accessible places in their own right. 

• An accessible, high quality riverside environment.  

• Reducing the barrier of Trinity Way between Chapel Wharf and Trinity and Blackfriars 
neighbourhoods. 

• Creating accessible open spaces which provide balance and relief from the urban intensity of the 
area and support community life.  

• Comfortable and balanced streets that create an accessible and connected urban area. 

• Animated and activated streets.  

• A more diverse mix of modern, high quality homes. 

• A diversified working neighbourhood with a variety of employment opportunities, especially for 
local residents. 

• A type of development that reflects human scale and attention to details  

• A neighbourhood adaptive to the impacts of climate change – mitigating flood risk and with carbon 
efficient building forms & response spaces. 

• An advanced neighbourhood that embraces the latest technology to make it future proof. 

• A stronger sense of arrival to Chapel Wharf’s major gateways, increasing the place brand of the 
area and protecting heritage assets. 

 
 
Comments to inform the preparation of the Development Framework 
 
We would welcome any comments which will assist us in preparing the Development Framework. We 
would welcome responses to the following questions: 
 
1) Do you agree with the proposed red line boundary, shown edged red on the enclosed plan, which 

establishes the extent of the regeneration area? 
2) Do you agree with the vision for the future of the area and what the Development Framework is 

aiming to create? 
3) Do you agree with the objectives proposed to achieve the vision for the area? 
4) What key themes do you think the Development Framework should cover (i.e. traffic, heritage, 

blue-green infrastructure) and what key issues should it seek to address?  
5) Do you have any other comments to make on the proposed Development Framework at this 

stage? 
 
Submission of Comments 
 
All comments should be received by the City Council no later than the 12th May 2021.  
 
Comments may be submitted by any of the following means:  
 

• By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk   

• By post to:  
 

Page 228

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


D Copy of Scoping Letter dated 6 July 2020 

Page 39 

 

 

Chapel Wharf Development Framework Document consultation  
Spatial Planning  
Salford Civic Centre  
Chorley Road  
Swinton  
M27 5BY  

 
As a Council, we would like to reduce use of paper wherever possible and so support email as a means of 
communication for all who have email access. If you have received this letter by post and do have access 
to email, I would be grateful if you could provide an email address for future correspondence. 
 
Subject to the nature of comments received, we intend to prepare a Draft Development Framework 
Document, which will be subject to formal consultation later this year. 
 
If you have any queries regarding the production of the Chapel Wharf Development Framework 
Document please contact the spatial planning team via plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk or by 
telephoning 0161 793 3782.  
 
Data protection 
 
Please note that all comments will be held by Salford City Council and will be available to view publicly. 
Comments cannot be treated as confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and e-mail 
address will not be published, but your name and organisation (if relevant) will. 
 
In responding to this consultation your contact details will automatically be added to the Council’s 
planning policy consultation database. If you do not want to be contacted about future stages of the 
Chapel Wharf Development Framework Document, or other planning policy documents, please let us 
know in your response. 

 
Yours faithfully, 

 

 
 
James Shuttleworth  
Head of Planning 
 
Encs. Proposed Development Framework Boundary Plan  

Page 229

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



savills.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

  

1.1.1   

 March 2022 

   

   

 

Chapel Wharf Development 
Framework Salford 

 

   

   

 
Built Heritage Significance Chapter 

 
 

 
 

 

   

Page 231



 

 

Salford City Council 
 
 

March 2022 
 
 

ii 
 
 

Project: Chapel Wharf Development Framework Salford   

Client: Salford City Council   

Job Number: 601207  

 
Document: Chapel Wharf Development Framework Salford - Built Heritage Significance Chapter  
  
 
Prepared by: 

 
Edward Lee 
Consultant 
Heritage and Townscape 
 
 
Lucy Williams  
Senior Consultant  
Heritage and Townscape 
 
Henry Ryde,  
Director  
Heritage and Townscape 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 232



 

 

Salford City Council 
 
 

March 2022 
 
 

iii 
 
 

Contents 

0.0 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

1.0 Conservation Areas (in study area) ............................................................................................................. 4 

2.0 Statutory Listed Buildings / Structures (in study area and conservation area) ............................................ 6 

9.0 Statutory Listed Buildings / Structures (in study area and outside conservation area) ............................. 15 

22.0 Statutory Listed Buildings / Structures (directly adjacent to study area) ................................................... 38 

24.0 Locally Listed Buildings / Structures (in study area and conservation area) ............................................. 41 

27.0 Locally Listed Buildings / Structures (in study area and outside conservation area) ................................ 47 

28.0 Locally Listed Buildings / Structures (directly adjacent to study area) ...................................................... 47 

30.0 Unidentified Locally Listed Buildings / Structures  (in study area and outside conservation area) ........... 51 

31.0 Further Built Heritage Assets ..................................................................................................................... 52 

32.0 Appendix A: Built Heritage Asset Map ....................................................................................................... 53 

 

 

Assumptions and Limitations 

 

This report is compiled using primary and secondary information derived from a variety of sources, only some 

of which have been directly examined. The assumption is made that this data, as well as that derived from 

other secondary sources, is reasonably accurate. 

 

Page 233



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 2 

   

0.0 Introduction 

0.1 Scope of works and methodology  

0.1.1 Savills Heritage and Townscape have prepared a standalone heritage chapter for inclusion within the 

Development Framework for the Chapel Wharf area of Salford. The heritage chapter is limited to setting 

out the significance of each of the heritage assets identified within the Chapel Wharf Study Area. This 

chapter is designed to embellish and provide a robust heritage baseline context for the Development 

Framework. It should be referred to as ‘Chapel Wharf Development Framework, Salford - Built Heritage 

Significance Chapter (Savills Heritage and Townscape, 2022)’ 

0.1.2 The chapter assesses the ‘significance’ of the heritage assets within the study area in accordance with 

the principle of their significance, comprising the sum of their ‘heritage interest(s)’. These heritage 

interests are categorised as archaeological, historic, architectural / aesthetic. This follows the accepted 

best practice approach to assessing the significance of heritage assets - as set out in both the National 

Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) and Historic England Advice Note 12 (HEA12) ‘Statements of 

Heritage Significance’ (October 2019).  

0.1.3 The assessment of significance also includes an assessment of the setting(s) of the identified heritage 

assets, and / or their character and appearance (in the case of conservation areas). This is completed 

in accordance with Historic Environment Good Practice Advice Note 3 (GPA3) ‘The Setting of Heritage 

Assets’ (December 2017) and / or considers this within the context of Historic England Advice Note 1 

(HEA1) ‘Conservation Area Appraisal Designation and Management’ (February 2019), where relevant. 

Together these comprise further adopted best practice Historic England guidance for completing the 

assessment within this heritage chapter.  

0.1.4 The heritage assets included for assessment comprise designated and non-designated built heritage 

assets within the study area, or located directly adjacent to it. This includes 30 built heritage assets: 1 

conservation area, 22 statutory listed buildings (formed of 22 list entries, of which 3 are Grade II* and 

19 are Grade II), 6 locally listed buildings and 1 building yet to be included on the local list, but informally 

considered by SCC to be worthy of inclusion as a locally listed building during the process of preparing 

this Built Heritage Significance Chapter.  

0.1.5 A series of further built heritage assets are noted at the end of the chapter. These sit near, but not 

Page 234



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 3 

   

directly adjacent to, the study area. They include 1 conservation area, 2 statutory listed buildings and 

1 locally listed building. They are identified alongside the other 30 built heritage assets in the 

accompanying map at the end of this Built Heritage Significance Chapter (Appendix A). When 

understanding the context of the Development Framework, these additional built heritage assets should 

be considered in addition to those provided in detail within this Built Heritage Significance Chapter, as 

should wider built heritage assets that may share a setting with the study area. This Built Heritage 

Significance Chapter is not an exhaustive analysis of the built heritage context.    

0.1.6 The 30 identified built heritage assets to be include for significance assessment are set out as: 

Conservation Areas (CAs) – Inside study area 

1. Flat Iron Conservation Area (CA). 

 

Statutory listed structures – Inside study area and a CA  

2. Victoria Bridge, Victoria Bridge Street – Grade II (The Cathedral CA). 

3. The Crown Tavern, 24 Blackfriars Street – Grade II (Flat Iron CA). 

4. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street – Grade II (Flat Iron CA). 

5. 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street – Grade II (Flat Iron CA). 

6. The Punch Bowl Public House, 81 Chapel Street and No. 4 Both Street – Grade II (Flat Iron 

CA). 

7. War memorial at Sacred Trinity Church, Chapel Street – Grade II (Flat Iron CA). 

8. Church of The Sacred Trinity, Trinity Market, Chapel Street – Grade II* (Flat Iron CA). 

Statutory listed structures – Inside study area and outside a CA 

9. Blackfriars Bridge, Blackfriars Street – Grade II. 

10. Albert Bridge, Bridge Street West – Grade II. 

11. Southern Railway Viaduct and Colonnade, New Bailey Street – Grade II*. 

12. Central Railway Viaduct, New Bailey Street – Grade II. 

13. Northern Railway Viaduct, New Bailey Street – Grade II. 

14. Chapel Street and Hope United Reformed Church, Chapel Street – Grade II. 

15. Number 6 and Salford House, Bloom Street – Grade II. 

16. Arlington House, Bloom Street – Grade II. 

17. Kings Arms Public House, Bloom Street – Grade II. 

18. Chesters Salford Brewery, Cook Street – Grade II. 

19. Former Manchester Swimming Baths, 31 Blackfriars Road – Grade II. 

20. Manchester Tennis and Racquet Club, 33 Blackfriars Road – Grade II*. 

21. Black Friar Public House, Blackfriars Road– Grade II. 

Statutory listed structures – Directly adjacent to study area  

22. 62 Chapel Street – Grade II (directly adjacent to Flat Iron CA).  

23. Independent Chapel, Chapel Street – Grade II. 

Locally listed structures – Inside study area and a CA (Flat Iron CA) 

24. 65, 67 & 69 (The Black Lion Public House), Chapel Street (Flat Iron CA). 

Page 235



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 4 

   

25. 88, 90 and 92 (Caxton Hall), Chapel Street (Flat Iron CA). 

26. 91 (Rovers Return Public House), Chapel Street (Flat Iron CA). 

Locally listed structures – Inside study area and outside a CA  

27. 29 (Former Sacred Trinity Schools), Blackfriars Road. 

Locally listed structures – Directly adjacent to study area  

28. 2 (Egerton Arms Public House), Gore Street. 

29. 52 - 60, Chapel Street. 

Unidentified Locally listed structures – Inside study area and outside a CA  

30. 27 Blackfriars Road. 

0.1.7 The following statements of significance define the heritage interest(s) and setting of the heritage 

assets identified within or directly adjacent to the study area. They provide a built heritage baseline for 

the Chapel Wharf Development Framework.   

1.0 Flat Iron Conservation Area – Heritage asset no.1. 

Description 

1.1.1 The Flat Iron Conservation Area was designated in 1978 with no subsequent amendments or 

extensions. The boundaries of the conservation area are tailored specifically to encompass a triangular 

shaped plot of land totalling 3.36 acres that includes a number of eighteenth, nineteenth and early 

twentieth century buildings associated with the commercial and residential core of the original town of 

Salford as it developed after the eighteenth century. The Flat Iron conservation area derives its name 

from the triangular shaped plot of land which contained both Trinity Church and the accompanying 

markets surrounding it to the north and west which altogether give the area its name, resembling the 

shape of flat, hot coal heated iron once used for ironing clothes. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

1.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

1.1.3 The architectural interest of the Flat Iron Conservation Area is owed to the varied collection of buildings, 

all of which are indicative of various phases of development since the seventeenth century. Initially the 

crenellated church tower of the Sacred Trinity marks the earliest development phase, followed by the 

classical style eighteenth century body of the church. Marking the second stage of development are a 

Page 236



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 5 

   

number of three storey late Georgian public houses, defined by their sash windows, shallow pitch roofs 

and architectural decoration. Buildings of an altogether more decorative style mark the third phase of 

development, defined by late Victorian and early Edwardian architecture. Nos 10 and 12, 14 and 16 

Blackfriars Street, Rovers Return and Caxton Hall exemplify this well, utilising combinations of the 

Flemish Renaissance style, as well as Jacobean and Queen Anne styles.  

1.1.4 Historic interest  

1.1.5 The land and built environment included within the conservation area stems from various piecemeal 

developments stemming from the establishment of the Church of the Sacred Trinity during the 

seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. This was then followed by a second stage of development during 

the early nineteenth century when Blackfriars Bridge, the Crown Tavern and The Punch Bowl Public 

House were constructed to accommodate travellers, local residents and workers within a now 

expanding industrial and residential quarter of Salford. This rapid urban expansion and associated 

grander architectural scale would manifest in the final stage of development during the latter nineteenth 

century in the form of highly decorative and imposing civic and industrial buildings, namely Nos 10 and 

12 as well as 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street.  

1.1.6 Archaeological interest  

1.1.7 The archaeological interest of the Flat Iron Conservation Area can be found in how it provides an insight 

into the way in which this area of Salford was developed and the lives of its early inhabitants; this can 

be found in both the built fabric of the various historic buildings here and the overall urban character of 

the conservation area, as well as the interrelationship between the two.  

1.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

1.1.9 The extent to which the Flat Iron Conservation Area derives heritage importance from its surroundings 

is mixed. As outlined, the conservation area is comparatively small and is specifically tailored to a multi-

phase built environment illustrative of the redevelopment of the original core of Salford. Scatterings of 

nineteenth and early twentieth century industrial and civic buildings punctuate the townscape to the 

north and east, specific examples include the remnants of the nineteenth century railway, as well as 

early twentieth century police station and neighbouring industrial buildings. The conservation area can 

furthermore be said to interrelate with the adjacent River Irwell, with the public houses, warehouses 

Page 237



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 6 

   

and offices likely to have been strategically established to accommodate workers, travellers and goods. 

The extended setting can generally be said to make less of a contribution, defined by medium-high rise 

developments that fragment inter-visibility to and from the conservation area and overall lend it a 

comparatively insular setting.  

2.0 Victoria Bridge – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 1254723) – 

Heritage asset no.2. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1254723  

Description 

2.1.1 Victoria Bridge comprises an early nineteenth century sandstone bridge that crosses the River Irwell. 

The bridge was constructed between 1837 and 1839, with stone voussoirs lining a semi-elliptical arch. 

Victoria Bridge was assigned Grade II listed status on 20th June 1988, with one subsequent 

amendment to this on 6th June 1994.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

2.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

2.1.3 The architectural interest of the Victoria Bridge relates to its plan form, craftsmanship and decoration. 

In its appearance and scale the Victoria Bridge is characteristic of a later early modern bridge: the 

voussoirs, moulded string course and Grecian scrolls are indicative of popular nineteenth century 

architectural styles and highlight the perceived importance that the bridge was constructed with.  

2.1.4 Historic interest  

2.1.5 Victoria Bridge derives its historic interest from its closely intertwined social, cultural and economic 

importance. Namely the way in which it evidences a locally important nineteenth century access point 

into the city that would have facilitated trade and acted as a landmark. Factoring into this consideration 

is the derivable importance from the well preserved nature of the building fabric and the social 

connotations derived from its appearance, namely the popularity of classical architecture evidenced 

through the Grecian scrolls.   

Page 238

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1254723


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 7 

   

2.1.6 Archaeological interest  

2.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Victoria Bridge would possess relates to any areas of original fabric 

and the subsequent insight into the way in which the structure and area developed, as well as the lives 

of inhabitants as well as visitors to the city since the later early modern period.  

2.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

2.1.9 The extent to which the Victoria Bridge derives heritage importance from its surroundings is mixed. 

Within the immediate setting the bridge relates principally to the River Irwell, forming a focal point for 

crossing the river since the early nineteenth century. Although much of the extended setting is 

characterised by comparatively imposing medium-high rise development, Blackfriars Bridge to the 

south, the Mitre Hotel to the east, alongside the Sinclairs Oyster Bar building form part of a surviving 

early modern built environment. The placement of these buildings strategically interrelates with the 

bridge which would have provided access to them from the west.  

3.0 The Crown Tavern – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 1386084) 

– Heritage asset no.3. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386084?section=official-

list-entry  

Description 

The Crown Tavern is an early nineteenth century public house, previously constructed from painted 

brick, the building is now faced in red brick, symmetrical in appearance, with hierarchically placed sash 

windows at first and second floor levels. The ground floor is highly decorated in appearance, with yellow 

and green ceramic tiles and semi-circular sash windows and inset doorways. The Crown Tavern Public 

House was assigned Grade II listed status on 18th January 1980 with no subsequent amendments.   

Heritage interests (significance) 

3.1.1 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

3.1.2 The Crown Tavern derives its architectural interest from its plan form and decoration. The symmetrical 

Page 239

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386084?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386084?section=official-list-entry


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 8 

   

appearance of the building, sash windows and shallow-pitch roof, as well as depth are all indicative of 

a nineteenth century building typology. The interest is further heightened by the elaborate decoration 

at ground floor level, the multi-colored ceramic tiles, semi-circular sash windows and recessed 

doorways which are indicative of contemporary decorative styles and craftsmanship. 

3.1.3 Historic interest  

3.1.4 The historic interest of the Crown Tavern is attributed to its socio-cultural significance as one of the 

many public houses that were established both locally and nationally throughout the nineteenth century 

that served as coaching waystations. Concurrently the building is also of illustrative importance in 

evidencing the built environment of early nineteenth century Manchester. 

3.1.5 Archaeological interest  

3.1.6 Any archaeological interest that the Crown Tavern would possess relates to any areas of original fabric 

and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the lives 

of inhabitants as well as visitors to the city since the later early modern period.  

3.1.7 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

3.1.8 The Crown Tavern principally derives heritage importance from its immediate setting, and the way in 

which its placement relates strategically to the road and Blackfriars Bridge (c. 1820), concurrently 

forming part of a nineteenth century streetscape. The adjacent Nos. 10-12 and 14-16 Blackfriars were 

both constructed during the late nineteenth century, with Blackfriars Bridge beyond having been 

established by 1820. A number of statutory listed late nineteenth and early twentieth century buildings 

punctuate the extended setting, however, intervening built form does not allow them to read coherently 

alongside the Crown Tavern. 

4.0 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386083) – Heritage asset no.4. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386083?section=official-

list-entry  

Page 240

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386083?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386083?section=official-list-entry


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 9 

   

Description 

4.1.1 Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street comprise a set of late nineteenth century offices and warehouses. 

The buildings are of a characteristically High Victorian appearance, with an abundant use of red brick 

and decorated dressed stone. The ground floor of the buildings has a central focal chamfered Norman 

arch, flanked by Corinthian pilasters. A dentil cornice surmounts the building, with semi-circular and 

triangular arched recessed windows lining the intervening space. Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars was 

assigned Grade II listed status on 12th August 1976.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

4.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

4.1.3 Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street derive their architectural interest from their plan form and the 

craftsmanship employed in their decoration. In its layout the building is of a characteristically late 

Victorian imposing scale, tailored to accommodate large amounts of storage space. The high level of 

craftsmanship is evidenced through the employment of dressed stone at ground floor level, lined with 

Corinthian pilasters and a central chamfered doorway, defined at each end by corbel decoration. Above 

this are a rows of symmetrically aligned round arch and gothic style windows, surmounted at roof level 

by a dentil cornice.  

4.1.4 Historic interest  

4.1.5 The historic interest of Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street relates to the socio-cultural importance that 

can be derived from their appearance, namely as a set of high status nineteenth century offices and 

warehouses, evidenced by the imposing scale and status-associated ecclesiastical and classical 

decoration. Relatedly the well preserved nature of the building fabric heightens this overall interest.  

4.1.6 Archaeological interest  

4.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street would possess relates to any areas 

of original fabric, and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

4.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

Page 241



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 10 

   

4.1.9 Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street primarily derives heritage importance from its immediate setting, and 

the way in which its placement relates strategically to the river and road, concurrently forming part of a 

nineteenth century streetscape. The building contextually relates to the directly bordering Nos. 10-12, 

also a warehouse and offices built during the later nineteenth century. A number of statutory listed late 

nineteenth and early twentieth century buildings punctuate the extended setting, however intervening 

built form does not allow them to read coherently alongside Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street.  

5.0 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386082) – Heritage asset no.5. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386082  

Description 

5.1.1 Nos. 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street comprise a highly decorated set of offices and warehouses built in 

1884 to the designs of F.H. Oldham. The building is of five storey height, faced in ashlar and constructed 

in the Flemish Renaissance style: this is defined by Corinthian pilasters with oriel and recessed bay 

windows, gothic arch fenestration and surmounted by a gable with ogee and trefoil decoration.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

5.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

5.1.3 Nos. 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street derives architectural interest from its plan form and the craftsmanship 

employed in its decoration. In its layout the building is of a characteristically late Victorian imposing 

scale, tailored to accommodate large amounts of storage space. The high level of craftsmanship is 

evidenced through the elaborate and abundant employment of ashlar stone, with the principal elevation 

defined by bays, oriel windows, multifoil arches, mullion windows and gables. The association of the 

building with the architect F.H. Oldham who operated principally in the Yorkshire and Manchester area 

heightens the overall architectural interest. 

5.1.4 Historic interest  

5.1.5 As with the adjacent Nos. 14 and 16 Blackfriars Street, the historic interest of this building relates to 

Page 242

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386082


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 11 

   

the socio-cultural importance that can be derived from its appearance, namely as a set of high status 

nineteenth century offices and warehouses, evidenced by the imposing scale and status-associated 

renaissance and ecclesiastical decoration. Relatedly the well preserved nature of the building fabric 

heightens this overall interest.  

5.1.6 Archaeological interest  

5.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Nos. 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street would possess relates to any areas 

of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

5.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

5.1.9 Nos. 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street primarily derives heritage importance from its immediate setting, and 

the way in which its placement relates strategically to the river and road, concurrently forming part of a 

nineteenth century streetscape. The building contextually relates to the directly bordering Nos. 14 and 

16, also a warehouse and offices built during the later nineteenth century. A number of statutory listed 

late nineteenth and early twentieth century buildings punctuate the extended setting, however 

intervening built form does not allow them to read coherently alongside the Nos. 10 and 12 Blackfriars 

Street.  

6.0 Punch Bowl Public House – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386114) – Heritage asset no.6. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386114  

Description 

6.1.1 Nos. 81 Chapel Street and No. 4 Booth Street (The Punch Bowl Public House) is a public house 

constructed in 1817 occupying a prominent corner position. The building is characteristically late 

Georgian in appearance, defined by its sash windows, three storey height, dressed stone lintels and 

dentil cornice. The building was assigned Grade II listed status on 9th March 1989. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

Page 243

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386114


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 12 

   

6.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

6.1.3 The architectural interest of Nos. 81 Chapel Street and No. 4 Booth Street is attributed to its plan form 

and appearance, both indicative of nineteenth century vernacular styles. Like a number of public 

houses nationally, the building is tailored to a corner plot, giving it a prominent position within the street. 

The building was originally constructed with diminishing order sash windows lined either side with 

console brackets. The principal elevations are further characterised by a dressed stone band lining the 

second floor, with lintels of the same material placed under each window.   

6.1.4 Historic interest  

6.1.5 The historic interest of Nos. 81 Chapel Street and No. 4 Booth Street is derived from its socio-cultural 

value as a nineteenth century public house. This relates to the way in which the building would have 

served local residents and workers following its construction, occupying a focal corner position along 

Chapel Street in close proximity to other institutional buildings, houses and shops. Despite some later 

alterations the building retains the majority of its original exterior fabric.  

6.1.6 Archaeological interest  

6.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Nos. 81 Chapel Street and No. 4 Booth Street would possess relates 

to any areas of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area 

developed, as well as the lives of its users.  

6.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

6.1.9 Nos. 81 Chapel Street and No. 4 Booth Street principally derive heritage importance from their 

immediate setting: the building forms part of a cohesive nineteenth century streetscape, alongside the 

adjacent Nos. 65 to 89 Chapel Street, all buildings of a similar scale, red brick material palette and 

context. Although of a marginally different context, the Church of the Sacred Trinity acts as a focal point 

for the buildings, with the latter oriented toward the church. Interspersed throughout the extended 

setting are a number of nineteenth and early twentieth century buildings, as well as train bridge, lining 

Chapel Street and encircling the church. Despite sporadic later infill the presence of these structures 

allow the building to read legibly within its setting. 

Page 244



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 13 

   

7.0 War Memorial at Sacred Trinity Church – Grade II statutory listed (list 

entry no. 1441038) – Heritage asset no.7. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1441038  

Description 

7.1.1 The War Memorial at Sacred Trinity Church comprises a wheel-head cross constructed from rough-

hewn granite. The memorial was assigned Grade II listed status on 14th June 2017, and forms part of 

a focal group within and including the church and its grounds.   

Heritage interests (significance) 

7.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

7.1.3 The war memorial is considered of architectural interest for its simple and dignified design as a granite 

wheel-head cross.  

7.1.4 Historic interest  

7.1.5 The historic interest of the memorial is owed to its socio-cultural value, being a material marker and 

witness to the tragic impact of the First World War upon the local community, as well as on a national 

level.  

7.1.6 Archaeological interest  

7.1.7 The archaeological interest of the war memorial would relate to its surviving original fabric and the 

subsequent insight into its relationship with the church and local community. 

7.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

7.1.9 In terms of physical architectural and historic context, the war memorial shares little with the 

encompassing immediate and extended setting. However, its status, alongside that of war memorials 

nationally as a communal marker allows it to inform and derive heritage importance from its 

surroundings. 

Page 245

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1441038


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 14 

   

8.0 Church of the Sacred Trinity – Grade II* statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386185) – Heritage asset no.8. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386185  

Description 

8.1.1 The Church of the Sacred Trinity comprises a multi-phase ecclesiastical building, with a tower 

constructed in 1635 and the principal body of the building established in 1752, finalised with a later 

Victorian restoration. The tower of the building is surmounted by a crenellated parapet, with the nave 

and chancel of two storey height and integrating elements of classical architecture, principally the dentil 

cornice and pilaster lined windows. The church was assigned Grade II* listed status on 31st January 

1952. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

8.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

8.1.3 The architectural interest of the church is closely intertwined with its historic interest, namely that the 

building comprises a multi-phase ecclesiastical structure, with the respective architectural styles on 

display indicative of the popular architecture of the period in which they were constructed: examples 

being the eighteenth century dentil cornice and pilasters. In addition, the building is considered to be 

importance owing to its age and the well preserved nature of its fabric. The church is rich in architectural 

detail, the decorated style window, triglyph frieze and iron weather vane are among a few examples of 

this.  

8.1.4 Historic interest  

8.1.5 The Church of the Sacred Trinity is considered to be of historic interest in relation to the role the building 

played in the early modern development of the area from the seventeenth century onwards: relatedly 

the church is one of the oldest surviving buildings within the immediate context and would have 

originally served the religious needs of the inhabitants of the area and is therefore an integral and 

historically important landmark. Relatedly, the historic interest is heightened further by the evident 

phased development of the building, with the seventeenth, eighteenth and nineteenth century phases 

Page 246

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386185


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 15 

   

indicative of the perceived importance the building was instilled with throughout the early modern 

period.  

8.1.6 Archaeological interest  

8.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Church of the Sacred Trinity would possess relates to any areas of 

original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

8.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

8.1.9 In terms of its physical architectural and historic context the Church of the Sacred Trinity, being among 

one of the oldest buildings within the immediate setting and surrounded by later developments, neither 

derives importance from or contributes to its setting. However, as an important communal building the 

church would have attracted built development and this is evident in the orientation of and placement 

of the nineteenth century terraces that line the road. In relation to the extended setting, the church can 

be said to contextually interrelate with a number of early modern structures to the north-east, namely 

the group centered around and including the Cathedral Church of St. Mary, the Old Wellington Inn and 

the site of the Hanging Bridge; all of which cumulatively illustrate the early development and built 

environment that characterised the area.  

9.0 Blackfriars Bridge, Blackfriars Street – Grade II statutory listed (list 

entry no.1279490) – Heritage asset no.9.  

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1279490?section=official-

list-entry  

Description  

9.1.1 Grade II listed late-Georgian sandstone ashlar public road bridge across the River Irwell designed by 

Thomas Wright of Salford and reputedly named after Blackfriars Bridge in London. Created as part of 

ongoing wider access improvements between Salford and Manchester over what was an often 

treacherous watercourse. An historic bridge – including simple but effective engineering features – of 

both special architectural and historic interest. Much altered immediate, wider and extended setting 

Page 247

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1279490?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1279490?section=official-list-entry


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 16 

   

offering a variable contribution to its heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance)  

9.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest 

9.1.3 The special architectural interest of the structure is demonstrable in its robust classical style which also 

included carefully considered and subtle engineering features. It is described by Pevsner as, "three 

stately arches with coupled Ionic columns rising from cutwaters". 

9.1.4 The late-Georgian sandstone ashlar public road bridge was designed by Thomas Wright of Salford, 

whose winning designs were submitted as part of a lucrative tender / competition. The resultant bridge 

is formed of three semi-circular arches embellished with vermiculated (Coadesque) rusticated 

voussoirs. These spring from triangular cutwaters rising from the water, forming engineering features 

intended to shed debris and avoid blockages, as well as regulate water flow and sought to avoid 

creating dangerous currents (hydraulic backdrafts) within the River Irwell that might undermine the 

bridge. Atop the cutwaters sit piers with rounded ends from which rise pairs of Ionic semi-columns. 

Above these component parts runs a plain frieze and dentil cornice band, each breaking forward over 

the columns. Modern fabric sits above, forming the vehicular and pedestrian closed bottle balustrades 

– although this seeks to reference the characteristics of the original fabric, it is not of special 

architectural interest.  

9.1.5 Historic interest 

9.1.6 The special historic interest of the bridge is derived from its age and association with historic access 

improvements over the River Irwell. It forms an example of the significant measures taken via an Act 

of Parliament to make public access improvements between Salford and Manchester over the River 

Irwell in the early-mid-19th century. 

9.1.7 The bridge reputedly opened in 1820 after a year and a half of construction. It replaced an earlier timber 

footbridge built in the mid-18th century (c.1761) which was failing. The latter had been removed by 1817 

following an Act of Parliament which was designed to increase and improve access across the River 

Irwell. The Act ensured that the bridge's construction and maintenance costs were recouped through 

tolls, but this ceased once all debts taken out to fund it were paid off – with the bridge's tollgate 

subsequently removed by 1848.  

Page 248



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 17 

   

9.1.8 Archaeological interest 

9.1.9 The archaeological interest of the bridge is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity and connectivity within Salford and Manchester. 

9.1.10 Setting (immediate and wider / extended)  

9.1.11 The immediate setting is defined by the historic watercourse (River Irwell) that the bridge originally 

served to span. This remains present and contributes strongly to an understanding of its historic use 

(defining its purpose) and heritage interests (its significance).   

9.1.12 The wider and extended setting of the bridge has substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 21st 

century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage interests 

(significance). This includes modern footbridges and two further historic bridges to the northeast and 

southwest (Victoria and Albert). The latter are both later in date, but historic. They are somewhat 

removed but contribute strongly to the bridge’s historic interest as a rare surviving feature of the historic 

water course. They do so by forming comparable examples of historic structures which were also built 

with the ambition of better connecting the population of Salford and Manchester over the River Irwell. 

Further historic buildings on the northern side of the bridge, lining Blackfriars Bridge Street (west side), 

and the National Buildings further down the south eastern side of the River Irwell, also form part of the 

wider and extending setting of the bridge, albeit they are later in date and are somewhat removed, 

making a limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the bridge.  

10.0 Albert Bridge, Bridge Street West – Grade II statutory listed (list entry 

no.1293278) – Heritage asset no.10.  

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1293278?section=official-

list-entry  

Description  

10.1.1 A Grade II listed early-Victorian Bolton stone public road bridge across the River Irwell, designed by 

celebrated and influential bridge engineer George Watson Buck. Created as part of ongoing wider 

access improvements between Salford and Manchester over what was an often treacherous 

Page 249

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1293278?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1293278?section=official-list-entry
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/George_W._Buck


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 18 

   

watercourse. An historic bridge created using complex engineering techniques that is of both special 

architectural and historic interest. Much altered immediate, wider and extended setting offering a 

variable contribution to its heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance)  

10.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest 

10.1.3 The special architectural interest of the bridge is derived from its innovative engineering, forming a 

single skew / oblique arch stone bridge, which responded to the need to span the river at an unusual 

angle (not a right angle). Such engineering resulted in the faces of the arch not being perpendicular to 

abutments, and the subsequent creation of a parallelogram rather than a regular rectangular plan. The 

associated construction requires precise angular stonecutting. Whilst seen historically, stone bridges 

of this nature were rare and only employed in exceptional circumstances due to the associated costs 

and precise engineering required. 

10.1.4 The robust single span oblique arch bridge is built in a classical style. It is of sandstone (Bolton) block 

ashlar, including voussoirs, pilasters, pilaster terminals and a moulded stringcourse. All are set beneath 

parapets forming the balustrades, atop which sit four cast iron streetlamps. To the centre of each 

parapet is a raised blank panel. This period, classical detailing / decoration, although understated, 

contributes to its special architectural interest.  

10.1.5 Historic interest 

10.1.6 The special historic interest of the bridge is derived from its age and association with historic access 

improvements over the River Irwell. It forms an example of the significant measures taken to make 

public access improvements between Salford and Manchester over the River Irwell in the early-mid-

19th century. In addition, its association with the innovative engineer George Watson Buck whom 

designed Albert Bridge in 1844 adds to this.  

10.1.7 Albert Bridge formed a replacement for an earlier late-18th century structure, New Bailey Bridge, which 

was failing following the end of tolls for its use in 1803. It subsequently required preplacement and 

formed one of the many measures taken to make public access improvements between Salford and 

Manchester over the River Irwell in the early-mid-19th century. 

Page 250

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Abutments
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Parallelogram
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rectangle
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stonemasonry
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/George_W._Buck


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 19 

   

10.1.8 The problem of building skew arch masonry bridges was addressed by a number of early civil 

engineers and mathematicians, including Buck. Buck had worked on both the Manchester and 

Birmingham and the London and Birmingham Railway, the latter under Robert Stephenson. Buck wrote 

a book that was acknowledged as the definitive work on the subject of the helicoidal skew arch and 

remained a standard text book for railway engineers until the end of the 19th century. Both Buck and 

Stephenson were effectively the proponents of the many historic skew arched structures seen in use 

today throughout the British railway system. 

10.1.9 Archaeological interest 

10.1.10 The archaeological interest of the bridge is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity and connectivity within Salford and Manchester. 

10.1.11 Setting (immediate and wider / extended)  

10.1.12 The immediate setting is defined by the historic watercourse (River Irwell) that the bridge originally 

served to span. This remains present and contributes strongly to an understanding of its historic use 

(defining its purpose) and heritage interests (its significance).   

10.1.13 The wider and extended setting of the bridge has substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 21st 

century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage interests 

(significance). This includes modern footbridges and three further historic bridges to the northeast and 

southwest (Blackfriars and Victoria, as well as Irwell Street Bridge). They are somewhat removed but 

contribute strongly to the bridge’s historic interest as a rare surviving feature of the historic water course. 

They do so by forming comparable examples historic structures which were also built with the ambition 

of better connecting the population of Salford and Manchester over the River Irwell.  

10.1.14 One further historic building on the south eastern side of the River Irwell, also forms part of the wider 

setting of the bridge, albeit it is later in date. It makes an exceptionally limited contribution to the overall 

heritage interest (significance) of the bridge. This is by virtue of its historic use and functional link 

relative to the historic waterway, which adds to the historic patina of the setting rather than providing 

any direct associative link to the bridge. It forms one of three very unusual hydraulic power generating 

stations which were built as part of system for supplying hydraulic power to lifts and hoists of 

commercial warehouses in city centre.  

Page 251

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Civil_engineer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Civil_engineer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mathematician
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/George_W._Buck


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 20 

   

10.1.15 Similarly, a locally listed building comprising the Mark Addy landing stage and public house, New Bailey 

Street also forms part of the bridge’s wider setting. Whilst now heavily altered it was originally a boat 

passengers’ waiting room for the New Bailey landing stage from where a regular horse drawn packet 

boat service was in operation from 1807, with the landing stage used for loading and unloading cargo 

onto the boats. It makes a limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the bridge. 

This is by virtue of its historic use and functional link relative to the historic waterway, which in its heavily 

altered form, adds to the historic patina of the setting rather than providing any direct associative link 

to the bridge. 

11.0 Southern Railway Viaduct and Colonnade, New Bailey Street – Grade 

II* statutory listed (list entry no. 1386162) – Heritage asset no.11.  

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386162?section=official-

list-entry  

Description 

11.1.1 Grade II* listed early-Victorian railway viaduct of high special architectural and historic interest designed 

by leading international engineer Sir John Hawkshaw. An historic and otherwise functional structure 

but for its unusual decorative embellishment – was created as part of the emergence of railways in 

Britain. The much altered immediate, wider and extended setting, offers a variable contribution to its 

heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance)  

11.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest 

11.1.3 The special architectural interest of the viaduct is derived from its engineering, as well as its unusual 

decorative architectural detailing. Monumental utilitarian cast-iron columns support exposed (to 

underpass) ‘I’-section girders and cast-iron parapets. In an unusually decorative approach to often 

utilitarian railway engineering and architecture, the cast-iron columns have decorative Egyptian lotus 

flower capitals and the parapet, whilst plain for most of the length of the colonnade, is also enriched in 

the section forming bridge over New Bailey Street (divided by fluted pilasters with acanthus capitals 

Page 252

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386162?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386162?section=official-list-entry
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/George_W._Buck


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 21 

   

and frieze). This unusual detailing / decoration to an otherwise function piece of engineering contributes 

to its special architectural interest.  

11.1.4 Historic interest 

11.1.5 The special historic interest of the viaduct is derived from its early-Victorian age, built in 1844, but more 

specifically its association with the underappreciated, yet prolific, British (and international) civil 

engineer Sir John Hawkshaw. 

11.1.6 The viaduct’s associative historic significance is derived from its design under Hawkshaw, an engineer 

with works that included substantial infrastructure projects in Britain and abroad. He was certainly not 

limited to railway engineering for the Liverpool and Manchester Railway (for which the viaduct was built 

to serve). Works comprised harbours, docks, tunnels, canals and bridges, as well as many other similar 

substantial engineering structures. Hawkshaw’s most celebrated works were: Charing Cross and 

Cannon St. Railway Stations each including bridges over the River Thames; railways in Mauritius, 

Russia, India and Brazil; a ship canal linking Amsterdam to the North Sea; Manchester and Bolton 

Canal & Railway; Lancashire and Yorkshire Railways; and he also advised on the Suez Canal in Egypt 

(and is reputedly known as its saviour). His railway engineering was highly regarded. He was consulted 

on the question of the best gauge for the fast-growing railway networks of England and recommended 

a narrower gauge than Brunel, which was later to become the standard. He also proved the feasibility 

of steeper railway gradients, against opposition. In 1863 with a fellow engineer he completed Brunel’s 

Clifton suspension bridge, introducing design improvements. But the Severn Railway Tunnel, opened 

in 1888, was his crowning achievement, significant for its commercial importance and for the 

engineering challenges involved. For a century it was the longest underwater tunnel in the world. From 

modest beginnings he established himself as one of the premier civil engineers of his era, helping to 

power the growth and wealth of nations, not least England. He was President of the Institute of Civil 

Engineers 1861-63, knighted in 1873, and included Darwin, Tennyson, Henry James as friends. 

11.1.7 Archaeological interest 

11.1.8 The archaeological interest of the viaduct is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity specifically the establishment of the railways. It forms one of three unique railway viaducts that 

span New Bailey Street, and is an example of the lack of cooperation between railway companies at 

the time. 

Page 253



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 22 

   

11.1.9 Setting (immediate and wider / extended)  

11.1.10 The immediate setting is defined by the elevated historic railway tracks / line and street pattern that the 

viaduct originally served and spanned. This remains present alongside the Grade II listed central and 

northern railway viaducts, all of which contributes strongly to an understanding of the historic use 

(defining its purpose), context and heritage interests (significance) of the heritage asset. 

11.1.11 The wider and extended setting of the viaduct has substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage 

interests (significance).  

11.1.12 Further historic buildings to the north of the railway viaduct(s) also form part of the wider setting and 

appear broadly comparable in date as part of the Victorian period. These, include 2 Gore Street and 

the cluster of historic buildings within the vicinity of the junction of Chapel Street and Bloom Street. 

They make a limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the viaduct by virtue 

of their proximity, age, history and character. They add to the historic patina of the townscape setting, 

providing a limited section of surviving Victorian architectural context, rather than providing any direct 

associative link. 

12.0 Central Railway Viaduct, New Bailey Street – Grade II statutory listed 

(list entry no. 1386160) – Heritage asset no.12.  

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386160?section=official-

list-entry  

Description 

12.1.1 Grade II listed mid-Victorian railway viaduct of special architectural and historic interest designed by 

Sturges Meek, chief engineer, for the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway in order to extend its line to 

Manchester Victoria from Salford Central Station. An historic and otherwise functional structure created 

as part of the growth of the railways in Britain. Much altered immediate, wider and extended setting 

offering a variable contribution to its heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance)  

Page 254

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386160?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386160?section=official-list-entry


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 23 

   

12.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest 

12.1.3 The special architectural interest of the viaduct is derived from its engineering as a mid-Victorian railway 

viaduct. Monumental utilitarian cast-iron doric columns support exposed (to underpass) lateral I-section 

steel beams and a later steel deck above with cast-iron parapet. It forms somewhat utilitarian railway 

engineering and architecture, with restrained (if any) architectural detail, even in the exposed sections 

forming bridge over New Bailey Street. It is an historic, but architecturally honest, impressive and 

robust, piece of railway engineering of special architectural interest.  

12.1.4 Historic interest 

12.1.5 The special historic interest of the viaduct is derived from its mid-Victorian age and use. It was built in 

1865 by the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway to the designs of their then engineer in chief Sturges 

Meek, a pupil of George Stephenson (the latter of whom known as the "Father of Railways"). It was 

created in order to extend their railway line to Manchester Victoria, forming one of three unique railway 

viaducts that span New Bailey Street, remaining as an example of the lack of cooperation between 

railway companies at the time. 

12.1.6 Archaeological interest 

12.1.7 The archaeological interest of the viaduct is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity specifically the establishment of the railways. It forms one of three unique railway viaducts that 

span New Bailey Street and is an example of the lack of cooperation between railway companies at 

the time. 

12.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended)  

12.1.9 The immediate setting is defined by the elevated historic railway tracks / line and street pattern that the 

viaduct originally served and spanned. This remains present alongside the Grade II and II* listed 

southern and northern railway viaducts, all of which contributes strongly to an understanding of the 

historic use (defining its purpose), context and heritage interests (significance) of the heritage asset. 

12.1.10 The wider and extended setting of the viaduct has substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage 

interests (significance).  

Page 255



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 24 

   

12.1.11 Further historic buildings to the north of the railway viaduct(s) also form part of the wider setting and 

appear broadly comparable in date as part of the Victorian period. These, include 2 Gore Street and 

the cluster of historic buildings within the vicinity of the junction of Chapel Street and Bloom Street. 

They make a limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the viaduct by virtue 

of their proximity, age, history and character. They add to the historic patina of the townscape setting, 

providing a limited section of surviving Victorian architectural context, rather than providing any direct 

associative link. 

13.0 Northern Railway Viaduct, New Bailey Street – Grade II statutory 

listed (list entry no. 1386161) – Heritage asset no.13.  

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386161?section=official-

list-entry  

Description 

13.1.1 Grade II listed late-Victorian railway viaduct of special architectural and historic interest designed by 

William Hunt as part the widening / improvement of the already established Lancashire and Yorkshire 

Railway (note it post-dates the central viaduct by Sturges Meek). An historic and otherwise functional 

structure were it not for its architectural embellishment, created as part of the growth of the railways in 

Britain. Much altered immediate, wider and extended setting offering a variable contribution to its 

heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance)  

13.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest 

13.1.3 The special architectural interest of the viaduct is derived from its engineering as a late-Victorian railway 

viaduct. Monumental utilitarian cast-iron doric columns support exposed (to underpass) lateral I-section 

steel beams (partly renewed with steel supports). A cast-iron deck sits above with cast-iron parapet 

which is divided by fluted pilasters into panels each with moulded detail, and swag and Greek key 

frieze. It forms somewhat utilitarian railway engineering and architecture, albeit with highly embellished 

architectural detail, specifically in the exposed sections forming bridge over New Bailey Street. It is an 

Page 256

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386161?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386161?section=official-list-entry


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 25 

   

historic, but architecturally impressive piece of railway engineering, of special architectural interest.  

13.1.4 Historic interest 

13.1.5 The special historic interest of the viaduct is derived from its late-Victorian age and use. It was built in 

1894 by the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway to the designs of their then engineer in chief William 

Hunt. It was created in order to improve and widen the railway line, forming one of three unique railway 

viaducts that span New Bailey Street. It remains as an example of the growth and demand for the 

railways at the time, forming part of the many works spearheaded by Hunt, adding to its historic interest. 

13.1.6 Hunt was historically employed as an engineer in various capacities throughout England, most notably 

in London by Sir John Hawkshaw before, on the retirement of Sturges Meek, becoming chief engineer 

for the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway. Under Hunt’s direction the Company carried out most 

extensive works, reputedly involving an expenditure of £8,000,000. These, were not limited to, but 

included, the construction of the new Exchange Station at Liverpool; extensions and alterations at 

Victoria Station, Manchester; the locomotive works at Horwich; the Hindley and Pendleton Railway; 

and (as assistant) the Cheetham Hill to Radcliffe Branch, now part of the Metrolink system. 

13.1.7 Archaeological interest 

13.1.8 The archaeological interest of the viaduct is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity. It forms one of three unique railway viaducts that span New Bailey Street and is an example of 

the expansion of the railways. 

13.1.9 Setting (immediate and wider / extended)  

13.1.10 The immediate setting is defined by the elevated historic railway tracks / line and street pattern that the 

viaduct originally served and spanned. This remains present alongside the Grade II and II* listed 

southern and central railway viaducts, all of which contributes strongly to an understanding of the 

historic use (defining its purpose), context and heritage interests (significance) of the heritage asset. 

13.1.11 The wider and extended setting of the viaduct has substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage 

interests (significance).  

13.1.12 Further historic buildings to the north of the railway viaduct(s) also form part of the wider setting and 

Page 257



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 26 

   

appear broadly comparable in date as part of the Victorian period. These, include 2 Gore Street and 

the cluster of historic buildings within the vicinity of the junction of Chapel Street and Bloom Street. 

They make a limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the viaduct by virtue 

of their proximity, age, history and character. They add to the historic patina of the townscape setting, 

providing a limited section of surviving Victorian architectural context, rather than providing any direct 

associative link. 

14.0 Chapel Street and Hope United Reformed Church – Grade II statutory 

listed (list entry no. 1386117) – Heritage asset no.14.  

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386117?section=official-

list-entry  

Description  

14.1.1 This listed Grade II chapel was founded in in 1819 as an 'Independent Chapel’, one in which each 

congregation was autonomous, upholding the principles of independence. By the 19th century these 

churches became known as Congregational.  

14.1.2 Pevsner describes the church itself as follows: "One storey over a tall basement.  Brick with a hipped 

roof.  Stone steps divide into two branches and lead to a stone balustraded platform serving the two 

main entrances, which have radial fanlights." 

14.1.3 The building is constructed of brick with hipped Welsh slate roof and stone dressings. It is single-

storeyed, raised over a basement which elevates it from the main road. The front (southern) elevation 

of the building is five bays across, with a pair of round-arched windows (modern) each side, between 

its two main doorways. The pair of doors are wide, six panelled, with pilasters either side and radial 

fanlights above in moulded architraves, recessed in arches. This radial detail is carried across this front 

façade, placed within each window head. Further details to the building comprise a string course to 

parapet and a pair of inscribed stones over each doorway inscribed, 'Independent Chapel Erected 

MDCCCXIX'.  

14.1.4 The approach to the building is via a set of steps with iron railings and brick wall with stone parapet. 

Page 258

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386117?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386117?section=official-list-entry


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 27 

   

These steps divide into two branches for access to the separate doorways and are linked by 

balustraded balcony. 

Heritage interests (significance)  

14.1.5 Architectural / aesthetic interest 

14.1.6 The special architectural interest of the building derives from its balanced proportions and symmetry, 

which is reflective of architectural typologies of this period. The use of dressings such as pilasters and 

radial fanlights formed common features of architecture in the late Georgian era and, in this case, 

reflects their use across religious buildings. Despite its modest scale and low height, the building 

comprises an impressive use of formal and utilitarian design and presents an attractive feature to the 

townscape along Chapel Street.  

14.1.7 Historic interest 

14.1.8 The principle historic interest of this building derives from its age and association with the historic 

development of Salford during this period, and forms an example of the growth of the Independent 

church during the early 19th century.  When the building was founded, Salford was becoming an 

important centre for industry and commercial importance. Alongside this, England was seeing an 

unprecedented expansion in the number of churches being built around the country, partly a response 

to population increases and due to a spirit of revivalism within the Church of England.  

14.1.9 Chapel Street and Hope United Reformed Church presents a well-maintained example of a purpose-

built Independent (now Congregational) Chapel constructed during the early 19th century and thus 

representing a movement which was popularised at this time. The Independent Church arose in 

England in the late 16th and 17th centuries and sought principles of independence; members of a local 

church would have the right to decide their church's forms of worship and confessional statements, 

without outside interference. Their first church in England was founded in 1616, but the earliest 

surviving chapels are all post-Restoration in date, thereby making this listed asset a good, early 

example. Congregationalists were a prosperous denomination and built well finished and well-furnished 

buildings such as this and by the nineteenth century, when this church was founded, they were 

commissioning some of the best architects to design their buildings. 

14.1.10 Archaeological interest 

Page 259



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 28 

   

14.1.11 The archaeological interest of the building is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity and connectivity within Salford. 

14.1.12 Setting (immediate and wider / extended)  

14.1.13 The immediate setting of the building is defined by Chapel Street, on which the church sits. The street 

is a wide and heavily trafficked thoroughfare and had become one of the main roads in the country at 

the time the church was founded. The building itself is set back from the road frontage, providing some 

relief from this otherwise harsh environment. Directly adjacent to the listed asset are two to three storey 

commercial buildings of varied ages and character, which helps to activate the street frontage and 

define the commercial and civic use of this area. These buildings are at a similar scale to the listed 

church and have a fine grain character, reflective of the historic streetscape which once existed along 

Chapel Street. The building’s relationship with this street and immediate built form does not contributes 

to an understanding of its historic use (defining its purpose) and heritage interests (it’s significance).   

14.1.14 The wider and extended setting of the building has evolved overtime to incorporate a mix of architectural 

styles, ages, materiality and building heights. There are a number of listed buildings within the wider 

vicinity of the church, including Kings Arms Public House; no.6 and Salford House and Arlington House, 

Bloom Street (all listed grade II). These buildings were constructed in the late 19th century, slightly later 

than the founding of Chapel Street and Hope United Reformed Church, and are at a grander scale. 

They each have a Gothic style with rich architectural dressing and provide focal points within the 

townscape. The buildings make a limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of 

the church as examples of later development at a contrasting scale and differing use. The buildings 

adds to the historic character of the setting, but do not provide any direct associative link to the church 

itself. 

14.1.15 To the south of the listed church are several further listed assets which connected with the railway, 

including: Northern Railway Viaduct (listed grade II); Southern Railway Viaduct and Colonnade (listed 

grade II*) and Central Railway Viaduct (listed Grade II). Each of these were constructed in the mid-late 

19th century and are heavily adorned. Again, the assets have a commanding presence within the 

townscape due to their scale and location along Chapel Street, however, do not provide any direct 

associative link to the church itself and thereby they do not contribute to its overall heritage interest 

(significance). 

Page 260



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 29 

   

14.1.16 Finally, making up the wider setting of the listed church are a number of taller 20th and 21st century 

flatted developments, of a significantly greater massing of up to 21 storeys (Neon House). Despite 

making up the wider setting of the church, these taller buildings do not contribute to its heritage interests 

(significance), and erode the historic character of Chapel Street. 

15.0 No. 6 and Salford House – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386085) – Heritage asset no.15. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386085  

Description 

15.1.1 No. 6 and Salford House comprises a late nineteenth century lodging house, now repurposed as 

permanent accommodation. The building is attached to a former manager’s house. No. 6 and Salford 

House is constructed principally from red brick with terracotta dressings. The building was assigned 

Grade II listed status on 18th January 1980, with one subsequent amendment on 20th October 1998.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

15.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

15.1.3 The architectural interest of No. 6 and Salford House relates to its plan form and architectural style as 

well as decoration. The interior of the building was not inspected at the time of listing. The building was 

served as a prototype typology, being among one of the first ‘Model Lodging Houses’ constructed within 

Britain. Designed as a hostel for working men, the two three-storey accommodation wings were tailored 

to host a total of 285 people, including an adjacent side wing for the manager. In its appearance, 

factoring in the material palette employed, the building is characteristically late Victorian: specifically 

that it is grand and imposing in scale with elaborate terracotta decoration, the latter evident when 

examining the relief ornamentation, Norman style arches with voussoirs and keystone as well as 

stepped arch decorative brick bands lining the upper storeys. 

15.1.4 Historic interest  

15.1.5 The historic interest of this building is owed foremost to its typology and socio-cultural importance as a 

Page 261

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386085


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 30 

   

late Victorian hostel, although it no longer serves this purpose. The construction of No. 6 and Salford 

House was inhibited by concerns about accommodation for workers, with the majority of Model Lodging 

Houses funded by organisations and councils. Being one of the first of such buildings, No. 6 and Salford 

House represents a nationally important example of social, economic and cultural concerns manifesting 

in the construction of lodgings for workers. 

15.1.6 Archaeological interest  

15.1.7 Any archaeological interest that No. 6 and Salford House would possess relates to any areas of original 

fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the 

lives of its users.  

15.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

15.1.9 No. 6 and Salford House is considered to derive heritage importance only from its immediate setting. 

This is experienced along Bloom Street and at the junction of Chapel Street: alongside Arlington House, 

the Kings Arms Public House, Reformed Church and the Salford Arms, the building forms a component 

part of a largely cohesive nineteenth century street, principally defined by late Victorian buildings of a 

grand scale and elaborate decoration. The building originally occupied a highly industrial extended 

setting, encompassed by factories and large numbers of workers houses. These have been largely 

replaced by modern housing developments, both low and medium-high rise; giving the extended 

townscape setting a somewhat fragmented appearance. 

16.0 Arlington House – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 1386068) – 

Heritage asset no.16. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386086  

Description 

16.1.1 Arlington House was constructed in 1880, likely to the designs of Thomas Worthington. Of three storey 

height, the building was constructed in the High Gothic style, with a central tower and flanking wings 

faced in red brick with decorative stone dressings. The building was assigned Grade II listed status on 

18th January 1980 with one subsequent amendment on 20th October 1998. 

Page 262

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386086


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 31 

   

Heritage interests (significance) 

16.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

16.1.3 The architectural interest of Arlington House is derived from its plan form, style and associated 

decoration. As outlined within the listing, the interior of the building was not inspected when statutory 

designation was assigned. The building was designed in an interpretation of High Gothic architecture, 

akin to a ‘fairy-tale’ style. The primary elevation is faced in richly detailed ashlar stone dressings, with 

foliated stonework, corbels and Corinthian capitals among a number of features, situated alongside 

grotesques of various creatures. The central tower is surmounted by dressed stone turrets and a double 

pitch roof with fish-scale decoration.  

16.1.4 Historic interest  

16.1.5 The historic interest of Arlington House is derived largely from its evidential importance, forming one of 

the few remaining sections of the historic built environment, namely as a late nineteenth century office 

block, that characterises the immediate setting. The well preserved fabric of the building heightens this 

special interest. Arlington House further constitutes an indicative example of late Victorian social culture 

regarding attitudes toward the ‘style’ of buildings, namely that commercial and institutional buildings 

should manifest as grand imposing structures that were richly decorated and subsequently infused with 

a higher status. 

16.1.6 Archaeological interest  

16.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Arlington House would possess relates to any areas of original fabric 

and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the lives 

of its users.  

16.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

16.1.9 Arlington House is considered to derive heritage importance only from its immediate setting. This is 

experienced along Bloom Street and at the junction of Chapel Street: alongside No. 6 and Salford 

House, the Kings Arms Public House, Reformed Church and the Salford Arms, the building forms a 

component part of a largely cohesive nineteenth century street, principally defined by late Victorian 

buildings of a grand scale and elaborate decoration. The building originally occupied a highly industrial 

Page 263



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 32 

   

extended setting, encompassed by factories and large numbers of workers houses. These have been 

largely replaced by modern housing developments, both low and medium-high rise; giving the extended 

townscape setting a somewhat fragmented appearance. 

17.0 Kings Arms Public House – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386087) – Heritage asset no.17. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386087  

Description 

17.1.1 The Kings Arms Public House was constructed in 1879 and comprises a Gothic style building laid out 

to a semi-circular plan. The building is of three storey height richly decorated, with stone ashlar stone 

and terracotta dressings. The Kings Arms was assigned statutory designation at Grade II on 1st 

December 1987 with no subsequent amendments. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

17.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

17.1.3 The architectural interest of the Kings Arms Public House resides in the importance of its plan form, 

architectural style and associated decoration. Built to a semi-circular plan, the elevations of the building 

are asymmetrical in appearance. Foliated capitals, round arches, mullion windows, pointed dormers 

and terracotta dressings principally define the Gothic style in which the building was constructed; with 

a heavily decorated gable sporting a heraldic relief sculpture.  

17.1.4 Historic interest  

17.1.5 The historic interest of the Kings Arms is derived from its socio-cultural value as a nineteenth century 

public house. This relates to the way in which the building would have served local residents and 

workers following its construction, occupying a position in close proximity to a number of other surviving 

institutional buildings, with the majority of original workers houses having since been lost. Despite some 

later alterations the building retains the majority of its original exterior fabric.  

17.1.6 Archaeological interest  

Page 264

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386087


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 33 

   

17.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Kings Arms Public House would possess relates to any areas of 

original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

17.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

17.1.9 The Kings Arms Public House is considered to derive heritage importance only from its immediate 

setting. This is experienced along Bloom Street and at the junction of Chapel Street: alongside No. 6 

and Salford House, Arlington House, Reformed Church and the Salford Arms, the building forms a 

component part of a largely cohesive nineteenth century street, principally defined by late Victorian 

buildings of a grand scale and elaborate decoration. The building originally occupied a highly industrial 

extended setting, encompassed by factories and large numbers of workers houses. These have been 

largely replaced by modern housing developments, both low and medium-high rise; giving the extended 

townscape setting a somewhat fragmented appearance. 

18.0 Chesters Salford Brewery – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386124) – Heritage asset no.18. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386124  

Description 

18.1.1 Chesters Salford Brewery was constructed in 1896 to the designs of W.A. Deighton on behalf of 

Threlfall’s Brewery Company. The building follows a ‘T-Plan’, alternating between two and five storey 

height, is constructed primarily from red brick with ashlar dressings and a Welsh Slate roof. Chesters 

Salford Brewery was assigned Grade II listed status on 10th May 1988, with no subsequent 

amendments.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

18.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

18.1.3 The architectural interest of the brewery resides in its plan form, architectural style and associated 

design as a late nineteenth century brewery. The building is characteristically High Victorian in 

Page 265

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386124


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 34 

   

appearance, specifically that it is grand and imposing in scale with elaborate ashlar stone decoration, 

round arch arcade and pilaster fronting the principal tower. These also line the two flanking wings. The 

building is surmounted by a double pitch mansard roof inset with a rectangular plan lantern. An 

imposing red brick tower forms part of this setting and heightens the architectural interest of the building. 

A number of original fittings and the preservation of the interior plan form further contribute.  

18.1.4 Historic interest  

18.1.5 The historic interest of Chesters Salford Brewery is attributed to two principal factors. Initially the historic 

association with local architect W. A. Deighton distinguishes and heightens the interest of the building. 

Secondly that the brewery is highly well preserved, both in its exterior appearance and interior plan 

form, alongside its fixtures and fittings: this preservation lends the building an illustrative importance, 

indicative of the late nineteenth century development of this quarter of Salford.  

18.1.6 Archaeological interest  

18.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Chesters Salford Brewery would possess relates to any areas of 

original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

18.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

18.1.9 Chesters Salford Brewery can be said to derive a level of heritage importance from its immediate 

setting. Alongside No. 6 and Salford House, Arlington House and the Kings Arms Public House the 

building forms part of a late nineteenth century cluster of buildings illustrative of the development of 

Salford during this time. This setting is somewhat fragmented by intervening built form however, and 

the extended setting, largely characterised by low and medium-high rise modern infill cannot be said to 

inform the heritage importance of the building.  

19.0 Former Manchester Swimming Baths – Grade II statutory listed (list 

entry no. 1386079) – Heritage asset no.19. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386079  

Page 266

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386079


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 35 

   

Description 

19.1.1 The Former Manchester Swimming Baths comprises a former baths building, now in commercial use, 

constructed in 1890. The building is two and a half storeys in height, constructed primarily from red 

brick with terracotta dressings. The swimming baths were statutory designated at Grade II on 15th 

August 1997 with no subsequent amendments.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

19.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

19.1.3 Having since been converted for residential use, the architectural interest of the baths resides primarily 

in the merit of the façade and any surviving exterior features. With the exception of a later window, the 

faced was designed to symmetrical proportions, defined by round arch windows, which are of double 

height at second storey. The building is surmounted by a richly decorated gable, intersected with a grid 

pattern and decorated with foliated and circle tiles. 

19.1.4 Historic interest  

19.1.5 The historic interest of the building is derived from both its former use as a bathhouse, which served 

as popular recreational features of urban and suburban environments during the late nineteenth and 

early twentieth centuries. The well preserved façade and entrance heighten this historic-architectural 

legibility.  

19.1.6 Archaeological interest  

19.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Former Swimming Baths would possess relates to any areas of 

original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

19.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

19.1.9 The Former Swimming Baths is considered to derive heritage importance only from its immediate 

setting. This is experienced along Blackfriars Road: alongside the Manchester Tennis and Racquet 

Club, No. 33 Blackfriars Road and Black Friar Public House, the building forms a component part of a 

largely cohesive nineteenth century street, principally defined by late Victorian buildings of a grand 

Page 267



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 36 

   

scale and elaborate decoration. The building originally occupied a highly industrial extended setting, 

encompassed by factories and large numbers of workers houses. These have been largely replaced 

by modern housing developments, both low and medium-high rise; giving the extended townscape 

setting a somewhat fragmented appearance. 

20.0 Manchester Tennis and Racquet Club – Grade II* statutory listed (list 

entry no. 1386080) – Heritage asset no.20. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386080  

Description 

20.1.1 The Manchester Tennis and Racquet Club was constructed in 1880 to the designs of George 

Redmayne. Although subject to a number of later extensions, the building seen today was laid out to 

an asymmetrical plan, constructed primarily from red brick with terracotta dressings. The building was 

assigned Grade II listed status on 21st January 1996 with no subsequent amendments.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

20.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

20.1.3 The architectural interest of the Manchester Tennis and Racquet Club is attributed to its plan form, 

architectural style and decoration. Although not imitative of any specific architectural period, the building 

has a Norman type design, with brick and terracotta were employed in its to produce a series of 

consecutive round arches, punctuated by a stepped-chamfered central doorway a large double height 

gable surmounting the building. Architectural interest was also ascribed to the interior of the building 

which was found to be substantially unaltered, with the racquets court retaining its original surfaces 

alongside the complete tennis court, principal reception rooms and staircase.  

20.1.4 Historic interest  

20.1.5 The historic interest of the building resides initially in the well preserved nature of the fabric, both within 

the interior and evident on the exterior. The club also derives historic interest from being an example 

of a late Victorian recreational building, indicative of popular social culture and late nineteenth century 

Page 268

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386080


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 37 

   

recreational practices. The club was founded in 1878, and moved to the present site in 1880 to 

accommodate the growing membership. 

20.1.6 Archaeological interest  

20.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Manchester Tennis and Racquet Club would possess relates to 

any areas of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area 

developed, as well as the lives of its users.  

20.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

20.1.9 The Tennis and Racquet Club is considered to derive heritage importance only from its immediate 

setting. This is experienced along Blackfriars Road: alongside the Former Swimming Baths, No. 33 

Blackfriars Road and Black Friar Public House, the building forms a component part of a largely 

cohesive nineteenth century street, principally defined by late Victorian buildings of a grand scale and 

elaborate decoration. The building originally occupied a highly industrial extended setting, 

encompassed by factories and large numbers of workers houses. These have been largely replaced 

by modern housing developments, both low and medium-high rise; giving the extended townscape 

setting a somewhat fragmented appearance. 

21.0 Black Friar Public House – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386081) – Heritage asset no.21. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386081  

Description 

21.1.1 The Black Friar Public House was constructed in 1886 to the designs of William Ball. The building 

comprises a three storey public house constructed in a mild Gothic style, faced in red brick with 

terracotta dressings, relief ornamentation and surmounted by two pointed gables. The Black Friar 

Public House was assigned Grade II listed status on 15th April 1994 with no subsequent amendments.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

21.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

Page 269

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386081


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 38 

   

21.1.3 It is the characteristic late Victorian application of materials, colour palette and styles that contribute to 

the architectural interest of the Black Friar Public House: namely embodied through the employment of 

red brick, terracotta and fish-scale tiling to produce an elaborately dressed building. The mullion 

windows, relief ornamentation at first floor level, as well as asymmetrical plan form distinguish the 

building as an example of late Victorian gothic architecture.  

21.1.4 Historic interest  

21.1.5 The historic interest of the Black Friar Public House is derived from its socio-cultural value as a 

nineteenth century public house. This relates to the way in which the building would have served local 

residents and workers following its construction, occupying a position in close proximity to a number of 

other surviving recreational and institutional buildings, with the majority of original workers houses 

having since been lost.  

21.1.6 Archaeological interest  

21.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Black Friar Public House would possess relates to any areas of 

original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

21.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

21.1.9 The Black Friar Public House is considered to derive heritage importance only from its immediate 

setting. This is experienced along Blackfriars Road: alongside the Former Swimming Baths, No. 33 

Blackfriars Road and Black Friar Public House, the building forms a component part of a largely 

cohesive nineteenth century street, principally defined by late Victorian buildings of a grand scale and 

elaborate decoration. The building originally occupied a highly industrial extended setting, 

encompassed by factories and large numbers of workers houses. These have been largely replaced 

by modern housing developments, both low and medium-high rise; giving the extended townscape 

setting a somewhat fragmented appearance. 

22.0 62, Chapel Street – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 1254723) – 

Heritage asset no.22. 

Page 270



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 39 

   

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386113  

Description 

22.1.1 No. 62 Chapel Street comprises an early twentieth century police station, constructed principally from 

stock brick with terracotta dressings. The building is of one and a half storey height and was constructed 

in a loosely classical style, although employing elements of Romanesque architecture. No. 62 Chapel 

Street was assigned Grade II listing status on 18th January 1980. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

22.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

22.1.3 The architectural interest of No. 62 Chapel Street is owed to its unique appearance and plan form. Brick 

and terracotta were often employed in the decoration of late Victorian and Edwardian buildings, 

combined in various styles to produce elaborate decoration. In relation to the police station, these two 

materials were combined to produce a series of consecutive Romanesque arches with inset miniature 

fanlights, with the intervening space broken by Corinthian pilasters. A Roman tile sill supports a fascia, 

surmounted in turn by a balustrade, conical roof and iron corona. The building is further defined by its 

unique triangular plan form. 

22.1.4 Historic interest  

22.1.5 No. 62 Chapel Street owes its historic interest to a number of factors. Initially the building has an 

associative communal value, having been constructed to serve the residents of Manchester following 

the rapid urbanization of the area and associated civic development that had taken place during the 

previous century: the police station serves as a marker for the consolidation of this urban environment. 

In addition, the historic interest of the building is further heightened by the well preserved elevations 

and decorative features. 

22.1.6 Archaeological interest  

22.1.7 Any archaeological interest that No. 62 Chapel Street would possess relates to any areas of original 

fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the 

lives of its users.  

Page 271

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386113


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 40 

   

22.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

22.1.9 It is the immediate setting of No. 62 Chapel Street that contributes most to its heritage importance. The 

building is understood and experienced as part of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century built 

environment lining Blackfriars Street to the south-west, Salford Approach and Chapel Street, the latter 

two of which retain fragments of their nineteenth and early twentieth century industrial setting in the 

form of the railway and warehouse buildings which partially form an island group with No. 62 Chapel 

Street. The extended setting, both owing to low levels of inter-visibility and medium-high rise infill, 

cannot be considered to inform the heritage importance of the police station.  

23.0 Independent Chapel – Grade II statutory listed (list entry no. 

1386118) – Heritage asset no.23. 

List entry available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386117  

Description 

23.1.1 The Independent Chapel was constructed in 1915, and initially served as a cinema. The building 

comprises a rectangular plan, with an elaborate faience and rendered façade fronting a brick building. 

A domed tower with a balustrade adjoins the southern elevation. The Independent Chapel was 

assigned Grade II listed status in 1980 with no subsequent amendments. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

23.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

23.1.3 The Independent Chapel, as outlined within the National Heritage List entry, stands as a significant 

example of early cinema architecture, with its special interest derives from elements of its surviving 

plan form, materials employed in its construction and the rich detailing of street façade. The elevation 

is primarily Baroque in style, with rusticated double height stonework supporting an a semi-circular 

pediment and relief ornamentation. Foliated circular windows form part of this Baroque aesthetic, with 

a domes corner turret and balustrade defining the southern corner of the building.  

23.1.4 Historic interest  

Page 272

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1386117


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 41 

   

23.1.5 The historic interest of the building resides initially in the well preserved nature of the exterior fabric and 

for being an example of an early twentieth century recreational building, indicative of popular social 

culture and a well preserved example of an early cinema. The building was founded in 1915, and 

illustrates the ways in which popular social culture manifested within the area during this period.  

23.1.6 Archaeological interest  

23.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Independent Chapel would possess relates to any areas of original 

fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the 

lives of its users.  

23.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

23.1.9 The Black Friar Public House is considered to derive heritage importance from its immediate and, 

although to a lesser extent, wider setting, although both are somewhat fragmented. This setting is 

experienced via the interrelation between the building and the Former Williams Deacon Bank to the 

south as well as row of terraces to the west: evidential of the initial neighbourhood and built environment 

that it was designed to serve. The extended setting does heighten the overall legibility of the building, 

but low levels of inter-visibility restrict the visual experience of the setting and thus the legibility and 

subsequent understanding of the building within this. 

24.0 65, 67 and 69 (The Black Lion Public House) – locally listed; local list 

reference: HE_LLOR03 – Heritage asset no.24. 

Local list entry available at: https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_105  

Description 

24.1.1 The Black Lion comprises a public house constructed in 1870: the building is of three storey height and 

follows a curved plan at the intersection of Blackfriars Street and Chapel Street. The Black Lion is 

constructed primarily from red brick, with dressed ashlar hoodmoulds surmounting sash windows. A 

central semi-circular pediment sits above the entrance and a balustrade lines the course of the roof. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

Page 273

https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_105


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 42 

   

24.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

24.1.3 It is the characteristic late Victorian application of materials, colour palette and styles that contribute to 

the architectural interest of the Black Lion Public House: namely embodied through the employment of 

red brick, dressed stone and loose application of classical architecture to produce a highly decorated 

building. The console brackets, Tuscan Doric pilasters, semi-circular pediment and balustrade are 

indicative features of the employment of classical styles. 

24.1.4 Historic interest  

24.1.5 The historic interest of the Black Lion Public House is derived from its social-communal value, standing 

at an important historic crossroads the building would have historically served local residents, travellers 

and workers. Those features that contribute to the heritage interest of the building, namely the plan 

form and architectural style of the elevations are well preserved and amplify its local importance. In 

addition, the building holds further historic interest due to a connection with the founding of the UK Van 

Dweller’s Protection Association (later becoming The GB Showmen’s Guild in 1917), in the building in 

1889. The Guild is recognised as the trade association for the travelling funfair business and represents 

business at both local and national levels to this day. 

24.1.6 Archaeological interest  

24.1.7 Any archaeological interest that the Black Lion Public House would possess relates to any areas of 

original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as 

well as the lives of its users.  

24.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

24.1.9 The Black Lion Public House principally derives heritage importance from its immediate setting: the 

building forms part of a cohesive nineteenth century streetscape, occupying a prominent corner plot 

alongside the adjacent Nos. 10 and 12 Blackfriars Street and Nos. 71 to 79 Chapel Street: all buildings 

of a similar historic context. The extended setting, both owing to low levels of inter-visibility and medium-

high rise infill, cannot be considered to inform the heritage importance of the Black Lion Public House. 

Page 274

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Trade_association


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 43 

   

25.0 88, 90 and 92 (Caxton Hall) – locally listed; local list reference: 

HE_LLOR04 – Heritage asset no.25. 

Local list entry available at: https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_105  

Description 

25.1.1 Caxton Hall was constructed in 1904 and has historically served as a commercial premises since its 

establishment. Of three storey height, the building represents a combination of the Queen Anne and 

Jacobean architectural styles with mullion windows, oriel windows, convex gable and overall 

asymmetrical composition.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

25.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

25.1.3 It is the characteristic late Victorian application of materials, colour palette and styles that contribute to 

the architectural interest of Caxton Hall: namely that the building stands as a characteristic example of 

Edwardian architecture, defined by the abundant employment of red brick, decorative terracotta to 

produce an eclectic Queen Anne and Jacobean style building. The mullion windows, stepped-convex 

gable and console bracket supported pediment represent this. 

25.1.4 Historic interest  

25.1.5 The historic interest of Caxton Hall lies in the well preserved nature of the building fabric, alongside the 

associated illustrative role the building plays in evidencing a largely lost historic streetscape, having 

served as important commercial building within this quarter of Chapel Street that originally 

characterised the front of the viaduct. 

25.1.6 Archaeological interest  

25.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Caxton Hall would possess relates to any areas of original fabric and 

the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the lives of its 

users.  

Page 275

https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_105


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 44 

   

25.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

25.1.9 The extent to which Caxton Hall derives heritage importance from its surroundings is mixed, but is 

generally understood as an isolated feature of the streetscape. Features of the pre-existing built 

environment abound the building, namely the arches to the north and  Within the immediate setting the 

terraced shops and public houses to the south-east. The extended setting cannot be said to make a 

meaningful contribution to the heritage importance of the building.  

26.0 91 (Rovers Return Public House) – locally listed; local list reference: 

HE_HE_LLOR05 – Heritage asset no.26. 

Local list entry available at: https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_105  

Description 

26.1.1 Rovers Return comprises a public house constructed after 1880: the building is of three storey height, 

occupying a corner plot at the intersection of Barlow’s Court and Chapel Street. Rovers Return Lion is 

partially stepped in its plan form, constructed primarily from red brick, painted gold and black dentil 

style cornices and bands; with the sash windows surmounted by quoins inset with grotesques.  

Heritage interests (significance) 

26.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

26.1.3 It is the characteristic late Victorian application of materials, colour palette and styles that contribute to 

the architectural interest of Rovers Return Public House: namely embodied through the employment of 

red brick, dressed stone and loose application of classical architecture to produce a highly decorated 

building. The Tuscan Doric pilasters, dentil bands and cornice as well as inset grotesques exemplify 

this. 

26.1.4 Historic interest  

26.1.5 The historic interest of Rovers Return Public House is derived from its social-communal value, standing 

at a crossroads the building would have historically served local residents, travellers and workers. 

Those features that contribute to the heritage interest of the building, namely the plan form and 

Page 276

https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_105


 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 45 

   

architectural style of the elevations are well preserved and amplify its local importance.  

26.1.6 Archaeological interest  

26.1.7 Any archaeological interest that Rovers Return would possess relates to any areas of original fabric 

and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area developed, as well as the lives 

of its users.  

26.1.8 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

26.1.9 Rovers Return principally derives heritage importance from its immediate setting: the building forms 

part of a cohesive nineteenth century streetscape, alongside the adjacent buildings of a similar scale, 

red brick material palette and context. Although of a marginally different context, the Church of the 

Sacred Trinity acts as a focal point for the buildings, with the latter oriented toward the church. 

Interspersed throughout the extended setting are a number of nineteenth and early twentieth century 

buildings, as well as train bridge, lining Chapel Street and encircling the church. Despite sporadic later 

infill the presence of these structures allow the building to read legibly within its setting.  

27.0 29 (Former Sacred Trinity Schools), Blackfriars Road – locally listed; 

local list reference: HE_HE_LLOR01 – Heritage asset no.27. 

Local list entry available at: https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_104 

Description 

27.1.1 Late-Victorian locally listed school building (c.1880s). Locally significant as an inner city school building 

reputedly reflecting its ecclesiastical associations and quite different from the state schools constructed 

under the national school building programme at the turn of the century. Much altered immediate, wider 

and extended setting offering a variable contribution to its heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance) 

27.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

27.1.3 Comprised of a rectilinear plan, three storey (part attic) and exposed basement over six bays (including 

Page 277



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 46 

   

entrance bay). Common brick dressed in red brick and roofed in Welsh slate. Basement and ground 

floor in red brick with basement windows and entrance in Romanesque arches and first floor windows 

in cambered arched with brick rustication between. First and second floor comprising paired tall 

windows, with those at second floor comprising part attic of half dormers and oriel window (right). 

27.1.4 A late-Victorian school building of an imposing and somewhat industrial in character, yet embellished 

with thoughtful brick detail and ironmongery throughout its principal elevations. It is this robust Victorian 

character and overall architectural embellishment which defines its localised architectural interest. Its 

architectural interest is also derived from the positive context it provides and therefore contribution it 

makes to the group value (heritage interest) of the surrounding late-Victorian statutory listed buildings. 

27.1.5 Historic interest  

27.1.6 Its localised historic interest can be derived from its age as a late-Victorian (c.1880s) inner city school 

building that is reputedly unique from the state schools constructed under the national school building 

programme at the turn of the century.  

27.1.7 Archaeological interest  

27.1.8 The archaeological interest of the building is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity related to educational and social improvements in the late-Victorian period. Any archaeological 

interest relates to any areas of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the 

building and area developed, as well as the lives of its users.  

27.1.9 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

27.1.10 The immediate setting is defined by a mixed architectural context of both historic and modern buildings, 

most notably including the group of statutory listed late-Victorian sports facilities directly to the north-

west. The latter make a contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the building by 

virtue of their proximity, age, history and character and viceversa. They add to the historic patina of the 

townscape setting, providing a limited section of surviving Victorian architectural context, rather than 

providing any direct associative link. This provides a group setting and value (heritage interest) directly 

linked to the surrounding late-Victorian statutory listed buildings. 

27.1.11 Further heavily adapted Victorian buildings reside to the south-east, which, by comparison, provide a 

Page 278



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 47 

   

poorly preserved section of the immediate, wider and extended setting of the building – by virtue offering 

a very limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the building.  

27.1.12 The immediate, wider and extended setting has also substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage 

interests (significance).  

28.0 2 (Egerton Arms Public House), Gore Street – locally listed; local list 

reference: HE_HE_LLOR011 – Heritage asset no.28. 

Local list entry available at: https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_104 

Description 

28.1.1 Late-Victorian locally listed public house (c.1890s). Locally significant due to its historic interest in 

conveying social and communal history and its architectural interest as a robust diminutive building with 

a very typical north west character through its application of local materials and detailing. Much altered 

immediate, wider and extended setting offering a variable contribution to its heritage interests 

(significance).     

Heritage interests (significance) 

28.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

28.1.3 A two storey and three bay public house of red pressed brick with terracotta. Ground floor doors and 

windows (the latter largely leaded timber casements) are divided and flanked by terracotta mullions / 

reveals / sills and grouped together under decorative terracotta hood moulds with curved corners and 

a decorative beaded string course. Above sits a further double string course which stretches beneath 

simplified but attractive brick first floor window reveals and headers. Beyond is a double string course, 

cornices and a parapet concealing the roof. A forward facing gable (RHS) also contains the name of 

the public house in decorative scrollwork with further decorative terracotta tiles and ball finial atop. 

28.1.4 A late-Victorian public house embellished with brick and terracotta detail throughout its principal 

elevations. It is this Victorian character and overall architectural embellishment which defines its 

Page 279



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 48 

   

localised architectural interest. Its architectural interest is also derived from the positive context it 

provides and therefore contribution it makes to the group value (heritage interest) of the surrounding 

Victorian structures and buildings. 

28.1.5 Historic interest  

28.1.6 Its localised historic interest can be derived from its age as a late-Victorian public house (c.1890s) and 

in its ability to convey Victorian social and communal history. The public house sign has a coat of arms 

on it with the motto Virtuti - Non - Armis - Fido which translates as "I Trust to virtue not to arms" which 

is the motto of Lord Gray De Wilton. In 1784 Sir Thomas Egerton, 7th Baronet, was created Baron Grey 

de Wilton. The Egertons were the owners of the Tatton Park Estate and his descendent Lord Egerton 

of Tatton was chairman of the Manchester Ship Canal Company. It is thought that the Egerton Arms 

derives its name from that family. 

28.1.7 Archaeological interest  

28.1.8 The archaeological interest of the building is limited and stems from the evidence it holds of past human 

activity related to public houses in the late-Victorian period. Any archaeological interest relates to any 

areas of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the building and area 

developed, as well as the lives of its users.  

28.1.9 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

28.1.10 The immediate, wider and extended setting is defined by a mixed architectural context of both historic 

and modern buildings, most notably including the group of statutory listed Victorian viaducts to the 

south and the cluster of historic Victorian buildings at the junction of Chapel Street, New Bailey Street 

and bloom Street. These Victorian structures and buildings make a contribution to the overall heritage 

interest (significance) of the building by virtue of their proximity, age, history and character. They add 

to the historic patina of the townscape setting, providing a limited section of surviving Victorian 

architectural context, rather than  

28.1.11 The immediate, wider and extended setting has also substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage 

interests (significance).  

Page 280



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 49 

   

29.0 52 - 60, Chapel Street – locally listed; local list reference: 

HE_HE_LLOR02 – Heritage asset no.29. 

Local list entry available at: https://map.salford.gov.uk/heritage/map/#cbox_IHM_LOCALLIST_104 

Description 

29.1.1 Two mid-late-Victorian historic commercial or light industrial warehouse premises (c.1870s-1880s) now 

united with one common shop front. Locally significant due to their Victorian character and their overall 

architectural embellishment. Their architectural interest is also derived from the positive context they 

provide, and therefore the contribution they make to the group value (heritage interest) of the 

surrounding Victorian structures and buildings to the south and west, many of which are within the Flat 

Iron Conservation Area. Much altered immediate, wider and extended setting offering a variable 

contribution to its heritage interests (significance).     

Heritage interests (significance) 

29.1.2 Architectural / aesthetic interest  

29.1.3 Two mid-late-Victorian historic commercial or light industrial warehouse premises now united with one 

common shop front. The western end of the site comprises a five storey structure of red brick dressed 

with stone banding, with flat arched window openings and industrial style windows. Decorative brick 

panels sit beneath fifth floor level and the building terminates with a parapet marked at each end with 

a ball finial. The eastern end of the site comprises a three storey building in red brick. It includes three 

pairs of camber arched window openings with chamfered reveals and bracketed sills at first floor level. 

Each has a common central brick chamfered pier, as well as brick (red and engineering) and stone 

soldier course to the cambered arch above with central key stone motif, all of which is married into 

banding across the façade. Further engineering brick banding is seen at second floor in various patterns 

and forms, as well as stone lintels above recessed window openings housing timber four pane sash 

windows. The eaves terminate in a decorative freeze and cornice forming a small parapet and hidden 

gutter. 

29.1.4 It is this Victorian character and their overall architectural embellishment which defines their localised 

Page 281



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 50 

   

architectural interest. Their architectural interest is also derived from the positive context they provide 

and therefore contribution they make to the group value (heritage interest) of the surrounding Victorian 

structures and buildings to the south and west, many of which are within the Flat Iron Conservation 

Area. 

29.1.5 Historic interest  

29.1.6 Their localised historic interest can be derived from their age and use as two mid-late-Victorian historic 

commercial or light industrial warehouse premises (c1870s-1880s). Their historic interest is also 

derived from the positive context they provide and therefore contribution they make to the group value 

(heritage interest) of the surrounding Victorian structures and buildings to the south and west, many of 

which are within the Flat Iron Conservation Area.     

29.1.7 Archaeological interest  

29.1.8 The archaeological interest of the buildings is limited and stems from the evidence they hold of past 

human activity related to Salford in the mid-late-Victorian period. Any archaeological interest relates to 

any areas of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in which the buildings and area 

developed, as well as the lives of their users.  

29.1.9 Setting (immediate and wider / extended) 

29.1.10 Their immediate, wider and extended setting is defined by a mixed architectural context of both historic 

and modern buildings, most notably including the group of Victorian structures and buildings to the 

south and west, many of which are within the Flat Iron Conservation Area. These Victorian structures 

and buildings make a contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the buildings by virtue 

of their proximity, age, history and character. They add to the historic patina of the townscape setting, 

providing surviving Victorian architectural context.  

29.1.11 The immediate, wider and extended setting has also substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to their heritage 

interests (significance).  

Page 282



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 51 

   

30.0 27, Blackfriars Road – not included on local list – Heritage asset 

no.30. 

Local list entry available at: not applicable. 

Description 

30.1.1 Sacred Trinity Clergy House forms a brick built Arts & Crafts style building (27 Blackfriars Road). It was 

once the Clergy House for nearby Sacred Trinity Church. The cross in the window above the door 

reflects its ecclesiastical connections. A date stone by the entrance would suggest that it was built in 

1898. It has since been altered and extended to allow its conversion into residential use (flats) which 

has radically altered its roofscape. 

Heritage interests (significance) 

30.1.2 Its limited localised heritage interests (significance), specifically its architectural and aesthetic interest 

are derived from the Arts & Crafts style of its brickwork elevation, windows and unusual doorcase / 

surround. Its historic interest is evident in its age, as well as its former use and association with Sacred 

Trinity Church. The archaeological interest of the building is limited and stems from the evidence held 

of past human activity related to ecclesiastical endeavours in Salford in the late-Victorian period. Any 

archaeological interest relates to any areas of original fabric and the subsequent insight into the way in 

which the building and area developed, as well as the lives of its users.  

30.1.3 The immediate setting is defined by a mixed architectural context of both historic and modern buildings, 

most notably including the group of statutory listed late-Victorian sports facilities and locally listed 

former school building to the north-west (the latter also associated with Sacred Trinity Church). These 

late-Victorian structures make a contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the building 

by virtue of their associative use (former school building only), proximity, age, history and character 

and vice-versa. They add to the historic patina of the townscape setting, providing a limited section of 

surviving late-Victorian architectural context. This also provides a group setting and value (heritage 

interest) directly linked to the surrounding late-Victorian locally and statutory listed buildings. 

30.1.4 Further heavily adapted Victorian buildings reside to the south-east, which, by comparison, provide a 

Page 283



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 52 

   

poorly preserved section of the immediate, wider and extended setting of the building – by virtue offering 

a very limited contribution to the overall heritage interest (significance) of the building.  

30.1.5 The immediate, wider and extended setting has also substantially evolved to include modern (20th and 

21st century) architecture of varying scales and character, none of which contribute to its heritage 

interests (significance).  

31.0 Further built heritage assets 

31.1.1 A series of further built heritage assets are noted here. These sit near, but not directly adjacent to, the 

study area. They include 1 conservation area, 2 statutory listed buildings and 1 locally listed building. 

They are identified alongside the other 30 built heritage assets in the accompanying map at the end of 

this Built Heritage Significance Chapter (Appendix A). When understanding the context of the 

Development Framework, these additional built heritage assets should be considered in addition to 

those provided in detail within this Built Heritage Significance Chapter, as should wider built heritage 

assets that may share a setting with the study area. This Built Heritage Significance Chapter is not an 

exhaustive analysis of the built heritage context. These built heritage assets are identified as: 

Conservation Areas – Adjacent to study area study area 

31. The Cathedral CA.  

Statutory listed structures – Adjacent to study area  

32. Former Williams Deacon Bank, 247 Chapel Street – Grade II. (directly adjacent to Adelphi 

Bexley Square CA).  

33. Railway viaduct and retaining walls at junction with Greengate, Chapel Street – Grade II. 

(within The Cathedral CA).  

Locally listed structures – Adjacent to study area  

34. Mark Addy landing stage and public house, riverbank at junction of Stanley Street and 

Bridge Street West.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 284



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 53 

   

32.0 Appendix A – Built Heritage Asset Plan  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 285



 

 

 
 

Salford City Council March 2022 54 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 286



 1 

Part 1:  Open to the Public – Item No. 

 
 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 

 
 

TO  
PROPERTY AND REGENERATION BRIEFING  

 
FOR DECISION ON  23rd MAY 2022 

 

TITLE: LAND AT ONTARIO BASIN – AGREEMENT FOR LEASE FOLLOWED BY 

LEASE. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The City Mayor is recommended to:   
 

 Note the proposals below and the terms as set out in the body of this report and note 
that the detailed terms set out in an accompanying Part 2 report for approval will be 

considered elsewhere on the agenda. 
      
 

 
1. Approve the updated and provisionally agreed revised Heads of Terms to the 

Agreement for Lease followed by Lease on the Phase 1 land. 

 
2. Note that the Heads of Terms for the Option to Purchase the Phase 2 land, as 

approved on the 23rd August 2021, remain unchanged. 
 

3. Delegate authority to the Strategic Director of Place and the Section 151 officer 

to negotiate and finalise the commercial arrangements and all other necessary 
ancillary agreements to   allow the completion of the arrangements as detailed 

in this report  
 

4. Authorise the City Solicitor to progress and complete the associated legal 

formalities and the taking of all steps required to give effect to the above 
recommendations. 

 
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

On the 11th January 2021 the City Council agreed to enter into a Memorandum of 
Understanding and Exclusivity Agreements with the proposed purchaser in relation to 
land at Ontario Basin Salford Quays.  

Page 287

Agenda Item 4a



 2 

 
The agreements were to allow the parties to explore the opportunity for the potential 
development of the site part of which is owned by the Council with part held by way 

of a longlease by a third party. 
 

The parties agreed to a timeframe of 6 months, effective from the date of execution 
of the agreements (18th February 2021). 
 

The parties progressed constructive negotiations and on the 23rd August 2021 the 
City Mayor approved Head of Terms for the grant of an Agreement for Lease 

followed by a lease over Phase 1 of the site and an associated Option to Purchase  
on Phase 2. 
 

Due to challenging economic conditions, specifically build cost inflation, the 
proposals for the Phase 1 which underpinned the commercial transaction have 

proved to be financially undeliverable and the shared view of the parties is that 
conditions are unlikely to improve sufficiently over the short to medium terms to make 
the initially proposed scheme viable.  

 
In response the parties have engaged in a productive dialogue and collaboratively 

developed an alternative Phase 1 scheme which is considered to be less exposed to 
build cost inflation and has a much better prospect of being delivered. It also reflects 
the ongoing discussion/ position on the Phase 2 part of the site. 

 
The resultant scheme changes and need for greater flexibility around delivery 
timescales and planning risk have necessitated fresh Heads of Terms to be 

negotiated. 
 

The Council has secured independent valuation advice in relation to the provisionally 
agreed values ( as detailed within the Part 2) report given that negotiations have 
taken place on a one-to-one basis.  

 
Limited information is provided in this Part 1 report as the matter is subject to 

confidentiality arrangements arising from an earlier mediation case between the 
parties in relation to another transaction.  
 

 
 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Provided in the Part 2 report. 

 

KEY DECISION: YES

 

 
1.0 Background 
 

1.1 On the 11th January 2021 the City Council agreed to enter into a Memorandum 
of Understanding Agreement and Exclusivity Agreement with the proposed 

Page 288



 3 

purchaser with the objective of collaboratively formulating development 
proposals for a parcel of land at Ontario Basin, Salford Quays, The subject site 
is owned by the Council and a third party. The parties agreed to a timeframe of 

6 months, effective from the date of execution of the agreements (18th 
February 2021). 

 
 
1.2 The parties progressed constructive negotiations and on the 23rd August 2021 

the City Mayor approved Head of Terms for the grant of an Agreement for 
Lease Followed By lease over Phase 1 of the site and an associated Option to 

Purchase  Phase 2. 
 
 

1.3 A copy of the 23rd August 2021, Property and Regeneration Briefing report, 
containing full background detail is provided in Annex 1 of the Part 2 report 

 
1.4 The development proposal that underpinned the commercial deal at the time 

were as follows :- 

 
 Block 1: Hotel, eight storey, 154 beds (Phase 2 – Option Land Value TBC) 

 
 Block 2: Residential, twelve storey, 172 units (Phase 2- Option Land Value TBC) 
 

 Block 3: Hotel ( 3*), ten storey, 162 beds (Phase 1–Base Land Payment agreed)  
 

Block 4:Residential, twenty eight storey, 256 units (Phase 1-Base Land 

Payment agreed). 
 

1.5 Unfortunately due to significant build cost inflation effecting the market, 
particularly in relation to high rise construction and a very limited pool of 
experienced and reliable main building contractors the Phase 1 proposals 

became financial unviable prompting a full scheme review. 
 

2.0  Revised Phase 1 Proposals 
 

2.1 Working in collaboration with officers of Property Services and in liaison with 

colleagues in the Planning team the purchasers have developed a revised 
Phase 1 proposal which all parties consider to have a good prospect of being 

delivered.  
 
2.2 The revised proposals envisage the delivery of two residential apartment blocks 

at a more modest scale and massing, providing in total 267 units (40% 
affordable). 

 
2.3 Block 1 comprises 107 apartments and will be 100% affordable (detailed tenure 

mix to be confirmed), the purchasers are currently in advanced negotiations with 

a Registered Private Landlord for the forwarded funded sale of the completed 
block. 

 
2.4 Block 2 comprises 160 apartment that will offered for sale on the open market. 

Page 289



 4 

 
2.5 Indicative scheme images are provided in Annex 2, these will be subject to 

detailed design and development, in dialogue with the LPA, following completion 

of the Agreement for Lease followed by Lease 
 

2.6 The outline proposals for Phase 2 and the Heads of Terms for the Option to 
Purchase remain unchanged from those reported to the City Mayor on the 23rd 
August 2021. 

 
 
3.0  Revised Heads of Terms - Phase 1  
 

3.1  The revised and provisionally agreed Heads of Terms for the Agreement for 

Lease followed by Lease are provided in Annex 3 of the Part 2 report 
 

3.2 The City Council has again received independent property advice  with scheme 
viability and residual land value being assessed in accordance with the RICS 
Red Book and all relevant guidance on the valuation of development land. 

 
3.3 This independent review has confirmed the provisionally agreed base land 

payment, as detailed in the Part 2 report,  to be fully representative of “Market 
Value”, ensuring the City Council are able to demonstrate that Best Value 
obligations have been achieved in this private treaty transaction. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

Council’s capital receipt programme, Regeneration, Housing.  

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Details provided in the Part 2 report 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Legal Implications supplied by -  

 
Details provided in the Part 2 report 

Page 290



 5 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:   

 

Details provided in the Part 2 report 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable. 

 
Details provided in the Part 2 report 

 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 

 

 
MEMBER COMMENTS: Not sought at this stage. 

 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

None 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Cartwright  TEL NO: 0161 779 6074 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Ordsall 

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Part 1  Report 

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 

 
 
 

TO THE CITY MAYOR’S REGENERATION BRIEFING          

Date 23rd May 2022  

 

TITLE: 2 New Bailey – letting of Part 8th Floor  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Deputy City Mayor is recommended to note the proposals detailed below on the terms 
as set out in the body of this report and on the detailed terms set out in an accompanying 
Part 2 report for approval elsewhere on the agenda. 

 
1 To ratify the completion of the lease for part 8th Floor to the party and on the terms  

agreed and detailed within the part 2 report  
2 Note and approve that the terms provide for a capital payment totalling £25,259.18 by 

the City Council facilitate the letting as detailed in the Part 2 report. 
3 To Approve surveyor’s costs  in approving the fit out works carried out by the party of 

£1,500      

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
The report outlines the proposal to ratify the letting of 9,049 sqft (840.67 sqm) of space at 2 

New Bailey with further detail provided in the accompanying Part 2 report. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 

 

KEY DECISION: Yes:  

 
 
1.0 Background 
 

1.1  The letting of the remaining part of the 8th floor will mean that there are only 3 floors 
remaining vacant and available within 2 New Bailey 

 
3.0  Proposals from the Recommended Party  

Page 293

Agenda Item 4b



 2 

 
This will be detailed within the Part 2 report due to commercial sensitivity reasons. 

 
4.0 Financial considerations  

 
The detailed proposal from the interested party and the proposed terms for lease will be set 

out within the Part 2 report.  
 

5.0 Conclusions. 
 

This is a letting to a good covenant for the remaining part of the 8th Floor  

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Regeneration, Business creation and Development.  

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: As a CAT A building 2 New Bailey is 

fully compliant with building equality standards.  

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low – To be covered in the Part 2 report

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

To be covered in the Part 2 report 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

To be covered in the Part 2 report 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

Not applicable – letting on the open market 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

There are no HR implications arising from this proposal. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS  

This is a CAT A building and is fully compliant with all current Building Regulation 

requirements  

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  N/A 

 
Local Member Views: Not consulted 

Page 294



 3 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Stephanie Mullenger  TEL NO: 07810158682 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Ordsall 

 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST 
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 

 
 
Name of Report:  

 

Land at Ontario basin Salford Quays 

 

 
Committee:  

 
The Property & Regeneration Briefing  

Date: 23 May 2022 

 
Category of exemption applied: 3 

 
 
Public Interest Test Questionnaire 

This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality. 
 

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION 
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 

debate about current issues? 
 

 

Yes 

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions?  
 

 

Yes 

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff? 

 
 

No 

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 

for council taxpayers?  
 
 

No 

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 

decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives?  
 

 

Yes 

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)   

 
 

No 

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-

making or examples of malpractice? 
No 

 
 

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 

occurred? 
 
 

No 

Page 297

Agenda Item 6a



 

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION 
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information? 

 
 

Yes 

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 

without giving the public any useful information?  
 
 

Yes 

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 

situation? 
 

 

Yes 

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information?  

 
 

No 

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk?  

 
 

No 

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 

benefit more from information being withheld?  
 
  

Yes 

 

Justification of decision 

 

The matter reported flows from a mediation session in relation to another property 
transaction between the parties that is the subject of ongoing litigation. That 
mediation session and the negotiations and discussions that have followed have 

been undertaken under the confidentiality agreed as part of the mediation 
engagement. The confidential arrangements extent to the reporting of the 

proposed agreements and have dictated that the decision to be made and full 
information shared will be considered as a Part 2 item 

 

The report details the commercially sensitive terms and conditions that are 

agreed for a transaction that is not yet legally completed and therefore it is not 
appropriate at this time to release the information. A summary of the information 
contained in the Part 2 report has been provided in the associated Part 1 report to 

ensure transparency on the decision being taken as far as is possible. 

 

 
Name and Title:  Peter Openshaw, Asst Director Environment and Community Safety 

 
Date:   13 May 2022 

 

Page 298



Document is Restricted

Page 299

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST 
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 

 
 
Name of Report Part 8th Floor  

2 New Bailey 

 
Committee Property and Regen 

Date 23rd  May 2022 
 

Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 - The report contains 
commercially sensitive information that would prejudice the interests of the 
Council and the party taking the lease if the information were to be disclosed at 

this time 

 

 
Public Interest Test Questionnaire 

This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 

should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality. 
 

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION 
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues? 

 
 

No 

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions?  

 
 

Yes 

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 

probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff? 
 
 

No 

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers?  
 

 

No 

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives?  

 
 

No 

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 

information which might adversely affect public health and safety)   
 

 

No 

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice? 

 
 

No 

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred? 

 
 

No 

 

Page 301

Agenda Item 6b



 

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION 
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information? 

 
 

Yes 

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 

without giving the public any useful information?  
 
 

Yes 

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 

situation? 
 

 

No 

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information?  

 
 

No 

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk?  

 
 

No 

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 

benefit more from information being withheld?  
 
  

Yes 

 

Justification of decision 

 

 

The decision relates to a commercial letting in a council owned building. 

The terms are commercially sensitive and disclosure could prejudice both 
the Council and the party taking the lease. 

In addition the party taking the lease have not yet informed their staff or the 

wider marketplace of their intentions to relocate to Embankment and want 
to share that information directly rather than have parties become aware 
indirectly  

 

 

Name and Title:  Stephanie Mullenger - Strategic Asset Consultant 
 

Date: 13th May 2022 

 

Page 302



Document is Restricted

Page 303

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Chapel Wharf Development Framework
	03aii Chapel Wharf Consultation Draft Development Framework 09.08.21
	03aiii Annex A Chapel Wharf Development Framework
	03aiv Annex B Chapel Wharf Planning Policy Baseline Review
	9fc658f27f02c653a83bff9ebc16c9b56b936ad8d155bffbb08d834bdd487323.pdf
	9fc658f27f02c653a83bff9ebc16c9b56b936ad8d155bffbb08d834bdd487323.pdf
	9fc658f27f02c653a83bff9ebc16c9b56b936ad8d155bffbb08d834bdd487323.pdf

	03av Annex C Chapel Wharf Development Framework Consultation Statement
	03avi Annex D Chapel Wharf Community Impact Assessment
	03avii Annex E Chapel Wharf Draft Development Framework SEA.SA Screening Statement
	03aviii Annex F Chapel Wharf Development Framework - Built Heritage Significance Chapter

	4a Land at Ontario Basin
	4b 2 New Bailey Letting of 8th Floor
	6a Land at Ontario Basin
	Doc1

	6b 2 New Bailey Letting of 8th Floor
	Doc1


